Universität Hamburg

# Ph.D. Thesis

# Adaptive control for boundary control systems

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades an der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Naturwissenschaften Fachbereich Mathematik der Universität Hamburg vorgelegt von

# Marc Puche Niubó

Betreuer und Erstgutachter:

# Prof. Dr. Timo Reis

Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Hans Zwart, Drittgutachter: Prof. Dr. Marius Tucsnak

Tag der Disputation: 16. Dezember 2019

### Abstract

In the present thesis we consider systems which are modeled by partial differential equations taking the form of evolution equations. Observation and control of the state x typically occur at the boundary of the spatial domain where the state evolves in. From technical and practical considerations, the inputs u and outputs y of the system are assumed to be finite-dimensional, which means that the system has a finite amount of actuators.

The aim of this thesis is to design adaptive controllers for such systems in order to track a prescribed reference signal  $y_{\text{ref}}$ . In fact, one could attempt to use the high-gain controller  $u = -k(y - y_{\text{ref}})$  for k > 0. However, the performance of this controller strongly depends on the gain k. To solve this problem, we will make use of the funnel controller, where one defines a time-varying gain  $k(\cdot)$ , so that only large values of k(t) are used when required. Moreover, the funnel controller takes into account the transient behavior of the error  $e := y - y_{\text{ref}}$ : for a specified performance funnel  $\psi$ , it can be guaranteed that  $||e(t)|| < \psi(t)$ .

As a motivating example, we consider a linearized model of a water tank, for which we control the force of the motor and observe the absolute distance from the origin to the tank. Inspired by this example, we also study a large class of systems with infinite-dimensional internal dynamics. By using the existing theory on the funnel controller, we are able to show that the controller is feasible for both the model and this class.

However, it is known that the results about funnel control are not always applicable, in particular when dealing with systems modeled by partial differential equations. The evolution equations that one often encounters resemble  $\dot{x} = \mathfrak{A}x$ , where  $\mathfrak{A}$  is a differential operator acting on a spatial domain  $\Omega$ . Moreover, the observation and control interactions are often modeled by two additional operators which include evaluations of the state x at the boundary of  $\Omega$ . The inputs and outputs of the system can be represented as  $u = \mathfrak{B}x$  and  $y = \mathfrak{C}x$ , respectively. We want to study the applicability of the funnel controller to boundary control systems of the form described above. These systems enclose both parabolic and hyperbolic equations. In order to capture this feature arising from the infinite-dimensionality of the problem, the controller needs to be slightly modified. These systems usually come from physical models and have a rich underlying structure that can be exploited. We make use of nonlinear, m-dissipative operator theory to show that the funnel controller is feasible for the system class. Moreover, we are able to take advantage of the parabolic structure of the problem to show more regularity of the solution. On top of that, we demonstrate the application of these results with some examples. By using the funnel controller one could for instance control heat transfer, diffusion processes, voltage of electric circuits or the bending of beams.

Finally, we consider a nonlinear parabolic system which is often used to model the electric current in heart cells. We study the applicability of the funnel controller not only in the boundary control scenario, but also in the distributed one, that is, the control takes place in the spatial domain  $\Omega$ . This controller could be used to develop heart pacemakers, where the reference signal  $y_{\rm ref}$  represents the natural heart rhythm. We prove the feasibility of the funnel controller for this system and use again the parabolicity of the problem to show more regularity of the solution.

### Zusammenfassung

In der vorliegenden Dissertation werden Systeme betrachtet, die durch partielle Differentialgleichungen modelliert werden. Beobachtung und Steuerung des Zustandes x geschehen typischerweise am Rand des Gebiets, in dem sich der Zustand entwickelt. Aus technischen und praktischen Erwägungen wird angenommen, dass die Systemeingänge u und Systemausgänge y endlich dimensional sind, was bedeutet, dass das System eine endliche Menge Aktuatoren besitzt.

Das Ziel dieser Dissertation ist es, adaptive Regler für solche Systeme zu entwerfen, um ein vorgeschriebenes Referenzsignal  $y_{\rm ref}$  zu verfolgen. Natürlich könnte man versuchen, den Hochverstärkungsregler  $u = -k(y - y_{\rm ref})$  für k > 0 zu benutzen. Die Leistung dieses Reglers hängt jedoch stark von der Hochverstärkungskonstante k ab. Um dieses Problem zu lösen, werden wir den Trichter-Regler (Funnel controller) anwenden. Bei Deisem benutzt man einen zeitabhängigen Hochverstärkungsfaktor  $k(\cdot)$ , sodass nur große Werte k(t) angenommen werden, wenn sie nötig sind. Darüber hinaus fließt das transiente Verhalten des Fehlers  $e := y - y_{\rm ref}$  durch den Trichter-Regler in das Reglermodell ein: für einen gewählten Performanz-Trichter  $\psi$  kann gewährleistet werden, dass  $||e(t)|| < \psi(t)$ .

Als motivierendes Beispiel betrachten wir ein linearisiertes Modell eines Wassertanks, dessen Motorkraft wir regulieren und dessen absolute Distanz vom Ursprung zum Tank wir beobachten. Durch dieses Beispiel inspiriert, studieren wir zusätztlich eine breite Klasse von Systemen mit endlich dimensionaler interner Dynamik. Die Anwendung existenter Theorie über den Trichter-Regler ermöglicht uns zu zeigen, dass der Regler für sowohl das Modell als auch die Systemklasse im gewünschten Sinne funktioniert.

Die bisherigen Resultate über Trichter-Regelung schließen interessante Anwendungsbeispiele nicht mit ein, insbesondere durch partielle Differentialgleichungen modellierte Systeme. Die Evolutionsgleichungen, welchen man oft begegnet, können durch  $\dot{x} = \mathfrak{A}x$ beschrieben werden, wobei  $\mathfrak{A}$  ein Differentialoperator ist, der im Gebiet  $\Omega$  agiert. Zusätztlich werden die Interaktionen von Beobachtung und Steuerung oft durch zwei Operatoren modelliert. Klassischerweise sind Diese Auswertungen des Zustandes xam Rand von  $\Omega$ . Die Ein- und Ausgänge des Systems können jeweils als  $u = \mathfrak{B}x$  und  $y = \mathfrak{C}x$  dargestellt werden. Wir wollen den Trichter-Regler auf Randsteuerungssysteme anwenden, die die beschriebene Form besitzen. Diese Systeme enthalten sowohl parabolische als auch hyperbolische Gleichungen. Um diese Besonderheit einzufangen, die aus der unendlichen Dimensionalität des Problems entsteht, muss der Regler leicht modifiziert werden. Normalerweise ergeben sich diese Systeme aus physikalischen Modellen und besitzen eine spezielle Struktur, welche man ausnutzen kann. Wir werden Theorie über nichtlineare, m-dissipative Operatoren benutzen, um zu beweisen, dass der Trichter-Regler für diese Systemklasse funktioniert. Außerdem sind wir imstande, die parabolische Struktur des Problems auszunutzen, um eine höhere Regularität der Lösung zu beweisen. Zusätzlich dazu veranschaulichen wir die Anwendung dieser

Ergebnisse mit einigen Beispielen. Durch die Trichter-Regelung könnten beispielsweise Wärmeleitung, Diffusionsprozesse, elektrische Spannungen von Schaltkreisen oder Krümmungen von Balken geregelt werden.

Zum Scluss betrachten wir ein nichtlineares parabolisches System, welches oft benutzt wird, um die elektrische Spannung in Herzzellen zu modellieren. Wir studieren die Anwendbarkeit des Trichter-Reglers nicht nur im Randsteuerungsszenario, sondern auch mit verteilter Steuerung, das heißt, die Reglung geschieht innerhalb des Gebiets  $\Omega$ . Diese Regelung könnte benutzt werden, um Herzschrittmacher zu entwickeln, bei denen das Referenzsignal  $y_{\rm ref}$  der natürlichen Herzfrequenz entspricht. Wir beweisen, dass der Trichter-Regler auf dieses System anwendbar ist und wir nutzen die Parabolizität des Problems aus, um eine höhere Regularität der Lösung zu zeigen.

## Acknowledgements

Writing a dissertation within the field of Mathematics is an endeavor of titanic effort which comes with its ups and downs and it would be impossible to achieve without the assistance and help from countless people. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, who accompanied me all the way since I began my master's degree at the University of Hamburg, Prof. Timo Reis. He contributed to my scientific development and was always there for discussion and advice.

There are also two colleagues and friends to whom I owe my profoundest gratitude, since they encouraged me, helped me and posed interesting questions and problems which ended up being a significant part of the present work. Many thanks to Jr. Prof. Thomas Berger and Ass. Prof. Felix Schwenninger for your guidance and enriching contributions.

Many thanks to my friends and nearly family in Hamburg, Frédéric Haller and René Glawion, for their continuous support and encouragement, not only within the field of Mathematics, but also in life. Thanks as well to the crew of room 140, Ines Dorschky and Nicolas Scharmacher for their patience during stressful situations and plentiful enjoyable conversations.

Needless to say, not all aid is academic and happens at the workplace, but also at home. Many thanks to my girlfriend Irene Benedict for being present and a good listener, who took over many responsibilities so that I was able to write my dissertation and also have time for nonscientific activities. I would like to express my gratitude to Ian Shulman for his encouragement and being there when I needed to have a break.

Naturalment, la trajectòria i momentum necessaris per a assolir aquesta fita venen de lluny. Per a això m'agradaria donar-li gràcies de tot cor al meu amic i company en la vida, l'Adrià Millàs Luque, per tots aquests anys d'encoratjament, amistat i bons moments tant a Barcelona com més tard a Hamburg. També agrair-li a la Maria Jaime Lozano la seva confiança a l'inici de la meva carrera científica. Voldria donar-li les gràcies als meus companys de la Univeristat Autònoma de Barcelona per la seva ajuda al llarg dels primers anys i en particular a les dues persones que em van introduir a les equacions en derivades parcials i l'anàlisi funcional, el Prof. Àngel Calsina Ballesta i el Prof. Albert Clop Ponte.

Per últim potser el més important. M'agradaria agrair a la meva família tots aquests anys d'ajuda i recolzament. En particular a la meva germana, la Mireia Puche Niubó, als meus pares, l'Anna Niubó Ortega i l'Alfons Puche Amigues, i als meus avis, l'Ana Ortega Troncoso i l'Òscar Niubó Daniel, per incomptables moments i experiències que m'han fet arribar tan lluny. No hi ha suficients paraules per descriure el valor que m'han aportat. Aquesta tesi doctoral és també fruit vostre.

# Contents

Ir	ntroduction	1
	The funnel controller	3
	Content overview	5
1	Mathematical background	7
	1.1 Normed vector spaces	7
	1.2 Weak and weak <sup>*</sup> convergence	8
	1.3 Unbounded operators	9
	1.4 Function spaces	12
	1.4.1 Sobolev spaces	12
	1.4.2 Bochner spaces	19
	1.5 Diagonalizable operators	22
	1.6 Strongly continuous semigroups	23
	1.6.1 Analytic semigroups and fractional powers	26
	1.6.2 The abstract Cauchy problem	28
	1.7 Well-posed linear systems	29
	1.8 Nonlinear functional analysis	32
	1.8.1 Fixed point theorem	33
	1.8.2 Nonlinear m-dissipative operators on Hilbert spaces	33
	1.8.3 The nonlinear abstract Cauchy problem	38
	1.9 Funnel control and solution concepts	44
2	Adaptive control for a moving water tank	47
	2.1 Mathematical model	48
	2.2 Funnel control	53
	2.3 Linearized model – abstract framework	58
	2.4 The operator $\mathcal{T}$	67
	2.5 Outlook	71
3	Adaptive control in the presence of infinite-dimensional internal dynamics	73
	3.1 System class	73
	3.2 Funnel control	74
	3.3 A class of operators for funnel control	76
	3.4 Outlook	83
4	Adaptive control for boundary control systems	85
	4.1 System class	86

4.2 Funnel control			
4.2.1 Unbounded funnel boundary at the origin			
4.2.2 Analytic semigroups and regularity			
4.3 Some PDE examples			
4.3.1 Port-Hamiltonian systems in one spatial variable			
4.3.2 Hyperbolic systems in several spatial variables			
4.3.3 A parabolic system			
4.4 Proof of the Main Theorems			
4.5 Outlook			
4.5.1 The zero dynamics			
4.5.2 Open questions			
5 Adaptive control for a nonlinear parabolic problem			
5.1 Neumann elliptic operators			
5.2 The FitzHugh-Nagumo model			
5.3 Funnel control			
5.4 Preparations for the proof of the Main Theorem - Part I			
5.5 Preparations for the proof of the Main Theorem - Part II			
5.6 Proof of the Main Theorem			
5.6.1 Solution for $t \in [0, \gamma]$			
5.6.2 Solution for $t \in (\gamma, \infty)$			
5.7 Outlook			
6 Conclusions			
6.1 Open questions			
Bibliography			
List of notations			
Index			

# Introduction

Since the late XVIII<sup>th</sup> century with the contribution of Joseph-Louise Lagrange and the Lagrangian formalism of mechanics, the modeling of time-continuous dependent systems has become quite straightforward. With the reformulation of the classical mechanics due to William R. Hamilton in the early XIX<sup>th</sup> century, an energy-based approach arouse by simply applying a Legendre transformation of the Lagrangian with the generalized coordinates q and momenta p, which gave rise to the Hamiltonian formalism. This lead to the well-known equations of motion

$$\begin{split} \dot{q} &= \frac{\partial H}{\partial p}, \\ \dot{p} &= -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q}, \end{split}$$

where H is the Hamiltonian, which in many cases coincides with the total energy of the system [38]. By using the Hamilton's Principle or the Principle of Minimal Action and this abstract formalism, one can additionally incorporate the dependence of q and p with respect to the position. One of the most well-known examples of such a system is the wave equation, which describes the vertical displacement of a string on a segment of length L over the time. For  $t \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\zeta \in (0, L)$ , this is commonly given as

$$\rho w_{tt}(t,\zeta) = T w_{\zeta\zeta}(t,\zeta), 
w(0,\zeta) = w_0(\zeta), 
w_t(0,\zeta) = v_0(\zeta),$$
(0.1)

where T is the Young modulus,  $\rho$  is the linear mass density,  $w_0$  is the initial elongation of the string and  $v_0$  its initial speed. Since the function w is implicitly given by its partial derivatives, the wave equation is a *Partial Differential Equation (PDE)*. This is in fact one of the so-called equations of the mathematical physics, which also comprehend the heat and the Laplace equations [120]. All of them are linear PDEs of second order which are representative for one of the most common form of classification: hyperbolic, parabolic and elliptic, respectively.

Hyperbolic and parabolic PDEs play an important role in the modeling of physical systems which have time and position dependence. In the hyperbolic scenario one has most of equations of theoretical physics such as the Schrödinger, Klein-Gordon or the Dirac equations [86, 104]. Parabolic equations are typically used to model diffusive

systems like fluids or thermal propagation. This kind of PDEs can be viewed in such a way that for each time, one needs to find a function, which represents the current state, in contrast to the usual Cauchy problem where at each time one has a point in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . This is why we will often use the terminology *infinite-dimensional* to refer to problems like (0.1), while we will use *finite-dimensional* for *Ordinary Differential Equation (ODE)*. In several applications, these models include *inputs* and *outputs*, that is, one can somehow influence the system and measure something from it. For instance, one could control the force per unit length applied to (0.1) at the boundary, namely,

$$Tw_{\zeta}(t,L) = u_1(t), \quad -Tw_{\zeta}(t,0) = u_2(t),$$

and  $u = (u_1, u_2)^{\top}$  are the controls, which are prescribed. One could also measure the speed at the boundary, that is,

$$y_1(t) = w_t(t, L), \quad y_2(t) = w_t(t, 0),$$

and  $y = (y_1, y_2)^{\top}$  is the output of the system, which is observed. The energy of the system is the sum of the kinetic and potential energy and is given by the expression

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \rho w_t(t,\zeta)^2 + T w_\zeta(t,\zeta)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,.$$

Note that by using integration by parts and (0.1), the power is then given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E(t) = u_2(t)y_2(t) + u_1(t)y_1(t), \qquad (0.2)$$

that is, the power equals the product of the force and velocity.

The variable which is described by the PDE is usually called *state* of the system or *state variable*, and it is important to bear in mind how it relates to the inputs and outputs of the system. Often one wants to achieve that the output y of a system behaves in a specific, desired way. The several approaches to this issue are known as control theory, and among them, we will use adaptive control. Roughly speaking, one couples u and y in such a way that the resulting *closed-loop system* has a solution for which the output behaves as a prescribed reference trajectory  $y_{\text{ref}}$ . The simplest case is the stabilization of the system, where  $y_{\text{ref}} \equiv 0$ . In the example of the wave equation, this can be achieved by using the high-gain controller u = -ky, with k > 0.

The aim of this work is to develop an adaptive controller for a large class of systems whose state will be mostly described by a linear partial differential equation where the control and observation of the system occur at the boundary of the spatial domain of the state variable.

Adaptive control of infinite-dimensional systems has been addressed over the past years by several authors, [10, 19, 55, 68, 71–74, 77–79]. Needless to say, the fact of dealing with PDEs makes it of course challenging and the approaches used strongly lay on the particular cases which are investigated. In these works, the problems investigated often distinguish between parabolic and hyperbolic PDEs and many of them only deal with systems with one spatial dimension. Moreover, their controller design specifically uses parameters or estimations of the parameters of the model, which could jeopardize the robustness of the controller. Importantly, none of them deals with the problem of tracking a prescribed reference signal which is a measurement of the system.

## The funnel controller

Ideally, one would like to only make structural assumptions on the system such as the energy dissipation (0.2) in order to design a controller so that for a given reference signal  $y_{\text{ref}}$ , the error  $e := y - y_{\text{ref}}$  can be controlled.

By comparing to the finite-dimensional case, one realizes that two major problems quickly arise. For instance, for the linear prototype

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t)$$
$$y(t) = Cx(t)$$

the input affects the state directly, which does not seem to be a realistic assumption when dealing with PDEs, since it is unlikely that one can influence the whole spatial domain. Hence, one needs to think more carefully about the meaning of the operator B. Moreover, A will be a differential operator, so the space on which it acts and where it is defined plays a crucial role. Secondly, the design of the controller strongly depends on the structure of the *transfer function*, which is a rational function describing the inputoutput behavior of the system in the frequency domain. In the infinite-dimensional case, this function is no longer rational, so the usual techniques involving concepts such as the *relative degree* may not be applicable.

However, the finite-dimensional setting already provides a large amount of possible controllers one could attempt to use or extend to the infinite-dimensional scenario. The simplest one might possibly be the high-gain controller, that is, a feed-back relation of the form

$$u(t) = -k(y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)),$$

where k > 0 is the gain. A more sophisticated alternative can be realized by designing an adaptive gain k. More precisely, k should grow when required and remain small when the output is close to the reference signal. To do so without increasing the mathematical complexity excessively, this k should not add any extra dynamics differential equations— to the system. Furthermore, the controller should be easy to implement. Taking all of this into consideration, we choose the *funnel controller (FC)*, first introduced by [60] and developed in [61], which satisfies all the requirements with the additional property, that one can control the error e(t) during the transient behavior. The FC is a model-free output-error feedback of high-gain type. Therefore, it is inherently robust and of striking simplicity. The main idea of the controller is to make the gain k adaptive in such a way that if the error e comes closer to a time depending boundary, the gain grows so that the error decreases due to the *internal dynamics (ID)* of the state. In its simplest form the controller looks like

$$u(t) = -\frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 e(t)^2} e(t),$$

and  $\varphi^{-1}$  serves as the aforementioned boundary. Note that if  $\varphi$  tends asymptotically to a value  $\lambda$ , then the error will be asymptotically bounded by  $\lambda^{-1}$ . By choosing a specific function  $\varphi$ , one obtains that the error is enclosed in a concrete region usually denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$ , which is defined by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} := \{ (t, e) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi(t) | e | < 1 \}.$$

In fact, this region resembles a *funnel* when depicted, see Fig. 0.1, and  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is called *performance funnel*.



Figure 0.1: Error evolution in a funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with boundary  $\varphi(t)^{-1}$ .

In [60] the feasibility of the funnel controller for a class of functional differential equations has been shown. These encompass infinite-dimensional systems with very restrictive assumptions on the operators involved, a special class of nonlinear finite-dimensional systems and nonlinear delay systems. In fact, finite-dimensional linear prototype systems with relative degree one are treated therein. The relative degree is a well-known magnitude for finite-dimensional systems and can roughly be understood as the number of times one needs to differentiate y so that u appears in the equation. This quantity turned out to be relevant when considering the funnel controller and has been used to generalize the results of [60]. For instance, in [57], the funnel controller was proved to be applicable for systems with known but arbitrary relative degree. The problem is that the ansatz used therein requires very large powers of the gain factor k(t). This problem has been overcome in [11] by introducing a funnel controller which involves derivatives of the output and reference signal, and feasibility of this controller in the case of nonlinear finite-dimensional systems with *strict relative degree* having *stable internal dynamics* has been proven. For a survey regarding the first steps of the FC and high-gain adaptive control we refer to [58].

Moreover, the FC has been successfully applied e.g. in temperature control of chemical reactor models [64], control of industrial servo-systems [49] and underactuated multibody systems [12], speed control of wind turbine systems [46, 48, 49], current control for synchronous machines [47, 49], DC-link power flow control [105], voltage and current control of electrical circuits [16], oxygenation control during artificial ventilation therapy [96], control of peak inspiratory pressure [97] and adaptive cruise control [15]. For infinite-dimensional systems the FC has so far only attracted attention in special configurations [13, 63, 101]. The recent article [13] deals with a linearized model of a moving water tank by showing that this system belongs to the class being treated in [11]. On the other hand, not even every linear, infinite-dimensional system has a well-defined and integer-valued relative degree, in which case the results as in [11, 61] cannot be applied. Instead, the feasibility of funnel control has to be investigated directly for the (nonlinear) closed-loop system, see [101] for a boundary controlled heat equation and [99] for a general class of boundary control systems. In [63], a class of infinite-dimensional systems has been considered that allows to prove feasibility of the funnel controller in a similar way as for finite-dimensional systems. More precisely, this class consists of systems which possess a so-called Byrnes-Isidori form via bounded and boundedly invertible state space transformation. The existence of such a form however requires that the control and observation operators fulfill very strong boundedness conditions, which in particular exclude boundary control and observation. Funnel control of a heat equation with Neumann boundary control and co-located Dirichlet output has been treated in [101]. The proof of feasibility of funnel control uses the spectral properties of the Laplacian, whence this technique is hardly transferable to further classes of boundary control systems.

### **Content overview**

The dissertation contains a mathematical introduction, four major projects and conclusions. The chapters corresponding to the respective projects are organized in increasing complexity. In Chapter 1 we provide the basic notation and develop the mathematical essentials for the subsequent parts. In Chapter 2 we deal with a practical example to which we aim to apply the FC, which already motivates to develop a theory for the FC when the dynamics of the system are given by a PDE. There we consider a linerized model of a linear water tank, where we control the force acting on the system (for instance the one provided by the motor of a truck) and observe the position. In order to show feasibility of the FC we make use of the existing theory for the FC. The content presented in this chapter corresponds to the results given in [13].

In Chapter 3 we work with an abstract setting which resembles the one seen in Chapter 2 and it has been presented in [14]. Nevertheless, we make no particular assumptions in how the operators look like, or what they model. With the appropriate structure it is quite straightforward to show that the FC is feasible for this system class by using the existing theory regarding the applicability of the FC.

Noting that in Chapter 2 we have treated systems with boundary control and observation and that the internal dynamics of Chapter 2 could describe boundary control systems, we move into Chapter 4 bearing in mind what it has been discussed exemplary with Equation (0.1). This chapter could be seen as the core of this work. There we introduce a class of *boundary control systems (BCS)* and consider from the very beginning the closed-loop system induced by the feedback law of the FC, which requires some minor modifications in order to deal with the system class in the most general way. The results presented in this chapter will make use of nonlinear analysis, in particular nonlinear, m-dissipative operators. We will provide a set of assumptions that the operators describing the BCS need to satisfy in order to apply the FC successfully. We illustrate the main result by applying it to three different classes of systems which fit in the framework. This is an extended version of [99]. It is worth mentioning, that the results presented in Chapter 4 can not be proved in general with the existing funnel theory as we did in Chapter 2 & 3.

With some of the techniques and knowledge acquired in Chapter 4, we approach in Chapter 5 a fully nonlinear parabolic PDE, which represents a reaction diffusion equation that models defibrillation processes of the human heart. From the application, it is possible to use both distributed and boundary control, that is, the control can be performed in some cells of the spatial domain or at its boundary. In order to make the whole setting as complete and compact as possible, we consider a co-located control and observation scenario with arbitrary operators that will cover these two options, which is achieved by introducing abstract Sobolev spaces.

Finally we conclude with Chapter 6, where we gather some thoughts and conclusions from the previous chapters.

# 1 Mathematical background

In the present chapter we give the notation that will be used in this thesis, which happens to be quite standard. Later on we move to defining and giving known results in functional analysis that will be used afterwards.  $\mathbb{N}$  is the set of the natural numbers and  $\mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , whereas  $\mathbb{Z}$  is the set of integers.  $\mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{C}$  are the fields of rations, real and complex numbers, respectively. We will use  $\mathbb{K}$  for  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ indistinguishably. The imaginary unit will be denoted by *i*. For a complex number  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , we denote by Re *z* the real part, by Im *z* the imaginary part, by  $\overline{z}$  the complex conjugate and the absolute value by |z|. For  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , we define  $\mathbb{C}_{\alpha} := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } z > \alpha\}$ . For  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , the sets  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathbb{C}^n$  denote the vector spaces of *n*-tuples of real and complex numbers, respectively. In the same way,  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$  and  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times m}$  denote the sets of real and complex  $n \times m$ -matrices. The set of real and complex invertible  $n \times n$ -matrices is abbreviated by  $\mathbf{Gl}_n(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathbf{Gl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ , respectively.  $A^{\top}$  denotes the transpose and  $A^*$ the Hermitian of  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times m}$ . The identity matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  or  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  is  $I_n$ .

### 1.1 Normed vector spaces

For a normed space X, the norm is denoted by  $\|\cdot\|_X$ , and for an inner product space X, the scalar product by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$ . For normed spaces  $X_1, \ldots, X_n$  the *product space* 

$$X \coloneqq \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} X_i = X_1 \times \dots \times X_n$$

is made a normed space via  $||(x_1, \ldots, x_n)||_X^2 := \sum_{i=1}^n ||x_i||_{X_i}^2$ . Note that one may define equivalent norms in the product space, see [2, Theorem 1.22]. In the case that the normed or inner product spaces are complete, we shall call them *Banach* or *Hilbert* spaces as it is common. From the parallelogram law —see [103, pp. 307]—, speaking of an inner product space X and saying that it has norm  $||\cdot||_X$ , implicitly defines the scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$ . For a subset  $S \subset X$  we denote its topological closure by  $\overline{S}$  and interior by int S. We say that S is dense in X if  $\overline{S} = X$ . It is known that every normed space X can be densely embedded into a Banach space which is called the *completion* of X. Similarly, it holds that the completion of an inner product space is a Hilbert space. Banach spaces which posses a countable and dense subset are called separable. For X and Y arbitrary normed spaces,  $\mathscr{L}(X, Y)$  denotes the vector space of bounded linear operators from X to Y. It is known that, if at least Y is a Banach space,  $\mathscr{L}(X,Y)$  is also a Banach space with the operator norm

$$||T||_{\mathscr{L}(X,Y)} \coloneqq \sup_{\substack{x \in X \\ ||x||_X \le 1}} ||Tx||_Y.$$

We simply write  $\mathscr{L}(X) \coloneqq \mathscr{L}(X, X)$ . As in the matrix case, the identity operator will be denoted by  $I_X \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  or simply I.

We briefly introduce the dual space. For a normed vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$ , the topological dual X' consists of all  $x' \in \mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{K})$ . The elements of X' are called *linear* functionals and with the usual operator norm, X' is known to be a Banach space. Further, for  $x' \in X'$  we denote  $\langle x', x \rangle \coloneqq x'(x)$ . If X is a Hilbert space, one can bijectively embedded X into X' with a mapping  $J_X : X' \to X$  by using the [37, 1.7.18 Riesz Representation Theorem], so that  $\langle x', x \rangle \coloneqq \langle J_X x', x \rangle_X$  for all  $x \in X$ .

# 1.2 Weak and weak\* convergence

We now briefly introduce the weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> convergence. A sequence  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in a normed linear space X is said to be weakly convergent if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle x', x_n \right\rangle$$

exists and it is finite for each  $x' \in X'$ .  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is said to be *weakly convergent to*  $x_{\infty} \in X$  if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \langle x', x_n \rangle = \langle x', x_\infty \rangle$$

for all  $x' \in X$ . In the latter case,  $x_{\infty}$  is uniquely determined in virtue of the Hahn-Banach Theorem, see [127, Chapter IV.6, Corollary 2 of Theorem 1]. We shall write

$$w - \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = x_\infty$$

or, in short  $x_n \to x_\infty$  weakly.

X is said to be sequentially weakly complete if every weakly convergent sequence of X converges weakly to an element of X. It is well-known that Banach spaces are sequentially weakly complete — [127, Chapter V.1, Theorem 7]— and that a weakly convergent sequence  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is strongly bounded and, in particular, if

$$w - \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = x_\infty,$$

then  $(||x_n||_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded and

$$\|x_{\infty}\|_{X} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|x_{n}\|_{X}$$

see [127, Chapter V.1 Theorem 1]. Moreover, if X is a reflexive Banach space and  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is an arbitrary sequence in X which is norm bounded, then we can choose

a subsequence  $(x_{n_k})_{n_k \in \mathcal{I}}$ , with  $\mathcal{I} \subset \mathbb{N}$ , which converges weakly to an element of X — [127, Chapter V.2, Theorem 1].

A sequence  $(x'_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in the dual space X' of a normed vector space X is said to be weakly<sup>\*</sup> convergent if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle x'_n, x \right\rangle$$

exists and it is finite for each  $x \in X$ .  $(x'_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is said to converge weakly<sup>\*</sup> to  $x'_{\infty} \in X'$  if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \langle x'_n, x \rangle = \langle x'_\infty, x \rangle$$

for all  $x \in X$ . In the latter case, we write

$$w^{\star} - \lim_{n \to \infty} x'_n = x'_{\infty}$$

or, in short  $x'_n \to x'_\infty$  weakly<sup>\*</sup> or weak<sup>\*</sup>. If X is a Banach space, then a weakly<sup>\*</sup> convergent sequence  $(x'_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges weakly<sup>\*</sup> to an element  $x'_\infty \in X'$  and

$$\|x'_{\infty}\|_{X'} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|x'_n\|_{X'},$$

see [127, Chapter V.1, Theorem 9].

### 1.3 Unbounded operators

Let X, Y be normed spaces and T be a linear operator defined in a subset of X,  $\mathcal{D}(T)$ , and with range in a subspace of Y,  $\mathcal{R}(T)$ . The kernel of T, that is, the elements  $x \in \mathcal{D}(T)$  such that Tx = 0 is denoted by ker T. The set  $\mathcal{G}(T) \coloneqq \{(x, Tx) \mid x \in \mathcal{D}(T)\}$ is called the graph of T and since T is linear,  $\mathcal{G}(T)$  is a subspace of  $X \times Y$ . If  $\mathcal{G}(T)$  is closed in  $X \times Y$ , then T is said to be *closed* in X. Note that T is closed if, and only if, for all  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{D}(T)$  with  $x_n \to x$  in X,  $Tx_n \to y$  in Y for some  $y \in Y$ , imply  $x \in \mathcal{D}(T)$  and Tx = y, see [37, Chapter 2]. If  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  is dense in X, then T is called densely defined.

If X is complete, then T is closed if, and only if,  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  associated with the graph norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{D}(T)}$ , where  $\|x\|_{\mathcal{D}(T)}^2 \coloneqq \|x\|_X^2 + \|Tx\|_Y^2$  for  $x \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ , is a Banach space. If X is a Hilbert space and Y an inner product space,  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  is even a Hilbert space with the graph norm. Moreover, the kernel of closed operators is closed in X.

For vector spaces X, Y and a linear operator  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y$ , we denote the restriction of T in  $U \subset X$  by  $T|_U$ . Another operator  $S : \mathcal{D}(S) \subset X \to Y$  is called a *restriction of* T to  $\mathcal{D}(S)$ , denoted by  $T|_{\mathcal{D}(S)}$ , if  $\mathcal{D}(S) \subset \mathcal{D}(T)$  and Tx = Sx for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(S)$ . Moreover, S is called an *extension of* T if T is a restriction of S.

For two Banach spaces X, Y and  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y$  densely defined, the *dual operator*  $T' : \mathcal{D}(T') \subset Y' \to X'$  is defined on the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(T') \coloneqq \{ y' \in Y' \mid \exists x' \in X' : \langle y', Tx \rangle = \langle x', x \rangle \, \forall \, x \in \mathcal{D}(T) \}.$$

For x', y' according to the definition of  $\mathcal{D}(T')$ , we define T'y' = x'. In the case where X and Y are Hilbert spaces, the *adjoint operator*  $T^* : \mathcal{D}(T^*) \subset Y \to X$  is defined on

$$\mathcal{D}(T^*) \coloneqq \{y^* \in Y \mid \exists x^* \in X : \langle y^*, Tx \rangle_Y = \langle x^*, x \rangle_X \, \forall \, x \in \mathcal{D}(T) \}.$$

Similarly we define  $T^*y^* = x^*$ . Note that by using the Riesz isomorphisms one has  $T^* = J_X T' J_Y^{-1}$ . An operator  $T \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is called *left-invertible* if there exists  $S \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  such that ST = I. It can be seen that an operator  $T \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is left-invertible if there exists m > 0 for which

$$||Tz||_X \ge m ||z||_X, \quad \forall z \in X,$$

i.e., the kernel of T is trivial, ker  $T = \{0\}$ . It is called *right-invertible* if there exists an operator  $R \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  such that TR = I. It can be also easily seen that this is equivalent to  $\mathcal{R}(T) = X$ , that is, T is *onto*.

For the sake of simplicity, we only introduce the following concepts when X is an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space instead of a Banach space, but the theory can be also done in the Banach context. If  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$  densely defined, then the resolvent set of T, denoted by  $\rho(T)$ , is the set of those points  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  for which the operator  $sI - T : \mathcal{D}(T) \to X$  is invertible and  $(sI - T)^{-1} \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is called resolvent operator of T, or simply resolvent of T. The spectrum of T, denoted by  $\sigma(T)$ , is the complement of  $\rho(T)$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Note that if  $\rho(T)$  is not empty, then T is closed. Further for  $\alpha, \beta \in \rho(T)$  we have the resolvent identity

$$(\alpha I - T)^{-1} - (\beta I - T)^{-1} = (\beta - \alpha)(\alpha I - T)^{-1}(\beta I - T)^{-1}.$$

A value  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  is called an *eigenvalue* of T if there exists a  $z_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ ,  $z_{\lambda} \neq 0$ , such that  $Tz_{\lambda} = \lambda z_{\lambda}$ . In this case,  $z_{\lambda}$  is called an *eigenvector* of T corresponding to  $\lambda$ . The set of all the eigenvalues of T is called the *point spectrum* of T and it is denoted by  $\sigma_p(T)$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define the space  $\mathcal{D}(T^n)$  recursively:

$$\mathcal{D}(T^n) \coloneqq \{ z \in \mathcal{D}(T) \mid Tz \in \mathcal{D}(T^{n-1}) \}$$

The powers of  $T, T^n : \mathcal{D}(T^n) \to X$  are defined in the obvious way. Further,

$$\mathcal{D}(T^{\infty}) \coloneqq \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{D}(T^n).$$

For every  $\beta \in \rho(T)$ , the space  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  with the norm

$$||z||_{X_1} = ||(\beta I - T)z||_X, \quad z \in \mathcal{D}(T)$$

is a Hilbert space, denoted by  $X_1$ . The norms generated as above for different  $\beta \in \rho(T)$  are equivalent to the graph norm. The embedding  $X_1 \subset X$  is continuous. If

 $L \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is such that  $L\mathcal{D}(T) \subseteq \mathcal{D}(T)$ , then  $L \in \mathscr{L}(X_1)$ . One can define the spaces  $X_n$  recursively, that is,  $X_n = \mathcal{D}(T^n)$  and

$$||x||_{X_n} \coloneqq ||(\beta I - T)^n x||_X,$$

so that it becomes a Banach space [110, Section 3.6].

We denote by  $X_{-1}$  the completion of X with respect to the norm

$$||z||_{X_{-1}} \coloneqq ||(\beta I - T)^{-1}z||_X, \quad z \in X.$$

Then the norms generated as before for different  $\beta \in \rho(T)$  are equivalent (in particular,  $X_{-1}$  is independent of the choice of  $\beta$ ). Moreover,  $X_{-1}$  is the dual of  $X_1^d$  with respect to the pivot space, where  $X_1^d$  the corresponding  $X_1$  space for the operator  $T^*$ . If  $L \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is such that  $L^*\mathcal{D}(T^*) \subseteq \mathcal{D}(T^*)$ , then L has a unique extension to an operator  $\tilde{L} \in \mathscr{L}(X_{-1})$ .  $T \in \mathscr{L}(X_1, X)$  and has a unique extension  $\tilde{T} \in \mathscr{L}(X, X_{-1})$ . Moreover,

$$(\beta I - T)^{-1} \in \mathscr{L}(X, X_1), \quad (\beta I - \tilde{T})^{-1} \in \mathscr{L}(X_{-1}, X),$$

and these two operators are unitary. We often denote  $\tilde{T}$  by T. Using a similar construction we can define the spaces  $X_{-n}$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , see [110, Section 3.6]. The operator  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \to X$  is called *dissipative* if

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle Tz, z \rangle_X \leq 0, \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{D}(T).$$

From [115, Proposition 3.1.2], the operator  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to X$  is dissipative if, and only if,

$$\|(\lambda I - T)z\|_X \ge \lambda \|z\|_X, \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{D}(T), \lambda \in (0, \infty)$$

which is further equivalent to

$$||(sI - T)z||_X \ge \operatorname{Re} s ||z||_X, \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{D}(T), s \in \mathbb{C}_0.$$

In [115, Theorem 3.1.7] one finds the usual characterization of the so-called m-dissipative operators in Hilbert space. Let  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \to X$  be dissipative. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\mathcal{R}(sI T) = X$  for some  $s \in \mathbb{C}_0$ ;
- (ii)  $\mathcal{R}(sI T) = X$  for all  $s \in \mathbb{C}_0$ ;
- (iii)  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  is dense and if  $\tilde{T}$  is a dissipative extension of T, then  $\tilde{T} = T$ .

Such an operator is called maximal dissipative or m-dissipative. Let  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$  with  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  dense in X. Then T is called symmetric if

$$\langle Tw, v \rangle_X = \langle w, Tv \rangle_X, \quad \forall v, w \in \mathcal{D}(T).$$

It is called *self-adjoint* if  $T = T^*$ , meaning that  $\mathcal{D}(T) = \mathcal{D}(T^*)$  and  $Tx = T^*x$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ . It is well-known that if T is self-adjoint, then  $\sigma(T) \subset \mathbb{R}$ —see [115, Proposition 3.2.6]. T is called *skew-symmetric* if

$$\langle Tw, v \rangle_X = - \langle w, Tv \rangle_X, \quad \forall v, w \in \mathcal{D}(T).$$

In this context, one can see that iT is a symmetric operator. It is also clear that T is dissipative. T is called *skew-adjoint* if  $T = -T^*$ . Clearly, the latter is equivalent to iT being self-adjoint and with  $\sigma(T) \subset i\mathbb{R}$ .

### 1.4 Function spaces

In this section we present the Sobolev spaces  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$ , gather some embedding results and define the traces of functions. Thereafter we introduce the concept of Bochner integral for functions f which are defined on a measurable set of  $\mathbb{R}$  and take values in a Banach space B and in particular we introduce the Bochner spaces. The (k-th)derivative of a function f of one variable t will be denoted by  $\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^k f}{\mathrm{d}t^k}\right)$  or  $\dot{f}(f^{(k)})$ . The (k-th) partial derivative of a function f of several variables with respect to the variable  $\zeta$  will be denoted by  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial \zeta} \left(\frac{\partial^k f}{\partial \zeta^k}\right)$ ,  $\partial_{\zeta} f\left(\partial^k_{\zeta} f \text{ or } \partial_{\zeta^{(k)},\zeta} f\right)$  or  $f_{\zeta}\left(f_{\zeta^{(k)},\zeta}\right)$ . We will follow the lines of [2], but most of the books in PDEs include excellent introduct-

ory chapters about Sobolev and Bochner spaces, see for instance [21, 31, 44, 51, 87, 94].

#### 1.4.1 Sobolev spaces

If  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$  is an *n*-tuple of nonnegative integers, we call  $\alpha$  a multi-index with degree  $|\alpha| \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_k$ . If  $D_k = \partial/\partial x_k$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ , then

$$D^{\alpha} = D_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots D_n^{\alpha_n}$$

denotes the differential operator of order  $|\alpha|$ .  $D^{(0,\ldots,0)}u = u$ . We will also use the operator  $\nabla$  to indicate the gradient of a scalar function f,  $\nabla f$ , or the divergence of a vector field F,  $\nabla \cdot F$ .

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be an open and connected domain. For  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  let  $C^k(\Omega)$  be the vector space consisting of all functions  $\phi$  which, together with their partial derivatives  $D^{\alpha}\phi$  of order  $|\alpha| \leq k$ , are continuous on  $\Omega$ . We abbreviate  $C^0(\Omega) \equiv C(\Omega)$ . Let  $C^{\infty}(\Omega) \coloneqq \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} C^k(\Omega)$ . The space  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  consists of all functions in  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with compact support. If  $\phi \in C^k(\Omega)$  is bounded and uniformly continuous on  $\Omega$ , then it possesses a unique, bounded, continuous extension to the closure of  $\Omega, \overline{\Omega}$ . Accordingly, we define the vector space  $C^k(\overline{\Omega})$  to consist of all those functions  $\phi \in C^k(\Omega)$  for which

 $D^{\alpha}\phi$  is bounded and uniformly continuous on  $\Omega$  for  $|\alpha| \leq k$ . It is well-known that  $C^{k}(\Omega)$  is a Banach space with norm given by

$$\|\phi\|_{C^k} \coloneqq \max_{|\alpha| \le k} \sup_{\zeta \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha}\phi(\zeta)|.$$

For  $0 < \lambda \leq 1$ , we define  $C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega})$  to be the subspace of  $C^k(\overline{\Omega})$  consisting of those functions  $\phi$  for which, for  $|\alpha| < k$ ,  $D^{\alpha}\phi$  satisfies in  $\Omega$  a Hölder condition of exponent  $\lambda$ . This means that there exists a constant  $K \geq 0$  such that

$$|D^{\alpha}\phi(\zeta_2) - D^{\alpha}\phi(\zeta_1)| \le K |\zeta_2 - \zeta_1|^{\lambda}, \quad \zeta_1, \zeta_2 \in \Omega.$$

 $C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega})$  is a Banach space with norm given by

$$\|\phi\|_{C^{k,\lambda}} \coloneqq \|\phi\|_{C^k} + \max_{\substack{|\alpha| \le k}} \sup_{\substack{\zeta_1, \zeta_2 \in \Omega \\ \zeta_1 \neq \zeta_2}} \frac{|D^{\alpha}\phi(\zeta_2) - D^{\alpha}\phi(\zeta_1)|}{|\zeta_2 - \zeta_1|^{\lambda}}.$$

It should be noted that for  $0 < \nu < \lambda \leq 1$ ,

$$C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega}) \subset C^{k,\nu}(\overline{\Omega}) \subset C^k(\overline{\Omega})$$

and  $C^{k,1}(\overline{\Omega}) \not\subseteq C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega})$ . We formulate the result that connects  $C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $C^{k,\nu}(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega})$ . We briefly recall the concept of a *compact operator*. Let X and Y be Banach spaces, U the open unit ball in X and  $T \in \mathscr{L}(X,Y)$ . T is said to be compact if  $\overline{T(U)}$  is compact in Y. It is well-known —see for instance [103, p. 103]— that an operator  $T \in \mathscr{L}(X,Y)$  is compact if, and only if, every bounded sequence  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in X contains a subsequence  $(x_{n_k})$  such that  $Tx_{n_k}$  converges to a point in Y.

**Theorem 1.4.1.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $0 < \nu < \lambda \leq 1$ . Then the following embeddings exist:

$$C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega}) \hookrightarrow C^k(\overline{\Omega}),$$
 (1.1)

$$C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega}) \hookrightarrow C^k(\overline{\Omega}),$$
 (1.2)

$$C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega}) \hookrightarrow C^{k,\nu}(\overline{\Omega}).$$
 (1.3)

If  $\Omega$  is bounded, then embeddings (1.2) and (1.3) are compact. If  $\Omega$  is convex we further have the embeddings

$$C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega}) \hookrightarrow C^{k,1}(\overline{\Omega}),$$
 (1.4)

$$C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega}) \hookrightarrow C^{k,\nu}(\overline{\Omega}).$$
 (1.5)

If  $\Omega$  is convex and bounded, then embeddings (1.1) and (1.5) are compact.

*Proof.* This is [2, Theorem 1.31].

In the following we will recover some results concerning Sobolev spaces. We assume the reader to be familiar with the concepts of Lebesgue measure and integration over domains of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . By a measure  $\mu$  on a  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\Sigma$ , we mean a function on  $\Sigma$  taking values in either  $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$  which is countably additive. For a more detailed discussion of the Lebesgue theory we refer to [91].

For a measurable set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , we say that the set has measure zero if  $|\Omega| = \mu(\Omega) = 0$ . We say that a property happens *almost everywhere* if it holds except, possibly, in a set of measure zero. We abbreviate it by *a.e.*. We denote by  $L^1(\Omega)$  the class of integrable functions on  $\Omega$ , that is, the set of integrable functions on  $\Omega$  which coincide a.e. in  $\Omega$ . It is well-known that  $L^1(\Omega)$  is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|f\|_{L^1} \coloneqq \int_{\Omega} |f| \,\mathrm{d}\mu$$

For  $p \in [1, \infty)$  one can hence define the  $L^p$ -spaces

$$L^p(\Omega) \coloneqq \left\{ f: \Omega \to \mathbb{K} \left| f \text{ is measurable and } \int_{\Omega} |f|^p \, \mathrm{d}\lambda < \infty \right. \right\}$$

with the norm

$$\|f\|_{L^p} \coloneqq \left(\int_{\Omega} |f|^p \,\mathrm{d}\lambda\right)^{1/p},$$

which are also Banach spaces. Moreover, one can define  $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  as the set of measurable functions on  $\Omega$  which are essentially bounded with the norm

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}} \coloneqq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\zeta \in \Omega} |f(\zeta)|,$$

which is a Banach space as well, see [2, Theorem 2.10]. For  $p \in [1, \infty]$  we define the *Hölder conjugate* q to be such that

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1,$$

where for p = 1 we set  $q = \infty$  and for  $p = \infty$  we set q = 1. For an arbitrary  $p \in [1, \infty]$ and its Hölder conjugate  $q, f \in L^p(\Omega)$  and  $g \in L^q(\Omega)$  we have that  $fg \in L^1(\Omega)$  and *Hölder's inequality* — [21, Theorem 4.6]— holds

$$\int_{\Omega} |fg| \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \leq \|f\|_{L^p} \|g\|_{L^q}$$

Another useful relation is Young's inequality for products, namely,

$$\int_{\Omega} |fg| \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \leq \frac{1}{p} \|f\|_{L^p}^p + \frac{1}{q} \|g\|_{L^q}^q,$$

for  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and its Hölder conjugate q, [127, Lemma I.3.1].

For the particular case p = 2, one has that  $L^2(\Omega)$  is a Hilbert space with the inner product

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{L^2}=\int_\Omega \overline{f}g\,\mathrm{d}\lambda$$

Hölder's inequality becomes the well-known Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$|\langle f,g\rangle_{L^2}| \le ||f||_{L^2} ||g||_{L^2}.$$

It is also well-known that  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  —set of  $C^{\infty}$  functions whose support is a compact subset of  $\Omega$  for all derivatives— is dense in  $L^p$  for all  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and that  $L^p$  is separable also for  $p \in [1, \infty)$  but not for  $L^{\infty}$ .

By the Riesz-Representation [2, Theorem 2.33 and Theorem 2.34], for  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , the topological dual space of  $L^p(\Omega)$ ,  $(L^p(\Omega))'$ , can be identified with  $L^q(\Omega)$ , where q is the Hölder conjugate of p. Moreover, for  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $L^p(\Omega)$  is reflexive but  $L^{\infty}$  is not. We will always make use of these facts.

Before we move on to the Sobolev spaces, we briefly define the  $\ell^p$  spaces of sequences for  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . For  $p \ge 1$  and a sequence  $x \coloneqq (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{K}$  we define

$$||x||_{\ell^p} := \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |x_i|^p\right)^{1/p}$$

and

$$\ell^p \coloneqq \{x \in \mathbb{K}^{\mathbb{N}} \mid ||x||_{\ell^p} < \infty\}.$$

In the case  $p = \infty$  we set

$$\|x\|_{\ell^{\infty}} \coloneqq \sup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} |x_i|$$

and

$$\ell^{\infty} \coloneqq \{ x \in \mathbb{K}^{\mathbb{N}} \mid ||x||_{\ell^{\infty}} < \infty \}.$$

As the discrete analogue of the  $L^p$  spaces, the  $\ell^p$  spaces are Banach spaces and  $\ell^2$  is a Hilbert space, as it can be checked in [76, Chapters 1 & 2].

Now we present the Sobolev spaces, which in the literature appear with different nomenclature. We shall use  $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ . There are two possible ways of defining these spaces. First, the one we will use, which is the set of functions in  $L^p$  whose derivatives of order  $|\alpha| \leq k$  are again in  $L^p$  —in the sense of distributions— or, alternatively, as the completion of  $C^k(\Omega)$  with the  $W^{k,p}$ -norm that will be defined next. Both of them happen to be equivalent due to [88]. For  $p \in [1, \infty]$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we define the Sobolev spaces to be

$$W^{k,p}(\Omega) \coloneqq \{ f \in L^p(\Omega) \mid D^{\alpha}f \in L^p(\Omega) \quad \forall |\alpha| \le k \}.$$

With the norm

$$||f||_{W^{k,p}} \coloneqq \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le k} ||D^{\alpha}f||_{L^{p}}^{p}\right)^{1/p}$$

if  $p < \infty$  and

$$\|f\|_{W^{k,\infty}} \coloneqq \max_{|\alpha| \le k} \|D^{\alpha}f\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

The Sobolev spaces are Banach spaces [2, Theorem 3.2]. Moreover, for  $p \in [1, \infty)$  they are separable and for p = 2 are Hilbert spaces [2, Theorem 3.5] with the inner product

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{W^{k,p}}\coloneqq \sum_{|\alpha|\leq k} \langle D^{\alpha}f,D^{\alpha}g\rangle_{L^2}\,,$$

where

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{L^2} = \int_\Omega f\overline{g}\,\mathrm{d}\lambda\,.$$

For the geometrical properties of domains  $\Omega$  and boundaries  $\Gamma \coloneqq \partial \Omega$  we refer to [2, Chapter IV] and use the notation therein. We note that for  $k \geq 1$ , the following holds

uniform 
$$C^k$$
-regularity property  $\Rightarrow$  strong local Lipschitz property  
 $\Rightarrow$  uniform cone property  
 $\Rightarrow$  segment property.

Recall that if  $\Omega$  is convex, then  $\Gamma$  is Lipschitz, see for instance [44, Corollary 1.2.2.3]. Sometimes we will say that the boundary  $\Gamma$  is  $C^{k,1}$  to refer to the uniform  $C^k$ -regularity property, as in [44, Section 1.3.3].

We define the following spaces, which will appear when considering Sobolev embedding theorems. Let

 $BC^k(\Omega) \coloneqq \{ f \in C^k(\Omega) \mid D^{\alpha}f \text{ is bounded on } \Omega \text{ for } |\alpha| \le k \}$ 

with norm

$$||f||_{CB^k} \coloneqq \max_{|\alpha| \le k} \sup_{\zeta \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha} f(\zeta)|.$$

 $BC^k(\Omega)$  is a Banach space which is larger than  $C^k(\overline{\Omega})$ .

**Theorem 1.4.2** (The Sobolev Embedding Theorem). Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be bounded. Let  $j, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . If  $\Omega$  has the cone property, then there exist the following embeddings:

(a) Suppose kp < n. Then

$$W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W^{j,q}(\Omega), \quad p \le q \le \frac{np}{n-kp}.$$

(b) Suppose kp = n. Then

 $W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W^{j,q}(\Omega), \quad p \le q \le \infty.$ 

Moreover, if p = 1 so that k = n,

$$W^{j+n,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow BC^j(\Omega), \quad p \le q \le \infty.$$

(c) Suppose kp > n. Then

$$W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow BC^j(\Omega).$$

*Proof.* This is contained in [2, Theorem 5.4, Part I].

Another important result regarding the Sobolev embeddings is the case in which the embeddings are compacts. This plays an important role in the spectral decomposition of self-adjoint operators.

**Theorem 1.4.3** (The Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem). Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\Omega_0$  a bounded subdomain of  $\Omega$ . Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ .

(a) If  $\Omega$  has the cone property and  $kp \leq n$ , then the following embeddings are compact

$$W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W^{j,q}(\Omega_0), \quad kp < n, 1 \le q < np/(n-kp),$$

and

$$W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W^{j,q}(\Omega_0), \quad kp = n, 1 \le q < \infty.$$

(b) If  $\Omega$  has the cone property and kp > n, then the following embeddings are compact

$$W^{j+k,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow BC^j(\Omega).$$

*Proof.* This is contained in [2, Theorem 6.2].

The Sobolev spaces can also be defined in the case that k is not an nonnegative integer. For the fractional Sobolev spaces, we consider domains  $\Omega$  which are  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , a half-space of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  or a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  which is uniformly  $C^1$ -regular and has a bounded boundary. In this case, if  $s = k + \sigma$ , where  $\sigma \in (0, 1)$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , the Sobolev spaces are defined as interpolation spaces [2, Chapter VII] in an abstract way for  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . However, there are natural norms for them, namely,

$$||f||_{W^{s,p}} \coloneqq \left( ||f||_{W^{k,p}}^p + \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|D^{\alpha}f(\zeta_1) - D^{\alpha}g(\zeta_2)|^p}{|\zeta_1 - \zeta_2|^{n+\sigma p}} \,\mathrm{d}\zeta_1 \,\,\mathrm{d}\zeta_2 \right)^{1/p}$$

for  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and

$$\|f\|_{W^{s,\infty}} \coloneqq \max\left(\|f\|_{W^{k,\infty}}, \max_{\substack{|\alpha|=k}} \sup_{\substack{\zeta_1,\zeta_2\in\Omega\\\zeta_1\neq\zeta_2}} \frac{|D^{\alpha}f(\zeta_1) - D^{\alpha}g(\zeta_2)|}{|\zeta_1 - \zeta_2|^{\sigma}}\right).$$

Under some regularity conditions,  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  restricted to a domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is dense in  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$ .

 $\square$ 

Using a similar definition as for  $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ , we note that the Sobolev spaces can also be defined on the boundary of  $\Omega$ ,  $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ , when this is regular enough. In fact, if  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  having the  $C^k$ -regularity property, kp < n and  $p \leq q \leq (n-1)p/(n-kp)$ , then the trace operator  $\gamma_0 f = f|_{\Gamma}$  is well-defined and bounded from  $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$  to  $L^q(\Gamma)$ . If kp = n then also for  $p \leq q < \infty$ , see [2, Theorem 5.22]. In fact, if  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  having the  $C^k$ -regularity property, one can also define the spaces  $W^{s,p}(\Gamma)$  for  $s \geq 0$  and  $p \in (1, \infty)$ , see for instance [83, pp. 58]. It can also be checked that  $C^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ is dense in  $W^{s,p}(\Gamma)$ . With the fractional Sobolev spaces defined, we now generalize the concept of trace operator. Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ —recall that the restriction to such functions in  $\Omega$  is dense in  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$ — and let  $\gamma$  denote the linear mapping

$$f \mapsto \gamma f \coloneqq (\gamma_0 f, \dots, \gamma_{k-1} f); \quad \gamma_j f = \left. \frac{\partial^j f}{\partial n^j} \right|_{\Gamma},$$
 (1.6)

where  $\partial^j/\partial n^j$  denotes the *j*-th directional derivative in the direction of the inward normal vector to  $\Gamma$ . By [2, Theorem 7.53], for  $p \in (1, \infty)$  the mapping given by (1.6) extends by continuity to an isomorphism and homeomorphism of  $W^{k,p}(\Omega)/\ker \gamma$  onto

$$\bigotimes_{j=0}^{k-1} W^{k-j-1/p,p}(\Gamma).$$

We now define  $W_0^{k,p}(\Omega)$  as the functions  $f \in W^{k,p}(\Omega)$  such that  $\gamma f = 0$ , and this coincides with the alternative definition of  $W_0^{k,p}(\Omega)$ , namely, the closure of  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in the space  $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ . For the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$  we have  $W_0^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n) = W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , that is, the functions in  $W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  vanish at infinity, see [2, Corollary 3.19]. In fact, with enough regularity at the boundary, the same result holds for  $\gamma : W^{s,p}(\Omega) \to \bigotimes_{j=0}^{k-1} W^{s-j-1/p,p}(\Gamma)$ , see [44, Theorem 1.5.1.2 & Corollary 1.5.1.6].

We now define the Sobolev spaces with negative exponents s as  $W^{s,p}(\Omega) \coloneqq (W_0^{-s,q}(\Omega))'$ and  $W^{s,p}(\Gamma) \coloneqq (W^{-s,q}(\Gamma))'$ , for s < 0—see [83, Proposition 2.10]. Moreover, as in the non-negative integer case, for  $p \in [1, \infty]$  and  $s \ge 0$ ,  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$  and  $W^{s,p}(\Gamma)$  are Banach spaces, for  $p \ne \infty$  they are separable and in the case p = 2 they are Hilbert spaces. For an accurate description see [51, Section 4.5].

We identify spaces of  $\mathbb{K}^n$ -valued functions with the Cartesian product of spaces of scalar-valued functions, such as, for instance  $(W^{k,p}(\Omega))^n \cong W^{k,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{K}^n)$ . Similarly with the other spaces defined in the section.

The statement regarding  $\gamma$  can be generalized when considering a more general version of differential operators than the powers of  $\partial/\partial\nu$ . We introduce here a result that we will need later on.

**Lemma 1.4.4.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  having the uniform  $C^1$ -regularity property. Let  $a \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{K}^{m \times m})$  be noncharacteristic on  $\Gamma$ , that is,  $a\nu$  is nontangential or in other words

$$\langle \nu(\zeta), a(\zeta)\nu(\zeta) \rangle_{\mathbb{K}^m} \neq 0$$

for a.e.  $\zeta \in \Gamma$ . Then  $\gamma_a : W^{2,2}(\Omega) \to W^{3/2,2}(\Gamma) \times W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma)$  defined by  $\gamma_a f = (\gamma_0 f, \gamma_0(\nu \cdot a\nabla f))$  is onto.

*Proof.* This follows from [44, Theorem 1.6.1.3].

We conclude this part with a generalized Poincaré inequality, which can be shown by using [128, Corollary 4.4.7]. However, we provide a proof of our own since the techniques used therein are not presented in this work.

**Lemma 1.4.5.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  having the uniform  $C^1$ -regularity property. Let  $f \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  then there exists a constant K > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{L^2}^2 \le K \left( \|\nabla f\|_{L^2}^2 + \left( \int_{\Gamma} \gamma_0 f \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \right)^2 \right).$$

*Proof.* We prove it by contradiction. Assume that there exists  $f_n \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  such that

$$||f_n||_{L^2}^2 > n \left( ||\nabla f_n||_{L^2}^2 + \left( \int_{\Gamma} \gamma_0 f_n \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \right)^2 \right).$$

Let  $T_{\Gamma}: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  be the bounded, linear operator

$$T_{\Gamma}g \coloneqq \int_{\Gamma} \gamma_0 g \,\mathrm{d}\sigma$$

The latter implies that  $||f_n||_{L^2} > 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and hence,  $g_n := f_n / ||f_n||_{L^2}$  satisfies

$$\|\nabla g_n\|_{L^2}^2 + (T_{\Gamma}g_n)^2 < \frac{1}{n}.$$

Thus,  $\nabla g_n \to 0$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Since  $v_n$  is bounded in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , by [127, Theorem V.2.1] we have that there exists a subsequence for which  $g_{n_k} \to g$  weakly in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , which implies that  $\nabla g_{n_k} \to \nabla g$  with  $\nabla g = 0$ , so that  $g = c \in \mathbb{R}$ . By the 1.4.3 we have that there exists a subsequence  $g_{n_l}$  that converges strongly to g = c in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . This yields  $1 = ||g_n||_{L^2} \to ||c||_{L^2} = 1$ , so that  $c \neq 0$ . Moreover, since  $T_{\Gamma}$  is continuous,  $(T_{\Gamma}g_n)^2 \to (T_{\Gamma}c)^2 = c^2|\Gamma| \neq 0$ , but

$$(T_{\Gamma}g_n)^2 < \frac{1}{n},$$

which is a contradiction.

#### 1.4.2 Bochner spaces

Here we follow [2, Chapter VII]. For a more complete and systematic discussion on the topic we refer to [127, Section V.5].

Let *B* be a Banach space. Let  $\{A_1, \ldots, A_m\}$  be a finite collection of mutually disjoint, (Lebesgue) measurable subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ , each having finite measure. Let  $\{b_1, \ldots, b_m\}$  be a corresponding collection of points in *B*. The function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to B$  defined by

$$f(t) = \sum_{j=1}^m \chi_{A_j}(t) b_j,$$

 $\chi_A$  being the characteristic function of A, is called a *simple function*. For simple functions, as in the Lebesgue measure scenario, we define

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu(A_j) b_j$$

where  $\mu(A)$  denotes the Lebesgue measure of A. Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}$  be a measurable set and  $f: A \to B$  defined a.e. on A. The function f is called *(strongly) measurable* on A if there exists a sequence  $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of simple functions with supports in A such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n(t) - f(t)\|_B = 0, \text{ a.e. in } A.$$

Suppose that a sequence of simple functions satisfying the former limit can be chosen in such a way that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f_n(t) - f(t)\|_B \,\mathrm{d}t = 0.$$

Then f is called *Bochner integrable* on A and we define

$$\int_A f(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_n(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \, .$$

A measurable function f is Bochner integrable on A if, and only if,  $||f(\cdot)||_B$  is Lebesgue integrable on A. In fact,

$$\left\| \int_A f(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \right\|_B \le \int_A \|f(t)\|_B \, \mathrm{d}t$$

For an interval  $J \subset \mathbb{R}$ , a separable Banach space B and  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . We denote by  $L^p(J; B)$  the vector space of equivalence classes of functions f strongly measurable on J into B such that  $||f(\cdot)||_B \in L^p(J)$ . The space  $L^p(J; B)$  is a Banach space with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(J;B)} \coloneqq \begin{cases} \left(\int_{J} \|f(t)\|_{B}^{p}\right)^{1/p} & \text{if } p \in [1,\infty), \\ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{t \in J} \|f(t)\|_{B} & \text{if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

If J has finite measure, for  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $(L^p(J; B))'$  can be isometrically identified with  $L^q(J; B')$ . In fact, if B is a Hilbert space,  $L^2(J; B)$  is a Hilbert space with the natural

inner product, see [54, Theorem 1.31]. For  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $C^k(J; B)$  is defined as the space of k-times continuously differentiable functions on J. The space of k-times continuously differentiable functions with bounded derivatives is denoted by  $BC^k(J; B)$  and it is endowed with the usual norm to be a Banach space. The space of bounded and uniformly continuous functions will be denoted by BUC(J; B). The Banach space of Hölder continuous functions  $C^{0,\alpha}(J; B)$  with  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  is given by

$$C^{0,\alpha}(J;B) \coloneqq \left\{ f \in BC(J;X) \left| [f]_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sup_{t,s \in J, s < t} \frac{\|f(t) - f(s)\|}{(t-s)^{\alpha}} < \infty \right\},$$
$$\|f\|_{\alpha} \coloneqq \|f\|_{\infty} + [f]_{\alpha},$$

see [84, Chapter 0]. One could also define  $C^{k,\alpha}(J;B)$  for  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , but we will only need  $C^{0,\alpha}(J;B)$ .

In the following we refer to [54, Section 1.3.2.2] and [31, Section 5.9.2]. For  $p \in [1, \infty]$  we set

$$W_{\text{loc}}^{1,p}(J;B) \coloneqq \{ f \in L^p(J;B) \mid \dot{f} \in L^p(J;B), j = 0, \dots, k \}.$$

which is to be understood in the Bochner sense. By [31, Theorem 5.9.2.2], for  $f \in W^{1,p}(J;B)$  it holds that  $f \in C(J;B)$  and for  $s, t \in J$ ,  $s \leq t$ , we have

$$f(t) = f(s) + \int_{s}^{t} \dot{f}(r) \,\mathrm{d}r$$

The spaces  $L^p_{\text{loc}}(J;B)$  and  $W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(J;B)$  consist of all those functions f whose restriction to any compact interval  $K \subset J$  are in  $L^p(K;B)$  and  $W^{1,p}(K;B)$ , respectively. We defined one particular class of weighted spaces. For  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  we set  $L^2_{\omega}(J;B) := \{ e^{\omega \cdot} f(\cdot) \mid f \in L^2(J;B) \}$  with norm  $\|e^{\omega \cdot} f\|_{L^2_{\omega}} := \|f\|_{L^2}$ .

The next result guarantees the convergence of subsequences in Bochner spaces. This is mainly a consequence of the characterization of sequentially weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> compactness provided by the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem [103, Theorem 3.15].

**Lemma 1.4.6.** Let T > 0 and Z be a reflexive and separable Banach space. Then

- (i) every bounded sequence  $(w_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in  $L^{\infty}([0,T];Z)$  has a weak<sup>\*</sup> convergent subsequence and the limit is again in  $L^{\infty}([0,T];Z)$ ;
- (ii) every bounded sequence  $(w_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $L^2([0,T];Z)$  has a weakly convergent subsequence and the limit is again in  $L^2([0,T];Z)$ .

Proof. Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Then  $W \coloneqq L^p([0, T]; Z')$  is a separable Banach space, see [28, Chapter IV]. Since Z is reflexive, by [28, Corollary III.4] it has the Radon-Nikodým property. Then by [28, Theorem IV.1],  $W' = L^q([0, T]; Z)$  is the dual of W, where q is such that  $p^{-1} + q^{-1} = 1$  and  $q = \infty$ , if p = 1. For p = 1 so that  $q = \infty$ , assertion (i) follows from [103, Theorem 3.17]. For p = 2 so that q = 2, W is reflexive and assertion (ii) is a direct consequence of [127, Theorem V.2.1].

### 1.5 Diagonalizable operators

Now that we have presented the unbounded operators and the Sobolev spaces, we introduce in the following the concepts of diagonal operators and Riesz basis. Consider the Hilbert space  $\ell^2$  and let the sequence  $(e_k)$  be the standard orthonormal basis in  $\ell^2$ . Thus,  $e_k$  has a 1 in the kth position and zero everywhere else. Clearly  $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}$ . A sequence  $(\phi_k)$  in a Hilbert space X is called a *Riesz basis* in X if there exists an invertible operator  $Q \in \mathscr{L}(X, l^2)$  such that  $Q\phi_k = e_k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . In this case, the sequence  $(\tilde{\phi}_k)$  defined by

$$\tilde{\phi}_k = Q^* Q \phi_k,$$

is called the *biorthogonal sequence* to  $(\phi_k)$ . Then every  $z \in X$  can be expressed as

$$z = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X \phi_k$$

Moreover, denoting  $m = \|Q^{-1}\|^{-1}$  and  $M = \|Q\|$ , we have

$$m^2 \|z\|_X^2 \le \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} |\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \rangle_X|^n \le M^2 \|z\|_X^2, \quad \forall z \in X.$$

Note that if  $\phi$  is orthonormal, then Q is unitary and m = M = 1. Further, the converse of the statement also holds true —see [115, Proposition 2.5.2 and Proposition 2.5.3].

Let  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$ . *T* is called *diagonalizable* if  $\rho(T) \neq \emptyset$  and there exists a Riesz basis  $(\phi_k)$  in *X* consisting of eigenvectors of *T*. In virtue of [115, Proposition 2.6.2], one can construct diagonalizable operators as follows. Let  $(\phi_k)$  be a Riesz basis in *X* and let  $(\tilde{\phi}_k)$  be the biorthogonal sequence to  $(\phi_k)$ . Let  $(\lambda_k)$  be a sequence in  $\mathbb{C}$  which is not dense in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Define an operator  $\tilde{T} : \mathcal{D}(\tilde{T}) \to X$  by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{D}(\tilde{T}) &= \left\{ z \in X \; \left| \; \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} (1 + |\lambda_k|^2) | \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X |^2 < \infty \right\}, \\ \tilde{T}z &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_k \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X \phi_k, \quad z \in \mathcal{D}(\tilde{T}). \end{split} \right. \end{split}$$

Then  $\tilde{T}$  is diagonalizable, we have  $\sigma_p(\tilde{T}) = \{\lambda_k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\}, \sigma(\tilde{T})$  is the closure of  $\sigma_p(\tilde{T})$ and for every  $s \in \rho(\tilde{A})$  we have

$$(sI - \tilde{T})^{-1} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{s - \lambda_k} \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X \phi_k, \quad \forall z \in X.$$

By [115, Proposition 2.6.3] the converse holds also true, that is, let  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$ be diagonalizable. Let  $(\phi_k)$  be a Riesz basis consisting of eigenvectors of T. Let  $(\tilde{\phi}_k)$ be the biorthogonal sequence to  $(\phi_k)$  and denote the eigenvalue corresponding to the eigenvector  $\phi_k$  by  $\lambda_k$ . Then

$$\mathcal{D}(T) = \left\{ z \in X \ \left| \ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} (1 + |\lambda_k|^2) | \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X |^2 < \infty \right\}, \\ Tz = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_k \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X \phi_k, \quad z \in \mathcal{D}(T). \right.$$

If  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$  is self-adjoint and diagonalizable, then there exists in X an orthonormal basis  $(\varphi_k)_{k \in \mathcal{I}}$  of eigenvectors of T (here,  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ ). Denoting the eigenvalue corresponding to  $\phi_k$  by  $\lambda_k$ , we have for  $\lambda_k \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\mathcal{D}(T) = \left\{ z \in X \ \left| \ \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} (1 + |\lambda_k|^2) | \langle \phi_k, z \rangle_X |^2 < \infty \right\}, \\ Tz = \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \lambda_k \langle \phi_k, z \rangle_X \phi_k. \right.$$

The following result gives a sufficient condition for a self-adjoint operator to be diagonalizable.

**Proposition 1.5.1.** Let X be an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space and let  $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to X$  be a self-adjoint operator with compact resolvents. Then T is diagonalizable with an orthonormal basis  $(\phi_k)_{k \in \mathcal{I}}$  of eigenvectors, where  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ , and the corresponding family of real eigenvalues  $(\lambda_k)_{k \in \mathcal{I}}$  satisfies  $\lim_{k \to \infty} |\lambda_k| = \infty$ .

Proof. This is [115, Proposition 3.2.12].

## 1.6 Strongly continuous semigroups

In this section we will follow the lines of [115]. However, the literature regarding strongly continuous semigroups is vast, and one can find appropriate references in [30, 40, 53, 94, 127].

Even though the construction can be done in Banach spaces, we will consider only the Hilbert space scenario, so that X will be an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. A family  $\mathbb{T} = (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  of operators in  $\mathscr{L}(X)$  is a *strongly continuous semigroup* or in short  $C_0$ -semigroup on X if

- (i)  $\mathbb{T}_0 = I;$
- (ii)  $\mathbb{T}_{t+s} = \mathbb{T}_t \mathbb{T}_s$  for every  $t, s \ge 0$ ;
- (iii)  $\lim_{t\to 0, t>0} \mathbb{T}_t z = z$  for all  $z \in X$ .

The growth bound of a strongly continuous semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  is the number  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T})$  defined by

$$\omega_0(\mathbb{T}) = \inf_{t \in (0,\infty)} \frac{1}{t} \log \|\mathbb{T}_t\|.$$

Clearly  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}) \in [-\infty, \infty)$ . The name is justified by the fact that

- (i)  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}) = \lim_{t \to \infty} t^{-1} \log \|\mathbb{T}_t\|;$
- (ii) for any  $\omega > \omega_0(\mathbb{T})$  there exists an  $M_\omega \in [1,\infty)$  such that

$$\|\mathbb{T}_t\| \le M_\omega \mathrm{e}^{\omega t}, \quad \forall t \in [0,\infty);$$

(iii) the function  $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \times X \to X$  defined by  $\varphi(t, z) = \mathbb{T}_t z$  is continuous;

as it can be checked in [115, Proposition 2.1.2]. We call a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  exponentially stable if  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}) < 0$ .

The linear operator  $A: \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  defined by

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ z \in X \mid \lim_{t \to 0, t > 0} \frac{\mathbb{T}_t z - z}{t} \text{ exists} \right\},\$$
$$Az = \lim_{t \to 0, t > 0} \frac{\mathbb{T}_t z - z}{t}, \quad \forall z \in \mathcal{D}(A),$$

is called the *infinitesimal generator* or simply generator of the semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$ . It is well-known that  $\mathcal{D}(A)$  is dense in X—see [115, Corollary 2.1.8].

We begin now to hatch what we have presented about closed operators with the semigroup theory. For a strongly continuous semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  on X with generator A and for every  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re} s > \omega_0(\mathbb{T})$  we have  $s \in \rho(A)$ , and hence A is closed. Moreover

$$(sI - A)^{-1}z = \int_0^\infty e^{-st} \mathbb{T}_t z \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \quad \forall z \in X$$

and  $\mathcal{D}(A^{\infty})$  is dense in X—check [115, Proposition 2.3.1 and Proposition 2.3.6]. In fact, the resolvent of the semigroup generator is the Laplace transform of the semigroup. Further, for  $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ , the function  $z : [0, \infty) \to \mathcal{D}(A)$  defined by  $z(t) := \mathbb{T}_t z_0$  is continuous if we consider in  $\mathcal{D}(A)$  the graph norm and  $C^1([0,\infty);X)$ . Actually, z is the unique solution of the *abstract Cauchy problem (ACP)* 

$$\dot{z} = Az, \quad z(0) = z_0.$$

From [115, Proposition 2.6.5] it follows that a diagonalizable operator A is the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  on X if, and only if,

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\operatorname{Re}\lambda_k<\infty.$$

If this is the case, then

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\operatorname{Re}\lambda_k=\omega_0(\mathbb{T})$$

and for every  $t \ge 0$ ,

$$\mathbb{T}_t z = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} e^{\lambda_k t} \left\langle \tilde{\phi}_k, z \right\rangle_X \phi_k, \quad \forall z \in X.$$

Such a semigroup is called *diagonalizable*.

By having a closer look at a diagonal semigroup, it is clear that if eigenvalues of A are, for instance, purely imaginary, one could extend the semigroup for t < 0, so that we end up having a group. In the following we define such a concept.

Let  $\mathbb{T}$  be a  $C_0$ -semigroup on X.  $\mathbb{T}$  is called *left-invertible* (respectively, *right-invertible*) if for some t > 0,  $\mathbb{T}_t$  is left-invertible (respectively, right-invertible). The semigroup is called *invertible* if it is both left-invertible and right-invertible.

A family  $\mathbb{T} = (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  of operators in  $\mathscr{L}(X)$  is a strongly continuous group in short  $C_0$ -group on X if

- (i)  $\mathbb{T}_0 = I;$
- (ii)  $\mathbb{T}_{t+s} = \mathbb{T}_t \mathbb{T}_s$  for every  $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (iii)  $\lim_{t\to 0} \mathbb{T}_t z = z$  for all  $z \in X$ .

The generator of such a group is defined in the same way as for semigroups. Note that given a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$ , if for some  $\tau > 0$  the operator  $\mathbb{T}_{\tau}$  is invertible, then  $\mathbb{T}_t$  is invertible for all t > 0 and  $\mathbb{T}$  can be extended to a group by setting  $\mathbb{T}_{-t} = \mathbb{T}_t^{-1}$ —see [115, Proposition 2.7.4]. Moreover, from [115, Proposition 2.7.8], if A generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  and -A a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{S}$ , then we can extend the family of  $\mathbb{T}$  to all of  $\mathbb{R}$  by putting  $\mathbb{T}_{-t} = \mathbb{S}_t$  and  $\mathbb{T}$  is a  $C_0$ -group.

From [115, Proposition 2.8.5] we have that for a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  the family of operators  $\mathbb{T}^* = (\mathbb{T}^*_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is also a  $C_0$ -semigroup and its generator is  $A^*$ . It is an immediate consequence that if  $A: \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is a diagonalizable operator,  $(\phi_k)$  is a Riesz basis consisting of eigenvectors of A,  $(\tilde{\phi}_k)$  the biorthogonal sequence to  $(\phi_k)$  and we denote the eigenvalue corresponding to the eigenvector  $\phi_k$  by  $\lambda_k$ . Then  $A^*$  is diagonalizable operator with eigenvectors  $\tilde{\phi}_k$  and eigenvalues  $\overline{\lambda_k}$ , see [115, Proposition 2.8.6].

Assuming that A generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  on X, consider the spaces  $X_1$  and  $X_{-1}$ . Then the restriction of  $\mathbb{T}_t$  to  $X_1$  is the image of  $\mathbb{T}_t \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  through the unitary operator  $(\beta I - A)^{-1} \in \mathscr{L}(X, X_1)$ . Therefore, these operators form a  $C_0$ -semigroup on  $X_1$ , whose generator is the restriction of A to  $\mathcal{D}(A^2)$ . The operator  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}}_t \in \mathscr{L}(X_{-1})$  is the image of  $\mathbb{T}_t \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  though the unitary operator  $(\beta I - \tilde{A}) \in \mathscr{L}(X, X_{-1})$ . Therefore, these operators form a  $C_0$ -semigroup on  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}} = (\tilde{\mathbb{T}}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on  $X_{-1}$ , whose generator is  $\tilde{A}$ , see [115, Proposition 2.10.4]. We will often refer to this extensions as  $((\mathbb{T}|_{-1})_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . Before we conclude this section, we define an important class of semigroups. A  $C_0$ semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  on X is called *contractive*, *semigroup of contractions* or *contraction semigroup* if for all t > 0 it holds  $||\mathbb{T}_t|| \leq 1$ . Further, these semigroups have a well-known characterisation, namely, for any  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) A is the generator of a contraction semigroup on X.
- (ii) A is m-dissipative.

This is in fact [115, Theorem 3.8.4]. The particular case in which the norm of the semigroup is exactly one, goes via the following definition. An operator  $U \in \mathscr{L}(X)$  is called *unitary* if  $UU^* = U^*U = I$ . A strongly continuous semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$  on X is called *unitary* if  $\mathbb{T}_t$  is unitary for every t > 0. It is clear that a unitary semigroup can be extended to a group, which is then called a *unitary group*. From [115, Theorem 3.8.6], for any  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) A is the generator of a unitary group on X.
- (ii) A is skew-adjoint.

### 1.6.1 Analytic semigroups and fractional powers

Here we briefly present the concept of analytic  $C_0$ -semigroup, which plays a role when solving PDEs of parabolic type, whose solutions enjoy of some extra smoothness properties. For this part we refer to [110, Section 3.10] and present only the case where Xis a Hilbert space, even though it can be done in the case of a Banach space. Let  $0 < \delta \leq \pi/2$ , and let  $\Delta_{\delta}$  be the open sector

$$\Delta_{\delta} := \{ t \in \mathbb{C} \mid t \neq 0, \ |\arg t| < \delta \}.$$

The family of operators  $\mathbb{T}_t \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ ,  $t \in \Delta_{\delta}$ , is an *analytic*  $C_0$ -semigroup (with uniformly bounded growth bound  $\omega$ ) in  $\Delta_{\delta}$  if the following conditions hold:

- (i)  $t \mapsto \mathbb{T}_t$  is analytic in  $\Delta_{\delta}$ ;
- (ii)  $\mathbb{T}_0 = I$  and  $\mathbb{T}_s \mathbb{T}_t = \mathbb{T}_{s+t}$  for all  $s, t \in \Delta_\delta$ ;
- (iii) there exist constants  $M \ge 1$  and  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\|\mathbb{T}_t\| \leq M \mathrm{e}^{\omega t}, \quad t \in \Delta_{\delta};$$

(iv) for all  $x \in X$ ,  $\lim_{\substack{t \to 0 \\ t \in \Delta_{\delta}}} \mathbb{T}_t x = x$ .
This leads us to the concept of *sectorial operator*. For each  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\pi/2 < \theta < \pi$ , let  $\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma}$  be the open sector

$$\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma} = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \neq \gamma, |\arg(\lambda - \gamma)| < \theta\}.$$

A closed, densely defined linear operator  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is *sectorial* on  $\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma}$  if the resolvent set of A contains  $\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma}$  and if

$$\|(\lambda I - A)^{-1}\| \le \frac{C}{|\lambda - \gamma|} \quad \lambda \in \Sigma_{\theta, \gamma}$$

for some  $C \geq 1$ . The operator A is *sectorial* if it is sectorial on some sector  $\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma}$ . Let  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be a closed, linear operator and  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) A is the generator of an analytic semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  with uniformly bounded growth bound  $\gamma$  on a sector  $\Delta_{\delta}, \delta > 0$ ;
- (ii) every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\gamma}$  belongs to the resolvent set of A and there exists a constant C such that

$$\|(\lambda I - A)^{-1}\| \le \frac{C}{|\lambda - \gamma|} \quad \operatorname{Re} \lambda > \gamma;$$

- (iii) A is sectorial on some sector  $\Sigma_{\theta,\gamma}$  with  $\pi/2 < \theta < \pi$ ;
- (iv) A is the generator of a semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  which is differentiable on  $(0,\infty)$ , and there exist non-negative constants  $M_0, M_1$  such that

$$\|\mathbb{T}_t\| \le M_0 \mathrm{e}^{\gamma t}, \quad \|(\gamma I - A)\mathbb{T}_t\| \le M_1 t^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma t}, \quad t > 0,$$

see [110, Theorem 3.10.6].

This last part of the section is devoted to introduce an recall some basic facts about the fractional powers  $X_{\alpha}$ , for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  induced by the semigroup generator A and the space X. This construction can be done in the general Banach setting, but we will consider only the Hilbert space scenario. For a more detailed discussion on the topic we refer to [110, Section 3.9].

Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T} := (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \geq 0}$  on the Hilbert space X with growth bound  $\omega_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . For each  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega_0}$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$  we define  $(\gamma I - A)^{\alpha}$  as follows

$$(\gamma I - A)^0 = I,$$
  
$$(\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha} x = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\infty t^{\alpha - 1} \mathrm{e}^{-\gamma t} \mathbb{T}_t x \,\mathrm{d}t \,, \quad \alpha > 0, \quad x \in X,$$

where  $\Gamma$  is the Euler Gamma function. These operators are bounded and linear on X, injective and  $\alpha \to (\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha}$  defines a semigroup, see [110, Lemma 3.9.5]. Now we

define  $(\gamma I - A)^{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha > 0$  to be the inverse of  $(\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha}$ , with domain  $\mathcal{D}((\gamma I - A)^{\alpha}) = \mathcal{R}((\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha})$ .

Having the powers of  $\gamma I - A$  at our disposal, we can construct a scale of spaces  $X_{\alpha}$ , for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , as in the same fashion we constructed the spaces  $X_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For  $\alpha > 0$ , we set

$$X_{\alpha} \coloneqq \mathcal{R}((\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha}) = (\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha} X.$$

with norm

$$||x||_{X_{\alpha}} \coloneqq ||(\gamma I - A)^{\alpha} x||_X$$

For  $\alpha < 0$ , we let  $X_{\alpha}$  be the completion of X with the weaker norm

$$||x||_{X_{-\alpha}} \coloneqq ||(\gamma I - A)^{-\alpha} x||_X, \quad \alpha > 0.$$

Different choices of  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega_0}$  yield identical spaces with equivalent norms. The spaces  $X_{\alpha}$  are interpreted as *interpolation spaces* of  $X_n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , see [84, Chapters 1 & 2]. We conclude this section with an auxiliary result that will be used later on. This delivers an estimate for the norm of  $\mathbb{T}_t$  in  $\mathscr{L}(X, X_{\alpha})$  when the semigroup is analytic.

**Lemma 1.6.1.** Let A be the generator of an exponentially stable analytic semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . Let  $X_{\alpha}$  be the interpolation spaces defined as above associated to A. Then for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\alpha \in [0, 1)$  there exist constants  $M := M(k, \alpha)$  and  $\omega > 0$  such that

$$\|\mathbb{T}_t\|_{\mathscr{L}(X,X_{k+\alpha})} \le M(1+t^{-k-\alpha})\mathrm{e}^{-\omega t}, \quad t>0.$$

Hence, there exists  $K := K(k, \alpha)$  such that

$$\sup_{t\in[0,\infty)} t^{k+\alpha} \|\mathbb{T}_t\|_{\mathscr{L}(X,X_{k+\alpha})} \le K.$$

*Proof.* For the cases in which  $\alpha = 0$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , this is [110, Corollary 3.10.8]. For k = 0 and  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ , this follows from [110, Lemma 3.10.9] and using the exponential stability of  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . For k > 1 and  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  the result follows by induction using the former an interpolating between k, k + 1 with [110, Lemma 3.9.8].

## 1.6.2 The abstract Cauchy problem

Throughout this section  $\mathbb{T}$  is a  $C_0$ -semigroup on X with generator A and growth bound  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T})$ . As we have already seen, the semigroup fully characterizes the solutions to the abstract Cauchy problem. This part of the section is dedicated to present a *nonhomogeneous abstract Cauchy problem*, in order to motivate the theory of abstract linear systems, where one also has inputs and outputs.

Consider the differential equation

$$\dot{z}(t) = Az(t) + f(t),$$

where  $f \in L^1_{loc}([0,\infty); X_{-1})$ . A solution of the problem in  $X_{-1}$  is a function

$$z \in L^{1}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);X) \cap C([0,\infty);X_{-1})$$

which satisfies the following equation in  $X_{-1}$ :

$$z(t) - z(0) = \int_0^t [Az(s) + f(s)] \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Suppose that z is a solution of the differential equation in  $X_{-1}$  and denote  $z_0 = z(0)$ . Then z is given by

$$z(t) = \mathbb{T}_t z_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

In particular, for every  $z_0 \in X$  there exists at most one solution in  $X_{-1}$  which satisfies the initial condition  $z(0) = z_0$ . We call this a *mild solution* —see [115, Proposition 4.1.4]. Further, from [115, Theorem 4.1.6], if  $z_0 \in X$  and  $f \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}([0,\infty); X_{-1})$ , then the differential equation has a unique solution in  $X_{-1}$ , denoted by z, that satisfies  $z(0) = z_0$ . Moreover,

$$z \in C([0,\infty); X) \cap C^1([0,\infty); X_{-1})$$

## 1.7 Well-posed linear systems

In this section we introduce the concept of abstract linear systems or, more precisely, well-posed linear systems, which has been intensively studied in [110, 115] and [111, 112, 122]. Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . For any Hilbert space W and any  $\tau \ge 0$ ,  $\mathbf{S}_{\tau}$  will denote the operator of the right shift by  $\tau$  on  $L^p([0,\infty); W)$ .  $\mathbf{P}_{\tau}$  will denote the projection of  $L^p([0,\infty); W)$  onto  $L^p([0,\tau]; W)$  by truncation, the latter space being regarded as a subspace of the former. For  $u, v \in L^p([0,\infty); W)$ , the  $\tau$ -concatenation of u and v, denoted by  $u \diamondsuit v$ , is defined by

$$u \diamondsuit_{\tau} v = \mathbf{P}_{\tau} u + \mathbf{S}_{\tau} v.$$

In other words,  $(u \diamondsuit_{\tau} v)(t) = u(t)$  for  $t \in [0, \tau)$ , while  $(u \diamondsuit_{\tau} v)(t) = v(t - \tau)$  for  $t \ge \tau$ . The shift and projection operators and the operation of concatenation have natural extensions to  $L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);W)$ , and we denote these extensions using the same symbols. We regard  $L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);W)$  as a Fréchet space, with the topology given by the family of seminorms  $p_n(u) = \|\mathbf{P}_n u\|_{L^p}$ , so that  $L^p([0,\infty);W)$  is dense in  $L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);W)$ . Let U, X and Y be Hilbert spaces,  $\mathcal{U} \coloneqq L^p([0,\infty);U)$  and  $\mathcal{Y} \coloneqq L^p([0,\infty);Y)$ . A well-posed linear system on  $\mathcal{U}, X$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  is a quadruple  $\Sigma = (\mathbb{T}, \Phi, \Psi, \mathbb{F})$ , where

(i)  $\mathbb{T} = (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \ge 0}$  is a  $C_0$ -semigroup on X with generator A;

(ii)  $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t \ge 0}$  is a family of bounded linear operators from  $\mathcal{U}$  to X such that

$$\Phi_{\tau+t}(u \diamondsuit v) = \mathbb{T}_t \Phi_\tau u + \Phi_t v,$$

for any  $u, v \in \mathcal{U}$  and any  $t, \tau \geq 0$ .

(iii)  $\Psi = (\Psi_t)_{t \ge 0}$  is a family of bounded linear operators from X to  $\mathcal{Y}$  such that

$$\Psi_{\tau+t}x = \Psi_{\tau}x \diamondsuit_{\tau} \Psi_t \mathbb{T}_{\tau}x,$$

for any  $x \in X$  and any  $t, \tau \ge 0$ , and  $\Psi_0 = 0$ .

(iv)  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathbb{F}_t)_{t>0}$  is a family of bounded linear operators from  $\mathcal{U}$  to  $\mathcal{Y}$  such that

$$\mathbb{F}_{\tau+t}(u \diamondsuit_{\tau} v) = \mathbb{F}_{\tau} u \diamondsuit_{\tau} (\Psi_t \Phi_{\tau} u + \mathbb{F}_t v),$$

for any  $u, v \in \mathcal{U}$  and any  $t, \tau \geq 0$ , and  $\mathbb{F}_0 = 0$ .

U is the *input space*, X the state space and Y the *output space* (all of them referring to  $\Sigma$ ). The operators  $\Phi_t$  are called *input maps*. The operators  $\Psi_t$  are called *output maps*. The operators  $\mathbb{F}_t$  are called *input-output maps*.

Recall that  $\mathbb{T}|_{-1}$  is the semigroup extended to  $X_{-1}$ . There is a unique  $B \in \mathscr{L}(U, X_{-1})$ , called the *control operator* of  $\Sigma$ , such that for any  $t \geq 0$ 

$$\Phi_t u = \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-1})_{t-s} Bu(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

B is called *bounded* if it belongs to  $\mathscr{L}(U, X)$ , and *unbounded* otherwise.

For any  $x_0 \in X$  and  $u \in L^p_{loc}([0,\infty);U)$  the function  $x : [0,\infty) \to X$  defined by  $x(t) = \mathbb{T}_t x_0 + \Phi_t u$  is called *state trajectory*. It follows that x is a *strong solution* in  $X_{-1}$  of

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t)$$

We shall often need the Fréchet spaces

$$\tilde{\mathcal{U}} = L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); U), \quad \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} = L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); Y).$$

The operators  $\mathbb{F}_t$  have natural continuous extensions to  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ . If we regard the operators  $\Psi_t$  as elements of  $\mathscr{L}(X, \tilde{\mathcal{Y}})$  and the operators  $\mathbb{F}_t$  as elements of  $\mathscr{L}(\tilde{\mathcal{U}}, \tilde{\mathcal{Y}})$ , then these operator families have strong limits as  $t \to \infty$ , denoted  $\Psi_{\infty}$  and  $\mathbb{F}_{\infty}$ . Hence,

$$\Psi_t = \mathbf{P}_t \Psi_{\infty}, \quad \mathbb{F}_t = \mathbf{P}_t \mathbb{F}_{\infty}.$$

One usually defines the output of the system to be

$$y = \Psi_{\infty} x_0 + \mathbb{F}_{\infty} u.$$

There is a unique  $C \in \mathscr{L}(X_1, Y)$ , called the *observation operator* of  $\Sigma$ , such that for  $x_0 \in X_1$  and  $t \ge 0$ 

$$(\Psi_{\infty} x_0)(t) = C \mathbb{T}_t x_0.$$

C is called *bounded* if it can be extended continuously to X and *unbounded* otherwise. A useful consequence is that for any  $x_0 \in X$ 

$$\int_0^t (\Psi_\infty x_0)(s) \,\mathrm{d}s = C \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_s x_0 \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

The Lebesgue extension of C is defined by

$$C_L x_0 = \lim_{t \to 0} C \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_s x_0 \,\mathrm{d}s$$

which a domain  $\mathcal{D}(C_L)$  defined where the former expression exists, and it satisfies  $X_1 \subset \mathcal{D}(C_L) \subset X$ . For any  $x_0 \in X$  we have that  $\mathbb{T}_t x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(C_L)$  for almost every  $t \ge 0$  and

$$(\Psi_{\infty}x_0)(t) = C_L \mathbb{T}_t x_0$$

almost everywhere.

For any  $v \in U$ , the function

$$y_v = \mathbb{F}_{\infty}(\chi u)$$

is the step response of  $\Sigma$  corresponding to v, where  $\chi$  is the constant function on  $[0, \infty)$  equal to 1 everywhere.

 $\Sigma$  is called *regular* if for any  $v \in U$  the corresponding step response  $y_v$  has a Lebesgue point at 0, i.e., the following limit exists in Y:

$$Dv = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t y_v(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

In that case, the operator  $D \in \mathscr{L}(U, Y)$  is called *feed-through operator* of  $\Sigma$ . For operators  $A \in \mathscr{L}(X_1, X)$ ,  $B \in \mathscr{L}(U, X_{-1})$ ,  $C \in \mathscr{L}(X_1, Y)$  and  $D \in \mathscr{L}(U, Y)$  we call

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t),$$
  
$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t)$$

an abstract linear system.

Let U, X, Y be Hilbert spaces and  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subseteq X \to X$  be the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . The notion of *admissible* operators is well-known in infinitedimensional linear systems theory with unbounded control and observation operators, as present in boundary control, see e.g. [116], and is motivated by interpreting a PDE on a larger space in order to define solutions. Let  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . We recall that  $B \in \mathscr{L}(U, X_{-1})$  is an  $L^p$ -admissible control operator (for  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ ), if for all  $t\geq 0$  and all  $u \in L^p([0, t]; U)$  we have

$$\Phi_t u \coloneqq \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-1})_{t-s} Bu(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\in X.$$

By a closed graph theorem argument this property implies that, for any  $t \ge 0$ , the operator  $\Phi_t$  is bounded from  $L^p([0,t];U)$  to X. We call B infinite-time  $L^p$ -admissible, if

$$\sup_{t>0} \|\Phi_t\| < \infty.$$

An operator  $C \in \mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), Y)$  is called  $L^p$ -admissible observation operator for the semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ , if for some (and hence all)  $t \geq 0$  the mapping

$$\Psi_t : \mathcal{D}(A) \to L^p([0,t];Y), \ x \mapsto C\mathbb{T}_t x$$

can be extended to a bounded operator from X to  $L^p([0,t];Y)$  — this extension will again be denoted by  $\Psi_t$ . We call C infinite-time  $L^p$ -admissible, if

$$\sup_{t>0} \|\Psi_t\| < \infty.$$

Both admissibility notions are combined in the stronger concept of well-posedness. Let (A, B, C) represent an abstract linear system where A generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathbb{T}$ , B is an  $L^2$ -admissible control operator and C is an  $L^2$ -admissible observation operator in the sense described above. If there exists a function  $G : \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathscr{L}(U, Y), \ \omega > \omega_0(\mathbb{T})$ , which satisfies

$$G(\beta) - G(\gamma) = C((\beta I - A)^{-1} - (\gamma I - A)^{-1})B$$
(1.7)

for all  $\beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}$  and G is proper, i.e.,  $\sup_{s \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}} ||G(s)|| < \infty$ , then we say that (A, B, C) —implicitly meaning the corresponding tuple  $(\mathbb{T}, \Psi, \Phi, \mathbb{F})$ , where  $\mathbb{F}$  is the inverse Laplace transform of G— is well-posed. Note that G is uniquely determined up to a constant. This definition of well-posedness for the tuple (A, B, C) is equivalent to the one presented at the beginning of this section, see [115, Proposition 4.9] and [110]. If  $\lim_{\mathrm{Re}\,s\to\infty} G(s)v$  exists for any  $v \in U$ , then the system (A, B, C) is called *regular*. We call G the *transfer function* of the system.

# 1.8 Nonlinear functional analysis

This section is devoted to present a specific class of nonlinear operators, which extend the notion of semigroup generators to the nonlinear case. The tools developed at the end of the section will be used to prove one of our main results. In this setting, the notion of contractive nonlinear operator appears naturally, and so does the fixed point theorem.

## 1.8.1 Fixed point theorem

We begin by briefly recalling a fixed point result.

**Proposition 1.8.1.** Let K be a closed nonempty subset of a Banach space V and let  $T: K \to K$  be a strict contraction, that is,

$$|T(x) - T(x)|| \le \rho ||x - y||, \quad x, y \in K,$$

where  $0 \le \rho < 1$ . Then T has a unique fixed point, an  $z \in K$  such that T(z) = z.

*Proof.* This is [106, Proposition I.2.3].

**Corollary 1.8.2.** Let K and V as above and  $T: K \to K$ . Assume that  $T^n$  is a strict contraction for some integer  $n \ge 1$ . Then T has a unique fixed point in K.

*Proof.* This is [106, Corollary I.2.5].

## 1.8.2 Nonlinear m-dissipative operators on Hilbert spaces

In this section we present the basic theory of nonlinear analysis to deal in the Hilbert space case with m-dissipative operators and we refer to [69, 90, 106]. For another construction of evolution operators one could also check [93]. We consider a real or complex valued Hilbert space X and an operator A with domain and range in X and for simplicity single-valued. As usual, we denote the domain by  $\mathcal{D}(A)$ , the range by  $\mathcal{R}(A)$  and the graph by  $\mathcal{G}(A)$ . We denote by Ax or A(x) the image of a point  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ under the operator A.

The concept of dissipativity can be extended in the nonlinear case. An operator  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is called *dissipative* if for each  $x, y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle A(x) - A(y), x - y\right\rangle \le 0.$$

If further for one  $\lambda > 0$  —and hence for all  $\lambda > 0$ , see [90, Lemma 2.13]— it holds that  $\mathcal{R}(I - \lambda A) = X$ , then we call A *m*-dissipative. The concept of maximal dissipative appears often in the literature in contrast to the one of m-dissipative. In fact, a maximal dissipative operator is a dissipative operator for which all extensions in X coincide with it. In the Hilbert space scenario, the concepts are equivalent, see [90, Lemma 2.12 (iii) and Corollary 2.27]. A counterexample in the more general Banach space case is given in [90, Example 2.6].

For an m-dissipative operator A one can define the nonlinear version of the resolvent operator, namely, for  $\lambda > 0$ 

$$J_{\lambda} \coloneqq (I - \lambda A)^{-1},$$

which is a single-valued operator such that  $\mathcal{D}(J_{\lambda}) = \mathcal{R}(I - \lambda A) = X$  and  $\mathcal{R}(J_{\lambda}) = \mathcal{D}(A)$ . Further,  $J_{\lambda}$  satisfies

$$\|J_{\lambda}x - J_{\lambda}y\| \le \|x - y\|$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ , that is,  $J_{\lambda}$  is Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant L = 1, see [90, Corollary 2.10]. As in the linear case, this makes possible to define the *Yosida approximation* of A, that is,

$$A_{\lambda} \coloneqq \lambda^{-1} (J_{\lambda} - I).$$

Moreover,

(i)  $A_{\lambda}x = AJ_{\lambda}x$ , for  $x \in X$ ;

- (ii)  $||A_{\lambda}x|| \leq ||Ax||$  for  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ;
- (iii) if  $0 < \mu \le \lambda$  and  $x \in X$ , then  $||A_{\lambda}x|| \le ||A_{\mu}x||$ ;

which is contained in [90, Lemma 2.11].

As in the linear case, A is called a *closed operator* if  $x_n \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $x'_n = Ax_n$  with  $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = x$ , and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} x'_n = x'$  imply that  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and x' = Ax, that is, the graph  $\mathcal{G}(A)$  of A is closed in  $X \times X$ . A is called *demiclosed* if  $x_n \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $x'_n = Ax_n$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = x$ , and  $w - \lim_{n\to\infty} x'_n = x'$  imply that  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and x' = Ax. From [90, Lemma 2.16 and Lemma 2.17 (ii)] it follows that an m-dissipative operator is closed and demiclosed.

**Lemma 1.8.3.** Let  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be m-dissipative and  $\lambda > 0$ . Then

- (i) for all  $x, y \in X$  it holds that  $\operatorname{Re} \langle A_{\lambda} x A_{\lambda} y, x y \rangle \leq 0$ ;
- (ii) for all  $x, y \in X$  it holds that  $\operatorname{Re} \langle A_{\lambda}x A_{\lambda}y, J_{\lambda}x J_{\lambda}y \rangle \leq 0$ ;
- (iii)  $A_{\lambda}$  is Lipschitz with constant  $\lambda^{-1}$ .

#### Proof.

(i) Let  $u = J_{\lambda}x, v = J_{\lambda}y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ . Then  $x = u - \lambda Au$  and  $y = v - \lambda Av$ . Further, using the definition of  $A_{\lambda}$  we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re}\langle A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y, x - y \rangle &= \lambda^{-1} \operatorname{Re} \langle J_{\lambda}x - x - J_{\lambda}y + y, x - y \rangle \\ &= \lambda^{-1} \operatorname{Re} \langle u - (u - \lambda Au) - v + (v - \lambda Av), u - \lambda Au - v + \lambda Av \rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle Au - Av, u - \lambda Au - v + \lambda Av \rangle \\ &= -\lambda \|Au - Av\|^2 + \operatorname{Re} \langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle \\ &\leq 0, \end{aligned}$$

since A is dissipative.

(ii) As in (i), let  $u = J_{\lambda}x, v = J_{\lambda}y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ . Then  $x = u - \lambda Au$  and  $y = v - \lambda Av$ . Further, using the definition of  $A_{\lambda}$  we have that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y, J_{\lambda}x - J_{\lambda}y\right\rangle = \lambda^{-1} \operatorname{Re}\left\langle J_{\lambda}x - x - J_{\lambda}y + y, J_{\lambda}x - J_{\lambda}y\right\rangle$$

$$= \lambda^{-1} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle u - (u - \lambda Au) - v + (v - \lambda Av), u - v \right\rangle$$
  
= Re  $\left\langle Au - Av, u - v \right\rangle$   
< 0.

(iii) It suffices to use that  $x = J_{\lambda}x - \lambda A_{\lambda}x$  for all  $x \in X$  to obtain

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y, y - x \rangle = -\operatorname{Re} \langle A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y, J_{\lambda}x - J_{\lambda}y \rangle + \lambda \|A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y\|^{2}$$
$$\geq \lambda \|A_{\lambda}x - A_{\lambda}y\|^{2}.$$

Using now the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality delivers the result.

It follows from Lemma 1.8.3 (i) that the Yosida approximation of an m-dissipative operator is also dissipative.

**Lemma 1.8.4.** Let  $x, y \in X$ . Then  $\operatorname{Re} \langle x, y \rangle \leq 0$  if, and only if,  $||x|| \leq ||x - \alpha y||$  for all  $\alpha > 0$ .

*Proof.* Follows from [127, Lemma XIV.6.1].

**Lemma 1.8.5.** Let  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be an *m*-dissipative operator.

- (i) If  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $x_n \to x \in X$ , and if  $(||Ax_n||)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, then  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and  $Ax_n \to Ax$  weakly;
- (ii) If  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $x_n \to x \in X$  and if  $(||A_{1/n}x_n||)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, then  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and  $A_{1/n}x_n \to Ax$  weakly;
- (iii) For all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  it holds that  $A_{1/n}x \to Ax$ .

Proof.

(i) [90, Lemma 2.18] already gives that  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ . Moreover, for any  $y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle Ay - Ax_n, y - x_n \right\rangle \le 0.$$

Since X is a Hilbert space, a bounded sequence has a subsequence that converges weakly, that is,  $(||Ax_n||)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, then  $Ax_{n_k} \to w \in X$  weakly. By  $x_n \to x$  and continuity we obtain that  $\operatorname{Re} \langle Ay - w, y - x \rangle \leq 0$ . Now using Lemma 1.8.4 with  $\alpha = \lambda$  we have

$$||y - x|| \le ||y - x - \lambda(Ay - w)||.$$

By setting  $y = J_{\lambda}(x - \lambda w)$  so that  $y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and  $y - \lambda Ay = x - \lambda w$ , we see that  $||y - x|| \leq 0$ , hence x = y and Ax = w. Thus  $Ax_{n_k} \to w = Ax$  weakly. Since

 $\square$ 

we could have started with any subsequence of  $(x_n)$  instead of  $(x_{n_k})$ , the result obtained shows that  $Ax_n \to Ax$  weakly.

- (ii) Set  $y_n = J_{1/n} x_n \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ . Then  $Ay_n = A_{1/n} x_n$  and the  $||Ay_n||$  are bounded. Also  $y_n x_n = J_{1/n} x_n x_n = n^{-1} A_{1/n} x_n \to 0$  so that  $y_n \to x$ . Thus (i) is applicable, with the result that  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and  $A_{1/n} x_n = Ay_n \to Ax$  weakly.
- (iii) This is a direct consequence of [90, Lemma 2.22].

The following result clearly differs from the linear case, since the domain of a linear m-dissipative operator in a Hilbert space is dense. In the nonlinear case one can only show in general that the closure of the domain is convex.

**Proposition 1.8.6.** If  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is m-dissipative, then  $\overline{\mathcal{D}(A)}$  is a convex set.

*Proof.* This is [90, Theorem 2.20 (ii)].

**Lemma 1.8.7.** Let X be a Hilbert space,  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  a single-valued, mdissipative, possibly non-linear operator and  $B : \overline{\mathcal{D}(A)} \subseteq \mathcal{D}(B) \subseteq X \to X$  continuous. Then if A + B is a dissipative operator, then A + B is m-dissipative.

*Proof.* This is [90, Corollary 6.19(a)].

**Remark 1.8.8.** If  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is m-dissipative, then for all  $f \in X$  and  $\lambda > 0$  there exists some  $z \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  with  $\lambda z - A(z) = f$ . The element z is indeed unique, since for any  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  with  $\lambda x - A(x) = f$ , we obtain by taking the difference that

$$\lambda(x-z) - (A(x) - A(z)) = 0$$

and taking the inner product with x - z gives

$$\lambda \|x - z\|^2 = \operatorname{Re} \left\langle A(x) - A(z), x - z \right\rangle.$$

Dissipativity of A leads to non-positivity of the latter expression, whence x = z.

In the following we recall some concepts about differentiability of functionals and introduce the concept of subdifferential. It will be very convenient to define  $\mathbb{R}_{\infty} := (-\infty, +\infty]$ .

**Definition 1.8.9.** Let H be a Hilbert space and let  $\Psi : H \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$  be a single-valued functional with  $\Psi \neq \infty$ , that is,  $\{x \in H \mid \Psi(x) < \infty\} \neq \emptyset$ . We define the *subdifferential*  $\partial \Psi$  of  $\Psi$  as follows

$$\partial \Psi(x) \coloneqq \{ y \in H \mid \Psi(u) - \Psi(x) \ge \operatorname{Re} \langle y, u - x \rangle, \forall u \in H \},\$$

 $\square$ 

for  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\partial \Psi)$ , which means that the set on the right-hand side of the above equation is not empty.

If  $\Psi$  is such that  $\{x \in H \mid \Psi(x) < \infty\} \neq \emptyset$ , we say that  $\Psi$  is *proper* and its effective domain is  $\mathcal{D}(\Psi) \coloneqq \{x \in H \mid \Psi(x) < \infty\}$ . Moreover, we say that  $\Psi$  is *convex* if

$$\Psi(tu + (1-t)v) \le t\Psi(u) + (1-t)\Psi(v), \quad u, v \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi), t \in [0,1].$$

**Lemma 1.8.10.** With the notation of the former definition, the operator  $-\partial \Psi$  is dissipative. Assume further that the functional  $\Psi$  is convex and lower-semi-continuous. Then  $-\partial \Psi$  is m-dissipative.

*Proof.* This is [90, Example 2.2].

**Lemma 1.8.11.** Let H be a real Hilbert space,  $\Psi : H \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$  be proper, convex and lower-semi-continuous on the real Hilbert space H. Denote the subgradient by  $\partial \Psi$ . If  $u, \dot{u} \in L^2([0,T]; H)$  and if there exists a  $g \in L^2([0,T]; H)$ , with  $g \in \partial \Psi(u)$  a.e. on [0,T], then the functional  $\Psi \circ u$  is absolutely continuous on [0,T] and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Psi(u(t)) = \left\langle h(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}u(t) \right\rangle, \quad a.e. \ t \in [0, T],$$

for any function h with  $h \in \partial \Psi(u)$  a.e. on [0,T].

Proof. This is [106, Lemma IV.4.3].

The notion of subdifferential is closely related with the concept of *G*-differential or *Gateaux differential*. Given a real Hilbert space H and  $\Psi : H \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$ , the directional derivative of  $\Psi$  at  $u \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$  in the direction v is the one-sided limit

$$\Psi'(u,v) \coloneqq \lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\Psi(u+tv) - \Psi(u)}{t}$$

where it exists. If  $\Psi$  is convex, then the limit exists in  $[-\infty, \infty]$ . The G-differential of  $\Psi : H \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$  at  $u \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$  is an  $f \in H'$  for which  $f(v) = \Psi'(u, v)$  for all  $v \in H$ . Such an f is unique, it is denoted by  $\Psi'(u)$  and we say that  $\Psi$  is G-differentiable at u, see [106, pp. 80]. The following result relates the notion of G-differentiability and subgradient.

**Proposition 1.8.12.** Let H be a real Hilbert space and  $\Psi : H \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$  be convex and proper. If  $\Psi$  is G-differentiable at  $u \in int(\mathcal{D}(\Psi))$ , then  $\partial \Psi(u) = \{\Psi'(u, \cdot)\}$ . If  $\Psi$  is somewhere continuous and  $\partial \Psi(u)$  is a singleton, then  $\Psi$  is G-differentiable at u.

*Proof.* This is [106, Proposition II.7.6].

## 1.8.3 The nonlinear abstract Cauchy problem

The following results can be performed when starting at  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $z(t_0) = z_0$ , but for the sake simplicity we will set  $t_0 = 0$ . One of the cornerstones of our results resides in the fact of being able to show that the equation

$$\dot{z}(t) = A(z(t)) + \omega(t)z(t) + f(t),$$
  
$$z(0) = z_0$$

has a solution in some sense, where A is m-dissipative, nonlinear operator in a Hilbert space and  $\omega$  and f are regular enough. In [90, Theorem 6.20] it has been shown that there exists a unique solution when the domain of A is closed, which in general will not be the case in this thesis, since we will deal with differential operators. For the real valued case, one could attempt to use the notion of nonlinear evolution operator in [75] to obtain existence and uniqueness. Also in the real valued scenario, the result has been shown when  $\omega(t)$  is independent of t in [106, Theorem IV.4.1], which already follows from [39]. The original result in [106] is due to T. Kato. Following this thread, with the results given in [69, Section 3], one can indeed show that the abstract nonlinear Cauchy problem (ANCP) has a unique solution. To this end, one defines  $\mathcal{A}(t)z :=$  $A(z) + \omega(t)z + f(t)$ . Clearly,  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}(t)) = \mathcal{D}(A)$  is independent of t. Further, if  $\omega$ and f are Lipschitz, then  $\mathcal{A}(t)$  it is uniformly Lipschitz in t. In order to apply the main theorems in [69], it is also required  $\mathcal{A}(t)$  to be m-dissipative, which is not the case. However, in the remarks subsequent to Theorem 3, in particular Remark 5., this condition can be weakened to the fact that for some  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $\mathcal{A}(t) - \lambda I$  is m-dissipative, and then we can apply the results there for our particular case. However, in Remark 5. one can read the following:

It should be noted that this is not a trivial generalization. If  $\mathcal{A}(t)$  were linear, the transformation  $x(t) = e^{-\lambda t} z(t)$  would change

$$\dot{z}(t) = \mathcal{A}(t)z(t)$$

into

$$\dot{x}(t) = (\mathcal{A}(t) - \lambda I)x(t).$$

But the same transformation does not always work in the nonlinear case, for the transformed equation involves the operator  $e^{-\lambda t}(\mathcal{A}(t) - \lambda I)e^{\lambda t}$ , the domain of which may depend on t when  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}(t))$  does not.

No further comments are given about the reason why this holds true or the way to prove it, even though it is clear when having a closer look at the proof, namely, by modifying the fixed point argument. For the sake of self-containment, we provide here a detailed version of the proof following the lines of [106, Theorem IV.4.1] and [69]. Nevertheless, the proof of Theorem IV.4.1 is not well-structured and some steps are incomplete, so this requires more effort than only adapting the steps to the time dependence of  $\omega$ . The next result will be often used in the proof, so we introduce it here. This is a Grönwall-type inequality.

**Lemma 1.8.13.** Let  $a, b \in L^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R})$  with  $b \ge 0$  a.e. and let the absolutely continuous function  $v : [0,T] \to (0,\infty)$  satisfy

$$(1-\rho)v'(t) \le a(t)v(t) + b(t)v(t)^{\rho}, \quad a.e. \ t \in [0,T],$$

where  $0 \leq \rho < 1$ . Then

$$v(t)^{1-\rho} \le v(0)^{1-\rho} \exp\left(\int_0^t a(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) + \int_0^t \exp\left(\int_s^t a(r) \,\mathrm{d}r\right) b(s) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad t \in [0,T].$$

Proof. This is [106, Lemma IV.4.1].

**Theorem 1.8.14.** Let T > 0, X be a Hilbert space and  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be *m*-dissipative in X with  $0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and A(0) = 0.

Then for each  $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $\omega \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{R})$  and  $f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  there exists a unique Lipschitz continuous  $z : [0,T] \to X$ , such that

- 1.  $z(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  at every  $t \in [0, T]$ ;
- 2. for a.e.  $t \in [0,T]$  it holds that

$$\dot{z}(t) = A(z(t)) + \omega(t)z(t) + f(t), 
z(0) = z_0$$
(1.8)

3.  $\dot{z}$  and A(z) are continuous except at a countable number of values in [0, T].

*Proof.* The proof is divided in three parts: uniqueness, existence and smoothness of z. Step 1. Uniqueness

For any two solutions  $z_1, z_2$  of (1.8) we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_1(t) - z_2(t)\|^2 \le \omega(t)\|z_1(t) - z_2(t)\|^2, \quad t \ge 0,$$

since A is dissipative. From Lemma 1.8.13 with  $\rho = 1/2$  it follows that

$$|z_1(t) - z_2(t)|| \le ||z_1(0) - z_2(0)||e^{\Omega(t,0)}, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where

$$\Omega(t,s) \coloneqq \int_s^t \omega(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \, .$$

Uniqueness is now immediate from the initial condition.

#### Step 2. Existence

To obtain existence, for  $\alpha > 0$  we consider the Yosida approximation of the operator A in (1.8), which is given by  $A_{\alpha} \coloneqq \alpha^{-1}(J_{\alpha} - I), J_{\alpha} \coloneqq (I - \alpha A)^{-1}$ . This leads to

$$\dot{z}_{\alpha}(t) = \alpha^{-1}(J_{\alpha} - I)(z_{\alpha}(t)) + \omega(t)z_{\alpha}(t) + f(t), \quad t \in [0, T],$$
(1.9)

with  $z_{\alpha}(0) = z_0$ . Multiplying the former equation by  $e^{-t/\alpha}$  and integrating we obtain

$$z_{\alpha}(t) = e^{-t/\alpha} z_0 + \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} (\alpha^{-1} J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}(s)) + \omega(s) z_{\alpha}(s) + f(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$
(1.10)

Let us solve (1.10) in the Banach space C([0,T];X) by a fixed point theorem. Consider the closed, convex set  $\mathcal{K} = \{z \in C([0,T];X) \mid z(t) \in X \; \forall t \in [0,T]\}$ , and define

$$\mathbb{T}(z)(t) := e^{-t/\alpha} z_0 + \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} (\alpha^{-1} J_\alpha(z(s)) + \omega(s) z(s) + f(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

for  $z \in \mathcal{K}$ . Then  $\mathbb{T}(z(\cdot)) \in C([0,T];X)$  and the indicated convex combination satisfies

$$\mathbb{T}(z)(t) = e^{-t/\alpha} z_0 + (1 - e^{-t/\alpha}) z_1(t) \in X, t > 0,$$

where

$$z_1(t) = \alpha^{-1} \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} (\alpha^{-1} J_\alpha(z(s)) + \omega(s) z(s) + f(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \left( \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \right)^{-1},$$

for t > 0.

Thus  $\mathbb{T}$  maps  $\mathcal{K}$  into itself. For any pair  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{K}$  we have

$$\|\mathbb{T}(z_1)(t) - \mathbb{T}(z_2)(t)\| \le (\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}}) \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} \|z_1(s) - z_2(s)\| \, \mathrm{d}s \,,$$

since  $J_{\alpha}$  is Lipschitz with constant 1. This shows that

$$\|\mathbb{T}(z_1)(t) - \mathbb{T}(z_2)(t)\| \le (\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})t\|z_1 - z_2\|_{C([0,T];X)}, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Assume that for an integer  $k \ge 1$  arbitrary but fixed

$$\|\mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{1})(t) - \mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{2})(t)\| \leq \frac{(\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})^{k}t^{k}}{k!} \|z_{1} - z_{2}\|_{C([0,T];X)}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Then, for k + 1 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbb{T}^{k+1}(z_1)(t) - \mathbb{T}^{k+1}(z_2)(t)\| &= \|\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{T}^k(z_1))(t) - \mathbb{T}(\mathbb{T}^k(z_2))(t)\| \\ &\leq (\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}}) \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)/\alpha} \|\mathbb{T}^k(z_1) - \mathbb{T}^k(z_2)\|_{C([0,T];X)} \, \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq (\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}}) \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})^{k} t^{k}}{k!} \|z_{1} - z_{2}\|_{C([0,T];X)} \,\mathrm{d}s$$
  
=  $\frac{(\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})^{k+1} t^{k+1}}{(k+1)!} \|z_{1} - z_{2}\|_{C([0,T];X)}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$ 

Thus, using induction,

$$\|\mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{1})(t) - \mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{2})(t)\| \leq \frac{(\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})^{k} t^{k}}{k!} \|z_{1} - z_{2}\|_{C([0,T];X)}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

which implies that

$$\|\mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{1}) - \mathbb{T}^{k}(z_{2})\|_{C([0,T];X)} \leq \frac{(\alpha^{-1} + \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}})^{k}T^{k}}{k!} \|z_{1} - z_{2}\|_{C([0,T];X)}$$

and hence  $\mathbb{T}^k$  is a strict contraction for k sufficiently large, so (1.10) has a unique solution in  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Now let  $z_{\alpha}$  be the unique solution for each  $\alpha > 0$  of (1.10) with  $z_{\alpha}(0) = z_0$ . Since by assumption A(0) = 0, it follows that  $A_{\alpha}(0) = 0$ . Hence, we obtain the inequality

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_{\alpha}(t)\|^{2} \le \omega(t) \|z_{\alpha}(t)\|^{2} + \|f(t)\| \|z_{\alpha}(t)\|.$$

Applying Lemma 1.8.13 with  $\rho = 1/2$  yields

$$||z_{\alpha}(t)|| \le ||z_{0}|| e^{\Omega(t,0)} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{\Omega(t,s)} ||f(s)|| \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$
(1.11)

We now estimate  $\dot{z}_{\alpha}$  using a similar technique. If h > 0, it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \|^{2} \leq \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \omega(t+h) z_{\alpha}(t+h) - \omega(t) z_{\alpha}(t), z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \right\rangle + \operatorname{Re} \left\langle f(t+h) - f(t), z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \right\rangle = \omega(t+h) \| z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \|^{2} + (\omega(t+h) - \omega(t)) \operatorname{Re} \left\langle z_{\alpha}(t), z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \right\rangle + \operatorname{Re} \left\langle f(t+h) - f(t), z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \right\rangle \leq \omega(t+h) \| z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \|^{2} + |\omega(t+h) - \omega(t)| \| z_{\alpha}(t) \| \| z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \| + \| f(t+h) - f(t) \| \| z_{\alpha}(t+h) - z_{\alpha}(t) \|.$$

Hence, applying Lemma 1.8.13 with  $\rho = 1/2$ , dividing by h and letting  $h \to 0$  gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}_{\alpha}(t)\| &\leq \|\dot{z}_{\alpha}(0)\| e^{\Omega(t,0)} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{\Omega(t,s)} b(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &= \|A_{\alpha}(z_{0}) + \omega(0)z_{0} + f(0)\| e^{\Omega(t,0)} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{\Omega(t,s)} b(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,, \end{aligned}$$
(1.12)

where  $b(t) := \|\dot{f}(s)\| + |\dot{\omega}(s)| \|z_{\alpha}(s)\|$ . Since  $\|A_{\alpha}(z_{0})\| \le \|A(z_{0})\|$ , it follows that  $\dot{z}_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}$ and  $A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha})$  are bounded in C([0,T];X). Let  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  be given, then

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t)\|^{2} = \omega(t) \|z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t)\|^{2} + \operatorname{Re} \left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}(t)) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}(t)), z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t) \right\rangle.$$

Write  $z_{\alpha} = J_{\alpha} z_{\alpha} - \alpha A_{\alpha} z_{\alpha}$  and likewise for  $z_{\beta}$  to get

$$\operatorname{Re} \left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}), z_{\alpha} - z_{\beta} \right\rangle = -\operatorname{Re} \left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}), \alpha A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - \beta A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle \\ + \operatorname{Re} \left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}), J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - J_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle$$

For the first term in the right-hand side we have

$$\begin{aligned} -\operatorname{Re}\left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}), \alpha A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - \beta A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle \\ &= -\alpha \|A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha})\|^{2} - \beta \|A_{\beta}(z_{\beta})\|^{2} + (\alpha + \beta) \operatorname{Re}\left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}), A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle \\ &\leq -\alpha \|A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha})\|^{2} - \beta \|A_{\beta}(z_{\beta})\|^{2} \\ &+ \alpha \left( \|A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha})\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \|A_{\beta}(z_{\beta})\|^{2} \right) + \beta \left( \|A_{\beta}(z_{\beta})\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \|A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha})\|^{2} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha + \beta}{4} K^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

where  $K \coloneqq \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \{ \|A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}(t))\| \mid \alpha > 0 \}$ . For the second one, using that  $A_{\alpha} = \alpha^{-1}(J_{\alpha} - I)$  and the same with  $\beta$  we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re} \left\langle A_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - A_{\beta}(z_{\beta}), J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - J_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle$$
  
= 
$$\operatorname{Re} \left\langle \alpha^{-1}(J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - z_{\alpha}) - \beta^{-1}(J_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) - z_{\beta}), J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) - J_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) \right\rangle.$$

Setting  $J_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) = u_{\alpha}$  and  $J_{\beta}(z_{\beta}) = u_{\beta}$  together with  $z_{\alpha} = u_{\alpha} - \alpha A(u_{\alpha})$  and likewise for  $z_{\beta}$  yield

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle \alpha^{-1}(u_{\alpha} - (u_{\alpha} - \alpha A(u_{\alpha}))) - \beta^{-1}(u_{\beta} - (u_{\beta} - \beta A(u_{\beta}))), u_{\alpha} - u_{\beta} \right\rangle$$
$$= \operatorname{Re}\left\langle A(u_{\alpha}) - A(u_{\beta}), u_{\alpha} - u_{\beta} \right\rangle \le 0,$$

since A is dissipative. Hence

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t)\|^{2} \le \omega(t)\|z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t)\|^{2} + \frac{\alpha + \beta}{4}K^{2}.$$

Thus we have

$$||z_{\alpha}(t) - z_{\beta}(t)||^{2} \le \frac{\alpha + \beta}{2} K^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{2\Omega(t,s)} ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

In particular  $(z_{1/n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is Cauchy in C([0,T];X) and define  $z \in C([0,T];X)$  as its limit.

Step 3. Smoothness of z

Since  $z_{1/n}$  is Lipschitz continuous uniformly in t and n by (1.12), it follows that z is also Lipschitz continuous uniformly in t with  $z(0) = z_0$  and  $\dot{z} \in L^{\infty}([0,T];X)$ .

Moreover, for each t we have  $z_{1/n}(t) \to z(t)$  and there exists K > 0 independent of t and n such that  $||A_{1/n}z_{1/n}(t)|| \leq K$ . It follows from Lemma 1.8.5 ((ii)) that  $z(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ for all t and  $A_{1/n}z_{1/n}(t) \to Az(t)$  weakly. Thus,  $||Az(t)|| \leq K$  as well. Moreover, for a sequence  $t_k \to t$ , we have by Lemma 1.8.5 (i) that  $Az(t_k) \to Az(t)$  weakly, which shows that  $t \mapsto Az(t)$  is weakly continuous.

Since  $z_{1/n}$  satisfies (1.9), for every  $\theta \in X$  we have that

$$\left\langle z_{1/n_k}(t),\theta\right\rangle = \left\langle z_0,\theta\right\rangle + \int_0^t \left\langle A_{1/n_k}(z_{1/n_k}(s)) + \omega(s)z_{1/n_k}(s) + f(s),\theta\right\rangle \,\mathrm{d}s\,.$$

Moreover,  $z_{1/n}(t) \to z(t)$ ,  $A_{1/n}z_{1/n}(t) \to Az(t)$  weakly and  $|\langle A_{1/n}z_{1/n}(t), \theta \rangle| \leq K \|\theta\|$ , we obtain

$$\langle z(t), \theta \rangle = \int_0^t \langle A(z(s)) + \omega(s)z(s) + f(s), \theta \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s$$

by bounded convergence [28, Theorem II.4.1]. Given that the integrand is continuous in s,  $\langle z(t), \theta \rangle$  is continuously differentiable on [0, T] with

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\langle z(t), \theta \right\rangle = \left\langle A(z(t)) + \omega(t)z(t) + f(t), \theta \right\rangle.$$

Further since A(z(t)) is weakly continuous it follows that it is strongly measurable. Together with the fact of being bounded, it follows that it is Bochner integrable. Then the former shows that

$$z(t) = z_0 + \int_0^t A(z(s)) + \omega(s)z(s) + f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,,$$

and thus  $\dot{z}$  is continuous except possibly in a set of measure zero. If we consider (1.8) in [s, T] with the initial value z(s), the solution must coincide with our z(t) on [s, T] owing this to the uniqueness of the solution. As we have obtained (1.11), for  $r \in [s, t]$  with  $t \leq T$ , we have

$$e^{-\Omega(r,0)} ||z(r)|| \le ||z_0|| + ||f||_{\infty} r$$

In a similar way as we have computed (1.12), using the former we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}(t)\|e^{-\Omega(t,0)} - \|\dot{z}(s)\|e^{-\Omega(s,0)} &\leq \|\dot{\omega}\|_{\infty} \int_{s}^{t} e^{-\Omega(r,0)} \|z(r)\| \,\mathrm{d}r + \|\dot{f}\|_{\infty} \int_{s}^{t} e^{-\Omega(r,0)} \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq \|\dot{\omega}\|_{\infty} \|z_{0}\|(t-s) + \frac{\|\dot{\omega}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\infty}}{2} (t^{2} - s^{2}) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \frac{\|\dot{f}\|_{\infty}}{\|\omega\|_{\infty}} (\mathrm{e}^{\|\omega\|_{\infty}t} - \mathrm{e}^{\|\omega\|_{\infty}s}).$$

Thus, defining  $c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4 > 0$  according to the former inequality, the function  $t \mapsto \|\dot{z}(t)\|e^{-\Omega(t,0)} - c_1t - c_2t^2 - c_3e^{c_4t}$  is monotonically decreasing and it is therefore continuous except possibly at a countable number of points. Since  $t \mapsto \|\dot{z}(t)\|$  is weakly continuous, it follows that it is strongly continuous at each point t where  $t \mapsto \|\dot{z}(t)\|$  is continuous. Hence, since  $t \mapsto \dot{z}(t)$  is strongly continuous except possibly at a countable number of points and since  $t \mapsto \omega(t)z(t) + f(t)$  is continuous,  $t \mapsto A(z(t))$  is also continuous except possibly at a countable number of points.

## **1.9 Funnel control and solution concepts**

The last section of this chapter is devoted to clarify the relation between the uncontrolled and funnel controlled systems by using the appropriate solution concepts. As we will see in the following chapters, when dealing with PDEs, there is something that plays an important role that does not come up in the finite-dimensional scenario, which is the initial value of the system. This is then strictly related with the kind of funnel controller that we use.

Assume that we have reflexive Banach spaces U, X, Y and a system  $\Sigma$  in the triple (U, X, Y) with input  $u(t) \in U$ , state  $x(t) \in X$  and output  $y(t) \in Y$  for a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$  for T > 0 and  $x(0) = x_0 \in X_0 \subset X$  given, where  $X_0$  is a dense subspace of X. Let us assume that on the system  $\Sigma$  one defines a *solution concept* (SC), that is, (u, x, y) satisfy certain properties —for instance, in the case of the linear infinite-dimensional prototype one could think about well-posedness. Of course, if we introduce a feed-back law as the FC,

$$u(t) = -\frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} (y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)),$$

one wishes that the resulting solution of the closed-loop system, if it exists, satisfies that (u, x, y) is also a solution as defined in SC. Note that we have chosen finite-dimensional input and output spaces and in particular, we will work in the case in which they have the same dimension, that is  $U = Y = \mathbb{R}^m$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , which will be a general assumption.

As an example, assume that the system  $\Sigma$  is  $L^2$ -well-posed on  $(\mathbb{R}^m, X, \mathbb{R}^m)$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that  $\Sigma = (\mathbb{T}, \Phi, \Psi, \mathbb{F})$ . Then we investigate the problem

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \mathbb{T}_{t} x_{0} + \Phi_{t} u, \\ y(t) &= \Psi_{t} x_{0} + \mathbb{F}_{t} u, \\ u(t) &= -\frac{k_{0}}{1 - \varphi(t)^{2} \|y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}} (y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)), \end{aligned}$$
 ( $\Sigma_{CL}$ )

for some appropriate and regular  $\varphi$ ,  $y_{\text{ref}}$ . Assuming that the closed-loop system  $(\Sigma_{CL})$  has a solution according to our SC, this would imply that  $u, y \in L^2([0,T];\mathbb{R}^m)$  and further we have that the state  $x \in C([0,T];X)$ . However, this does not provide enough information about the regularity of (u, x, y) or whether the funnel controller is performing as desired, that is, the error  $y - y_{\text{ref}}$  is bounded away from the funnel boundary  $\varphi^{-1}$ . In general, these two things are the ones that take most effort to prove, together with showing existence of a solution of  $(\Sigma_{CL})$ .

In the following chapters we will study different cases to which we will apply the FC. In Chapters 2 & 3 we consider systems that fit within the existing theory of the FC, so even though we deal with infinite-dimensional systems, we reduce the problem to a functional differential equation, for which the solution concept is clear. On the other hand, in Chapter 4 we start from the very beginning with a system class for which one can not always guarantee that there is a solution —we do not assume the system to be well-posed. In fact, we consider the fully nonlinear problem induced by the closedloop system and on top of that we define a solution concept for the resulting system. Finally, in Chapter 5 we deal with a nonlinear, parabolic PDE for which one can define a solution concept by means of the weak formulation using sesquilinear forms. Since all the cases are different and the FC needs to be slightly modified in the various scenarios, we will recall and introduce in each chapter the basics related to funnel control and explicitly define what the control objective is.

# 2 Adaptive control for a moving water tank

When a liquid-filled containment is subject to movement, the motion of the fluid may have a significant effect on the dynamics of the overall system and is known as *sloshing*. The latter phenomenon can be understood as internal dynamics of the system and it is of great importance in a range of applications such as aeronautics and control of containers and vehicles, and has been studied in engineering for a long time, see e.g. [23, 32, 42, 45, 118, 126].

The standard model for the one-dimensional movement of a fluid is given by the Saint-Venant equations, which is a system of nonlinear hyperbolic partial differential equations (PDEs). Models of a moving water tank involving these equations without friction have been studied in various articles. The first approach appears in [29] where a flat output for the linearized model is constructed (see e.g. [34] for the flatness approach). Several additional control problems related to this model are studied in [95] and it is proved that the linearization is steady-state controllable. Even more so, the seminal work [26] shows that the (nonlinear) model is locally controllable around any steady state. However, as an interesting addition, in [25] it is shown that the two-dimensional version is not locally controllable under some generic condition, where the control acts on the boundary and only depends on time. Different stabilization approaches by state and output feedback using Lyapunov functions are studied in [98]. In [8] observers are designed to estimate the horizontal currents by exploiting the symmetries in the Saint-Venant equations. Convergence of the estimates to the actual states is studied for the linearized model. In [23] a port-Hamiltonian formulation of the system is provided as a mixed finite-infinite-dimensional port-Hamiltonian system. For a recent numerical treatment of a truck with a fluid basin see [35].

In the present chapter we consider output trajectory tracking for moving water tank systems by funnel control. The moving water tank system that we consider in the present chapter contains a non-vanishing friction term as modeled in the Saint-Venant equations e.g. in [9]. It is our aim to show that the funnel controller introduced in [11] is feasible for these systems. While a very large class of functional differential equations with higher relative degree is considered in [11] and funnel control is shown to work for those systems (cf. also Section 2.2), it is not clear exactly which systems containing PDEs are encompassed by this class. It is our main result that the linearized model of the moving water tank, where the above mentioned effect of sloshing appears, belongs to the aforementioned system class.

# 2.1 Mathematical model

In the present chapter we investigate the (frictionless) horizontal movement of a water tank as depicted in Fig. 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Horizontal movement of a water tank.

We assume that there is an external force acting on the water tank, which we denote by u(t) as this will be the control input of the resulting system. The measurement output is the horizontal position y(t) of the water tank, and the mass of the empty tank is denoted by  $m_T$ . The dynamics of the water under gravity g are described by the Saint-Venant equations (also called one-dimensional shallow water equations)

$$\partial_t h + \partial_\zeta (hv) = 0,$$
  
$$\partial_t v + \partial_\zeta \left(\frac{v^2}{2} + gh\right) + hS\left(\frac{v}{h}\right) = -\ddot{y}$$
(2.1)

with boundary conditions v(t,0) = v(t,1) = 0. Here  $h : [0,\infty) \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$  denotes the height profile and  $v : [0,\infty) \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$  the (relative) horizontal velocity profile. The first equation in (2.1) is the so called *continuity equation* and describes the conservation of water volume in the tank. The second equation in (2.1) is the so called *momentum equation* and describes the balance between forces and momentum change rate. The boundary conditions require a zero velocity profile at the boundaries so that the movement is restricted to the container, the length of which is normalized to 1. The friction term  $S : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is typically modeled by a high velocity coefficient of the form  $C_S v^2/h^2$  and another one which plays the role of a viscous drag of the form  $C_D v/h$ for some positive constants  $C_S, C_D$ . In the present chapter, we do not specify S, but we do assume that S(0) = 0 and S'(0) > 0. The condition S(0) = 0 means that, whenever the velocity is zero, then there is no friction. The condition S'(0) > 0 indicates the viscous drag does not vanish and hence the friction term is not conservative; this is the case in most real-world non-ideal situations. However, we stress that in the literature the friction term is usually assumed to be conservative, see e.g. [9, Sec. 1.4]. For a derivation of the Saint-Venant equations (2.1) of a moving water tank we refer to [23,95], see also the references therein. The friction term in the model is the general version of that used in [9, Sec. 1.4]. Let us emphasize that in our framework the input is the force acting on the water tank, which can be manipulated using an engine for instance. In contrast to this, in [26,95] the acceleration of the tank is used as input, but this can usually not be influenced directly. Note that — in the presence of sloshing — the applied force does not equal the product of the tanks's mass and acceleration. We also stress that, if the acceleration is used as input, then the input-output relation is given by the simple double integrator  $\ddot{y} = u$ , and the Saint-Venant equations (2.1) do not affect this relation. Of course, in [26,95] controllability of the complete state including the Saint-Venant equations is considered, but here we study output tracking, which does not require to influence the complete state.

As shown in [29,95], the linearization of the Saint-Venant equations is relevant in the context of control since it provides a model which is much simpler to solve (both analytically and numerically) and it can be an insightful approximation for motion planning purposes. Therefore, we restrict ourselves to the linearization of (2.1). In order to derive the linearization we first consider the general operator differential equation

$$\partial_t x(t) - F(x(t)) = f(t), \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $F: \mathcal{D}(F) \subseteq X \to Y$ ,  $f: [0, \infty) \to Y$ , X, Y are suitable Hilbert spaces and  $\mathcal{D}(F)$ is the domain of the operator F. Different notions of a solution of (2.2) may be used, such as classical, mild or weak solution, see e.g. [67]. We call a point  $x^* \in \mathcal{D}(F)$  an *equilibrium* or *steady-state* of (2.2), if  $F(x^*) = 0$ . In this case,  $t \mapsto x^*$  is a solution (in any sense) of the homogeneous part  $\partial_t x(t) - F(x(t)) = 0$ . If F is Fréchet differentiable in  $x^*$  with Fréchet derivative  $\mathfrak{A} := D_{x^*}F: X \to Y$  ( $\mathfrak{A}$  is linear and bounded), then the *linearization* of (2.2) around the steady-state  $x^*$  is given by

$$\partial_t x(t) - \mathfrak{A} x(t) = f(t). \tag{2.3}$$

In the setting of the Saint-Venant equations (2.1) we have  $X = W^{1,2}([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $Y = L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^2)$ ,  $f(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\ddot{y}(t) \end{pmatrix}$  and the operator

$$F(x_1, x_2) = - \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\zeta}(x_1 x_2) \\ \partial_{\zeta} \left(\frac{1}{2} x_2^2 + g x_1\right) + x_1 S\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.4)

with

$$\mathcal{D}(F) = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} (x_1, x_2) \in X \\ \forall \zeta \in [0, 1] : x_1(\zeta) > 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$
(2.5)

A steady-state  $x^* = (H, V) \in \mathcal{D}(F)$  is a solution of the boundary-value problem

$$\partial_{\zeta}(HV) = 0,$$

$$V\partial_{\zeta}V + g\partial_{\zeta}H + HS\left(\frac{V}{H}\right) = 0, \quad V(0) = V(1) = 0.$$

In order to be able to deal with the aforementioned linearization we give the following result.

**Lemma 2.1.1.** Consider the operator  $F : \mathcal{D}(F) \subseteq X \to Y$  given by (2.4), where  $X = W^{1,2}([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^2), Y = L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^2)$ , and  $\mathcal{D}(F)$  is as in (2.5). Then F is Fréchet differentiable in any point  $x = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{D}(F)$  with Fréchet derivative

$$D_xFh = \begin{pmatrix} h_1\partial_{\zeta}x_2 + x_1\partial_{\zeta}h_2 + x_2\partial_{\zeta}h_1 + h_2\partial_{\zeta}x_1\\ h_2\partial_{\zeta}x_2 + x_2\partial_{\zeta}h_2 + g\partial_{\zeta}h_1 + h_1S\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) + h_2S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) - h_1\frac{x_2}{x_1}S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$

for  $h = (h_1, h_2) \in X$ . In particular,  $D_x F : X \to Y$  is bounded.

*Proof.* It is straightforward to check that  $D_x F$  as defined above is the Gateaux derivative of F in x. It remains to show that F is Fréchet differentiable in x. Define the auxiliary function

$$\bar{S}: D \to \mathbb{R}, \ (x_1, x_2) \mapsto x_1 S\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right),$$

where

$$D = \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x_1 \neq 0 \}.$$

Then  $\bar{S}$  is differentiable in D with

$$\bar{S}'(x_1, x_2) = \left[S\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) - \frac{x_2}{x_1}S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right), S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right)\right].$$

Now we compute that

$$\begin{split} \|F(x+h) - F(x) - D_x Fh\|_Y^2 \\ &= \|h_1 \partial_\zeta h_2 + h_2 \partial_\zeta h_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|h_2 \partial_\zeta h_2\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ \|\bar{S}(x_1+h_1, x_2+h_2) - \bar{S}(x_1, x_2) - \bar{S}'(x_1, x_2) \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\leq 2\|h_1\|_{L^2}^2 \|\partial_\zeta h_2\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\|h_2\|_{L^2}^2 \|\partial_\zeta h_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|h_2\|_{L^2}^2 \|\partial_\zeta h_2\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ \|R(x+h)\|_{L^2}^2 \|h\|_Y^2 \\ &\leq 5\|h\|_X^4 + \|R(x+h)\|_{L^2}^2 \|h\|_X^2, \end{split}$$

where  $R : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ , which depends on  $x(\zeta)$ , is such that  $\lim_{z \to x(\zeta)} R(z) = 0$  for all  $\zeta \in [0, 1]$ . Therefore,  $\lim_{h \to 0, h \in X} ||R(x+h)||_{L^2} = 0$  and hence we find that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\|F(x+h) - F(x) - D_x Fh\|_Y}{\|h\|_X} = 0.$$

Finally, boundedness of  $D_x F: X \to Y$  follows from

$$D_x Fh = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_{\zeta} x_2 & \partial_{\zeta} x_1 \\ S\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) - \frac{x_2}{x_1} S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) & \partial_{\zeta} x_2 + S'\left(\frac{x_2}{x_1}\right) \end{bmatrix} h + \begin{bmatrix} x_2 & x_1 \\ g & x_2 \end{bmatrix} \partial_{\zeta} h.$$

Since S(0) = 0 and  $H(\zeta) > 0$  for all  $\zeta \in [0, 1]$ , we may infer that  $V \equiv 0$  and  $H \equiv h_0 > 0$ . It follows from Lemma 2.1.1 that F is Fréchet differentiable in  $x^* = (h_0, 0) \in \mathcal{D}(F)$  with Fréchet derivative  $\mathfrak{A} \coloneqq D_{x^*}F : X \to Y$  given by

$$\mathfrak{A}z = -\begin{pmatrix} h_0\partial_{\zeta}z_2\\ g\partial_{\zeta}z_1 + S'(0)z_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad z \in X.$$

Note that  $\mathfrak{A} : X \to Y$  is bounded, but  $\mathfrak{A} : (X, \|\cdot\|_Y) \subseteq Y \to Y$  will be unbounded since a weaker norm is used. Define  $\mu := \frac{1}{2}S'(0)$  and

$$P_1 \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{H} \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} g & 0 \\ 0 & h_0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad P_0 \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad b \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then the linearization of the Saint-Venant equations (2.1) is given by the system

$$\partial_t z = \mathfrak{A} z + b\ddot{y} = P_1 \partial_\zeta (\mathcal{H} z) - \mu P_0 z + b\ddot{y}$$
(2.6)

with boundary conditions

$$z_2(t,0) = z_2(t,1) = 0. (2.7)$$

For the convenience of the reader let us also restate (2.6) line by line:

$$\partial_t z_1 + h_0 \partial_\zeta z_2 = 0,$$
  
$$\partial_t z_2 + g \partial_\zeta z_1 + 2\mu z_2 = -\ddot{y}.$$

Note that by the first equation (conservation of mass) we have

$$\partial_t \int_0^1 z_1(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = -h_0 \int_0^1 \partial_\zeta z_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = -h_0 \big( z_2(t,1) - z_2(t,0) \big) \stackrel{(2.7)}{=} 0,$$

hence  $\int_0^1 z_1(t,\zeta) d\zeta$  = const for all t. Furthermore, if  $(z_1, z_2)$  is a solution of (2.6) (in any sense), then also  $(z_1, z_2) + (c, 0)$  is a solution of (2.6) for all  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence, without loss of generality we may restrict ourselves to solutions which satisfy  $\int_0^1 z_1(t,\zeta) d\zeta = 0$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . This justifies to choose

$$\hat{X} = \left\{ (f_1, f_2) \in L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{R}^2) \mid \int_0^1 f_1(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = 0 \right\}$$
(2.8)

as new state space and to consider the operator  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subseteq \hat{X} \to Y$ , where  $Az = \mathfrak{A}z$ , for  $z \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} (z_1, z_2) \in \hat{X} \\ z_2(0) = z_2(1) = 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$
(2.9)

Note that for any  $z \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  we have  $\int_0^1 \partial_{\zeta} z_2(\zeta) d\zeta = 0$ , hence  $Az \in \hat{X}$ . Therefore,  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subseteq \hat{X} \to \hat{X}$  and we like to stress that A may be unbounded. From now on, with some abuse of notation, we write X instead of  $\hat{X}$ .

In order to complete the model, we introduce the *momentum* 

$$p(t) \coloneqq m_T \dot{y}(t) + \int_0^1 \left( z_1(t,\zeta) + h_0 \right) \left( z_2(t,\zeta) + \dot{y}(t) \right) \mathrm{d}\zeta \,,$$

and consider the balance law  $\dot{p}(t) = u(t)$ . Using (2.6) we calculate

$$\begin{split} \dot{p}(t) &= m_T \ddot{y}(t) + \int_0^1 \partial_t z_1(t,\zeta) (z_2(t,\zeta) + \dot{y}(t)) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &+ \int_0^1 \left( z_1(t,\zeta) + h_0 \right) (\partial_t z_2(t,\zeta) + \ddot{y}(t)) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &= m_T \ddot{y}(t) - \int_0^1 h_0 \partial_\zeta z_2(t,\zeta) (z_2(t,\zeta) + \dot{y}(t)) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &- \int_0^1 \left( z_1(t,\zeta) + h_0 \right) \left( g \partial_\zeta z_1(t,\zeta) + 2\mu z_2(t,\zeta) \right) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &= m_T \ddot{y}(t) - \frac{g}{2} \left( z_1(t,1)^2 - z_1(t,0)^2 \right) - h_0 g \left( z_1(t,1) - z_1(t,0) \right) \\ &- 2\mu \int_0^1 \left( z_1(t,\zeta) + h_0 \right) z_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,. \end{split}$$

Altogether the model that we consider in the present chapter is described by the following nonlinear equations,

$$\partial_t z = P_1 \partial_\zeta (\mathcal{H}z) - \mu P_0 z + b\ddot{y},$$
  

$$\ddot{y}(t) = \frac{g}{2m_T} \left( z_1(t,1) - z_1(t,0) \right) \left( 2h_0 + z_1(t,1) + z_1(t,0) \right)$$
  

$$+ \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} \int_0^1 z_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta + \frac{2\mu}{m_T} \int_0^1 z_1(t,\zeta) z_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \qquad (2.10)$$
  

$$+ \frac{u(t)}{m_T},$$
  

$$z_2(t,0) = z_2(t,1) = 0$$

on the state space X, with input u, state z and output y.

# 2.2 Funnel control

The objective is to design an output error feedback  $u(t) = F(t, e(t), \dot{e}(t))$ , where  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{2,\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{R})$  is a reference signal, which applied to (2.10) results in a closed-loop system where the tracking error  $e(t) = y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)$  evolves within a prescribed performance funnel

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} \coloneqq \{ (t, e) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi(t) | e | < 1 \}, \qquad (2.11)$$

which is determined by a function  $\varphi$  belonging to

$$\Phi \coloneqq \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \varphi \in C^1([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \\ \varphi(\tau) > 0 \text{ for all } \tau > 0, \\ \text{and } \liminf_{\tau \to \infty} \varphi(\tau) > 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$

Furthermore, all signals  $u, e, \dot{e}$  should remain bounded.

The funnel boundary is given by the reciprocal of  $\varphi$ , see Fig. 2.2. The case  $\varphi(0) = 0$  is explicitly allowed and puts no restriction on the initial value since  $\varphi(0)|e(0)| < 1$ ; in this case the funnel boundary  $1/\varphi$  has a pole at t = 0.



Figure 2.2: Error evolution in a funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with boundary  $\varphi(t)^{-1}$ .

An important property is that each performance funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with  $\varphi \in \Phi$  is bounded away from zero, i.e., boundedness of  $\varphi$  implies that there exists  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $1/\varphi(t) \ge \lambda$ for all t > 0. The funnel boundary is not necessarily monotonically decreasing, while in most situations it is convenient to choose a monotone funnel. However, there are situations where widening the funnel over some later time interval might be beneficial, for instance in the presence of periodic disturbances or strongly varying reference signals. For typical choices of funnel boundaries see e.g. [56, Section 3.2]. It was shown in [11] that the funnel controller

$$u(t) = -k_1(t)(\dot{e}(t) + k_0(t)e(t)),$$
  

$$k_0(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_0(t)^2 \|e(t)\|^2},$$
  

$$k_1(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_1(t)^2 \|\dot{e}(t) + k_0(t)e(t)\|^2},$$
  
(2.12)

where  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \Phi$ , achieves the above described control objective for a large class of nonlinear systems with relative degree two. In the present chapter we aim to extend this result and show feasibility of (2.12) for the (linearized) moving water tank described by (2.10).

In Section 2.2 we recall a recent result in funnel control from [11]. We show that in order to achieve the control objective it suffices to show that a certain operator is causal, locally Lipschitz continuous and maps bounded functions to bounded functions. To this end, we consider the linearized Saint-Venant equations in an abstract framework in Section 2.3 and show that the homogeneous part is an operator which generates a contraction semigroup. This then allows to study admissibility of certain control and observation operators for the system and, finally, to show that the inverse Laplace transform of the transfer function corresponding to these systems defines a measure with bounded total variation. In Section 2.4 we exploit this result to show that the operator associated with the internal dynamics of (2.10) is well-defined and has the properties mentioned above. Some conclusions are given in Section 2.5.

In this section we formulate how the funnel controller (2.12) described above achieves the control objective for system (2.10) — this is the main result of this chapter. The initial conditions for (2.10) are

$$\begin{aligned} & (z_1(0,\cdot), z_2(0,\cdot)) = (\tilde{h}_0(\cdot), v_0(\cdot)) \in \mathcal{D}(A), \\ & (y(0), \dot{y}(0)) = (y^0, y^1) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \end{aligned}$$
 (2.13)

since the initial value for z needs to belong to the domain of the operator A in (2.9). In [11] the controller (2.12) is shown to be feasible for a large class of nonlinear systems of the form

$$\ddot{y}(t) = f(d(t), \mathcal{S}(y, \dot{y})(t)) + \Gamma u(t)$$
  
(y(0),  $\dot{y}(0)$ ) = (y<sup>0</sup>, y<sup>1</sup>)  $\in \mathbb{R}^2$  (2.14)

where

- (N1) the disturbance satisfies  $d \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^p), p \in \mathbb{N};$
- (N2)  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^p \times \mathbb{R}^q; \mathbb{R}), q \in \mathbb{N},$
- (N3) the high-frequency gain satisfies  $\Gamma > 0$ ,

- (N4)  $\mathcal{S}: C([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^2) \to L^{\infty}_{loc}(0,\infty; \mathbb{R}^q)$  is an operator with the following properties:
  - a) S maps bounded trajectories to bounded trajectories, i.e., for all  $c_1 > 0$ , there exists  $c_2 > 0$  such that for all  $\zeta \in BC([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^2)$  we have  $S(\zeta) \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^q)$  and

$$\|\zeta\|_{\infty} \le c_1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \|\mathcal{S}(\zeta)\|_{\infty} \le c_2,$$

b) S is causal, i.e, for all  $t \ge 0$  and all  $\zeta, \xi \in C([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^2)$ ,

$$\zeta|_{[0,t)} = \xi|_{[0,t)} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathcal{S}(\zeta)|_{[0,t)} \stackrel{\text{a.e.}}{=} \mathcal{S}(\xi)|_{[0,t)}.$$

c) S is locally Lipschitz continuous in the following sense: for all  $t \ge 0$  and all  $\xi \in C([0, t]; \mathbb{R}^2)$  there exist  $\tau, \delta, c > 0$  such that, for all  $\zeta_1, \zeta_2 \in C([0, \infty); \mathbb{R}^2)$  with  $\zeta_i|_{[0,t]} = \xi$  and  $\|\zeta_i(s) - \xi(t)\| < \delta$  for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  and i = 1, 2, we have

$$\left\| \left( \mathcal{S}(\zeta_1) - \mathcal{S}(\zeta_2) \right)|_{[t,t+\tau]} \right\|_{\infty} \le c \left\| \left( \zeta_1 - \zeta_2 \right)|_{[t,t+\tau]} \right\|_{\infty}.$$

In [50, 59, 61, 62] it is shown that the class of systems (2.14) encompasses linear and nonlinear finite-dimensional systems with strict relative degree two and input-to-state stable internal dynamics. The operator S allows for infinite-dimensional (linear) systems, systems with hysteretic effects or (when a slightly more general version of (2.14) with a memory component is considered) nonlinear delay elements, and combinations thereof. The linear infinite-dimensional systems that are considered in [61, 62] are in a special Byrnes-Isidori form that is discussed in detail in [63]. While the internal dynamics in these systems is allowed to correspond to a strongly continuous semigroup, all other operators are assumed to be bounded. In contrast to this, the equation (2.10) that we consider here is nonlinear and involves unbounded operators.

In [11], the existence of solutions of the initial value problem resulting from the application of the funnel controller (2.12) to a system (2.14) is investigated. By a *solution* of (2.12), (2.14) on  $[0, \omega)$  we mean a function  $y \in C^1([0, \omega); \mathbb{R}), \omega \in (0, \infty]$ , such that  $\dot{y}$  is weakly differentiable and satisfies (2.14) with u defined in (2.12) for almost all  $t \in [0, \omega)$ ; y is called *maximal*, if it has no right extension that is also a solution. Existence of solutions of functional differential equations has been investigated in [61] for instance.

The following result is from [11]. Note that in [11] a slightly stronger version of condition (N4) c) is used. However, the existence part of the proof there relies on a result from [59] where the version from the present chapter is used.

**Theorem 2.2.1.** Consider a system (2.14) with properties (N1)-(N4). Let  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \Phi$  and  $(y^0, y^1) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  be initial conditions such that

$$|\varphi_0(0)|y^0 - y_{\rm ref}(0)| < 1$$

and 
$$\varphi_1(0)|y^1 - \dot{y}_{ref}(0) + k_0(0)(y^0 - y_{ref}(0))| < 1.$$

Then the funnel controller (2.12) applied to (2.14) yields an initial-value problem which has a solution, and every solution can be extended to a maximal solution  $y : [0, \omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\omega \in (0, \infty]$ , which has the following properties:

- 1. The solution is global (i.e.,  $\omega = \infty$ ).
- 2. The input  $u : [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ , the gain functions  $k_0, k_1 : [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $y, \dot{y} : [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  are bounded.
- 3. The tracking error  $e = y y_{ref}$  is uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary in the following sense:

$$\exists \varepsilon > 0 \ \forall t > 0 : \ |e(t)| \le \varphi_0(t)^{-1} - \varepsilon.$$

$$(2.15)$$

In order to show that the funnel controller (2.12) is feasible for (2.10), (2.13), we will show that (2.10), (2.13) belongs to the class of systems (2.14). Then feasibility is a consequence of the above Theorem 2.2.1.

Using the change of variables  $x(t) = z(t) - b\eta(t)$  where we use the notation  $\eta(t) := \dot{y}(t) - \dot{y}(0)$ , system (2.10) can be rewritten as

$$\ddot{y}(t) = S(y, \dot{y})(t) + \frac{u(t)}{m_T},$$
(2.16)

where  $\mathcal{S}: C([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^2) \to L^\infty_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$  is given by

$$\mathcal{S}(y_1, y_2) \coloneqq \mathcal{T}(y_2 - y_2(0)) \tag{2.17}$$

for the operator  $\mathcal{T}: C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \to L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ , where

$$C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \coloneqq \{ f \in C([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \mid f(0) = 0 \},\$$

defined by

$$\mathcal{T}(\eta)(t) \coloneqq \frac{g}{2m_T} \left( x_1(t,1) - x_1(t,0) \right) \left( 2h_0 + x_1(t,1) + x_1(t,0) \right) \\ + \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} \int_0^1 x_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta + \frac{2\mu}{m_T} \int_0^1 x_1(t,\zeta) x_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ - \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} \eta(t), \tag{2.18}$$

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Ab\eta(t), \quad x(0) = x_0 = (\tilde{h}_0, v_0).$$
 (2.19)

Note that  $\mathcal{T}$  depends on  $x = x(t, \zeta)$  which in turn is given through  $\eta$  and  $x_0$  as the solution of the linear PDE (2.19) that is a one-dimensional wave equation. We like to point out that the operator  $\mathcal{S}$  essentially models the internal dynamics of system (2.10).

**Theorem 2.2.2.** For  $\mu > 0$  the system consisting of (2.10), (2.13) belongs to the class of systems (2.14). More precisely, the operator S from (N4) is given by (2.17). Therefore, the assertions of Theorem 2.2.1 hold for the considered system.

*Proof.* First observe that for equation (2.16) conditions (N1)–(N3) are obviously satisfied, so it remains to show the properties of the operator S as required in (N4). By Proposition 2.4.1 the operator T given by (2.18), (2.19) is well-defined, locally Lipschitz continuous and maps bounded functions to bounded functions. As it can be seen that Sis causal it thus follows that it satisfies (N4).

**Remark 2.2.3.** In the case  $\mu = 0$  the statement of Theorem 2.2.2 is false in general, because the operator S does not satisfy condition a) in (N4). To be more precise we need to consider the later results derived in Sections 2.3 and 2.4. If  $\mu = 0$ , then  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G)$  derived in Lemma 2.3.4 does not have bounded total variation and thus an inspection of the proof of Proposition 2.4.1 reveals that  $\mathcal{T}$  does not map bounded functions to bounded functions. For instance,  $\mathcal{T}(\sin)(\cdot)$  is unbounded.

Here we illustrate the application of the funnel controller (2.12) to the linearized moving water tank system (2.10). In the following we present the numerical method used to simulate the corresponding closed-loop system. Using the change of variables

$$z(\zeta,t) = Q\eta(\zeta,t), \quad \text{where} \quad Q \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1\\ g & -g\\ c & c \end{bmatrix},$$

we may rewrite (2.10) as

$$\begin{split} \partial_t \eta_1(t,\zeta) + c \partial_\zeta \eta_1(t,\zeta) &= \mu(\eta_2(t,\zeta) - \eta_1(t,\zeta)) - \frac{c}{2g} \ddot{y}(t), \\ \partial_t \eta_2(t,\zeta) - c \partial_\zeta \eta_2(t,\zeta) &= \mu(\eta_1(t,\zeta) - \eta_2(t,\zeta)) + \frac{c}{2g} \ddot{y}(t), \\ \ddot{y}(t) - \frac{u(t)}{m_T} &= \frac{2\mu c}{m_T} \int_0^1 \eta_1(t,\zeta) - \eta_2(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &+ \frac{2c^2}{m_T} (\eta_1(t,1) - \eta_1(t,0)) \\ &+ \frac{2g}{m_T} (\eta_1(t,1)^2 - \eta_1(t,0)^2) \\ &+ \frac{2\mu g}{m_T c} \int_0^1 \eta_1(t,\zeta)^2 - \eta_2(t,\zeta)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,\mathrm$$

Using an implicit method for the PDE corresponding to  $\eta_1$  and an explicit method for the PDE corresponding to  $\eta_2$  we can easily solve the closed-loop system numerically using finite differences. For the simulation we have used the parameters

$$m_T = 1$$
kg,  $h_0 = 0.5$ m,  $g = 9.8$ ms<sup>-2</sup>,  $\mu = 0.1$ s<sup>-1</sup>

and the reference signal

$$y_{\rm ref}(t) = A \tanh^2(\omega t),$$

where A = 1 m and  $\omega = 2\pi f$  with  $f = \sqrt{h_0/g}$ . The initial values (2.13) are chosen as

$$(\tilde{h}_0(\zeta), v_0(\zeta)) = (0\mathrm{m}, 0.1 \sin^2(4\pi\zeta) \mathrm{ms}^{-1}),$$

and

$$(y^0, y^1) = (0m, 0ms^{-1}).$$

For the controller (2.12) we chose the funnel functions

$$\varphi_0(t) = \varphi_1(t) = 100 \tanh(\omega t).$$

Clearly, the initial errors lie within the funnel boundaries as required in Theorem 2.2.1. For the finite differences we have used a grid in t with M = 4000 points for the interval  $[0, 2\tau]$  with  $\tau = f^{-1}$ , and a grid in  $\zeta$  with  $N = \lfloor ML/(4c\tau) \rfloor$  points, where for  $r \in [0, \infty), \lfloor r \rfloor := \max\{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid n \leq r\}$ . Furthermore, we have used a tolerance of  $10^{-6}$ . The method has been implemented in Python and the simulation results are shown in Figs. 2.3 & 2.4.

It can be seen that even in the presence of sloshing effects a prescribed performance of the tracking error can be achieved with the funnel controller (2.12), while at the same time the generated input is bounded and shows an acceptable performance.

The remainder of the chapter is concerned with the proof of Proposition 2.4.1, for which the crucial preliminaries are developed in the following section.

## 2.3 Linearized model – abstract framework

In this section we derive preliminary results concerning the operator associated with the linearized Saint-Venant equations (2.6). Furthermore, for later use we consider admissibility with respect to a certain control operator and compute the transfer functions with respect to certain observation operators. Finally, we show that the inverse Laplace transform of these transfer functions defines measures with bounded total variation. We consider the complexification of the state space from (2.8) given by

$$X = \left\{ (f_1, f_2) \in L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2) \mid \int_0^1 f_1(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta = 0 \right\}$$
$$= L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2) \ominus [(\frac{1}{0})]$$



Figure 2.3: Output y and reference signal  $y_{\rm ref}$  and corresponding first and second derivatives.



Figure 2.4: Performance funnel with tracking error e and generated input function u.

and the linear operators  $A_{\mu} : \mathcal{D}(A_{\mu}) \subseteq X \to X$  given by

$$A_{\mu}z \coloneqq P_1\partial_{\zeta}(\mathcal{H}z) - \mu P_0 z$$

with domain  $\mathcal{D}(A_{\mu}) = \mathcal{D}(A)$  as the complexification of (2.9). Here

$$L^2([0,1];\mathbb{C}^2)\ominus[(\frac{1}{0})]$$

refers to the orthogonal complement of the span of the function  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$  in  $L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$ . The equation (2.6) motivates to consider energy-based norms given through the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., for  $z_1, z_2 \in X$  let

$$\langle z_1, z_2 \rangle_X = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 \overline{z_1(\zeta)} \mathcal{H} z_2(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta.$$

Clearly, the solution of the linear damped wave equation  $\dot{z} = A_{\mu}z$  with  $z(0) = z_0$  can be derived by a Fourier ansatz. More general, the solution theory for linear PDEs can be derived in the framework of semigroup theory which corresponds to well-posedness in the sense of Hadamard.

The proof of the following result is a standard argument; we include a proof in the semigroup context.

**Proposition 2.3.1.** Let  $c \coloneqq \sqrt{gh_0}$  and assume that  $\mu \in [0, \pi c)$ . The operator  $A_{\mu}$  generates a contraction semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}^{\mu}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  in X. The spectrum of  $A_{\mu}$  consists of the eigenvalues

$$\theta_n^{\pm} = -\mu \pm i\phi_n,$$

where

$$\phi_n = \sqrt{\sigma_n^2 - \mu^2}, \quad \sigma_n = n\pi c, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(2.20)

If  $\mu \in (0, \pi c)$ , then  $(\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu})_{t \geq 0}$  is exponentially stable and  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}^{\mu}) = -\mu$ . Furthermore, for  $\mu = 0$  we have that for all  $z \in X$  and  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$\mathbb{T}_t z \coloneqq \mathbb{T}_t^0 z = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} z^n \psi_n \mathrm{e}^{i\sigma_n t},$$

where

$$\psi_n(\zeta) \coloneqq \sqrt{\frac{2}{g}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\left(\pi n\zeta\right) \\ -ich_0^{-1}\sin(\pi n\zeta) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.21)

and  $z^n = \langle \psi_n, z \rangle_X$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* Let us denote by  $A^{X_0}_{\mu}$  the operator  $A \coloneqq A_0$  considered on the larger space  $X_0 = L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$ , where

$$\mathcal{D}(A^{X_0}_{\mu}) = \left\{ z \in X_0 \mid z \in W^{1,2}([0,1];\mathbb{C}^2), \ z_2(0) = z_2(1) = 0 \right\}.$$

It is well-known that  $A^{X_0}$  generates a unitary group  $\mathbb{T}^{X_0}$ . This can e.g. be argued by general results on port-Hamiltonian systems; in particular it suffices to show that  $A^{X_0}$ and  $-A^{X_0}$  are dissipative, see [67, Ch. 7], which easily follows from the fact that  $P_1 = P_1^*$  and integration by parts and the boundary conditions incorporated in the domain. Hence,  $A^{X_0} = -(A^{X_0})^*$  by Stone's theorem and since  $A^{X_0}$  has compact resolvent (due to a Sobolev embedding argument, see Theorem 1.4.3) the spectrum of  $A^{X_0}$  consists only of countably many eigenvalues tending to  $\infty$  with corresponding eigenvectors  $(\psi_n)_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  forming an orthonormal basis, see Proposition 1.5.1. By a standard calculation one can compute both the eigenvalues  $\lambda_n = i\sigma_n$  and the eigenfunctions  $\psi_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , as defined in (2.21).

Since  $A_{\mu}^{X_0}$  is a bounded, dissipative perturbation<sup>1</sup> of  $A^{X_0}$ ,  $A_{\mu}^{X_0}$  generates a contraction semigroup as well and has compact resolvent. Computing the eigenvalues of  $A_{\mu}^{X_0}$  in a similar fashion yields the above values for  $\theta_n^{\pm}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

The part<sup>2</sup> of  $A^{X_0}$  in  $X = X_0 \ominus [\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}]$  equals A and since the eigenfunction corresponding to the eigenvalue 0 of  $A^{X_0}_{\mu}$  is  $\psi_0 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{g}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ , it follows that  $A_{\mu}$  generates a contraction semigroup. This also yields the representation of  $\mathbb{T}_t^0 z$ . If  $\mu \in (0, \pi c)$ , then it is obvious from the representation of the eigenvalues that  $(\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  is exponentially stable with  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}^{\mu}) = -\mu$ .

In order to complete the proof of Theorem 2.2.1 we study the PDE (2.19) in combination with two observation operators which appear in the definition of the operator  $\mathcal{T}$ in (2.18), that is we investigate the input-output behaviour of the linear systems

$$\dot{x} = A_{\mu}x + A_{\mu}b\eta,$$
  
 $v_i = C_i x \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(x_1(1) + (-1)^i x_1(0))$ 
 $(\Sigma_i)$ 

for i = 1, 2, where  $C_i : \mathcal{D}(A) \to \mathbb{C}$ . This kind of systems is sometimes called distributed/boundary control system, see [110, Definition 5.2.14 & Theorem 5.2.16] for the respective representations. Whereas it is essential to show that the associated inputoutput map  $u \mapsto v_i$  is bounded with respect to  $L^{\infty}$ -norms, we first restrict ourselves to the classical case of boundedness with respect to  $L^2$ -norms. In Lemma 2.3.3 below we prove that  $(\Sigma_i)$  is regular and well-posed. This then implies by definition, cf. [110,115], that the input-output map

$$F_{i}: W_{0}^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}) \cap L_{\omega}^{2}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}) \to L_{\omega}^{2}(0,\infty; \mathbb{C}),$$
  
$$\eta \mapsto \left( t \mapsto C_{i} \int_{0}^{t} (T_{\mu})_{-1}(t-s) B \eta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right),$$

$$(2.22)$$

<sup>1</sup>We say that A is a bounded perturbation of B, if A = B + C for a bounded operator C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The part of an operator  $B : D(B) \subseteq Y \to Y$  in  $Z \subseteq Y$  is  $B|_Z : D(B|_Z) \subseteq Z \to Z$  with  $D(B|_Z) = \{ z \in D(B) \cap Z \mid Bz \in Z \}.$ 

where

$$W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{K}) = \left\{ f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{K}) \mid f(0) = 0 \right\},\$$

is well-defined for all  $\omega > \omega_0(\mathbb{T}^\mu) = -\mu$  and can be continuously extended to the space  $L^2_{\omega}([0,\infty);\mathbb{C})$  (here, we identify  $C_i$  with a suitable extension, see [115, Section 5] for details). Therefore, the *transfer function* of  $(\Sigma_i)$  can be defined by representing  $F_i$  in terms of the Laplace transform  $\mathcal{L}(\cdot)$ , that is

$$\mathcal{L}(v_i)(s) = \mathcal{L}(F_i\eta)(s) = G^i(s)\mathcal{L}(\eta)(s), \qquad (2.23)$$

where  $G^i : \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathbb{C}, i = 1, 2.$ 

In the following two lemmas, we prove admissibility and well-posedness of system  $(\Sigma_i)$  for i = 1, 2 as well as a representation of the transfer functions. The subsequent result can be shown in several standard ways; for the convenience of the reader we include the proof.

**Lemma 2.3.2.** Let  $\mu \in [0, \pi c)$ . Consider  $A_{\mu}$  and  $(\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  from Proposition 2.3.1, and let  $b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}$ . Then we have that

- 1.  $B = A_{\mu}b \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}, X_{-1})$  is an  $L^p$ -admissible control operator for all  $p \in [2, \infty]$ ;
- 2.  $C_i \in \mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), \mathbb{C})$  defined in  $(\Sigma_i)$  are  $L^2$ -admissible observation operators for i = 1, 2.

For  $\mu \in (0, \pi c)$ , the operators B,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are even infinite-time admissible.

*Proof.* First note that  $\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu}$  is boundedly invertible for any  $t \geq 0$ . Therefore, to show  $L^2$ -admissibility of B, by [116, Theorem 5.2.2] it suffices to show that

$$\sup_{\operatorname{Re}\lambda=\alpha} \|(\lambda I - A_{\mu})^{-1}B\|_X < \infty$$

for some  $\alpha > \omega_0(\mathbb{T}^{\mu}) = -\mu$ . As  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B = A_{\mu}b$  are bounded perturbations of  $A_0$  and  $A_0b$ , resp., it moreover suffices to consider the case  $\mu = 0$ ; cf. e.g. [116, Rem. 2.11.3.] and note that any bounded operator is  $L^2$ -admissible. By the resolvent identity

$$(\lambda I - A_0)^{-1} A_0 b = -b + \lambda (\lambda I - A_0)^{-1} b,$$

and as  $\omega_0(\mathbb{T}^0) = 0$  we may restrict ourselves to showing that  $\|\lambda(\lambda I - A_0)^{-1}b\|$  is uniformly bounded for  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda = 1$ . This is equivalent to show that the solution  $z = z_\lambda$  of the ordinary differential equation  $(\lambda I - A_\mu)z = b$  satisfies that  $\sup_{\operatorname{Re} \lambda = 1} \|\lambda z_\lambda\|_X < \infty$ , which can be shown by an elementary calculation. Thus, B is  $L^2$ -admissible for  $(\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ and hence  $L^p$ -admissible for all  $p \in [2, \infty]$  by the nesting property of  $L^p$  spaces. For  $\mu > 0$ , the semigroup is exponentially stable by Proposition 2.3.1, and in this case admissibility and infinite-time admissibility coincide, see e.g. [66, Lemma 2.9].
To show that  $C_k$  is  $L^2$ -admissible for k = 1, 2, it suffices to consider  $\mu = 0$  and show  $L^2$ admissibility of  $\tilde{C}_k : \mathcal{D}(A) \to \mathbb{C}^2$  defined by  $\tilde{C}_k x = x(k-1)$  for  $(\mathbb{T}^0_t)_{t\geq 0}$  — in fact this is well-known for the one-dimensional wave equation. For completeness we provide a short argument for  $\tilde{C}_2$ ; the assertion for  $\tilde{C}_1$  follows analogously. Let  $x \in X_1$  and write, in virtue of Proposition 2.3.1,  $x = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} x^n \psi_n$ . Then, using  $\tilde{C}_2 \psi_n = \sqrt{\frac{2}{g}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^n \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$  and again Proposition 2.3.1, we obtain that

$$\int_0^t |\tilde{C}_2 \mathbb{T}_t^0 x|^2 \, dt \le 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{g}} \int_0^t \left| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} e^{i\sigma_{2n}t} x^{2n} \right|^2 + \left| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} e^{i\sigma_{2n+1}t} x^{2n+1} \right|^2 \, dt.$$

Choosing t = 2/c and recalling that  $\sigma_n = n\pi c$  we infer, using Parseval's identity, that

$$\int_0^t |\tilde{C}_2 \mathbb{T}_t^0 x|^2 \, dt \le K \|x\|_X^2$$

for some K > 0. Thus  $\tilde{C}_k$  is admissible for  $(\mathbb{T}^0_t)_{t \ge 0}$  and since  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are projection of the sum of two admissible operators, they are admissible as well. Since admissibility is preserved under bounded perturbations of the generator, it follows that  $C_k$  is also  $L^2$ -admissible for  $(\mathbb{T}^{\mu}_t)_{\ge 0}$ .

**Lemma 2.3.3.** Let  $\mu \in [0, \pi c)$  and  $\omega > -\mu$ . Consider  $(A_{\mu}, B, C_i)$  with  $A_{\mu}, B = A_{\mu}b, C_i$ , i = 1, 2, as in Lemma 2.3.2. Then the following assertions hold.

- 1.  $(A_{\mu}, B, C_i)$  is well-posed and regular for i = 1, 2.
- 2. The transfer functions  $G^i: \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathbb{C}$  of  $(\Sigma_i), i = 1, 2$ , are given by, for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}$ ,

$$G(\lambda) \coloneqq G^{1}(\lambda) = -2\sqrt{\frac{h_{0}}{g}}\sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{\lambda+2\mu}} \tanh\left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda(\lambda+2\mu)}}{2c}\right)$$
(2.24)

and

$$G^2(\lambda) = 0.$$

*Proof.* To show that the system is well-posed we construct functions  $\tilde{G}_i : \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathbb{C}$  which satisfy

$$\tilde{G}_i(\lambda_1) - \tilde{G}_i(\lambda_2) = C_i((\lambda_1 I - A_\mu)^{-1} - (\lambda_2 I - A_\mu)^{-1})B$$

for all  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}$ . To this end, using  $B = A_{\mu}b$  we compute

$$x \coloneqq (\lambda I - A_{\mu})^{-1} B\eta = -b + \lambda (\lambda I - A_{\mu})^{-1} b\eta$$

Thus it remains to solve the linear ordinary differential equation  $\lambda z = A_{\mu}z + b$ , the solution  $z(\zeta)$  of which is given by

$$z(\zeta) = \frac{h_0}{\theta} \left( \frac{\cosh\left(\frac{\theta}{c^2}\right) - 1}{\sinh\left(\frac{\theta}{c^2}\right)} \begin{bmatrix} \cosh\left(\frac{\theta\zeta}{c^2}\right) \\ -\frac{\lambda g}{\theta}\sinh\left(\frac{\theta\zeta}{c^2}\right) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -\sinh\left(\frac{\theta\zeta}{c^2}\right) \\ \frac{\lambda g}{\theta}\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\theta\zeta}{c^2}\right) - 1\right) \end{bmatrix} \right),$$

where  $\theta = c\sqrt{\lambda(\lambda + 2\mu)}$ . Therefore,  $x = -b + \lambda z$  and computing  $x_1(1) + (-1)^i x_1(0)$  gives that  $\tilde{G}_i$  can be chosen as  $G^i$  defined in the statement of the Lemma. Since  $G^i$  are proper and the limits  $\lim_{\mathrm{Re} \lambda \to \infty} G^i(\lambda)$  exist, the systems  $(A_\mu, B, C_i)$  are well-posed and regular. This also implies that (2.23) holds, which shows that  $G^i$  is the transfer function of the system.

In the next step we obtain a series representation for  $G(\lambda)$  and its inverse Laplace transform, which is a sum of an integrable function and a measure of bounded total variation. The latter set is denoted by  $M([0,\infty))$  and the total variation by  $||f||_{M([0,\infty))}$  for  $f \in M([0,\infty))$ ; we refer to the textbook [41] for more details.

**Lemma 2.3.4.** Let  $\mu \in (0, \pi c)$ ,  $\omega > -\mu$  and  $\sigma_n = n\pi c$  as in (2.20). The transfer function  $G : \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathbb{C}$  defined in (2.24) can be represented as

$$G(\lambda) = -8h_0 \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} G_n(\lambda) = -8h_0 \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1} \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + 2\mu\lambda + \sigma_n^2},$$

is bounded and analytic with inverse Laplace transform  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G)$  given by a measure of bounded total variation  $\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{\mathbf{M}([0,\infty))}$ . Moreover,

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{L^1} + \frac{1}{4c} \mathfrak{h}_{\delta},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{h}_{L^{1}}(t) &\coloneqq \mathrm{e}^{-\mu t}(t^{2}\mathfrak{f}_{2}(t) + t\mathfrak{f}_{1}(t) + \mathfrak{f}_{0}(t)), \quad t \geq 0, \\ \mathfrak{h}_{\delta} &\coloneqq \delta_{0} - 2\mathrm{e}^{-\mu/c}\delta_{1/c} + 2\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \left( \mathrm{e}^{-2k\mu/c}\delta_{2k/c} - \mathrm{e}^{-(2k+1)\mu/c}\delta_{(2k+1)/c} \right), \end{split}$$

for some  $\mathfrak{f}_0, \mathfrak{f}_1, \mathfrak{f}_2 \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ , and  $\delta_t$  denotes the Dirac delta distribution at  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.3.3, G is bounded and analytic on  $\mathbb{C}_{\omega}$ . Let us first show the series representation of G. Recall that

$$\tanh(z) = 8z \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\pi^2 (2k-1)^2 + 4z^2}, \quad z \notin i\pi(1+2\mathbb{Z}),$$

(which can be obtained from the representation of  $\cosh$  as an infinite product and differentiation of the composition  $\log \circ \cosh$ ). Using this in (2.24) gives the desired formula for G.

We now study the inverse Laplace transform of G; in particular,  $G_n(\lambda) = 0$  for  $n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$ . It is not difficult to see that G is also continuous on  $\overline{\mathbb{C}_0}$  and that the series converges locally uniformly along the imaginary axis. This implies that the partial sums converge to  $\alpha \mapsto G(i\alpha)$  in the distributional sense when considered as tempered distributions on  $i\mathbb{R}$ . By continuity of the Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}(\cdot)$ , this gives that the series

$$-8h_0\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mathcal{F}^{-1}(G_n(i\cdot)) = -8h_0\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mathcal{L}^{-1}(G_n)$$

converges to  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(G(i \cdot)) = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G)$  in the distributional sense<sup>3</sup>. It remains to study  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}(G_n)$  and the limit of the corresponding sum. By well-known rules for the Laplace transform we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{-1}(G_n)(t) = \mathrm{e}^{-\mu t} \mathfrak{g}_n(t), \quad t \ge 0,$$

where

$$\mathfrak{g}_n(t) = \cos(\phi_n t) - \mu \phi_n^{-1} \sin(\phi_n t), \quad n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1.$$

The idea of the proof is to use well-known Fourier series that are related to the frequencies  $\sigma_n$  in contrast to the 'perturbed' harmonics  $\sin \phi_n$  and  $\cos \phi_n$ . We write

$$\mathfrak{g}_n(t) = \left[\cos(\phi_n t) - \cos(\sigma_n t)\right] + \frac{\mu}{\phi_n} \left[\sin(\sigma_n t) - \sin(\phi_n t)\right] + \cos(\sigma_n t) + \frac{\mu}{\phi_n} \sin(\sigma_n t)$$

In the following we will use the identity  $\sigma_n^2 - \phi_n^2 = \mu^2$  from (2.20) several times. By the mean value theorem there exist  $\alpha_n, \beta_n \in [\phi_n, \sigma_n]$  and  $\omega_n \in [\alpha_n, \sigma_n]$  such that

$$\cos(\phi_n t) - \cos(\sigma_n t) = t(\sigma_n - \phi_n)\sin(\alpha_n t) = \frac{\mu^2 t \sin(\alpha_n t)}{\sigma_n + \phi_n},$$
$$\sin(\alpha_n t) = t(\alpha_n - \sigma_n)\cos(\omega_n t) + \sin(\sigma_n t),$$
$$\sin(\sigma_n t) - \sin(\phi_n t) = t(\sigma_n - \phi_n)\cos(\beta_n t) = \frac{\mu^2 t \cos(\beta_n t)}{\sigma_n + \phi_n}.$$

Hence,

$$g_n(t) = t^2 \frac{\mu^2(\alpha_n - \sigma_n)}{\sigma_n + \phi_n} \cos(\omega_n t) + \frac{\mu^3 t}{\phi_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)} \cos(\beta_n t) + \cos(\sigma_n t) + \left[ t(\sigma_n - \phi_n) + \frac{\mu}{\phi_n} \right] \sin(\sigma_n t)$$

The coefficient sequences of the first two terms in the sum,

$$a_n \coloneqq \mu^2 \frac{\alpha_n - \sigma_n}{\sigma_n + \phi_n}, \quad b_n \coloneqq \frac{\mu^3}{\phi_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)},$$

are absolutely summable sequences since

$$0 > a_n > \mu^2 \frac{\phi_n - \sigma_n}{\sigma_n + \phi_n} = \frac{-\mu^4}{(\sigma_n + \phi_n)^2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here we identify functions on  $[0, \infty)$  with their trivial extension to  $\mathbb{R}$  and use the relation between Fourier and Laplace transform.

Let us further rewrite the coefficient of the last term, recalling that  $\sigma_n^2 - \phi_n^2 = \mu^2$ implies that  $\frac{1}{\sigma_n + \phi_n} - \frac{1}{2\sigma_n} = \frac{\mu^2}{2\sigma_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)^2}$ , and hence

$$t(\sigma_n - \phi_n) = \frac{\mu^2 t}{\sigma_n + \phi_n} = \frac{\mu^4 t}{2\sigma_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)^2} + \frac{\mu^2 t}{2\sigma_n},$$
$$\frac{\mu}{\phi_n} = \frac{\mu}{\phi_n} + \frac{\mu}{\sigma_n} - \frac{\mu}{\sigma_n} = \frac{\mu}{\sigma_n} + \frac{\mu^3}{\sigma_n\phi_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)}.$$

Thus, with  $c_n = \frac{\mu^4}{2\sigma_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)^2}$  and  $d_n = \frac{\mu^3}{\sigma_n\phi_n(\sigma_n + \phi_n)}$ , which define absolutely summable sequences, we have

$$\mathfrak{g}_n(t) = t^2 a_n \cos(\omega_n t) + t b_n \cos(\beta_n t) + [tc_n + d_n] \sin(\sigma_n t) + \cos(\sigma_n t) + (\mu t + 2) \frac{\mu}{2\sigma_n} \sin(\sigma_n t).$$

Let us study the last two terms of the sum  $\sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0+1} \mathfrak{g}_n(t)$  in more detail: Since  $\sigma_n = n\pi c$ , we have by basic facts on Fourier series that  $4c \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0+1} \sigma_n^{-1} \sin(\sigma_n t)$  converges to

$$H_0(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & t \in [2k/c, (2k+1)/c), \ k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ -1, & t \in [(2k+1)/c, (2k+2)/c), \ k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \end{cases}$$

for almost all  $t \ge 0$ . Therefore, for almost all  $t \ge 0$  we have

$$\sum_{n\in 2\mathbb{N}_0+1}\frac{\mu}{2\sigma_n}\sin(\sigma_n t) = \frac{\mu}{8c}H_0(t).$$

Since the coefficients  $\frac{\mu}{\sigma_n}$  are square summable, the series even converges in  $L^2$  on any bounded interval and thus particularly in the distributional sense on  $[0, \infty)$ . Finally, note — by well-known facts on the Fourier series of Dirac delta distributions —

that  $4c \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0+1} \cos(\sigma_n \cdot)$  converges to the  $2c^{-1}$ -periodic extension of  $(\delta_0 - 2\delta_{1/c} + \delta_{2/c})$  in the distributional sense as we have

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left\langle 4c \sum_{n=1,n \text{ odd}}^{N} \cos(\sigma_n \cdot), \psi \right\rangle = \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_0^{\frac{2}{c}} 4c \sum_{n=1,n \text{ odd}}^{N} \cos(\sigma_n s) \psi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \left\langle \delta_0 - 2\delta_{1/c} + \delta_{2/c}, \psi \right\rangle$$

for any function  $\psi \in C^{\infty}([0, \frac{2}{c}]; \mathbb{R})$ . Altogether, since multiplying with  $e^{-\mu t}$  preserves the distributional convergence, this yields that

$$\sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1} \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G_n)(\cdot) = \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1} e^{-\mu \cdot} \mathfrak{g}_n(\cdot) = \mathfrak{h}_{L^1}(\cdot) + \frac{1}{4c} \mathfrak{h}_{\delta}$$

with  $\mathfrak{h}_{L^1}$ ,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\delta}$  as in the assertion and where the functions

$$\mathfrak{f}_2(t) \coloneqq \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1} a_n \cos(\omega_n t)$$

$$f_1(t) \coloneqq \frac{\mu^2}{8c} H_0(t) + \sum_{n \in 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1} b_n \cos(\beta_n t) + c_n \sin(\sigma_n t),$$
  
$$f_0(t) \coloneqq \frac{\mu}{4c} H_0(t) + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} d_n \sin(\sigma_n t), \qquad t \ge 0,$$

are bounded since  $a_n, b_n, c_n, d_n$  are absolutely summable sequences. By this representation,  $\mathfrak{h}_{L^1} \in L^1([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  and can thus be identified with an element in  $\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))$ , while obviously  $\mathfrak{h}_{\delta} \in \mathcal{M}([0,\infty))$  as the total variation  $\|h_{\delta}\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))} = 1 + 2\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} e^{-\mu k/c}$ is finite.

**Remark 2.3.5.** The assumption  $\mu \in (0, \pi c)$  is not a loss of generality, but it simplifies the computations. For arbitrary  $\mu > 0$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\sigma_n < \mu$  for all  $n \leq N$  and the spectrum of  $A_{\mu}$  consists of the eigenvalues

$$\theta_n^{\pm} \coloneqq -\mu \pm \sqrt{\mu^2 - \sigma_n^2}, \quad n \le N$$

and

$$\theta_n^{\pm} \coloneqq -\mu \pm i\phi_n, \quad n > N.$$

Note that  $\operatorname{Re} \theta_n^{\pm} < 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and hence the semigroup is still exponentially stable. However, the calculations in the previous results become more involved.

In order to provide some intuition about the former calculations, we show in Fig 2.5 how the impulse-response looks like.

### **2.4** The operator T

We show next some properties of the operator  $\mathcal{T}$ .

**Proposition 2.4.1.** Let  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  as defined in (2.9). Then the operator  $\mathcal{T}$  given by (2.18), (2.19) is well-defined from  $W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  to  $L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  and there exist  $k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4 > 0$  such that for every  $\eta \in W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}(\eta)\|_{\infty} &\leq k_1(\|x_0\|_X + \|A_{\mu}x_0\|_X + \|\eta\|_{\infty}) \\ &+ k_2(\|x_0\|_X + \|\eta\|_{\infty})^2 + k_3(\|x_0\|_X^2 + \|A_{\mu}x_0\|_X^2) \\ &+ k_4\|A_{\mu}x_0\|_X\|\eta\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover,  $\mathcal{T}$  can be extended to an operator defined from the space  $C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  to  $L^{\infty}_{loc}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ , which is locally Lipschitz continuous in the sense of condition (N4) c) and the above estimate extends to  $\eta \in C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ .

*Proof.* Recall that the (mild) solution to the PDE (2.19) is given by

$$x(t) = \mathbb{T}_t^{\mu} x_0 + \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}^{\mu}|_{-1})_{t-s} A_{\mu} b \eta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(2.25)



Figure 2.5: Approximation of the distributional part of the impulse-response and the remaining non-distributional part.

By Lemma 2.3.2,  $B = A_{\mu}b \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}, X_{-1})$  is infinite-time  $L^{\infty}$ -admissibile, hence  $x \in C([0, \infty); X)$  and there exists  $\tilde{k} > 0$  such that

$$||x(t)||_X \le k(||x_0||_X + ||\eta||_{L^{\infty}(0,t;\mathbb{R})})$$

for all  $t \ge 0$ , any  $x_0 \in X$  and  $\eta \in C_0([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ . Furthermore, since  $x_0(\cdot)$  and  $\eta(\cdot)$  are real-valued we have that x, as a function in time and space, is real-valued as well. Let  $C_i \in \mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), \mathbb{C})$  denote the operators from  $(\Sigma_i)$  and define the operators

$$\mathcal{M}: X \to \mathbb{R}, \ x \mapsto \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} \int_0^1 x_2(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,,$$
$$\mathcal{N}: X \to \mathbb{R}, \ x \mapsto \frac{2\mu}{m_T} \int_0^1 x_1(\zeta) x_2(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,.$$

Then  $\mathcal{T}$  defined in (2.18) can be written as

$$\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_1 + \mathcal{T}_2$$

where, for  $\eta \in C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ ,

$$\mathcal{T}_{1}(\eta)(t) = \frac{g}{2m_{T}} \left( C_{1}(x(t)) \right) \left( 2h_{0} + C_{2}(x(t)) \right)$$

$$\mathcal{T}_2(\eta)(t) = \mathcal{M}(x(t)) + \mathcal{N}(x(t)) - \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T}\eta(t), \quad t \ge 0,$$

and x is given by (2.25). While it is obvious that  $\mathcal{T}_2$  is well-defined on  $C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ , this is not yet clear for  $\mathcal{T}_1$ .

In order to estimate  $\|\mathcal{T}(\eta)\|_{\infty}$ , we first study the operator  $\mathcal{T}_2$ . From the definition of  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{N}$  we readily get for  $x \in X$  that

$$|\mathcal{M}(x)| \le \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} ||x||_X$$
 and  $|\mathcal{N}(x)| \le \frac{\mu}{m_T} ||x||_X^2$ .

Hence, for  $\eta \in C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \cap L^\infty([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  we obtain

$$\|\mathcal{T}_2(\eta)\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{2\mu h_0}{m_T} \tilde{k}(\|x_0\|_X + \|\eta\|_{\infty}) + \frac{\mu}{m_T} \tilde{k}^2 (\|x_0\|_X + \|\eta\|_{\infty})^2.$$

In the remainder of the proof we consider  $\mathcal{T}_1$ . Let  $\eta \in W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ in the following. First note that  $C_2(x(\cdot))$  only depends on  $x_0$  and is hence constant as a function of  $\eta$ . In fact, by Lemma 2.3.3 we have that  $g_2(\lambda) = 0$  which implies that

$$C_2(x(\cdot)) = C_2 \mathbb{T}^{\mu}_{(\cdot)} x_0,$$

which is well-defined since  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A_\mu)$  and moreover bounded, i.e.,

$$|C_{2}(x(t))| \leq ||C_{2}||_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R})} ||\mathbb{T}_{t}^{\mu}A_{\mu}x_{0}||_{X} \leq ||C_{2}||_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R})}M||A_{\mu}x_{0}||_{X}$$

with  $M = \sup_{t \ge 0} \|\mathbb{T}_t^{\mu}\|$ . Analogously,  $C_1 \mathbb{T}_{(\cdot)}^{\mu} x_0$  is bounded by

$$\|C_1\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R})}M\|A_{\mu}x_0\|_X.$$

Using the input-output map  $F_1$  defined in (2.22) we may infer from the variation of constants formula that

$$C_1(x(\cdot)) = C_1 \mathbb{T}^{\mu}_{(\cdot)} x_0 + F_1(\eta)(\cdot).$$

It remains to investigate whether the real-valued extension of  $F_1$  to  $L^2$ , which we again denote by  $F_1$ , that is the map

$$F_1: W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}) \cap L^2([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}) \to L^2([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}),$$
$$\eta \mapsto \left( t \mapsto C_1 \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}^{\mu}|_{-1})_{t-s} B\eta(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right),$$

is bounded in the  $L^{\infty}$ -norms. By Lemma 2.3.3, the transfer function G is an element of  $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_+;\mathbb{C})$  and thus

$$\mathcal{L}(F_1(\eta))(\lambda) = \mathbf{H}(\lambda) \cdot \mathcal{L}(\eta)(\lambda), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+.$$

Therefore, there exists a tempered distribution  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G)$  such that

$$F_1(\eta) = \mathfrak{h} * \eta \tag{2.26}$$

for Schwartz-class functions  $\eta$  with support in  $[0, \infty)$  — here and in the following we extend functions defined on  $[0, \infty)$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  by zero. By Lemma 2.3.4,  $\mathfrak{h}$  can be identified with a Radon measure on  $[0, \infty)$  with bounded total variation  $\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}$ . Hence, by a variant of Young's integral inequality,  $F_1(\eta) \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$  and

$$\|F_1(\eta)\|_{\infty} \le \|\mathfrak{h}\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))} \,\|\eta\|_{\infty} \tag{2.27}$$

for all Schwartz functions  $\eta$  supported in  $[0,\infty)$ ; we refer to [41, Section 2.5.4] for details on convolution operators with  $\mathfrak{h} \in \mathcal{M}([0,\infty))$ . Thus,  $F_1$  (and hence also  $\mathcal{T}_1$ and  $\mathcal{T}$ ) can, in the form (2.26), be extended to  $C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  and we find that for  $\eta \in C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}_{1}(\eta)\|_{\infty} &\leq \frac{g}{2m_{T}} (\|C_{1}\mathbb{T}_{(\cdot)}^{\mu}x_{0}\|_{\infty} + \|\mathfrak{h}\|_{\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0})} \|\eta\|_{\infty})(2h_{0} + \|C_{2}\mathbb{T}_{(\cdot)}^{\mu}x_{0}\|_{\infty}) \\ &\leq k_{3}\|A_{\mu}x_{0}\|_{X}^{2} + k_{4} (\|A_{\mu}x_{0}\|_{X} + 1)\|\eta\|_{\infty} + k_{5}\|A_{\mu}x_{0}\|_{X} \end{aligned}$$

for some  $k_3, k_4, k_5 > 0$ . Finally, it remains to show that  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfies condition (N4) c). To this end, first observe that  $\mathcal{T}(\eta) - \mathcal{N}(x)$ , where x is as in (2.25), is linear in  $\eta$  and hence trivially locally Lipschitz. To show (N4) c) for  $\mathcal{N}(x)$  fix  $t \ge 0$  and  $\xi \in C([0, t]; \mathbb{R})$ as well as  $\eta_i \in C_0([0, \infty); \mathbb{R})$  with  $\eta_i|_{[0,t]} = \xi$  and  $|\eta_i(s) - \xi(t)| < 1$  for all  $s \in [t, t+1]$ and i = 1, 2. Let  $x^i$  denote the mild solution as in (2.25) corresponding to  $\eta = \eta_i$  for i = 1, 2. Then, for  $s \in [t, t+1]$ , we have

$$x_1^1(s)x_2^1(s) - x_1^2(s)x_2^2(s) = \left(x_1^1(s) - x_1^2(s)\right)x_2^2(s) + x_1^1(s)\left(x_2^1(s) - x_2^2(s)\right)$$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{N}(x^{1})(s) - \mathcal{N}(x^{2})(s)| &\leq \frac{\mu}{m_{T}} \|x^{1}(s) - x^{2}(s)\|_{X} \left( \|x^{1}(s)\|_{X} + \|x^{2}(s)\|_{X} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{m_{T}} \tilde{k}^{2} \|\eta_{1} - \eta_{2}\|_{\infty} \left( 2\|x_{0}\|_{X} + \|\eta_{1}|_{[0,t+1]}\|_{\infty} + \|\eta_{2}|_{[0,t+1]}\|_{\infty} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Clearly,  $\|\eta_i|_{[0,t+1]}\|_{\infty} \leq \|\xi\|_{\infty} + 1$  and thus the assertion is true for  $\tau = \delta = 1$  and

$$c = \frac{2\mu}{m_T} \tilde{k}^2 \left( \|x_0\|_X + \|\xi\|_\infty + 1 \right).$$

**Remark 2.4.2.** Although BIBO stability for linear systems is a well-known topic, it may be involved to check this property, see e.g. [1]. An inspection of the proof of Proposition 2.4.1 reveals that it required a lot of effort to show that the linear system  $(\Sigma_i)$  is *BIBO stable*, that is, (essentially) bounded inputs are taken to (essentially) bounded outputs, and moreover, that the bound is uniform in time. The reason is that it is

difficult to determine whether a function which is bounded and analytic in the open right half-plane is the Laplace transform of a measure with bounded total variation. However, we like to remark that the (closure of the) space of measures consisting of the  $L^1$ -induced measures and the Dirac measures is also well-known in the literature, see [27].

## 2.5 Outlook

In the present chapter we have shown that the funnel controller (2.12) is feasible for the moving water tank system (2.10) which includes the linearized Saint-Venant equations. We stress that the system (2.10) is nonlinear and the operators involved in it are unbounded. Even in the linearized case the motion of the fluid affects the dynamics of the overall system which leads to the effect of sloshing. That such impulses at discrete time points indeed appear can be seen by the part  $\mathfrak{h}_{\delta}$  of the inverse Laplace transform of the transfer function derived in Lemma 2.3.4, which is an exponentially decaying infinite sum of Dirac delta distributions. A careful inspection of the proof of Proposition 2.4.1 then reveals that the convolution of this sum with  $\eta$ , i.e.,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\delta} * \eta$ , explicitly appears in  $\ddot{y}$ ; the decaying impulses can be seen in Fig. 2.3. Overall, the funnel controller is able to handle sloshing as shown in Theorems 2.2.1 and 2.2.2.

We also like to point out that the controller (2.12) requires that the derivative of the output is available for control. This may not be true in practice, and it may even be hard to obtain suitable estimates of the output derivative. This drawback may be resolved by combining the controller (2.12) with a funnel pre-compensator as developed in [17, 18], which results in a pure output feedback.

Several extensions of the moving water tank system (2.10) may be considered in future research, such as a slope at the bottom of the tank, the interconnection of the tank with a truck as in [35] and, of course, the general nonlinear Saint-Venant equations (2.1) as well as the two-dimensional case.

# 3 Adaptive control in the presence of infinite-dimensional internal dynamics

We study output trajectory tracking for uncertain nonlinear systems by funnel control. As a crucial assumption, we require that the internal dynamics of the system, typically arising from a PDE in our framework, are *bounded-input*, *bounded-output* (*BIBO*) stable.

The present chapter is devoted to systems which have a relative degree, but in the presence of internal dynamics that are modeled by a PDE system. We generalize the findings from [13] and develop a general system class containing PDE models for which funnel control is feasible; this result is presented in Section 3.3. As an example, we consider a system internally driven by a transport equation, and illustrate the funnel controller by a simulation. Some conclusions are given in Section 3.4.

### 3.1 System class

In the remainder of the present chapter we consider abstract differential equations of the form

$$y^{(r)}(t) = f(d(t), T(y, \dot{y}, \dots, y^{(r-1)})(t)) + \Gamma(d(t), T(y, \dot{y}, \dots, y^{(r-1)})(t)) u(t)$$

$$y|_{[-h,0]} = y^{0} \in W^{r-1,\infty}(-h, 0; \mathbb{R}^{m}),$$
(3.1)

where h > 0 is the "memory" of the system,  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  is the relative degree. This differential equation typically comes by differentiating the output of a system until the input u does not vanish from the equation. In fact, the number of times that one needs to differentiate the output so that this happens, goes by the name aforementioned, that is, relative degree. Moreover, we assume

- (N1) the disturbance satisfies  $d \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^p), p \in \mathbb{N};$
- (N2)  $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^p \times \mathbb{R}^q; \mathbb{R}^m), q \in \mathbb{N};$
- (N3) the high-frequency gain matrix function  $\Gamma \in C(\mathbb{R}^p \times \mathbb{R}^q; \mathbb{R}^{m \times m})$  satisfies  $\Gamma(d, \eta) + \Gamma(d, \eta)^\top > 0$  for all  $(d, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^p \times \mathbb{R}^q$ ;

- (N4)  $T: C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{rm}) \to L^{\infty}_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^q)$  is an operator with the following properties:
  - a) T maps bounded trajectories to bounded trajectories, i.e., for all  $c_1 > 0$ , there exists  $c_2 > 0$  such that for all  $\zeta \in C([-h, \infty); \mathbb{R}^{rm})$ ,

$$\sup_{t\in[-h,\infty)} \|\zeta(t)\| \le c_1 \Rightarrow \sup_{t\ge 0} \|T(\zeta)(t)\| \le c_2,$$

b) T is causal, i.e, for all  $t \ge 0$  and all  $\zeta, \xi \in C([-h, \infty); \mathbb{R}^{rm})$ ,

$$\zeta|_{[-h,t)} = \xi|_{[-h,t)} \Rightarrow T(\zeta)|_{[0,t)} \stackrel{\text{a.e.}}{=} T(\xi)|_{[0,t)}.$$

c) T is locally Lipschitz continuous in the following sense: for all  $t \ge 0$  and all  $\xi \in C([-h,t]; \mathbb{R}^{rm})$  there exist  $\tau, \delta, c > 0$  such that, for all  $\zeta_1, \zeta_2 \in C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{rm})$  with  $\zeta_i|_{[-h,t]} = \xi$  and  $\|\zeta_i(s) - \xi(t)\| < \delta$  for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ and i = 1, 2, we have

$$\|(T(\zeta_1) - T(\zeta_2))|_{[t,t+\tau]}\|_{\infty} \le c \|(\zeta_1 - \zeta_2)|_{[t,t+\tau]}\|_{\infty}.$$

In [11, 50, 59, 61, 62] it is shown that the class of systems (3.1) encompasses linear and nonlinear systems with strict relative degree r and BIBO stable internal dynamics. The operator T allows for infinite-dimensional (linear) systems, systems with hysteretic effects or nonlinear delay elements, and combinations thereof. Note that T is typically the solution operator corresponding to a (partial) differential equation which describes the internal dynamics of the system. The linear infinite-dimensional systems that are considered in [61, 62] are in a special Byrnes-Isidori form that is discussed in detail in [63]. While the internal dynamics in these systems is allowed to correspond to a strongly continuous semigroup, all other operators are assumed to be bounded and to satisfy additional restrictive conditions. In contrast to this, in the present chapter we consider nonlinear equations which, in particular, involve unbounded operators. This complements and generalizes the findings in [13].

## 3.2 Funnel control

The objective is to design an output error feedback

$$u(t) = F(t, e(t), \dot{e}(t), \dots, e^{(r-1)}(t))$$

where  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{r,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  is a reference signal, which applied to (3.1) results in a closed-loop system where the tracking error  $e(t) \coloneqq y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)$  evolves within a prescribed performance funnel

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} \coloneqq \{ (t, e) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^m \mid \varphi(t) \| e \| < 1 \}, \qquad (3.2)$$

which is determined by a function  $\varphi$  belonging to

$$\Phi_r \coloneqq \left\{ \varphi \in C^r([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \middle| \begin{array}{l} \varphi, \dot{\varphi}, \dots, \varphi^{(r)} \text{ are bounded,} \\ \varphi(\tau) > 0 \text{ for all } \tau > 0, \\ \text{and } \liminf_{\tau \to \infty} \varphi(\tau) > 0 \end{array} \right\}$$

Furthermore, all signals  $u, e, \dot{e}, \dots, e^{(r-1)}$  should remain bounded.

The funnel boundary is given by  $1/\varphi$ . The case  $\varphi(0) = 0$  is explicitly allowed and puts no restriction on the initial value since  $\varphi(0) ||e(0)|| < 1$ ; in this case the funnel boundary  $1/\varphi$  has a pole at t = 0.

An important property is that each performance funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with  $\varphi \in \Phi_r$  is bounded away from zero, because boundedness of  $\varphi$  implies existence of  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $1/\varphi(t) \geq \lambda$  for all t > 0. The funnel boundary is not necessarily monotonically decreasing, while in most situations it is convenient to choose a monotone funnel. However, there are situations where widening the funnel over some later time interval might be beneficial, for instance in the presence of periodic disturbances or strongly varying reference signals. For typical choices of funnel boundaries see also [56, Section 3.2]. It was shown in [11] that the funnel controller

$$u(t) = -k_{1}(t)(\dot{e}(t) + k_{0}(t)e(t)),$$

$$e_{0}(t) = e(t) = y(t) - y_{ref}(t),$$

$$e_{1}(t) = \dot{e}_{0}(t) + k_{0}(t)e_{0}(t),$$

$$e_{2}(t) = \dot{e}_{1}(t) + k_{1}(t)e_{1}(t),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$e_{r-1}(t) = \dot{e}_{r-2}(t) + k_{r-2}(t)e_{r-2}(t),$$

$$k_{i}(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_{i}(t)^{2}||e_{i}(t)||^{2}}, \quad i = 0, \dots, r-1,$$
(3.3)

where

 $\varphi_0 \in \Phi_r, \varphi_1 \in \Phi_{r-1}, \dots, \varphi_{r-1} \in \Phi_1, \tag{3.4}$ 

achieves the control objective described above for any system which belongs to the class (3.1). We stress that while the derivatives  $\dot{e}_0, \ldots, \dot{e}_{r-2}$  appear in (3.3), they only serve as short-hand notations and may be resolved in terms of the tracking error, the funnel functions and their derivatives, cf. [11, Remark 2.1].

The existence of solutions of the initial value problem resulting from the application of the funnel controller (3.3) to a system (3.1) must be treated carefully. By a solution of (3.3), (3.1) on  $[-h, \omega)$  we mean a function  $y \in C^{r-1}([-h, \omega); \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $\omega \in (0, \infty]$ , with  $y|_{[-h,0]} = y^0$  such that  $y^{(r-1)}|_{[0,\omega)}$  is weakly differentiable and satisfies the differential equation in (3.1) with u defined in (3.3) for almost all  $t \in [0, \omega)$ ; y is called maximal, if it has no right extension that is also a solution. Existence of solutions of functional differential equations has been investigated in [61] for instance.

The following result is from [11]. Note that in [11] a slightly stronger version of conditions (N3) and (N4) c) is used. However, the proof does not change; in particular, regarding (N4) c), the existence part of the proof in [11] relies on a result from [59] where the version from the present chapter is used.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Consider a system (3.1) with properties (N1)-(N4) for some  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  and h > 0. Let  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{r,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $\varphi_0,\ldots,\varphi_{r-1}$  as in (3.4) and  $y^0 \in W^{r-1,\infty}([-h,0];\mathbb{R}^m)$  be an initial condition such that  $e_0,\ldots,e_{r-1}$  defined in (3.3) satisfy

 $\varphi_i(0) \| e_i(0) \| < 1 \quad for \ i = 0, \dots, r-1.$ 

Then the funnel controller (3.3) applied to (3.1) yields an initial-value problem which has a solution, and every solution can be extended to a maximal solution  $y : [-h, \omega) \to \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $\omega \in (0, \infty]$ , which has the following properties:

- 1. The solution is global, i.e.,  $\omega = \infty$ .
- 2. The input  $u : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^m$ , the gain functions  $k_0, \ldots, k_{r-1} : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $y, \dot{y}, \ldots, y^{(r-1)} : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^m$  are bounded.
- 3. The functions  $e_0, \ldots, e_{r-1} : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^m$  evolve in their respective performance funnels and are uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundaries in the sense

$$\forall i = 0, \dots, r-1 \exists \varepsilon_i > 0 \forall t > 0 : ||e_i(t)|| \le \varphi_i(t)^{-1} - \varepsilon_i.$$

#### 3.3 A class of operators for funnel control

While the class of functional differential equations (3.1) appears to be rather general and funnel control is feasible for these systems by Theorem 3.2.1, it is not clear exactly which kind of systems that contain PDEs are encompassed by the class (3.1). In this section we develop a description for a class of operators T which include certain BIBO stable linear PDEs and satisfy condition (N4). The aforementioned PDEs may either be coupled with a nonlinear observation operator which is polynomially bounded, or with a linear observation operator which is possibly unbounded, but with respect to which the system is regular well-posed and the inverse Laplace transform of the corresponding transfer function defines a measure of bounded total variation. This structure is illustrated in Fig. 3.1.

We give a precise definition of the operator class in the following.



Figure 3.1: Structure of an operator  $T \in \mathcal{T}_h^{\ell,q}$ .

**Definition 3.3.1.** Let  $h \ge 0$  and  $\ell, q \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{T}_h^{\ell,q}$  is defined as the set of all operators

$$T: C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell}) \to L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{q})$$

which, for any  $\zeta \in C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$ , are given by

$$T(\zeta)(t) = F\big(\tilde{T}(\zeta)(t), S(x)(t), (Cx)(t)\big), \quad t \ge 0,$$

where x, for some  $x^0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ , is the mild solution of the PDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B\zeta(t), \quad x(0) = x^0,$$
(3.5)

and

(P1)  $A: \mathcal{D}(A) \subseteq X \to X$  is the generator of a bounded  $C_0$ -semigroup in X, X a real Hilbert space, and  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^\ell, X_{-1})$  is an  $L^2$ -admissible control operator such that  $\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B\zeta(t)$  is BIBO stable, i.e., there exists  $\gamma \in C^1([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  such that for all  $\zeta \in C([-h,\infty);\mathbb{R}^\ell)$  the mild solution of (3.5) satisfies

$$\forall t \ge 0: \quad ||x(t)||_X \le \gamma(||\zeta|_{[-h,t]}||_{\infty});$$

- (P2)  $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{q_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{q_2} \times \mathbb{R}^{q_3}; \mathbb{R}^q);$
- (P3)  $\tilde{T} : C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell}) \to L^{\infty}_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{q_1})$  satisfies condition (N4) in Section 3.1 with  $\ell = rm$ ;
- (P4)  $S:X\to \mathbb{R}^{q_2}$  is a Fréchet differentiable operator with continuous Fréchet derivative and satisfies

$$\forall x \in X : \|S(x)\| \le p(\|x\|_X)$$

for some polynomial p(s);

(P5)  $C \in \mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), \mathbb{R}^{q_3})$  is an  $L^2$ -admissible observation operator such that the system

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B\zeta(t),$$
  

$$\nu(t) = Cx(t)$$

is well-posed, i.e., for some  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  the transfer function  $G : \mathbb{C}_{\omega} \to \mathbb{C}^{q_3 \times \ell}$ , which is uniquely determined (up to a constant) by

$$\frac{1}{t-s}(G(s) - G(t)) = C((sI - A)^{-1}(tI - A)^{-1})B$$

for all  $s, t \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}$ ,  $s \neq t$ , exists and is proper, that is  $\sup_{s \in \mathbb{C}_{\omega}} ||G(s)|| < \infty$ . Furthermore, we require that the system is regular, i.e.,  $\lim_{\mathrm{Re}\,s\to\infty} G(s)v$  exists for all  $v \in \mathbb{C}^{\ell}$ , and we require that G satisfies that the inverse Laplace transform of its components  $h_{ij} = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(G_{ij})$  is a real-valued measure with bounded total variation for all  $i = 1, \ldots, q_3$  and  $j = 1, \ldots, \ell$ .

#### Remark 3.3.2.

- 1. We note that the notion of *admissible* operators is well-known in infinite-dimensional linear systems theory with unbounded control and observation operators, see e.g. [116], and is motivated by interpreting a PDE on a larger space in order to define solutions. Further, note that any operator T as given in Definition 3.3.1 with the properties (P1)–(P5) is indeed well-defined from  $C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$  to  $L_{loc}^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{q})$ .
- 2. We emphasize that the assumption of BIBO stability of (3.5) as in (P1) is quite weak. A sufficient condition for this is *input-to-state stability*, which has been introduced by Sontag [108]. This concept was studied extensively for nonlinear systems, see [109], and for systems containing PDEs it is investigated in [66,89]. However, the state of an input-to-state stable system converges to zero whenever the input is zero, which is not required for BIBO stable systems considered here.

In the following main result we show that any operator which belongs to the class  $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\ell,q}$  satisfies the condition (N4) in Section 3.1.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Any  $T \in \mathcal{T}_h^{\ell,q}$  satisfies condition (N4) in Section 3.1.

*Proof. Step 1*: We show property (N4) a). To this end, observe that by continuity of F it suffices to show this for the maps  $\zeta \mapsto \tilde{T}(\zeta), \zeta \mapsto S(x)$  and  $\zeta \mapsto Cx$ . By (P3),  $\tilde{T}$  satisfies (N4) a) and by (P2) together with (P1) we have

$$||S(x)(t)|| \le p(||x(t)||_X) \le p(\gamma(||\zeta||_\infty))$$

for all bounded  $\zeta \in C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$ . It remains to show that Cx is bounded. From (P5) the system (A, B, C) is regular well-posed, from which it follows by the variation of constants formula that, see [115] for instance,

$$Cx(\cdot) = C\mathbb{T}^{A}_{(\cdot)}x_0 + (h * \zeta)(\cdot),$$

where  $(\mathbb{T}_t^A)_{t\geq 0}$  is the  $C_0$ -semigroup generated by A and  $h = (h_{ij})_{i=1,\ldots,q_3;j=1,\ldots,\ell}$  is the inverse Laplace transform of the transfer function G. By assumption we have that  $h \in \mathcal{M}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{q_3 \times \ell})$ . Thus, for all  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Cx(t)\| &\leq \|C\mathbb{T}_{t}^{A}x_{0}\| + \|(h*\zeta)(t)\| \\ &\leq \|C\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R}^{q_{3}})}\|A\mathbb{T}_{t}^{A}x_{0}\| + \|h\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}\|\zeta\|_{\infty} \\ &= \|C\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R}^{q_{3}})}\|\mathbb{T}_{t}^{A}Ax_{0}\| + \|h\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}\|\zeta\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|C\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R}^{q_{3}})}\|\mathbb{T}_{t}^{A}\|_{\mathscr{L}(X)}\|Ax_{0}\|_{X} + \|h\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}\|\zeta\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq M\|C\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R}^{q_{3}})}\|Ax_{0}\|_{X} + \|h\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}\|\zeta\|_{\infty}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$  and  $(\mathbb{T}_t^A)_{t\geq 0}$  is bounded, that is,  $\|\mathbb{T}_t^A\|_{\mathscr{L}(X)} \leq M$  for some  $M \geq 1$  and all  $t \geq 0$ . Thus,

$$||Cx(\cdot)||_{\infty} \le M ||C||_{\mathscr{L}(\mathcal{D}(A),\mathbb{R}^{q_3})} ||Ax_0||_X + ||h||_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))} ||\zeta||_{\infty}.$$

Step 2: We show property (N4) b). This is a straightforward consequence of the definition of  $\tilde{T}$ .

Step 3: We show property (N4) c). Fix  $t \ge 0$  and  $\xi \in C([-h,t]; \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$ . Let  $\tilde{\tau}, \tilde{\delta}, \tilde{c}$  be the constants given by property (N4) c) of  $\tilde{T}$ . Set  $\tau := \tilde{\tau}$  and  $\delta := \tilde{\delta}$ . Further let  $\zeta_i \in C([-h,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$  with  $\zeta_i|_{[-h,t]} = \xi$  and  $\|\zeta_i(s) - \xi(t)\| < \delta$  for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  and i = 1, 2. Let  $x_i$  denote the mild solution of (3.5) corresponding to  $\zeta_i$  for i = 1, 2. Then, by linearity,  $x_1 - x_2$  is the mild solution corresponding to  $\zeta_1 - \zeta_2$ . Since S is Fréchet differentiable with continuous Fréchet derivative  $DS : X \to \mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{R}^{q_2})$  by (P4), the mean value theorem implies that it is locally Lipschitz continuous. Therefore, we find that for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \|S(x_1(s)) - S(x_2(s))\| &\leq L_1 \| (x_1 - x_2)(s) \| \\ &\leq L_1 \gamma(\| (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2) |_{[-h,s]} \|_{\infty}) \\ &\leq L_1 L_2 \| (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2) |_{[t,t+\tau]} \|_{\infty}, \end{aligned}$$

where, with  $\tilde{x}$  denoting the mild solution of (3.5) corresponding to  $\tilde{\xi}$  for  $\tilde{\xi}|_{[-h,t]} = \xi$  and  $\tilde{\xi}|_{[t,\infty)} \equiv \xi(t)$ , we have  $||x_i(s) - \tilde{x}(t)||_X \leq \gamma(||\zeta_i|_{[t,s]} - \xi(t)||_\infty) < \gamma(\delta)$ , which justifies to set

$$L_1 \coloneqq \sup_{\|x - \tilde{x}(t)\|_X \le \gamma(\delta)} \|DS(x)\|_{\mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{R}^{q_2})},$$

$$L_2 \coloneqq \sup_{s \in [0, 2\delta]} |\gamma'(s)|.$$

Furthermore, by linearity and (P5) we have

$$||Cx_1(s) - Cx_2(s)|| = ||(h * (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2))(s)||$$
  
$$\leq L_3 ||(\zeta_1 - \zeta_2)|_{[t,t+\tau]}||_{\infty}$$

for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  and  $L_3 := \|h\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,\infty))}$ . Now define  $\hat{c} := \tilde{c} + L_1L_2 + L_3$  and

$$L_4 \coloneqq \sup \left\{ \|F'(z)\| \left\| \left\| z - \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{T}(\tilde{\xi})(t) \\ S(\tilde{x})(t) \\ C\tilde{x}(t) \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le \hat{c}\delta \right\}$$

and set

$$c \coloneqq \hat{c}L_4$$

Then we have

$$\tilde{T}(\zeta_1)(s) - \tilde{T}(\zeta_2)(s) \| \le c \| (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2) |_{[t,t+\tau]} \|_{\infty}$$

for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  and this finishes the proof of the theorem.

It is shown in [13] that the operator associated with the internal dynamics of a linearized model of a moving water tank system belongs to the class  $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\ell,q}$ . In the subsequent section we consider another example which contains a transport equation.

#### Example: The transport equation

We illustrate our results by considering the following system whose internal dynamics are described by a transport equation, that is

$$\dot{y}(t) = T(y)(t) + \gamma u(t)$$

$$T(y)(t) = z(t,0)$$

$$\frac{\partial z}{\partial t}(t,\xi) = c \frac{\partial z}{\partial \xi}(t,\xi) + h(\xi)y(t),$$

$$z(0,\xi) = 0,$$
(3.6)

for  $(t,\xi) \in (0,\infty) \times [0,\infty)$ , where  $c, \gamma > 0$  and  $h \in M([0,\infty))$  is a Borel measure of bounded total variation. It is well-known that the third and fourth equations in (3.6) constitute a regular well-posed linear system (A, B, C) on  $X = L^2([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ , the so-called *shift-realization* of the Laplace transform  $\mathcal{L}(h)$ , see e.g. [52, 124, 125]. More precisely, the PDE is then understood on an abstract Sobolev space  $X_{-1}$  to make sense of the term  $h(\xi)y(t)$  and the solutions are *mild solutions* in general. Also note that the generated (left-)shift-semigroup is not exponentially stable. In particular, the Laplace

 $\square$ 

transform  $\mathcal{L}(h)$  of the measure h is defined on the closed right half-plane and bounded analytic on this domain. Moreover, the impulse response of the PDE equals h. More precisely, for sufficiently smooth y we have the representation

$$T(y)(t) = z(t,0) = (h * y)(t) = \int_0^t y(t-s) \, \mathrm{d}h(s).$$

As h is of bounded total variation, it follows that T is a bounded operator from  $BC([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  to  $L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  and hence  $T \in \mathcal{T}_0^{1,1}$ . Therefore, the first equation in (3.6) formally reads

$$\dot{y}(t) = (h * y)(t) + \gamma u,$$

which is a differential-integral Volterra equation. Also note that for the following simple cases

•  $h = \delta_0$ , we obtain a finite-dimensional linear system:

$$\dot{y}(t) = y(t) + \gamma u(t);$$

•  $h = \delta_{t_0}, t_0 > 0$ , we obtain a delay differential equation:

$$\dot{y}(t) = \begin{cases} y(t - t_0) + \gamma u(t), & t \ge t_0, \\ \gamma u(t), & 0 \le t < t_0 \end{cases}$$

• h(t) = f(t)dt with  $f \in L^1([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ , i.e. h is represented by its  $L^1$ -density with respect to the Lebesgue measure. If additionally  $f \in L^2([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ , then the input operator B is bounded.

For the simulation we have chosen  $h(\xi) = e^{-\xi}/\sqrt{\xi}$ , which is integrable but not square integrable on  $[0, \infty)$ . Furthermore, we use the parameters  $c = \gamma = 1$  and the reference signal

$$y_{\rm ref}(t) = \cos t, \quad t \ge 0.$$

The initial value is chosen as y(0) = 0 and for the controller (3.3) we chose the funnel function

$$\varphi(t) = (2e^{-2t} + 0.1)^{-1}, \quad t \ge 0$$

Clearly, the initial error lies within the funnel boundaries as required in Theorem 3.2.1. Furthermore, by Theorem 3.3.3 the operator T satisfies (N4) and hence funnel control is feasible.

The PDE is solved using explicit finite differences with a grid in t with M = 1000 points for the interval [0, T], where T = 15, and a grid in  $\xi$  with  $N = \lfloor M(b-a)/(\alpha T) \rfloor$  points for  $\alpha = 0.4$  and a = 0, b = 10. The method has been implemented in Python and the simulation results are shown in Fig. 3.2.



Fig. 3.2a: Performance funnel with tracking error e and generated input function u.



Fig. 3.2b: State z of the PDE.

Figure 3.2: Simulation of the funnel controller (3.3) for the system (3.6).

It can be seen that even in the presence of infinite-dimensional internal dynamics which are not exponentially stable a prescribed performance of the tracking error can be achieved with the funnel controller (3.3). At the same time the input generated by the controller is bounded with a satisfactory performance.

# 3.4 Outlook

In the present chapter we considered the question which classes of systems with infinitedimensional internal dynamics are encompassed by the abstract system class (3.1) for which funnel control is feasible by Theorem 3.2.1. We have defined a class of operators  $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\ell,q}$ , which model the internal dynamics of the system, that encompass BIBO stable linear PDEs. These PDEs may either be coupled with a nonlinear, but polynomially bounded observation operator, or with a linear observation operator which may be unbounded. For the latter we additionally assumed that the resulting system is regular well-posed such that the inverse Laplace transform of its transfer function defines a measure with bounded total variation. In Theorem 3.3.3 we have proved that any operator belonging to  $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\ell,q}$  satisfies the conditions of the system class (3.1). Several extensions of the operator class  $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\ell,q}$  and Theorem 3.2.1 may be investigated in future research. In particular, extensions to nonlinear PDE systems with unbounded observation operators are of interest as well as systems with infinite-dimensional input and output spaces which do not have an integer-valued relative degree.

# 4 Adaptive control for boundary control systems

Here we consider a class of boundary control systems (BCS) of the form

$$\begin{split} \dot{x}(t) &= \mathfrak{A}x(t), \quad t > 0, \quad x(0) = x_0, \\ u(t) &= \mathfrak{B}x(t), \\ y(t) &= \mathfrak{C}x(t), \end{split}$$

where  $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}$  are linear operators. The function u is interpreted as the input, y as the measured output and x is called the state of the system. Typically,  $\mathfrak{A}$  is a differential operator on the state space X and  $\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}$  are evaluation operators of the state at the boundary of the spatial domain, that is, the domain of the functions lying in X. The aim of this chapter is to develop an adaptive controller for boundary control systems which, roughly speaking, achieves the following goal:

For any prescribed reference signal  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{2,\infty}(0,\infty)$ , the output y of the system tracks  $y_{\text{ref}}$  in the sense that the transient behavior of the error  $e(t) \coloneqq y(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)$  is controlled.

Shortly, we will elaborate on the class of possible reference signals and the meaning of "controlling the transient behavior" in more detail. The goal will be achieved by using a *funnel controller*, which, in the simplest case, has the form

$$u(t) = -\frac{1}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 ||e(t)||^2} e(t)$$

for some positive function  $\varphi$ . Under this feedback, the error is supposed to evolve in the *performance funnel* 

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} \coloneqq \{(t, e) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{C}^m \mid \varphi(t) \| e \| < 1\}$$

and would hence satisfy

$$||e(t)|| \le \varphi(t)^{-1}$$
, for all  $t \ge 0$ .

In fact, if  $\varphi$  tends asymptotically to a large value  $\lambda$ , then the error remains at some point bounded by  $\lambda^{-1}$ , see Fig. 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Error evolution in a funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with boundary  $\varphi(t)^{-1}$ .

We consider a class of *boundary control systems* which satisfy a certain energy balance [9,67]. The feedback law of the funnel controller naturally induces a nonlinear closed-loop system. For the corresponding solution theory, the concept of (nonlinear) mdissipative operators in a Hilbert space will play an important role. For an appropriate introduction to this classical topic we refer to [69,90,106]. For the sake of completeness we have provided the basics on the topic in Chapter 1 Sections 1.8.2 & 1.8.3.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.1 we introduce the system class that is subject of our results. In Section 4.2 we present the details about the controller and as well as the main results which refer to the applicability of the funnel controller to the considered system class. In Section 4.3 we present some examples of partial differential equations for which the funnel controller is applicable and accompany them by showing some numerical simulations. Section 4.4 contains the proof of the main results together with some preliminary auxiliary results. We conclude the chapter with an overlook in Section 4.5

## 4.1 System class

In the following we introduce our system class, define our controller and discuss the solution concept to the resulting nonlinear feedback system.

**Definition 4.1.1** (System class). Let X be a complex Hilbert space and let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  be given. Let  $\mathfrak{A} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to X$  be a closed linear operator,  $\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to \mathbb{C}^m$  be

linear operators to which we associate the system

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x}(t) &= \mathfrak{A}x(t), \quad x(0) = x_0, \\ u(t) &= \mathfrak{B}x(t), \\ y(t) &= \mathfrak{C}x(t). \end{aligned} \tag{4.1}$$

We will refer to (4.1) by  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  and call it a *boundary control system (BCS)*.

In the sequel we specify the system class.

Assumption 4.1.2. Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be given.

(i) The system is *(generalized) impedance passive*, i.e., there exists  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_X \leq \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B}x, \mathfrak{C}x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m} + \alpha \|x\|_X^2 \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}).$$

$$(4.2)$$

- (ii)  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  (the restriction of  $\mathfrak{A}$  to ker  $\mathfrak{B}$ ) generates a strongly continuous semigroup on X.
- (iii) The operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B} \\ \mathfrak{C} \end{bmatrix} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathbb{C}^{2m}$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

is onto,  $\ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C} \subset X$  is dense and  $\mathfrak{C} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}) \to \mathbb{C}^m$  is continuous with respect to the graph norm  $||x||_{\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})} = (||x||_X^2 + ||\mathfrak{A}x||_X^2)^{1/2}$ .

#### Remark 4.1.3.

- a) By setting u = 0, the above assumptions imply that the semigroup  $\mathbb{T}_{(\cdot)} : [0, \infty) \to \mathscr{L}(X)$  generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  fulfills  $||\mathbb{T}_t|| \leq e^{\alpha t}$ . In particular, the semigroup is contractive, if  $\alpha \leq 0$ .
- b) The Lumer–Phillips theorem [30, Theorem 3.15] implies that  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  generates a strongly continuous semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on X with  $||\mathbb{T}_t|| \leq e^{\alpha t}$  for all t > 0 if, and only if,  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} - \lambda I) = X$  for some (and hence any)  $\lambda \geq \alpha$ , together with  $\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_X \leq \alpha ||x||_X^2$  for all  $x \in D(\mathfrak{A})$ . As a consequence, Assumption 4.1.1(ii) can be replaced by the condition that  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} - \lambda I) = X$  for some (and hence any)  $\lambda \geq \alpha$ .
- c) The operator (4.3) is onto if, and only if, there exist  $P, Q : \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$  with

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B} \\ \mathfrak{C} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P & Q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_m & 0 \\ 0 & I_m \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.4)

- d) We are dealing with complex spaces in this chapter for sake of simplicity. A comment on real systems can be found in Remark 4.2.5e).
- e) An oftentimes considered class in infinite-dimensional linear systems theory is that of *well-posed linear systems*, see e.g. [110]. That is, the controllability map, observability map and input-output map are bounded operators. Note that we do not impose such a well-posedness assumption throughout this chapter. The well-posed case has been for instance studied in [24] and [116, Section 10].

**Example 4.1.4.** There are several systems which fit in our description. A class of examples of hyperbolic type is given by so-called *port-Hamiltonian systems* such as the *lossy transmission line* 

$$\begin{split} V_{\zeta}(\zeta,t) &= -LI_t(\zeta,t) - RI(\zeta,t), \\ I_{\zeta}(\zeta,t) &= -CV_t(\zeta,t) - GV(\zeta,t), \\ u(t) &= \begin{pmatrix} V(a,t) \\ V(b,t) \end{pmatrix}, \\ y(t) &= \begin{pmatrix} I(a,t) \\ -I(b,t) \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

where V and I are the voltage and the electric current at a point  $\zeta$  of a segment (a, b) over the time t. A precise definition of port-Hamiltonian systems will be given in Section 4.3.1.

In Section 4.3.3 we will also apply the theoretical results to parabolic systems given through a general second-order elliptic operator on a regular domain  $\Omega$ . A particular case is the heat equation,

$$\partial_t x(t,\zeta) = \Delta x(t,\zeta),$$
$$\nu \cdot \nabla x(t,\zeta)|_{\partial\Omega} = u(t),$$
$$\int_{\partial\Omega} x(t,\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = y(t),$$

where the control variable is the heat flux at the boundary and the observation is the total temperature along the boundary.

## 4.2 Funnel control

The following definition presents the cornerstone of our controller, the class of admissible funnel boundaries.

Definition 4.2.1. Let

$$\Phi \coloneqq \left\{ \varphi \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \; \middle| \; \forall \delta > 0, \; \inf_{t \ge \delta} \varphi(t) > 0 \right\}.$$

With  $\varphi \in \Phi$  we associate the *performance funnel* 

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} \coloneqq \{(t,e) \in [0,\infty) \times \mathbb{C}^m \mid \varphi(t) \| e \| < 1 \}.$$

In this context we refer to  $1/\varphi(\cdot)$  as funnel boundary, see also Fig. 4.1.

Now we define our controller, which is a slight modification of the original controller introduced in [60]. For  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$ , we define the funnel controller as

$$u(t) = \left(u_0 + \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} e_0\right) p(t) - \frac{1}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|e(t)\|^2} e(t), \tag{4.5}$$

where  $\varphi_0 = \varphi(0)$ ,  $e_0 \coloneqq \mathfrak{C} x_0 - y_{\text{ref}}(0)$ ,  $u_0 \coloneqq \mathfrak{B} x_0$ , and p is a function with compact support and p(0) = 1. In the following we collect assumptions on the functions involved in the funnel controller and the initial value of the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ . Particularly, this includes that the expressions  $\mathfrak{C} x_0$ ,  $y_{\text{ref}}(0)$ ,  $\mathfrak{B} x_0$  and p(0) are well-defined.

Assumption 4.2.2 (Reference signal, performance funnel, initial value). The initial value  $x_0$  of the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  and the functions in the controller (4.5) fulfill

- (i)  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m);$
- (ii)  $p \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  with compact support and p(0) = 1;
- (iii)  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  and  $\varphi \in \Phi$  with  $\varphi(0) \|\mathfrak{C} x_0 y_{ref}(0)\| < 1$  and  $\varphi(0) > 0$ .

**Remark 4.2.3.** Apart from regularity of the reference signal and performance funnel, the assumptions on the controller basically include two points:

- a) The initial value is "smooth", i.e.,  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$ . The reason is that especially for hyperbolic systems - the initialization with  $x_0 \in X \setminus \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  might result in a discontinuous output. This effect typically occurs when the semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  is not analytical, such as, for instance, when a wave equation is considered.
- b) The output of the system at t = 0 is already in the performance funnel and  $\varphi^{-1} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$  since  $\varphi(0) > 0$ , so that  $\inf_{t \ge 0} \varphi > 0$ .

The funnel controller (4.5) differs from the classical one in [60] by the addition of the term

$$\left(u_0 + \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} e_0\right) p(t)$$

for some (arbitrary) smooth function with p(0) = 1 and compact support. This ensures that the controller is consistent with the initial value, that is, u in (4.5) satisfies

$$u(0) = \left(u_0 + \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} e_0\right) p(0) - \frac{1}{1 - \varphi(0)^2 \|e(0)\|^2} e(0) = u_0 = \mathfrak{B}x_0 = \mathfrak{B}x(0).$$

The funnel controller therefore requires the knowledge of the "initial value of the input"  $u_0 = \mathfrak{B}x_0$ . This means that, loosely speaking, the "actuator position" has to be known at the initial time, which is —by the opinion of the authors— no restriction from a practical point of view.

We would like to emphasize that the application of the funnel controller does not need any further "internal information" on the system, such as system parameters or the full knowledge of the initial state.

The funnel controller (4.5) applied to a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  results in the closed-loop system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}x(t), \qquad x(0) = x_0, 
\mathfrak{B}x(t) = u(t), 
\mathfrak{C}x(t) = y(t), \qquad (4.6a) 
e(t) = y(t) - y_{ref}(t), \qquad e_0 = \mathfrak{C}x_0 - y_{ref}(0), \qquad \varphi_0 = \varphi(0), 
u(t) = (\mathfrak{B}x_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))p(t) - \psi(\varphi(t), e(t)),$$

where

$$\psi(\varphi, e) \coloneqq \frac{1}{1 - \varphi^2 \|e\|^2} e,$$
  

$$\mathcal{D}(\psi) \coloneqq \{(\varphi, e) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{C}^m \mid \varphi \|e\| < 1\}.$$
(4.6b)

We see immediately that the closed-loop system is nonlinear and time-variant. In the sequel we present our main results which state that the funnel controller is functioning in a certain sense. Note that this result includes the specification of the solution concept with which we are working. First we show that the funnel controller applied to any system fulfilling Assumption 4.1.2 has a solution. Such a solution however might not be bounded on the infinite time horizon. Thereafter, we show that boundedness on  $[0, \infty)$  is guaranteed, if the constant  $\alpha$  in the energy balance (4.2) is negative. The proofs of these results can be found in Section 4.4.

**Theorem 4.2.4** (Feasibility of funnel controller, arbitrary  $\alpha$ ). Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ be given which satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 and assume that the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{\text{ref}}$ , p,  $\varphi$  fulfill Assumption 4.2.2. Then, for all T > 0 the closed-loop system (4.6) has a unique solution  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  in the following sense:

- (i)  $\dot{x}$  is continuous except possibly at a countable number of points in [0,T], and
- (ii) for all  $t \in [0,T]$  holds  $x(t) \in D(\mathfrak{A})$  and (4.6).

#### Remark 4.2.5.

a) The solution concept which is subject of Theorem 4.2.4 is strong in the sense that the weak derivative of x is evolving in the space X and not in some larger space as used e.g. in [116].

- b) The property  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  of a solution implies  $\mathfrak{A}x = \dot{x} \in L^{\infty}([0,T];X)$ , whence  $x \in L^{\infty}([0,T];D(\mathfrak{A}))$ . As a consequence, for  $u = \mathfrak{B}x$  and  $y = \mathfrak{C}x$ holds that  $u, y \in L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{C}^m)$ . By the same argumentation, we see that the continuity of  $\dot{x}$  except possibly in a countable set in [0,T] implies that u and yare continuous except possibly in a countable set of [0,T].
- c) For  $T_1 < T_2$  consider solutions  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  of the closed-loop system (4.6) on  $[0, T_1]$ and  $[0, T_2]$ , respectively. Uniqueness of the solution implies that  $x_1 = x_2|_{[0,T_1]}$ . As a consequence, there exists a unique  $x \in W^{1,\infty}_{loc}([0,\infty); X)$  with the property that for all T > 0 holds that  $x|_{[0,T]}$  is a solution of (4.6). Accordingly, the input satisfies  $u \in L^{\infty}_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ . Note that, by the fact that the output evolves in the funnel, we have that y is essentially bounded, that is  $y \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ .
- d) The properties  $u, y, y_{ref} \in L^{\infty}([0, T]; \mathbb{C}^m)$  imply that the error  $e = y y_{ref}$  is uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary. That is, there exists some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\varphi(t) \| e(t) \| < 1 - \varepsilon$$
 for almost all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

e) The typical situation is that the system is real in the sense that the input, output and state evolve in the real spaces  $\mathbb{R}^m$  and X. By using a complexification X + iX, the results presented in this chapter can be applied to such systems yielding that a (not yet necessarily real) solution  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T]; X + iX)$  the closed-loop system (4.6) exists which is moreover unique. A closer look yields that the pointwise complex conjugate  $\bar{x}$  is as well a solution of (4.6), and uniqueness gives  $x = \bar{x}$ , whence x has to be real in this case.

Though bounded on each bounded interval, the solution x of the closed-loop system (4.6) might satisfy

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \|x(t)\| = \infty, \qquad \limsup_{t \to \infty} \|u(t)\| = \infty$$

In the following we show that this unboundedness does not occur when the constant  $\alpha$  in (4.2) in Assumption 4.1.2 is negative.

**Theorem 4.2.6.** Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be given which satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 such that Assumption 4.1.2(*i*) holds with  $\alpha < 0$ . Assume that the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{\text{ref}}$ , p,  $\varphi$  fulfill Assumption 4.2.2. Then the solution  $x : [0, \infty) \to X$  of the closed-loop system (4.6) (which exists by Theorem 4.2.4) fulfills

$$x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$$
 and  $u = \mathfrak{B}x \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{C}^m).$ 

**Remark 4.2.7.** In particular when the input and output of a system have different physical dimensions, it might be essential that the funnel controller is dilated by some constant  $k_0 > 0$ . More precisely, one might consider the controller

$$u(t) = \left(u_0 + \frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} e_0\right) p(t) - \frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|e(t)\|^2} e(t).$$
(4.7)

The feasibility of this controller is indeed covered by Theorems 4.2.4 & 4.2.6, which can be seen by the following argumentation: Consider the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  with transformed input  $\tilde{u} = k_0^{-1} u$ . That is, a system  $\mathfrak{S} = (\mathfrak{A}, k_0^{-1} \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ . Providing X with the equivalent inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\text{new}} \coloneqq k_0^{-1} \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$ , we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_{\operatorname{new}} \leq \operatorname{Re} \langle k_0^{-1} \mathfrak{B}x, \mathfrak{C}x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m} + \alpha \|x\|_{\operatorname{new}}^2 \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}).$$

Consequently, by Theorem 4.2.4, the funnel controller

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \left(\underbrace{\tilde{u}_0}_{=k_0^{-1}u_0} + \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} e_0\right) p(t) - \frac{1}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|e(t)\|^2} e(t)$$

results in feasibility of the closed-loop. Now resolving  $\tilde{u} = k_0^{-1} u$  in the previous formula, we obtain exactly the controller (4.7). Further note that, by the same argumentation together with Theorem 4.2.6, we obtain that all the trajectories are bounded in the case where  $\alpha < 0$ .

#### 4.2.1 Unbounded funnel boundary at the origin

The assumption that for  $\varphi \in \Phi$  we have  $\inf_{t\geq 0} \varphi(t) > 0$  is quite technical. It has to do with the fact that we need  $\varphi^{-1} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$  in order to show existence of solutions to (4.6). However, under suitable assumptions this can be generalized. In the following we discuss the case in which we allow an unbounded funnel boundary at the origin under the assumption that the BCS is well-posed. In the following assumption, we replace Assumption 4.2.2(iii) so that the case  $\varphi(0) = 0$  is not excluded.

Assumption 4.2.8. Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be given. In addition to Assumption 4.1.2 and Assumption 4.2.2(i) & (ii) assume that the initial state  $x_0$  and the function  $\varphi$  in the controller (4.5) fulfill that  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  and  $\varphi \in \Phi$  with  $\varphi(0) \|\mathfrak{C}x_0 - y_{\text{ref}}(0)\|_{\mathbb{C}^m} < 1$ . Assume further that

- (i) the BCS system is  $L^2$ -well-posed and given by  $\Sigma = (\mathbb{T}, \Phi, \Psi, \mathbb{F});$
- (ii) for all  $f \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$  there exists  $\delta > 0$  and  $e \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\delta]; \mathbb{C}^m)$  such that

$$e(t) = f(t) + \left(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}\left(\psi(\varphi(0), e(0))p - \psi(\varphi, e)\right)\right)(t), \tag{4.8}$$

and  $\varphi(t) \| e(t) \|_{\mathbb{C}^m} < 1$  for all  $t \in [0, \delta]$ .

#### Remark 4.2.9.

a) As we will see in the proof of Theorem 4.2.12, Assumption 4.2.8(ii) delivers the existence of a solution to the closed-loop system. In fact, this assumption is not so restrictive. In the case where  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  generates an analytic semigroup, one typically has that there exists  $h \in L^1_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^{m \times m})$  such that

$$(\mathbb{F}v)(t) = (h * v)(t), \quad v \in L^2_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m),$$

see for instance [110, Theorem 5.7.3]. If that is the case, by means of a standard fixed point argument and slightly modifying [43, Theorem XIII.3.3 & XIII.3.3], one obtains that the nonlinear Volterra equation (4.8) has a solution with the desired properties on  $[0, T_{max})$  for some  $T_{max} > 0$ . It suffices then to choose  $\delta := T_{max}/2$  for instance.

- b) Since the system is well-posed  $v \coloneqq \psi(\varphi(0), e(0))p \psi(\varphi, e)$  is in  $W^{1,2}([0, \delta]; \mathbb{C}^m)$ with v(0) = 0, [116, Proposition 4.2.10] implies that  $x \in C([0, \delta]; \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$  so that  $(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}v)(0) = 0$  and e(0) = f(0).
- c) BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  being well-posed and making use of operators  $P, Q \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$ from Remark 4.1.3c) we can easily compute that

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} x(t) + Bu(t),$$

where  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X_{-1})$  is given by  $B = \mathfrak{A}P - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}P$ , see for instance [116, Theorem 5.2.13(iii)].

Of course, the main problem is to guarantee the existence and uniqueness of a solution in a small interval  $[0, \delta]$ , since for  $t \ge \delta$ , we can apply Theorems 4.2.4 & 4.2.6 with a time shift so that we start with  $x_0 = x(\delta)$ . Before we prove the main theorem of this section, we need an auxiliary result.

**Lemma 4.2.10.** Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be  $L^2$ -well-posed and given by  $\Sigma = (\mathbb{T}, \Phi, \Psi, \mathbb{F})$ . Let the initial value  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  and  $p \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$  with p(0) = 1 be given. Let  $u_0 \coloneqq \mathfrak{B} x_0$  and set  $u = u_0 p + v$ , for  $v \in L^2_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ . Then  $g \coloneqq \Psi_{\infty} x_0 + \mathbb{F}_{\infty}(u_0 p) \in W^{1,2}_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$  and it holds that

$$y = g + \mathbb{F}_{\infty} v$$

with  $g(0) = \mathfrak{C}x_0$ .

*Proof.* Since by BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  is well-posed, we can write it as

$$x(t) = \mathbb{T}_t x_0 + \Phi_t u,$$
$$y = \Psi_\infty x_0 + \mathbb{F}_\infty u$$

Thus,

$$\Phi_t u = \Phi_t(u_0 p) + \Phi_t v$$

Making use of Remark 4.2.9c) it follows that  $B = \mathfrak{A}P - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}P$ . Hence,

$$\Phi_t(u_0 p) = \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s}(\mathfrak{A} P - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} P) u_0 p(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

Since p is at least once weakly differentiable, integration by parts leads to

$$\Phi_t(u_0 p) = -\mathbb{T}_t P u_0 + P u_0 p(t) + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} \mathfrak{A} P u_0 p(s) \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} P u_0 \dot{p}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,,$$

since p(0) = 1, so that we can define  $f(t) \coloneqq \Phi_t(u_0 p)$  which is continuous in X. If the semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is exponentially stable, then by direct calculation one can show that f is bounded in  $[0,\infty)$  with values in X. Using  $y = \mathfrak{C}x$  leads to

$$y = g + \mathbb{F}_{\infty} v,$$

where

$$g(t) \coloneqq \mathfrak{CT}_t(x_0 - Pu_0) + \mathfrak{C} \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} \mathfrak{A} Pu_0 p(s) \, \mathrm{d}s - \mathfrak{C} \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} Pu_0 \dot{p}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \,,$$

since  $\mathfrak{C}P = 0$  so that  $\mathfrak{C}Pu_0p(t) = 0$ .

Note that  $x_0 - Pu_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})$ , since  $\mathfrak{B}(x_0 - Pu_0) = \mathfrak{B}x_0 - u_0 = 0$  by construction. By considering the auxiliary problems

$$\dot{w}_1(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} w_1(t) + \mathfrak{A} P u_0 p(t), \quad w_1(0) = 0$$

and

$$\dot{w}_2(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} w_2(t) + P u_0 \dot{p}(t), \quad w_2(0) = 0,$$

it is not difficult to see that since  $\mathfrak{A}P, P \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X)$ , we get  $w_1, w_2 \in C([0, \infty); \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$ , see for instance [116, Proposition 4.2.10]. This implies that g is continuous and we have that  $g(0) = \mathfrak{C}(x_0 - Pu_0) = \mathfrak{C}x_0$ , which holds by  $\mathfrak{C}P = 0$ .

Since the system is well-posed and  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}(x_0 - Pu_0) \in X$  we further have that

$$t \mapsto \mathfrak{CT}_t \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}(x_0 - Pu_0) \in L^2_{\mathrm{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m).$$

By considering the control operators  $b_1 \coloneqq \mathfrak{A}Pu_0$  and  $b_2 \coloneqq Pu_0$  and the observation operator  $\mathfrak{C}$ , we have that the systems  $(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}, b_i, \mathfrak{C})$ , i = 1, 2, are thus well-posed in  $(\mathbb{R}, X, \mathbb{C}^m)$ . If we consider the respective inputs  $(u_1, u_2) = (p, \dot{p}) \in W^{1,\infty}([0, \infty); \mathbb{R}) \times W^{1,\infty}([0, \infty); \mathbb{R})$ , by [110, Theorem 4.6.5] it follows that

$$t \mapsto \mathfrak{C} \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} \mathfrak{A} P u_0 p(s) \, \mathrm{d} s - \mathfrak{C} \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} P u_0 \dot{p}(s) \, \mathrm{d} s \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m).$$

Hence  $g \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m).$ 

Remark 4.2.11. Note that Lemma 4.2.10 does not make use of the Assumption 4.2.8.

We now present the main result of this section, which shows existence and uniqueness of a solution in a small interval  $[0, \delta]$ . In fact, the following result extends naturally the solution concept which is subject to Theorem 4.2.4.

**Theorem 4.2.12.** Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ , the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{\text{ref}}$ ,  $p, \varphi$  be given which satisfy Assumption 4.2.8. Then, there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that the closed-loop system (4.6) has a unique solution  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\delta];X)$  in the following sense:

- (*i*)  $\dot{x} \in C([0, \delta]; X)$ , and
- (ii) for all  $t \in [0, \delta]$  holds  $x(t) \in D(\mathfrak{A})$  and (4.6).

*Proof.* We construct a solution on an interval  $[0, T_{max})$  for some  $T_{max} > 0$  and then choose  $\delta := T_{max}/2$ . We need to solve (4.6). Note that we can rewrite u as

$$u(t) = u_0 p(t) + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0) p(t) - \psi(\varphi(t), e(t)),$$

where  $e_0 = e(0)$  and  $\varphi_0 = \varphi(0)$ . We thus consider the equation

$$y(t) = g(t) + (\mathbb{F}_{\infty}v)(t)$$

with

$$v(t) \coloneqq \psi(\varphi_0, e_0) p(t) - \psi(\varphi(t), e(t))$$

and g from Lemma 4.2.10 such that  $y(0) = \mathfrak{C}x_0 = g(0)$ . Subtracting  $y_{\text{ref}}$  on both sides and setting  $e \coloneqq y - y_{\text{ref}}$  leads to

$$e(t) = f(t) + (\mathbb{F}_{\infty}v)(t)$$

with  $f := g - y_{\text{ref}}$ . If we find a solution to the former, then by Lemma 4.2.10, u is well-defined and satisfies

$$y = \Psi_{\infty} x_0 + \mathbb{F}_{\infty} u.$$

However, this is guaranteed by Assumption 4.2.8(ii), since  $f \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$  and thus, there exists  $\delta > 0$  and  $e \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\delta]; \mathbb{C}^m)$  with  $\varphi(t) \|e(t)\|_{\mathbb{C}^m} < 1$  for all  $t \in [0,\delta]$  such that

$$e(t) = f(t) + \left(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}\left(\psi(\varphi_0, e_0)p(t) - \psi(\varphi(t), e(t))\right)\right)(t)$$

Since in particular e is continuous and  $\varphi(t) \| e(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m} < 1$  for  $t \in [0, \delta]$ , so that

$$\frac{1}{1-\varphi^2 \|e\|_{\mathbb{C}^m}^2} \in BC([0,\delta];\mathbb{R}^m)$$

and thus  $u \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}([0, \delta]; \mathbb{C}^m)$ . With this choice of u, combining [110, Theorem 4.6.5 & Theorem 5.2.13] it follows that there exists a unique  $x \in C^1([0, \delta]; X) \cap C([0, \delta]; \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$  such that

$$\dot{x}(t) = x(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$
  
$$\mathfrak{B}x(t) = u(t),$$

so that x is a solution on  $[0, \delta]$ .

Now we show the uniqueness. Assuming that there exist two solutions of the Volterra equation  $e_1, e_2$  with respective  $u_1, u_2$ , we obtain  $x_1, x_2$ . Let  $z \coloneqq x_1 - x_2$  and note that z(0) = 0. Hence, using Lemma 4.4.4 it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z(t)\|_X^2 = \operatorname{Re} \langle z(t), \mathfrak{A}z(t) \rangle_X \leq \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B}z(t), \mathfrak{C}z(t) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_X^2$$
$$= \operatorname{Re} \langle u_1 - u_2, y_1 - y_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_X^2$$
$$= -\operatorname{Re} \langle \psi(\varphi(t), e_1(t)) - \psi(\varphi(t), e_2(t)), y_1 - y_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_X^2$$
$$= -\operatorname{Re} \langle \psi(\varphi(t), e_1(t)) - \psi(\varphi(t), e_2(t)), e_1 - e_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_X^2$$
$$\leq \alpha \|z(t)\|_X^2.$$

Thus, by Lemma 1.8.13 we have

$$||z(t)||_X \le ||z(0)||_X e^{\alpha t} = 0$$

which implies  $x_1 = x_2$  in  $[0, \delta]$  and this concludes the proof.

#### 4.2.2 Analytic semigroups and regularity

Throughout this section we will assume that  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  generates an analytic semigroup on X. As we have already seen in Remark 4.2.9c), the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  can be brought to the form

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} x(t) + Bu(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$
  

$$y(t) = \mathfrak{C}x(t).$$
(4.9)

We call B the abstract control operator associated to  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ . We will next show, that if the operator  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X_{-1})$  is more regular, then we obtain more time regularity of the solution described in Theorem 4.2.4. For  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  we denote by  $X_r$  the interpolation spaces associated to  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  as introduced in Section 1.6.1.

In the next result we show that the solution of Theorem 4.2.4 enjoys of a certain regularity if the semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  is analytic and the abstract control operator associated to  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  is regular enough.

**Theorem 4.2.13.** Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be given which satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 and assume that the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{ref}$ , p,  $\varphi$  fulfill Assumption 4.2.2.

Assume that there exists  $r \in (0, 1/2)$  such that the abstract control operator satisfies  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X_{-r})$  and further  $\mathfrak{C} \in \mathscr{L}(X_s, \mathbb{C}^m)$  for some  $s \in (0, 1/2)$ . For T > 0 let  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  be the unique solution of closed-loop system (4.6) from Theorem 4.2.4 with input  $u \coloneqq \mathfrak{B}x$  and output  $y \coloneqq \mathfrak{C}x$ . Then

$$u \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,T]; \mathbb{C}^m), \quad y \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,T]; \mathbb{C}^m).$$

Moreover, if Assumption 4.1.2(i) holds with  $\alpha < 0$ , we have that

$$u \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m), \quad y \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m).$$

*Proof.* With this choice of B and  $\mathfrak{C}$ , we have that r+s < 1. Hence, [110, Theorem 5.7.3] implies that the system  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  is  $L^2$ -well-posed on  $(\mathbb{C}^m, X, \mathbb{C}^m)$  with operators  $\Sigma = (\mathbb{T}, \Psi, \Phi, \mathbb{F})$  and that there exists  $h \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}([0, \infty); \mathbb{C}^{m \times m}) \cap C([0, \infty); \mathbb{C}^{m \times m})$  such that

$$(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}u)(t) = (h * u)(t)$$

for all  $u \in L^p_{loc}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ . In particular,  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is the semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$ .

Theorem 4.2.4 implies that there exists a unique solution  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  such that  $u := \mathfrak{B}x \in L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{C}^m)$  and  $y \in L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{C}^m)$  are continuous except, possibly, in a countable number of point.

Let  $z \coloneqq x - Pu_0 p$ , where  $P \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$  is from Remark 4.1.3c), that is  $\mathfrak{C}P = 0$ ,  $\mathfrak{B}P = I$ . Clearly, z has the same properties as x by construction and  $z_0 \coloneqq z(0) = x_0 - Pu_0$ . Further,  $y = \mathfrak{C}x = \mathfrak{C}(z + Pu_0p) = \mathfrak{C}z$ . Moreover, since

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} x(t) + Bu(t)$$

it follows that

$$\dot{z}(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} z(t) + \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} P u_0 p(t) - P u_0 \dot{p}(t) + B u(t).$$

Using the definition of u we have that

$$u = u_0 p + v,$$

where

$$v \coloneqq \psi(\varphi_0, e_0)p - \psi(\varphi, e)$$

and  $e := y - y_{\text{ref}}$  as usual. Note that  $v \in L^{\infty}([0,T]; \mathbb{C}^m)$  and has the same properties as u. With that and using that  $B = \mathfrak{A}P - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}P$  we have that

$$\dot{z}(t) = \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}} z(t) + \mathfrak{A} P u_0 p(t) - P u_0 \dot{p}(t) + B v(t).$$

Set  $f \coloneqq \mathfrak{A}Pu_0p - Pu_0\dot{p} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$ . Thus,

$$z(t) = \mathbb{T}_t z_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-\tau} f(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau + \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-r})_{t-\tau} Bv(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau \,.$$

By [84, Proposition 4.2.1] it follows that

$$t \mapsto \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-\tau} f(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \in C^{0,1-r}([0,T];X) \cap C^{0,1-r-s}([0,T];X_s).$$

Let

$$z_v(t) := \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-r})_{t-\tau} Bv(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau \,.$$

By using Lemma 1.6.1 it follows that there exists K > 0 such that for all  $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$ ,  $t_1 < t_2$ , it holds that

$$||z_v(t_2) - z_v(t_1)||_{X_s} \le K ||Bv||_{L^{\infty}([0,T];X_{-r})} (t_2 - t_1)^{1 - r - s}.$$

Further, since by construction  $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})$ , we have  $t \mapsto \mathbb{T}_t z_0 \in BC^1([0,T];X)$ , and thus, it follows that it has (at least) the same regularity as  $z_v$ . Hence,  $z \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,T];X_s)$ . Since  $\mathfrak{C} \in \mathscr{L}(X_s, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and  $y = \mathfrak{C}z$ , the former yields  $y \in C^{0,1-r-s}([0,T];\mathbb{C}^m)$ . By the closed-loop it follows that u has the same regularity as y.

If  $\alpha < 0$ , then it follows that  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is exponentially stable. Theorem 4.2.6 implies that  $u, y \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ , so that  $z_v \in C^{1-r-s}([0,\infty); X_s)$ . Moreover, [84, Proposition 4.4.1 (i)] implies that

$$t \mapsto \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-\tau} f(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \in C^{0,1-r}([0,\infty);X) \cap C^{0,1-r-s}([0,\infty);X_s),$$

so that  $z \in C^{1-r-s}([0,\infty); X_s)$  and the result follows by continuity of  $\mathfrak{C} \in \mathscr{L}(X_s, \mathbb{C}^m)$ and the closed-loop.

## 4.3 Some PDE examples

We now present three different system classes for which we can apply the previously presented results. The first two have state variables which are described by hyperbolic PDEs and the third one by a parabolic PDE.

#### 4.3.1 Port-Hamiltonian systems in one spatial variable

The systems considered in this chapter enclose a class of *port-Hamiltonian* hyperbolic system in one spatial dimension with boundary control and observation, which has been treated in [5–7,9,67] and is subject of the subsequent definition. Typically they are considered in a bounded interval  $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$ . We may consider  $\mathbb{I} := [a, b] = [0, 1]$  without loss of generality.
**Definition 4.3.1** (Port-Hamiltonian hyperbolic BCS in one spatial variable). Let  $N, d \in \mathbb{N}$  and for k = 0, ..., N consider  $P_k \in \mathbb{C}^{d \times d}$ . We assume that  $P_k = (-1)^{k+1} P_k^*$  for  $k \neq 0$  with  $P_N$  invertible and  $P_0 + P_0^* \leq 0$ . Further let  $W_B, W_C \in \mathbb{C}^{Nd \times 2Nd}$  such that the matrix

$$W \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} W_B \\ W_C \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{2Nd \times 2Nd}$$

is invertible.

a) Let  $\mathcal{H} \in L^{\infty}([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{d \times d})$  with  $\mathcal{H}(\zeta) = \mathcal{H}(\zeta)^*$  for almost every  $\zeta \in [0,1]$  and assume that there exist m, M > 0 such that  $mI_d \leq \mathcal{H}(\zeta) \leq MI_d$  for almost every  $\zeta \in [0,1]$ . We consider  $X \coloneqq L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^d)$  equipped with the scalar product induced by  $\mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\langle y, x \rangle_X \coloneqq \langle y, \mathcal{H}x \rangle_{L^2} = \int_0^1 y(\zeta)^* \mathcal{H}(\zeta) x(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta \,, \quad x, y \in L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^d). \tag{4.10}$$

The port-Hamiltonian operator  $\mathfrak{A} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to X$  is given by

$$\mathfrak{A}x = \sum_{k=0}^{N} P_k \frac{\partial^k}{\partial \zeta^k} (\mathcal{H}x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}),$$
(4.11a)

with domain

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) = \left\{ x \in X \mid \mathcal{H}x \in W^{N,2}([0,1];\mathbb{C}^d) \right\}$$
(4.11b)

b) Denote the spatial derivative of f by f'. For a port-Hamiltonian operator  $\mathfrak{A}$ and  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  we define the boundary flow  $f_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x} \in \mathbb{C}^{Nd}$  and boundary effort  $e_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x} \in \mathbb{C}^{Nd}$  by

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x} \\ e_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x} \end{pmatrix} \coloneqq R_0 \begin{pmatrix} (\mathcal{H}x)(1) \\ (\mathcal{H}x)'(1) \\ \vdots \\ (\mathcal{H}x)^{(N-1)}(1) \\ (\mathcal{H}x)(0) \\ (\mathcal{H}x)'(0) \\ \vdots \\ (\mathcal{H}x)^{(N-1)}(0) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where the matrix  $R_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{2Nd \times 2Nd}$  is defined by

$$R_0 \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda & -\Lambda \\ I_{Nd} & I_{Nd} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.13)$$

with

$$\Lambda \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} P_1 & P_2 & \cdots & \cdots & P_N \\ -P_2 & -P_3 & \cdots & -P_N & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ (-1)^{N-1}P_N & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

c) For a port-Hamiltonian operator  $\mathfrak{A}$  we define the *input map*  $\mathfrak{B} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to \mathbb{C}^{Nd}$  and the *output map*  $\mathfrak{C} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to \mathbb{C}^{Nd}$  as

$$\mathfrak{B}x \coloneqq W_B \begin{pmatrix} f_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \\ e_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.14}$$

$$\mathfrak{C}x \coloneqq W_C \begin{pmatrix} f_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \\ e_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.15)

We call  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  a port-Hamiltonian hyperbolic BCS in one spatial variable to which we associate the boundary control and observation problem

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}x(t), \quad x(0) = x_0, 
u(t) = \mathfrak{B}x(t), 
y(t) = \mathfrak{C}x(t)$$
(4.16)

with a state  $x(t) \coloneqq x(t, \cdot) \in X$  and  $t \ge 0$ .

From the former definition we have the following result.

**Lemma 4.3.2.** With operators  $\mathfrak{A}$ ,  $\mathfrak{B}$  and  $\mathfrak{C}$  as in Definition 4.3.1, there exist  $P, Q \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^{2Nd}, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$  with

$$\mathfrak{B}P = I_{Nd}, \qquad \mathfrak{B}Q = 0, \\ \mathfrak{C}P = 0, \qquad \mathfrak{C}Q = I_{Nd}.$$

Consequently,  $\mathfrak{A}P, \mathfrak{A}Q \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^{Nd}, X).$ 

*Proof.* Consider the trace operator  $\mathcal{T}: W^{N,2}([0,1];\mathbb{C}^d) \to \mathbb{C}^{2Nd}$  as the linear map

$$\mathcal{T}z = \begin{pmatrix} z(1) \\ z'(1) \\ \vdots \\ z^{(N-1)}(1) \\ z(0) \\ z'(0) \\ \vdots \\ z^{(N-1)}(0) \end{pmatrix},$$

so that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B}x\\ \mathfrak{C}x \end{bmatrix} = WR_0 \mathcal{TH}x, \qquad \text{where } W = \begin{bmatrix} W_B\\ W_C \end{bmatrix}$$

Consider the standard orthogonal basis  $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^{2Nd}$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{2Nd}$  and for  $j = 1, \ldots, 2Nd$  choose some  $f_j \in W^{N,2}([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^d)$  with  $\mathcal{T}(f_j) = e_j$ . Since  $W, R_0$  are invertible, we can define  $M_p, M_q \in \mathbb{C}^{2Nd \times Nd}$  by

$$M_p = R_0^{-1} W^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} I_{Nd} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad M_q = R_0^{-1} W^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ I_{Nd} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Let  $M_p, M_q$  be decomposed as

$$M_p = \begin{bmatrix} M_{p,1} \\ \vdots \\ M_{p,2Nd} \end{bmatrix}, \quad M_q = \begin{bmatrix} M_{q,1} \\ \vdots \\ M_{q,2Nd} \end{bmatrix},$$

with  $M_{p,j}, M_{q,j} \in \mathbb{C}^{1 \times Nd}$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, 2Nd$ . Now set for almost every  $\zeta \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$(Pu)(\zeta) \coloneqq \mathcal{H}^{-1}(\zeta) \sum_{j=1}^{2Nd} M_{p,j} u f_j(\zeta), \quad \forall u \in \mathbb{C}^{Nd},$$
$$(Qy)(\zeta) \coloneqq \mathcal{H}^{-1}(\zeta) \sum_{j=1}^{2Nd} M_{q,j} y f_j(\zeta), \quad \forall y \in \mathbb{C}^{Nd}.$$

By construction P, Q have the desired properties.

**Remark 4.3.3.** Note that for a port-Hamiltonian hyperbolic BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  in one spatial variable holds that  $C_0^{\infty}([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^d) \subset \ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C}$  is a dense subspace of X. With an appropriate choice of  $W_B$  and  $W_C$ , integration by parts gives

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_X \leq \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B}x, \mathfrak{C}x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{Nd}} + \operatorname{Re} \langle P_0 \mathcal{H}x, \mathcal{H}x \rangle \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}).$$

$$(4.17)$$

Since  $P_0 + P_0^* \leq 0$ , it follows that the BCS fulfills Assumption 4.1.2(i) with  $\alpha = 0$ .

The class of impedance passive port-Hamiltonian systems meets the requirements of Assumption 4.1.2. We summarize it in the following statement.

**Theorem 4.3.4.** Any port-Hamiltonian hyperbolic BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  with one spatial variable satisfies Assumption 4.1.2. If, moreover, there exists some  $\mu > 0$  such that  $P_0 + P_0^* + \mu I$  is pointwise negative definite, then Assumption 4.1.2(i) holds for some  $\alpha < 0$ .

*Proof.* It is stated in Remark 4.3.3 that  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  satisfies Assumption 4.1.2(i) with  $\alpha \leq 0$ . Further,  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  generates a (contractive) semigroup by [7, Theorem 2.3],

whence  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  satisfies Assumption 4.1.2(ii). We can further infer from Remark 4.3.3 that ker  $\mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C}$  is dense in X, and Lemma 4.3.2 guarantees the existence of P, Q such that (4.4) holds. This implies that the condition in Assumption 4.1.2(4.3) is fulfilled by  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ .

If, moreover,  $P_0 + P_0^* + \mu I$  is negative definite for some  $\mu > 0$ , then we can conclude from (4.17) that Assumption 4.1.2(i) holds with  $\alpha \coloneqq -\mu m/(2M)$ , where m, M > 0 are given in Definition 4.3.1.

Theorem 4.3.4 allows to directly apply Theorems 4.2.4 & 4.2.6. Namely, if the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{\text{ref}}$ , p,  $\varphi$  fulfill Assumption 4.2.2, the application of the funnel controller (4.5) results in a unique global solution  $x \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); X)$  in the sense of Theorem 4.2.4. If, moreover,  $P_0 + P_0^* + \mu I$  is negative definite for some  $\mu > 0$ , then  $x, \dot{x}$  and u are moreover essentially bounded by Theorem 4.2.6.

### Lossy transmission line

Here we consider the dissipative version of the Telegrapher's Equation with constant coefficients given by

$$\begin{split} V_{\zeta}(\zeta,t) &= -LI_t(\zeta,t) - RI(\zeta,t),\\ I_{\zeta}(\zeta,t) &= -CV_t(\zeta,t) - GV(\zeta,t),\\ u(t) &= \begin{pmatrix} V(a,t)\\ V(b,t) \end{pmatrix},\\ y(t) &= \begin{pmatrix} I(a,t)\\ -I(b,t) \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

R is the resistance, C the capacitance, L the inductance and G the conductance —all of them per unit length.

The system can be written in port-Hamiltonian form as

$$\partial_t x(\zeta, t) = P_1 \partial_\zeta (\mathcal{H}(\zeta) x(\zeta, t)) + P_0 \mathcal{H}(\zeta) x(\zeta, t),$$
  

$$u(t) = W_B R_0 \begin{pmatrix} (\mathcal{H}x)(b,t) \\ (\mathcal{H}x)(a,t) \end{pmatrix},$$
  

$$y(t) = W_C R_0 \begin{pmatrix} (\mathcal{H}x)(b,t) \\ (\mathcal{H}x)(a,t) \end{pmatrix},$$
  
(4.18a)



Figure 4.2: Left: Norm of the error within the funnel boundary followed by the two reference signals and the respective outputs. Right: Inputs obtained from the feedback law.

where

$$\begin{aligned} x(\zeta,t) &\coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} LI(\zeta,t) \\ CV(\zeta,t) \end{pmatrix}, P_1 &\coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, P_0 &\coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} -R & 0 \\ 0 & -G \end{bmatrix}, \mathcal{H}(\zeta) &\coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} L^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & C^{-1} \end{bmatrix}, \\ W_B &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, W_C &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$
(4.18b)

We have chosen the reference signals and funnel boundary of the following form

$$y_{\rm ref}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 \sin(\omega_1 t) \sin(\omega_2 t) \\ A_2 \sin(\omega_3 t) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\varphi(t) = \varphi_0 \varepsilon^{-2} \tanh(\omega t + \varepsilon).$$

In this case the system is impedance passive and  $P_0 + P_0^* \leq -2\min\{R, G\}I_2$  and Theorem 4.3.4 implies that  $u, y \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty); \mathbb{R}^2)$ . The simulated system is shown in Fig. 4.2.

The parameter values are  $\zeta \in (a, b)$  with a = 0 m, b = 1 m,

$$\begin{aligned} R &= 463.59\Omega \mathrm{m}^{-1}, & L &= 0.5062 \ \mathrm{mH} \ \mathrm{m}^{-1}, \\ G &= 29.111 \ \mu \mathrm{S} \ \mathrm{m}^{-1}, & C &= 51.57 \ \mathrm{nF} \ \mathrm{m}^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$

Further, set  $c_0 = (LC)^{-1/2}$ , f = 1 MHz,  $\omega = 2\pi f$ ,  $\varphi_0 = 1$  A<sup>-1</sup>,  $\varepsilon = 0.1$  and amplitudes  $A_1 = -0.3$  A,  $A_2 = 0.4$  A. The other angular frequencies are  $\omega_1 = \omega$ ,  $\omega_2 = 16\omega$  and  $\omega_3 = \omega/2$ . For the time interval we have defined  $T_0 = f^{-1}$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ , where  $T = 2T_0$ . We have used semi-explicit finite differences with a tolerance of  $10^{-3}$ . The mesh in  $\zeta$  has M = 1000 points and the mesh in t has

$$N = \left\lfloor \frac{b-a}{2c_0T}M \right\rfloor$$

points. We further assume that the initial state is zero, i.e.,  $x_0 = 0$  and we apply the controller (4.7) from Remark 4.2.7 with  $k_0 = 1 \Omega$ .

## 4.3.2 Hyperbolic systems in several spatial variables

The following setting is presented in [119, Section 8.2]. We give a summary of the main results. For the particular case of the higher dimensional wave equation we refer to [116].

**Definition 4.3.5.** Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  and matrices  $P_j \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  for  $j = 0, \ldots, d$  such that  $P_j^{\top} = P_j$  for all  $j \neq 0$  and  $P_0^{\top} = -P_0$ . Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with smooth boundary  $\Gamma$  and outward unit normal vector field  $\eta$ . We define the first order differential operator

$$\mathfrak{A}x \coloneqq P_0 x + \sum_{j=1}^d P_j \frac{\partial x}{\partial \zeta_j}, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}),$$
  
$$\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \coloneqq \{ x \in L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n) \mid \mathfrak{A}x \in L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n) \}.$$
  
(4.19)

We also define the symmetric operator  $Q_{\eta} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{d} \eta_j P_j : \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ .

**Remark 4.3.6.** Note that  $\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  in (4.19) is the maximal domain of definition of the operator  $\mathfrak{A}$ . This is further a Hilbert space when endowed with the graph norm, see [100].

#### Assumption 4.3.7.

(i)  $\Gamma$  is characteristic with constant multiplicity, that is, for all  $\zeta \in \Gamma$  we have that

$$\dim \ker Q_n(\zeta) = n - 2r \Leftrightarrow \operatorname{rank} Q_n(\zeta) = 2r$$

where  $n > 2r \in \mathbb{N}$  is constant.

(ii) The spectrum of  $Q_{\eta}(\zeta)$ ,  $\zeta \in \Gamma$ , is symmetric with respect to the imaginary axis and the sign of its eigenvalues is independent of  $\zeta \in \Gamma$ , that is, there exist rpositive eigenvalues. Under Assumption 4.3.7, there exists a unitary operator  $U \in \mathscr{L}(L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^n))$  and a diagonal matrix  $\Lambda$  such that  $Q_{\eta} = U\Lambda U^*$  with  $U^*U = I_{L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^n)}$  and

$$\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\Lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

see [119]. Here  $\Lambda_1 \in \mathscr{L}(L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r))$  contains the positive eigenvalues of  $Q_\eta$ . Further we have the following decomposition

$$\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} R_0^* \Sigma R_0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},\tag{4.20}$$

where

$$R_0 \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda_1 & -\Lambda_1 \\ I & I \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{L}(L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{2r})), \quad \Sigma \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{L}(L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{2r})).$$

According to (4.20) we partition the unitary operator  $U \in \mathscr{L}(L^2(\Gamma)^n)$  as follows

$$U^* = \begin{bmatrix} R^* \\ S^* \end{bmatrix} : L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{2r}) \times L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{n-2r})$$

**Definition 4.3.8.** Let  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  be given as in Assumption 4.3.7 and  $\mathcal{T}_0: W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be the trace operator of order zero, i.e.,  $\mathcal{T}_0 x = x|_{\Gamma}$  for  $x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then the *boundary port-variables* associated with the differential operator  $\mathfrak{A}$  are the operators  $e_\partial, f_\partial \in \mathscr{L}(W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n), L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r))$  defined by

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial x} \\ e_{\partial x} \end{bmatrix} \coloneqq R_0 R^* \mathcal{T}_0 x, \quad x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n).$$

We make the following assumption as in [119], which is a natural extension of the integration by parts formula for this systems. Recall that  $W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r)$  equals the range of trace operator on  $W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^r)$ .

Assumption 4.3.9. Assume that the mapping

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix} : W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r) \times L^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r)$$

can be continuously extended to a linear mapping

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \to W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r) \times W^{-1/2,2}(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^r)$$

Furthermore assume that Green's identity holds for all  $x, z \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$ , that is

$$\langle \mathfrak{A}x, z \rangle_{L^2} + \langle x, \mathfrak{A}z \rangle_{L^2} = \langle e_{\partial x}, f_{\partial z} \rangle_{W^{-1/2,2}, W^{1/2,2}} + \langle e_{\partial z}, f_{\partial x} \rangle_{W^{-1/2,2}, W^{1/2,2}}.$$

**Definition 4.3.10.** Let  $\mathfrak{A}_0 \coloneqq \mathfrak{A}$  with  $\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0) \coloneqq \{x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \mid \exists b \in \mathbb{R}^r : e_\partial x = b\}$ . To the operator  $\mathfrak{A}_0$  we associate the (BCS)  $\mathfrak{S} = (\mathfrak{A}_0, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  with

$$\mathfrak{B}x = e_{\partial}x, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0)$$

and

$$\mathfrak{C}x = \int_{\Gamma} f_{\partial}x \,\mathrm{d}\sigma, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0).$$

For our purposes, we make the following assumption, which is for instance satisfied by the wave equation.

**Remark 4.3.11.** Note that if we restrict  $\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix}$  to  $W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$ , we obtain that

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix} (W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)) = W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{2r}),$$

see [119, pp. 212]. Since  $\mathbb{R}^{2r} \subset W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma; \mathbb{R}^{2r})$ , the former implies that there exist  $p, q: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0) \to \mathbb{R}^r$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} q & p \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_r & 0 \\ 0 & I_r \end{bmatrix}.$$

Thus, by setting  $P \coloneqq p$  and  $Q \coloneqq |\Gamma|^{-1}q$  we have that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B} \\ \mathfrak{C} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P & Q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_r & 0 \\ 0 & I_r \end{bmatrix}$$

**Theorem 4.3.12.** Under Assumptions 4.3.7 & 4.3.9 and the notation of Definitions 4.3.8 & 4.3.10, it follows that

$$\operatorname{Re} \left\langle \mathfrak{A}_{0} x, x \right\rangle_{L^{2}} = \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \mathfrak{B} x, \mathfrak{C} x \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{r}} \qquad \forall x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_{0})$$

and that the operator  $\mathfrak{A}_0|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  is skew-adjoint and generates a unitary  $C_0$ -semigroup.

*Proof.* This is [119, Theorem 8.18].

We show that the class belongs to that which is subject of Section 4.1, which consequences that the funnel controller is applicable.

**Theorem 4.3.13.** Let  $\mathfrak{S} = (\mathfrak{A}_0, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be as in Definition 4.3.10 and let Assumptions 4.3.7 & 4.3.9 be satisfied. Then  $\mathfrak{S} = (\mathfrak{A}_0, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  satisfies Assumption 4.1.2.

*Proof.* The result follows immediately from Theorem 4.3.12 and Remark 4.3.11 together with the fact that  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n) \subset \ker \begin{bmatrix} f_{\partial} \\ e_{\partial} \end{bmatrix}$  is a dense subspace.  $\Box$ 

**Example 4.3.14.** Consider the 2-dimensional wave equation with boundary control in an open bounded domain  $\Omega$  with smooth boundary  $\Gamma$ , namely,

$$\partial_{tt}w(t,\zeta) = \Delta w(t,\zeta),$$
  

$$u(t) = \left. \frac{\partial w(t,\zeta)}{\partial \eta} \right|_{\Gamma},$$
  

$$y(t) = \int_{\Gamma} \partial_{t}w(t,\zeta)|_{\Gamma} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma,$$
  
(4.21)

and  $w(0, \cdot) = a(\cdot) \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  with  $\partial_{\eta} a(\cdot)|_{\Gamma} = 0$ ,  $w_t(0, \cdot) = v(\cdot) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . Then the funnel controller is applicable for (4.21) for every finite time-horizon.

*Proof.* The wave equation can be transformed into a port-Hamiltonian system of the form (4.19), c.f. [119, Example 8.12] with  $P_0 = 0$  and

$$P_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad P_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and state variable

$$x = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q_1 \\ q_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_t w \\ \partial_{\zeta_1} w \\ \partial_{\zeta_2} w \end{bmatrix}.$$

Further

$$\begin{bmatrix} e_{\partial x} \\ f_{\partial x} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \eta \cdot q|_{\Gamma} \\ p|_{\Gamma} \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $\eta$  is the normal unit vector. The domain of the operator  $\mathfrak{A}_0$  is given by

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0) := \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} p\\ q_1\\ q_2 \end{bmatrix} \in L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^3) \mid p \in W^{1,2}(\Omega), q \in H_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega), \exists b \in \mathbb{R} : \eta \cdot q|_{\Gamma} = b \right\},\$$

where

$$H_{\rm div}(\Omega) \coloneqq \{ x \in L^2(\Omega) \mid \nabla \cdot x \in L^2(\Omega) \}.$$

It is clear that  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}_0)$ . From [36, Theorem 1.3] the range of  $f_\partial$  is precisely  $W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma)$  and  $e_\partial$  from  $H_{\text{div}}(\Omega)$  is surjective onto  $W^{-1/2,2}(\Gamma)$ , see [36, Theorem 2.2] and [36, Corollary 2.4].

In this case P, Q are explicitly given by

$$(Pu)(\zeta) = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \eta_1(\zeta)\\ \eta_2(\zeta) \end{bmatrix} u, \quad (Qy)(\zeta) = \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} y, \qquad u, y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Further  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \subset \ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C}$  is dense. Hence, Theorem 4.3.13 gives the result.  $\Box$ 

#### Wave equation in two spatial dimensions

Here we consider the situation described in Example 4.3.14, given by the system in polar coordinates on the unit disc

$$\partial_{tt}w(t,r,\theta) = \partial_{rr}w(t,r,\theta) + r^{-1}\partial_{r}w(t,r,\theta) + r^{-2}\partial_{\theta\theta}w(t,r,\theta),$$
$$u(t) = (\partial_{r}w(t,r,\theta))|_{r=1},$$
$$y(t) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \partial_{t}w(t,1,\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta,$$

and use again a funnel boundary of the form  $\varphi(t) = \varphi_0 \varepsilon^{-2} \tanh(\omega t + \varepsilon)$  and a reference signal of the form  $y_{\text{ref}}(t) = A \tanh(\omega t) + B \sin(\omega t)$ . The results are given in Fig. 4.3. Note that by setting the speed of propagation to 1, the units of t coincide with the ones of r.



Figure 4.3: Performance funnel with the error, reference signal with the output of the closed-loop system and input of the closed-loop.

The parameter values are  $r \in (a, b)$  with a = 0 m, b = 1 m,  $\theta \in (0, 2\pi)$ , f = 1 m<sup>-1</sup>,  $\omega = 2\pi f$ ,  $\varepsilon = 10^{-2}$ ,  $\varphi_0 = 1$ . The amplitudes are A = 1 and B = 0.1. We define  $T_0 = f^{-1}$  and  $T = 4T_0$ . The initial state of the system is

$$w(0, r, \theta) = 0 \text{ m}, \quad w_t(0, r, \theta) = 0,$$

which leads to a problem with radial symmetry, so the partial derivatives with respect to  $\theta$  vanish and we use explicit finite differences in r with M = 2000 points and in  $t \in [0, T]$  with N points, where

$$N = \left\lfloor \frac{b-a}{2T} \right\rfloor M.$$

## 4.3.3 A parabolic system

A particular case of the boundary controlled heat equation was already discussed in [101], with a slightly different funnel controller. Here we present a parabolic problem and refer to [44] for more details on second order elliptic operators.

**Definition 4.3.15.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded domain with  $C^2$  boundary  $\Gamma$ and outward normal unit vector  $\nu$ . Assume that  $a \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$  is self-adjoint and satisfies the ellipticity condition

$$\exists \alpha > 0 : \forall v \in \mathbb{C}^n \quad \operatorname{Re} \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij}(\zeta) v_i v_j^* \ge \alpha \|v\|_{\mathbb{C}^n}^2.$$

Let  $\kappa \geq 0$  and consider the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{A}x &\coloneqq \nabla \cdot (a\nabla x) - \kappa x, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}), \\ \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) &\coloneqq \left\{ x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega) \mid \nabla \cdot a\nabla x \in L^2(\Omega) \text{ and } \exists b \in \mathbb{C} : \gamma_0(\nu \cdot a\nabla x) = b \right\} \\ \mathfrak{B}x &\coloneqq \gamma_0(\nu \cdot a\nabla x), \\ \mathfrak{C}x &\coloneqq \int_{\Gamma} \gamma_0 x \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \,, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.22)$$

where  $\gamma_0: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \to W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma)$  denotes trace operator,  $\gamma_0 x = x|_{\Gamma}$ .

Remark 4.3.16. We have the following comments on the former definition.

- 1. The operator  $\gamma_0: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \to W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma)$  is onto;
- 2. it is well-known that the realization of  $\mathfrak{A}$  in ker  $\mathfrak{B}$  with  $\kappa = 0$  corresponds to the Neumann elliptic problem, e.g. [44, Theorem 2.2.2.5], and  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  generates a contractive semigroup for  $\kappa \geq 0$ .
- 3. for  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A} x, x \rangle_{L^2} \le \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B} x, \mathfrak{C} x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}} - \kappa \| x \|_{L^2}^2.$$

**Lemma 4.3.17.** There are operators  $P, Q : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B} \\ \mathfrak{C} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P & Q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

In fact,  $Q = |\Gamma|^{-1}$  is constant.

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma_0 x \coloneqq x|_{\Gamma}$  and  $\gamma_{\nu} x \coloneqq \gamma_0(\nu \cdot a \nabla x)$ . From Lemma 1.4.4 the combined trace operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{\nu} x \\ \gamma_0 x \end{bmatrix} : W^{2,2}(\Omega) \to W^{1/2,2}(\Gamma) \times W^{3/2,2}(\Gamma)$$

is onto. Hence, there exist  $p_{\nu}, q_0$  such that

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \nu \cdot a \nabla p_{\nu}|_{\Gamma} &=& 1, \qquad \nu \cdot a \nabla q_{0}|_{\Gamma} &=& 0, \\ p_{\nu}|_{\Gamma} &=& 0, \qquad q_{0}|_{\Gamma} &=& 1. \end{array}$$

Note that  $q_0 = 1$  is a solution. Considering  $p_{\nu}, q_0$  as operators from  $\mathbb{C}$  to  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  yields that  $P := p_{\nu}$  and  $Q := |\Gamma|^{-1}q_0$  have the desired properties.  $\Box$ 

Next we show that this class satisfies the preliminaries of Theorem 4.2.6.

**Theorem 4.3.18.** For any BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  as introduced in Definition 4.3.15 with, additionally,  $\kappa > 0$ , satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 with  $\alpha < 0$ .

*Proof.* It follows immediately from the conditions and previous considerations, together with  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \subset \ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C}$  being a dense subspace and Theorem 4.2.6.

Surprisingly, for the parabolic case the requirement  $\kappa > 0$  can be relaxed to  $\kappa \ge 0$ . This has to do with the fact that the operator  $\mathfrak{A}$  in this case satisfies the extra inequality

$$\langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \le -\theta \|x\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \nu(\mathfrak{C}x)^2 + \mathfrak{B}x \cdot \mathfrak{C}x,$$

so that the system is high-gain stabilizable and the state is in  $L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^{2}(\Omega))$ . The essential difference is that here one can show that  $u \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$  without showing that  $\dot{x} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ .

Before proving the general result, we need the following lemma. Similar results can be found in [106, Example IV.2.E, Example IV.2.F, Example V.5.A] and the case in which  $\phi$  is defined in the whole space can be found in [44, Section 3.2.2].

**Lemma 4.3.19.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded domain with  $C^2$  boundary  $\Gamma$  and normal outward unit vector  $\nu$ . Let  $a \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^{n \times n})$  and  $\mathfrak{C}$  as in Definition 4.3.15 and  $\mathfrak{a} : H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  be the symmetric, positive form

$$\mathfrak{a}(x_1, x_2) \coloneqq \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla x_1, a \nabla x_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^n} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda.$$

Let  $\Psi: X \to \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$  be given by

$$\Psi(x) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \begin{cases} \mathfrak{a}(x,x) + \Psi_0(\mathfrak{C}x), & x \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi) \\ \infty, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

where

$$\Psi_0(e) \coloneqq \log\left(\frac{1}{1-e^2}\right), \quad e \in (-1,1),$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}(\Psi) \coloneqq \{ x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega) \mid |\mathfrak{C}x| < 1 \}$$

Then  $\Psi$  defines a proper, convex and lower-semi-continuous functional with  $\partial \Psi = -\mathcal{A}$ , where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}(x) &\coloneqq \nabla \cdot a \nabla x, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \\ \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) &\coloneqq \{ x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega) \mid \nabla \cdot a \nabla x \in L^2(\Omega), |\mathfrak{C}x| < 1, \mathfrak{B}x + \phi(\mathfrak{C}x) = 0 \} \end{split}$$

Further, for all  $x_1 \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ ,  $x_2 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$\langle \partial \Psi(x_1), x_2 \rangle = \mathfrak{a}(x_1, x_2) + k_0 \frac{\mathfrak{C} x_1 \mathfrak{C} x_2}{1 - (\mathfrak{C} x_1)^2}.$$

*Proof.* Observe that  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \subset \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ , so that  $\Psi$  is proper. The convexity follows from the convexity of the respective functions as well as their lower-semi-continuity together with the supper-additivity of lim inf.

To compute the subgradient, note that the functional  $\Psi$  is *G*-differentiable, and from Proposition 1.8.12 the subdifferential is a singleton  $\partial \Psi(x) = \{\Psi'(x)\}$  for  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ , where  $\Psi'(x)$  is the *G*-derivative of  $\Psi$  at  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ . It is a straightforward exercise to compute it and for  $x_1 \in \mathcal{D}(\Psi)$  and  $x_2 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \partial \Psi(x_1), x_2 \rangle_{L^2} &= \int_{\Omega} \left\langle \nabla x_1, a \nabla x_2 \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^n} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, + \frac{\mathfrak{C} x_1 \mathfrak{C} x_2}{1 - (\mathfrak{C} x_1)^2} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (\nabla x_1)^\top a \nabla x_2 \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, + \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\mathfrak{C} x_1}{1 - (\mathfrak{C} x_1)^2} x_2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \,. \end{aligned}$$

For  $x_2 \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  we have that

$$\partial \Psi(x_1) = -\nabla \cdot a \nabla x_1$$

in the distributional sense.

If  $\partial \Psi(x_1) \in L^2(\Omega)$  and noting that

$$\frac{\mathfrak{C}x_1}{1-(\mathfrak{C}x_1)^2} \in \mathbb{R}$$

we have the abstract Green's Theorem — [106, Proposition II.5.3]—

$$\int_{\Omega} \left\langle \nabla x_1, a \nabla x_2 \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^n} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda + \int_{\Omega} x_2 \nabla \cdot a \nabla x_1 \, \mathrm{d}\lambda = \left\langle \mathfrak{B} x_1, \mathfrak{C} x_2 \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}},$$

where the right hand side generalizes the normal derivative at the boundary. Putting both expressions together we obtain the boundary condition

$$\mathfrak{B}x = -(\partial \Psi_0)(x) = -\frac{\mathfrak{C}x}{1-(\mathfrak{C}x)^2}.$$

Now we have that  $\mathcal{D}(\partial \Psi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}(-\mathcal{A})$  and the converse is clear.

**Remark 4.3.20.** If we use the controller described in (4.7), the functional  $\Psi_0$  needs to be modified as

$$\Psi_0(e) \coloneqq k_0 \log\left(\frac{1}{1-e^2}\right), \quad e \in (-1,1),$$

**Theorem 4.3.21.** For any BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  as introduced in Definition 4.3.15 over the real numbers, with  $\kappa = 0$ , we have that the solution of the closed-loop system (4.6a) from Theorem 4.2.4 satisfies  $x \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty); L^2(\Omega))$  and  $y, u \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty); \mathbb{R})$ .

*Proof.* Theorem 4.3.18 guarantees the existence of a unique solution x. If we now perform the usual change of variables

$$x(t) = \varphi(t)^{-1}z(t) + Qy_{\rm ref}(t) + P(u_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))p(t),$$

we obtain

$$\dot{z} = \mathcal{A}(z) + \omega z + f,$$
  

$$z(0) = z_0,$$
(4.23)

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is given in Lemma 4.3.19,  $\omega, f, z_0$  are given in (4.32) and  $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ , see Lemma 4.4.7. Note that  $\mathcal{A}$  coincides with (4.30). From Kato's Theorem 1.8.14 there exists a unique solution z of (4.23) with  $z(0) = z_0$  such that  $z(t) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  for all  $t \ge 0$ and  $\dot{z}$  is continuous except possibly in a countable number of points.

By showing that  $|\mathfrak{C}z(t)|$  remains uniformly bounded away from 1 in t, when we undo the change of variables, we will have that the error e remains uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary. For that we will need that  $z \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^{2}(\Omega))$ . Define

$$\hat{e}_n \coloneqq \mathfrak{C} z_n = \int_{\Gamma} z_n \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

Taking the scalar product of (4.23) with z(t) we obtain the following energy balance

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z(t)\|^2 = -\mathfrak{a}(z,z) - \frac{\hat{e}^2}{1-\hat{e}^2} + \omega(t)\|z(t)\|^2 + \langle z(t), f(t)\rangle$$
(4.24)

where  $\mathfrak{a}$  is given in Lemma 4.3.19.

Using the positivity of  $\mathfrak{a}$  and the Poincaré-type inequality in Lemma 1.4.5 we have that there exist positive constants  $\alpha, \nu, \theta$  such that

$$-\mathfrak{a}(z,z) \le -\alpha \|\nabla z\|^2 \le \nu \left(\int_{\Gamma} z \,\mathrm{d}\sigma\right)^2 - \theta \|z\|^2 = \nu \hat{e}^2 - \theta \|z\|^2 \le \nu - \theta \|z\|^2,$$

since  $\hat{e}^2 < 1$ . Using that

$$\langle z(t), f(t) \rangle \le \frac{\|f(t)\|^2}{2\theta} + \frac{\theta}{2} \|z(t)\|^2,$$

we can estimate the energy balance by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z(t)\|^2 \le -\theta \|z(t)\|^2 + 2\omega(t)\|z(t)\|^2 + 2\nu + \frac{\|f(t)\|^2}{\theta}.$$
(4.25)

We integrate (4.25) using Lemma 1.8.13 and obtain

$$||z(t)||^2 \le \varphi_0^{-2} ||z_0||^2 e^{-\theta t} \varphi(t)^2 + \varphi(t)^2 C$$

where

$$C := 2\nu \|\varphi^{-2}\|_{\infty} + \frac{\|\varphi^{-1}f\|_{\infty}^{2}}{\theta}.$$

This implies that  $z \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$ .

Next we derive a weak formulation type equation to show that  $|\hat{e}|$  is uniformly bounded away from 1. Taking the scalar product of the differential equation with  $\dot{z}(t)$  leads to

$$\|\dot{z}(t)\|^2 - \langle \mathcal{A}(z(t)), \dot{z}(t) \rangle = \omega(t) \langle z(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle + \langle f(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle$$

By Lemma 4.3.19 we have that  $\partial \Psi = -\mathcal{A}$ , so that the latter becomes

$$\|\dot{z}(t)\|^2 - \langle \partial \Psi(z(t)), \dot{z}(t) \rangle = \omega(t) \langle z(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle + \langle f(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle.$$

Using now Lemma 1.8.11 leads to

$$\|\dot{z}(t)\|^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Psi(z(t)) = \omega(t) \langle z(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle + \langle f(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle.$$

We can now make use of

$$\langle f(t), z(t) \rangle \le \|f(t)\|^2 + \frac{1}{4} \|\dot{z}(t)\|^2$$

and

$$\omega(t) \langle z(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle \le \|\omega\|_{\infty}^{2} \|z(t)\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \|\dot{z}(t)\|^{2}$$

to obtain

$$\|\dot{z}(t)\|^2 + 2\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Psi(z(t)) = K, \qquad (4.26)$$

where

 $K = 2(||f||_{\infty}^{2} + ||\omega||_{\infty}^{2} ||z||_{\infty}^{2}).$ 

Adding and subtracting

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^2$$

in (4.26) we obtain

$$\|\dot{z}\|^{2} + 2\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Psi(z) \leq \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^{2} + K.$$

Since  $\|\dot{z}\|^2 \ge 0$  the former implies

$$2\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Psi(z) \leq \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^2 + K - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^2.$$

Using now (4.24) and the definition of  $\Psi$  yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathfrak{a}(z,z) - \log(1-\hat{e}^2)) &\leq \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z\|^2 + K - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z\|^2 \\ &\leq -\mathfrak{a}(z,z) - \frac{\hat{e}^2}{1-\hat{e}^2} + \omega \|z\|^2 + \langle f, z \rangle + K - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z\|^2 \\ &\leq -\mathfrak{a}(z,z) - \frac{1}{1-\hat{e}^2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z\|^2 + D, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that

$$\frac{\hat{e}^2}{1-\hat{e}^2} = \frac{1}{1-\hat{e}^2} - 1$$

and

$$D \coloneqq 1 + K + \|\omega\|_{\infty} \|z\|_{\infty}^{2} + \|f\|_{\infty} \|z\|_{\infty}$$

If we define

$$\rho \coloneqq \mathfrak{a}(z, z) - \log(1 - \hat{e}^2)$$

then we have

$$\dot{\rho} \le -\rho - \left(\frac{1}{1 - \hat{e}^2} - \log\left(\frac{1}{1 - \hat{e}^2}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^2 + D \le -\rho - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z\|^2 + D,$$

since

$$\frac{1}{1-\zeta^2} \ge \log\left(\frac{1}{1-\zeta^2}\right)$$

for all  $\zeta \in (-1, 1)$ . Using the integrating factor  $e^t$  we have

$$\rho(t) \le \rho(0) e^{-t} + E \le \rho(0) + E$$

where E > 0 is independent of t and  $\rho(0) = \mathfrak{a}(z_0, z_0) - \log(1 - \hat{e}_0^2)$ . Hence,  $\rho$  is uniformly bounded in t, which implies that there exists F > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{1-\hat{e}(t)^2} \le F, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

This shows that  $\hat{e}$  is uniformly bounded away from 1. Inverting the change concludes the proof.

#### Heat equation

Here we consider the following boundary controlled 2D heat equation on the unit disc given by

$$\partial_t x(t,r,\theta) = \alpha (\partial_{rr} x(t,r,\theta) + r^{-1} \partial_r x(t,r,\theta) + r^{-2} \partial_{\theta\theta} x(t,r,\theta)),$$
$$u(t) = \alpha (\partial_r x(t,r,\theta))|_{r=1},$$
$$y(t) = \int_0^{2\pi} x(t,1,\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$

where  $\alpha > 0$  is the thermal diffusivity.

In this case, making use of Theorem 4.3.18, we choose a funnel boundary of the form  $\varphi(t) = \varphi_0 \varepsilon^{-2} \tanh(\omega t + \varepsilon)$ . The reference signal is given by  $y_{\text{ref}}(t) = A \sin(\omega t)$  and the simulated system is shown in Fig. 4.4. In Fig. 4.5 we show the evolution of the plate at four different times.



Figure 4.4: Performance funnel with the error, reference signal with the output of the closed-loop system and input of the closed-loop.

The parameter values are  $\alpha = 1 \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ ,  $r \in (r_0, r_1)$ , with  $r_0 = 0$  m and  $r_1 = 1$  m, and  $\theta \in (0, 2\pi)$ . The amplitude values are A = 1 J,  $\varphi_0 = 0.1$  J and  $\varepsilon = 10^{-1}$ . We have set  $T_0 = 1$  s,  $\omega = 2\pi T_0^{-1}$  and  $T = 5T_0$ . We have used explicit finite differences with a



Figure 4.5: From left to right, top to bottom, the temperature of the plate for different increasing times.

partition in r and  $\theta$  of N = 25 points for each variable and in  $t \in [0, T]$  of

$$M = \left\lfloor 10T \left( \frac{N^2}{(r_1 - r_0)^2} + \frac{N}{r_1 - r_0} + \frac{N^2}{4\pi^2} \right) \right\rfloor$$

points. The initial state of the system is

$$x(0, r, \theta) = x_0(r_1 - r)^2 \sin(\theta),$$

where  $x_0 = 0.5 \text{ Jm}^{-2}$ . We apply the controller (4.7) from Remark 4.2.7 with  $k_0 = 1 \text{ s}^{-2}$ . Note that Theorem 4.3.21 implies that the output  $u \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty); \mathbb{R})$ .

# 4.4 Proof of the Main Theorems

We develop some auxiliary results to conclude with the proof of the main results. A part of following Lemma has been shown in [24] under the additional assumption of well-posedness, cf. Remark 4.1.3e).

**Lemma 4.4.1.** Assume that  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . For all  $\beta > \alpha, u \in \mathbb{C}^m$  and  $f \in X$  there exist unique  $x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$  and  $y \in \mathbb{C}^m$  with

$$(\beta I - \mathfrak{A})x = f,$$

$$u = \mathfrak{B}x,$$

$$y = \mathfrak{C}x.$$

$$(4.27)$$

Furthermore, there exist bounded operators  $H(\beta) \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ ,  $J(\beta) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X)$ ,  $F(\beta) \in \mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and  $G(\beta) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m) = \mathbb{C}^{m \times m}$  which connect the solution of (4.27) via

$$x = H(\beta)f + J(\beta)u,$$
  

$$y = F(\beta)f + G(\beta)u.$$
(4.28)

Thereby, the matrix  $G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*$  is positive definite, and  $G(\beta)$  is invertible with positive definite  $G(\beta)^{-1} + (G(\beta)^*)^{-1}$ .

*Proof. Step 1:* We show uniqueness of the solution of (4.27). To this end, we have to show that the choice f = 0 and u = 0 leads to x = 0 and y = 0. Assuming that  $x \in D(\mathfrak{A}), y \in \mathbb{C}^m$  fulfills (4.27) with f = 0 and u = 0, we obtain from (4.2) in Assumption 4.1.2(i) that

$$\beta \|x\|_X^2 = \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A}x, x \rangle_X \le \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B}x, \mathfrak{C}x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m} + \alpha \|x\|_X^2,$$

and thus  $(\beta - \alpha) \|x\|^2 \leq 0$ . Invoking  $\beta > \alpha$ , we obtain x = 0 and, consequently,  $y = \mathfrak{C}x = 0$ .

Step 2: We show the existence of bounded operators  $H(\beta)$ ,  $J(\beta)$ ,  $F(\beta)$  and  $G(\beta)$  such that the solutions of (4.27) fulfill (4.28): By Remark 4.1.3b), Assumption 4.1.2(i)&(ii) imply that  $\beta I - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  is bijective. Further, invoking Remark 4.1.3c), Assumption 4.1.2 (iii) leads to the existence of  $P, Q \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$ , such that (4.4) holds. Considering

$$x = \underbrace{(\beta I - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})^{-1}}_{=:H(\beta)} f + \underbrace{((\beta I - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}P - \beta P) + P)}_{=:J(\beta)} u,$$
  
$$y = \underbrace{\mathfrak{C}(\beta I - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})^{-1}}_{=:F(\beta)} f + \underbrace{\mathfrak{C}(\beta I - \mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}})^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}P - \beta P)}_{=:G(\beta)} u,$$

a straightforward calculation shows that (4.27) holds. Further, the operators  $H(\beta)$ ,  $J(\beta)$ ,  $F(\beta)$  and  $G(\beta)$  are bounded as they are compositions of bounded operators. Step 3: We show that  $G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*$  is positive definite, and  $G(\beta)$  is invertible with positive definite  $G(\beta)^{-1} + (G(\beta)^*)^{-1}$ : Considering (4.27) with f = 0 and taking the real part of inner product in X, we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re}\beta\|x\|^{2} = \operatorname{Re}\langle\mathfrak{A}x, x\rangle \leq \operatorname{Re}\langle u, y\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} + \alpha\|x\|^{2} = \left\langle u, \frac{1}{2}(G(\beta) + G(\beta)^{*})u \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} + \alpha\|x\|^{2},$$

whence

$$(\beta - \alpha) \|x\|^2 \le \left\langle u, \frac{1}{2} (G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*) u \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m},$$

so that  $G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*$  is positive semidefinite. If for  $u \in \mathbb{C}^m$  holds

$$\left\langle u, \frac{1}{2}(G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*)u \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m} = 0,$$

then  $(\beta - \alpha) \|x\|_X^2 \leq 0$  which implies x = 0 and thus  $u = \mathfrak{B}x = 0$ . This implies the positive definiteness of  $G(\beta) + G(\beta)^*$ , and we can immediately conclude that  $G(\beta)$  is invertible with positive definite  $G(\beta)^{-1} + (G(\beta)^*)^{-1}$ .

**Example 4.4.2.** Here we show how to compute the transfer function of the two systems presented in Example 4.1.4. We could bring the lossy transmition line in port-Hamiltonian form as in (4.18), but the original form of the system is more convenient for our purposes. Let  $\beta \geq 0$ . The first step is to solve

$$\begin{split} V_{\zeta}(\zeta) &= -L\beta I(\zeta) - RI(\zeta), \\ I_{\zeta}(\zeta) &= -C\beta V(\zeta) - GV(\zeta), \\ V(a) &= u_1, \\ V(b) &= u_2. \end{split}$$

One can easily compute the exponential matrix of the system and obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} V(\zeta) \\ I(\zeta) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cosh(\gamma(\zeta-a)) & -\tau^{-1}\sinh(\gamma(\zeta-a)) \\ -\tau\sinh(\gamma(\zeta-a)) & \cosh(\gamma(\zeta-a)) \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} V(a) \\ I(a) \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\gamma \coloneqq \sqrt{(L\beta + R)(C\beta + G)}$  and  $\tau \coloneqq \sqrt{(C\beta + G)/(L\beta + R)}$ . The condition  $V(a) = u_1$  gives

$$V(\zeta) = \cosh(\gamma(\zeta - a))u_1 - \tau^{-1}\sinh(\gamma(\zeta - a))I(a),$$
  

$$I(\zeta) = \cosh(\gamma(\zeta - a))I(a) - \tau\sinh(\gamma(\zeta - a))u_1.$$

If we use  $V(b) = u_2$ , we can find I(a) so that

$$I(a) = \frac{\tau \cosh(\gamma(b-a))}{\sinh(\gamma(b-a))} u_1 - \frac{\tau}{\sinh(\gamma(b-a))} u_2.$$

Now,

$$y_1 = I(a),$$
  
$$y_2 = -I(b),$$

which leads to

$$y_1 = \tau \coth(\gamma(b-a))u_1 - \frac{\tau}{\sinh(\gamma(b-a))}u_2,$$

and

$$y_2 = \tau \coth(\gamma(b-a))u_2 - \frac{\tau}{\sinh(\gamma(b-a))}u_1$$

Hence

$$G(\beta) = \tau(\beta) \begin{bmatrix} \coth(\gamma(\beta)L) & -\frac{1}{\sinh(\gamma(\beta)L)} \\ -\frac{1}{\sinh(\gamma(\beta)L)} & \coth(\gamma(\beta)L) \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $L \coloneqq b - a$ .

For the boundary controlled heat equation, we consider the problem in 1D and 2D. Let  $k^2 \coloneqq \beta > 0$  be given. For the 1D case we need to solve

$$\begin{aligned} k^2 x(\zeta) &= x_{\zeta\zeta}(\zeta), \\ x_{\zeta}(1) &= u, \\ x_{\zeta}(0) &= -u, \\ y &= x(1) + x(0). \end{aligned}$$

By simply integrating the equation we have

$$x(\zeta) = A\cosh(k\zeta) + B\sinh(k\zeta)$$

Using  $x_{\zeta}(1) = u$  and  $x_{\zeta}(0) = -u$  leads to

$$A = \frac{1 + \cosh(k)}{\sinh(k)} \frac{u}{k},$$
$$B = -\frac{u}{k}.$$

Computing now y yields

$$y = A(\cosh(k) + 1) + B\sinh(k) = \frac{2\coth(k/2)}{k}u,$$

so that

$$G(\beta) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\beta}} \coth\left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta}}{2}\right).$$

For the 2D case, we need to solve

$$k^{2}x(r,\theta) = x_{rr}(r,\theta) + r^{-1}x_{r}(r,\theta) + r^{-2}x_{\theta\theta}(r,\theta),$$
$$u = x_{r}(1,\theta),$$
$$y = \int_{0}^{2\pi} x(1,\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta.$$

It seems that things are more involved as in the 1D case. However, since we are prescribing a constant u for all  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$  by using a separation of variables ansatz, namely  $x(r, \theta) = R(r)\Theta(\theta)$ , we obtain that  $\Theta(\theta) = c \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ . Without loss of generality we can set  $c \equiv 1$ . Thus, we have to solve

$$k^{2}R(r) = R_{rr}(r) + r^{-1}R_{r}(r),$$
$$u = R_{r}(1),$$
$$y = 2\pi R(1).$$

We complete the system by assuming that  $R_r(0) = 0$ . With that, the solution can be given by using Bessel functions of first kind

$$R(r) = \frac{iJ_0(ikr)}{J_1(ik)}u$$

Hence,

$$y = 2\pi \frac{iJ_0(ik)}{J_1(ik)}u$$

By using the definition of the Bessel functions  $J_0, J_1$  we obtain that

$$G(\beta) = 2\pi \frac{2}{\sqrt{\beta}} \frac{\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(l!)^2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta}}{2}\right)^{2l}}{\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(l!)^2(l+1)} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta}}{2}\right)^{2l}}$$

Note that both transfer functions for the parabolic PDE resemble one another in spite of the spatial dimension.

**Proposition 4.4.3.** Let  $\phi : \mathcal{D}(\phi) \subset \mathbb{C}^m \to \mathbb{C}^m$  be defined by

$$\phi(y) \coloneqq \frac{1}{1 - \|y\|^2} y, 
\mathcal{D}(\phi) \coloneqq \{y \in \mathbb{C}^m \mid \|y\| < 1\}.$$
(4.29)

Then  $-\phi$  is m-dissipative.

*Proof. Step 1:* We prove that  $-\phi$  is dissipative. We first like to note that the function  $g : [0,1) \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $r \mapsto \frac{r}{1-r^2}$  is monotonically increasing on [0,1), which follows by nonnegativity of its derivative. As a consequence  $(g(a) - g(b))(a - b) \ge 0$  for all  $a, b \in [0,1)$ . Using this, we obtain that for  $w, y \in \mathcal{D}(\phi)$  holds

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(w) - \phi(y), w - y \right\rangle &= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(w), w \right\rangle + \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(y), y \right\rangle - \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(y), w \right\rangle - \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(w), y \right\rangle \\ &= \left( \frac{\|w\|^2}{1 - \|w\|^2} + \frac{\|y\|^2}{1 - \|y\|^2} - \frac{\operatorname{Re} \left\langle w, y \right\rangle}{1 - \|y\|^2} - \frac{\operatorname{Re} \left\langle y, w \right\rangle}{1 - \|w\|^2} \right) \\ &\geq \left( \frac{\|w\|^2}{1 - \|w\|^2} + \frac{\|y\|^2}{1 - \|y\|^2} - \frac{\|w\| \|y\|}{1 - \|y\|^2} - \frac{\|y\| \|w\|}{1 - \|w\|^2} \right) \\ &= \left( \frac{\|w\|}{1 - \|w\|^2} - \frac{\|y\|}{1 - \|y\|^2} \right) \left( \|w\| - \|y\| \right) \\ &= \left( g(\|w\|) - g(\|y\|) \right) \cdot \left( \|w\| - \|y\| \right) \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$

Step 2: We show that  $\lambda I + \phi(\cdot)$  is surjective for all  $\lambda > 0$ . Consider  $f \in \mathbb{C}^m$  and  $\lambda > 0$ . Since  $\lambda I + \phi(\cdot)$  maps zero to zero, it suffices to prove that any  $f \neq 0$  is in the range of  $\lambda I + \phi(\cdot)$ . To this end, consider the real polynomial p with

$$p(\rho) = \lambda \rho^3 - \|f\|\rho^2 - (\lambda + 1)\rho + \|f\|.$$

We observe that p(0) = ||f|| > 0 and p(1) = -1 < 0, whence there exists some  $\tilde{\rho} \in (0, 1)$  with  $p(\tilde{\rho}) = 0$ . Now choosing  $y = \frac{\tilde{\rho}}{||f||} f$ , we obtain by simple arithmetics that

$$\lambda y + \phi(y) = \frac{f}{(1 - \tilde{\rho}^2) \|f\|} \cdot \left(-\lambda \tilde{\rho}^3 + (\lambda + 1)\tilde{\rho}\right)$$
$$\stackrel{p(\tilde{\rho})=0}{=} \frac{f}{(1 - \tilde{\rho}^2) \|f\|} \cdot \left(-\|f\| \cdot \tilde{\rho}^2 + \|f\|\right) = f,$$

which shows that  $\lambda I + \phi(\cdot)$  is surjective.

We also record a similar result but only regarding the dissipativity of the function. Since the result is used for both the real and complex valued cases, we use  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ .

**Lemma 4.4.4.** Let  $\varphi \in [0, \infty)$  and  $a \in \mathbb{K}^m$  be given. Define

$$\psi(y) = -\frac{1}{1 - \varphi^2 ||y - a||^2} (y - a), \quad y \in \mathcal{D}(\psi),$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}(\psi) := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{K}^m \mid \varphi^2 \| y - a \|^2 < 1 \right\}.$$

Then, for all  $y_1, y_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\psi)$  we have that

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_1) - \psi(y_2), y_1 - y_2\rangle \ge 0.$$

*Proof.* The case  $\varphi = 0$  is clear, so let  $\varphi > 0$ . We first like to note that the function  $g : [0, \varphi^{-1}) \to \mathbb{R}, r \mapsto \frac{r}{1-\varphi^2 r^2}$  is strictly monotonically increasing, which follows from positivity of its derivative. As a consequence  $(g(a) - g(b))(a - b) \ge 0$  for all  $a, b \in [0, \varphi^{-1})$ . Using this, define  $e_i := y_i - a$  for i = 1, 2 so that it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_{1}) - \psi(y_{2}), y_{1} - y_{2}\rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_{1}), e_{1}\rangle + \operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_{2}), e_{2}\rangle - \operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_{1}), e_{2}\rangle - \operatorname{Re}\langle\psi(y_{2}), e_{1}\rangle \\ &= \left(\frac{\|e_{1}\|^{2}}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{1}\|^{2}} + \frac{\|e_{2}\|^{2}}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{2}\|^{2}} - \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle e_{1}, e_{2}\rangle}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{1}\|^{2}} - \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle e_{2}, e_{1}\rangle}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{2}\|^{2}}\right) \\ &\geq \left(\frac{\|e_{1}\|^{2}}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{1}\|^{2}} + \frac{\|e_{2}\|^{2}}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{2}\|^{2}} - \frac{\|e_{1}\|\|e_{2}\|}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{1}\|^{2}} - \frac{\|e_{1}\|\|e_{2}\|}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{2}\|^{2}}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{\|e_{1}\|}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{1}\|^{2}} - \frac{\|e_{2}\|}{1 - \varphi^{2}\|e_{2}\|^{2}}\right) (\|e_{1}\| - \|e_{2}\|) \\ &= (g(\|e_{1}\|) - g(\|e_{2}\|)) \cdot (\|e_{1}\| - \|e_{2}\|) \geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

The next result is a modification of [5, Theorem 4.3] in which the function  $\phi$  is defined on the whole space  $\mathbb{C}^m$  instead of a domain  $\mathcal{D}(\phi)$  as in our situation.

**Lemma 4.4.5.** Let  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be a BCS and let Assumption 4.1.2 be satisfied with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $\phi : \mathcal{D}(\phi) \subset \mathbb{C}^m \to \mathbb{C}^m$  be given by (4.29). Then the nonlinear operator  $\mathcal{A} : D(\mathcal{A}) \subset X \to X$  with

$$\mathcal{A}(z) \coloneqq (\mathfrak{A} - \alpha I)|_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})}z,$$
  
$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \coloneqq \{z \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \mid \|\mathfrak{C}z\| < 1, \mathfrak{B}z + \phi(\mathfrak{C}z) = 0\}$$
(4.30)

is m-dissipative and  $\overline{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})} = X$ .

*Proof. Step 1:* Note that  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is not empty, since  $0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}(0) = 0$ . We show that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a densely defined: For given  $(v, e) \in \mathbb{C}^m \times \mathcal{D}(\phi)$  with  $v = -\phi(e)$  we can find  $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{B}z_0\\ \mathfrak{C}z_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v\\ e \end{pmatrix},$$

e.g., by setting  $z_0 = Pv + Qe$ , where P, Q are chosen as in Remark 4.1.3c). It follows that  $z_0 + \ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C} \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is a dense subset of X by Assumption 4.1.2. Step 2: For given  $\lambda > 0$ , we show that  $\lambda I - \mathcal{A}$  is surjective:

Let  $f \in X$ . Our aim is to find some  $z \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  with  $(\lambda I - \mathcal{A})(z) = f$ , that is,

$$((\lambda + \alpha)I - \mathfrak{A})z = f$$
  
$$\mathfrak{B}z = -\phi(\mathfrak{C}z).$$
(4.31)

Set  $\beta := \lambda + \alpha > \alpha$  and consider the operators  $H(\lambda) \in \mathscr{L}(X), J(\lambda) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, X),$  $F(\lambda) \in \mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and  $G(\lambda) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m) = \mathbb{C}^{m \times m}$  from Lemma 4.4.1. Since the matrix  $G(\beta)^{-1} + (G(\beta)^*)^{-1}$  is positive definite by Lemma 4.4.1, there exists some  $\delta > 0$  such that  $G(\beta)^{-1} + (G(\beta)^*)^{-1} - 2\delta I$  is positive definite. The function  $-\phi$  is m-dissipative by Proposition 4.4.3, whence

$$\Psi(\cdot) \coloneqq -\phi(\cdot) - G(\beta)^{-1} + \delta I$$

is dissipative. Then Lemma 1.8.7 gives rise to m-dissipativity of  $\Psi$ . In particular,  $\Psi(\cdot) - \delta I = -\phi(\cdot) - G(\beta)^{-1} : D(\phi) \to \mathbb{C}^m$  is bijective, whence there exists some  $e \in D(\phi)$  with

$$\Psi(e) - \delta e = G(\beta)^{-1} F(\beta) f,$$

which is equivalent to

$$-\phi(e) = G(\beta)^{-1}e - G(\beta)^{-1}F(\beta)f_{\beta}$$

and thus

$$e = F(\beta)f + G(\beta)(-\phi(e)).$$

Then Lemma 4.4.1 implies that  $z = H(\beta)f + J(\beta)(-\phi(e))$  indeed fulfills (4.31). Step 3: We show that  $\mathcal{A}$  is dissipative: Let  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ , then

$$\begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{Re}\langle \mathcal{A}(z_{1}) - \mathcal{A}(z_{2}), & z_{1} - z_{2} \rangle_{X} \\ & \stackrel{\operatorname{Assumption}}{=} & \operatorname{Re} \left\langle (\mathfrak{A} - \alpha I) |_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})} z_{1} - (\mathfrak{A} - \alpha I) |_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})} z_{2}, z_{1} - z_{2} \right\rangle_{X} \\ & \leq & - \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi(\mathfrak{C} z_{1}) - \phi(\mathfrak{C} z_{2}), \mathfrak{C} z_{1} - \mathfrak{C} z_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} \\ & \stackrel{\operatorname{Proposition}}{\leq} & 0. \end{array}$$

**Remark 4.4.6.** Note that the statement concerning the density of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is not trivial. In the linear case, it is always so, but in the nonlinear setting it does not need to hold, see Proposition 1.8.6.

An intrinsic technical problem when investigating solvability of (4.6) is that the feedback is varying in time, i.e. it depends on t explicitly. To circumvent this problem, we perform a change of variables leading to an evolution equation with a constant operator. This is subject of the subsequent auxiliary result.

**Lemma 4.4.7.** Let a BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  be given which satisfies Assumption 4.1.2 and assume that the initial value  $x_0$  and the functions  $y_{\text{ref}}$ , p,  $\varphi$  fulfill Assumption 4.2.2. Then for  $\varphi_0 = \varphi(0)$ ,  $e_0 = \mathfrak{C}x_0 - y_{\text{ref}}(0)$ ,  $u_0 = \mathfrak{B}x_0$ , operators  $P, Q \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}))$ with (4.4), and the nonlinear m-dissipative operator  $\mathcal{A}$  given in (4.30) and

$$\omega = \frac{\dot{\varphi}}{\varphi},$$

$$f = \varphi \cdot \left( \mathfrak{A}Qy_{\text{ref}} - Q\dot{y}_{\text{ref}} + \mathfrak{A}P(u_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))p - P(u_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))\dot{p}(t) \right) \quad (4.32)$$

$$z_0 = \varphi_0 \cdot \left( x_0 - Qy_{\text{ref}}(0) - P(u_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0)) \right).$$

holds  $\omega \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ ,  $f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$  and  $z_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$ . Furthermore, the following holds for T > 0:

a) If  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  and for almost every  $t \in [0,T]$  holds that  $\dot{x}$  is continuous at  $t, x(t) \in D(\mathfrak{A})$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and (4.6), then for

$$z(t) = \varphi(t) \Big( x(t) - Qy_{\text{ref}}(t) - P(\mathfrak{B}x_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))p(t) \Big),$$
(4.33)

holds  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  and for almost every  $t \in [0,T]$  holds that  $\dot{z}$  is continuous at  $t, z(t) \in D(\mathcal{A})$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and

$$\dot{z}(t) = \mathcal{A}(z(t)) + (\omega(t) + \alpha)z(t) + f(t),$$
  

$$z(0) = z_0$$
(4.34)

b) Conversely, if  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  and for almost every  $t \in [0,T]$  holds that  $\dot{z}$  is continuous at  $t, z(t) \in D(\mathcal{A})$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and (4.34), then for

$$x(t) = \varphi(t)^{-1} z(t) + Q y_{\text{ref}}(t) + P(\mathfrak{B} x_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0)) p(t), \qquad (4.35)$$

 $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  and for almost every  $t \in [0,T]$  holds that  $\dot{x}$  is continuous at  $t, x(t) \in D(\mathfrak{A})$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and (4.6).

c) If  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$ , then x as in (4.35) fulfills  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$ .

*Proof.* The statements  $\omega \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ ,  $f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$  follow from the product rule for weak derivatives [3, p. 124]. Since P maps to  $D(\mathfrak{A})$ , we have  $z_0 \in D(\mathfrak{A})$ . Further, by using  $\mathfrak{B}P = I$ ,  $\mathfrak{B}Q = 0$ ,  $\mathfrak{C}P = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{C}Q = I$ , we obtain

$$\phi(\mathfrak{C}z_0) = \frac{\varphi_0 \cdot e_0}{1 - \varphi_0^2 \|e_0\|^2} = -\mathfrak{B}z_0,$$

whence  $z_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$ .

To prove statement a), assume that  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  has a derivative which is continuous almost everywhere and in the domain of  $\mathfrak{A}$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . First note that the twice weak differentiability of p and  $\varphi$  together with the fact that P and Q map to  $D(\mathfrak{A})$  implies that  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  with z(t) being in  $D(\mathfrak{A})$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . By further using that (4.6) holds for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , we obtain —analogously to the above computations for  $z_0$ — that

$$\phi(\mathfrak{C}z(t)) = \frac{\varphi(t)e(t)}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|e(t)\|^2} = -\mathfrak{B}z(t),$$

which implies that  $z(t) \in D(\mathcal{A})$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Further, a straightforward calculation shows that (4.6) implies that z(t) fulfills (4.34).

Statement b) follows by an argumentation straightforward to that in the proof of a). Statement c) is a simple consequence of  $\inf_{t\geq 0} \varphi(t) > 0$ ,  $\varphi, p \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R})$ ,  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{2,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$  and the product rule for weak derivatives.  $\Box$ 

The previous lemma is indeed the key step to prove Theorems 4.2.4 & 4.2.6 on the feasibility of the funnel controller. By using the state transformation (4.33) with inversion (4.35), the analysis of feasibility of the funnel controller reduces to the proof of existence of a solution to the nonlinear evolution equation (4.34) in which the time-dependence is now extracted to the inhomogeneity.

Proof of Theorem 4.2.4. Let T > 0, and consider the nonlinear operator  $\mathcal{A}$  as in (4.30) and  $\omega \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}), f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$  and  $z_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$  as in (4.32). Then Theorem 1.8.14 implies that the nonlinear evolution equation (4.34) has a unique solution  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  in the sense that for all  $t \in [0,T]$  holds  $z(t) \in D(\mathcal{A}), \dot{z}$ is continuous at except at a countable number of points in [0,T], and (4.34). Then Lemma 4.4.7b) yields that  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  as in (4.35) has the desired properties. It remains to show uniqueness: Assume that  $x_i \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T];X)$  are solutions of the closed-loop system (4.6) for i = 1, 2. Then

$$z_i(t) = \varphi(t) \Big( x_i(t) - Qy_{\text{ref}}(t) - P(\mathfrak{B}x_0 + \psi(\varphi_0, e_0))p(t) \Big),$$

$$(4.36)$$

fulfills  $\dot{z}_i(t) = \mathcal{A}(z_i(t)) + (\omega(t) + \alpha)z(t) + f(t)$  with  $z_i(0) = z_0$ , and the uniqueness statement in Theorem 1.8.14 gives  $z_1 = z_2$ . Now resolving (4.36) for  $x_i$  and invoking  $z_1 = z_2$  gives  $x_1 = x_2$ .

It remains to prove Theorem 4.2.6 which states that the global solution and its derivative are bounded in case of negativity of the constant  $\alpha$  in Assumption 4.1.2 (i).

Proof of Theorem 4.2.6. Let  $\alpha < 0$ , let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the nonlinear operator in (4.30) and  $\omega \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}), f \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$  and  $z_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$  as in (4.32).

Step 1: We show that the solution  $z \in W^{1,\infty}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty);X)$  of (4.34) (which exists by Theorem 1.8.14) is bounded:

Then we obtain that for almost all  $t \ge 0$  holds

. .

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|z(t)\|_{X} &= \operatorname{Re} \langle z(t), \dot{z}(t) \rangle_{X} \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle z(t), \mathcal{A}z(t) + (\omega(t) + \alpha)z(t) + f(t) \rangle_{X} \\ &\leq \operatorname{Re} \langle z(t), \mathcal{A}z(t) \rangle_{X} + (\omega(t) + \alpha) \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \|z(t)\|_{X} \|f(t)\|_{X} \\ \end{aligned}$$

$$\overset{(4.30)}{=} \operatorname{Re} \langle z(t), \mathfrak{A}z(t) \rangle_{X} + \omega(t) \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \|z(t)\|_{X} \|f(t)\|_{X} \\ \overset{(4.2)}{\leq} \operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{B}z(t), \mathfrak{C}z(t) \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{n}} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \omega(t) \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \|z(t)\|_{X} \|f(t)\|_{X} \\ \overset{(4.30)}{=} - \frac{\|\mathfrak{C}z(t)\|^{2}}{1 - \|\mathfrak{C}z(t)\|^{2}} + \alpha \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \omega(t) \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \|z(t)\|_{X} \|f(t)\|_{X} \\ &\leq \alpha \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \omega(t) \|z(t)\|_{X}^{2} + \|z(t)\|_{X} \|f(t)\|_{X}. \end{aligned}$$

Now applying Lemma 1.8.13 with  $\rho = 1/2$ , using that the definition of  $\omega$  in (4.32) leads to  $\omega = \frac{d}{dt} \log(\varphi)$ , we obtain that for almost all  $t \ge 0$  holds

$$||z(t)||_X \le \varphi_0^{-1} ||z_0||_X \varphi(t) e^{\alpha t} + \varphi(t) e^{\alpha t} \int_0^t \varphi(s)^{-1} e^{-\alpha s} ||f(s)||_X \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

The definition of f in (4.32) leads to the existence of  $c_0, c_1 > 0$  such that for almost all  $t \ge 0$  holds  $||f(t)||_X \le \varphi(t)(c_0 + c_1 ||y_{\text{ref}}||_{W^{1,\infty}})$ . Thus,

$$||z(t)||_X \le \varphi_0^{-1} ||z_0||_X \varphi(t) e^{\alpha t} - \alpha^{-1} \varphi(t) (c_0 + c_1 ||y_{\text{ref}}||_{W^{1,\infty}}) (1 - e^{\alpha t}),$$

whence  $z \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ . Step 2: We show that  $\dot{z} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ : To this end, let h > 0 and, by using the dissipativity of  $\mathcal{A}$ , consider

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| z(t+h) - z(t) \|_X^2 &\leq \alpha \| z(t+h) - z(t) \|_X^2 + \omega(t+h) \| z(t+h) - z(t) \|_X^2 \\ &+ |\omega(t+h) - \omega(t)| \| z(t) \|_X \| z(t+h) - z(t) \|_X \\ &+ \| f(t+h) - f(t) \|_X \| z(t+h) - z(t) \|_X, \end{aligned}$$

Again applying the Grönwall type inequality from Lemma 1.8.13 with  $\rho = 1/2$ , dividing by h and letting  $h \to 0$  yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}(t)\|_{X} &\leq \varphi_{0}^{-1} \|\dot{z}(0)\|_{X} \varphi(t) \mathrm{e}^{\alpha t} + \varphi(t) \mathrm{e}^{\alpha t} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha s} \varphi(s)^{-1} (\|z\|_{L^{\infty}} |\dot{\omega}(s)| + \|\dot{f}(s)\|_{X}) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \varphi_{0}^{-1} \|\mathcal{A}(z_{0}) + \omega(0)z_{0} + f(0)\|_{X} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\quad + \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\|\varphi^{-1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} (\|z\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\dot{\omega}\|_{L^{\infty}} + d_{0} + d_{1} \|y_{\mathrm{ref}}\|_{W^{2,\infty}}) \end{aligned}$$

for some  $d_0, d_1 > 0$ . Hence,  $\dot{z}(t) \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty); X)$ .

Step 3: We conclude that the solution x in (4.6) (which exists by Theorem 4.2.4) fulfills  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ :

We know from the first two steps that  $z \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ . Then Lemma 4.4.7c) leads to  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); X)$ .

Step 4: We finally show that  $u = \mathfrak{B}x$  fulfills  $u \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^m)$ :

We know from the third step, we know that  $x \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);X)$ . Since we have  $x(t) \in D(\mathfrak{A})$  with  $\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}x(t)$  for almost all  $t \geq 0$ , we can conclude that  $\mathfrak{A}x \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty);X)$ , and thus  $x \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty);D(\mathfrak{A}))$ . Then  $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathscr{L}(D(\mathfrak{A}),\mathbb{C}^m)$  gives  $u = \mathfrak{B}x \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{C}^m)$ .

# 4.5 Outlook

In this chapter we have shown that the funnel controller (4.5) is feasible for BCS of the form  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$ . Even though the mathematical tools used happened to be nonstandard, the resulting theory is very reach as it has been shown by applying our main results, Theorems 4.2.4 & 4.2.6, to different system classes, whose state variable is described by both hyperbolic and parabolic partial differential equations. Moreover, Assumption 4.1.2 provides a recipe to check whether one can apply the funnel controller to a particular system.

It is worth mentioning that the methodology used here differs from the other results regarding the funnel controller, since from the beginning on we have considered the closed-loop system, while in the literature, the open-loop problem is first considered.

The results of this chapter have been mostly gathered in [99]. Nevertheless, some things have been added. For didactic purposes we have included Example 4.4.2. We have also given enough conditions for which one can apply the funnel controller with an

infinitely open funnel boundary at t = 0 in Section 4.2.1. Moreover, we have included Section 4.2.2 to show that if the semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$  is analytic, the input and output are Hölder continuous. Following the intuition from the finite-dimensional case, in particular the notion of *high-gain stabilizability*, and the fact that in [101] it has been shown that a funnel controller can be feasible for the boundary controller heat equation, we have proved Theorem 4.3.21. This requires of special techniques which tie the notion of nonlinear m-dissipative operators and subdifferentials together. In order to build bridges between the finite-dimensional scenario and the infinite-dimensional case at hand, we have also included the following part, which attempts to explain the intuition behind the applicability of the funnel controller.

## 4.5.1 The zero dynamics

In the existing literature about the funnel controller, both finite and infinite-dimensional, the concept of zero dynamics plays an important role. Roughly speaking, the zero dynamics consists of all pairs of state and input trajectories (x, u) for which the output vanishes, that is, y = 0.

Here we elucidate by means of two examples what the zero dynamics in this infinitedimensional setting is. As we will see in the examples, the systems we have considered are *flat*, this means that there is an equation which relates the input and output without having any derivatives involved. This corresponds in the finite-dimensional literature to the case of *relative degree* 0. This concept is defined by using the transfer function, which in the finite-dimensional case is a rational function or a matrix whose entries are rational functions. As seen in Example 4.4.2, the transfer function of infinitedimensional systems is no longer a rational function. In fact, for the port-Hamiltonian example of the lossy transmission line, the relative degree is 0 and for the heat equation, the relative degree is 1/2.

First, consider  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  to be a port-Hamiltonian system with N = 1, that is,

$$\mathfrak{A}x = P_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} \mathcal{H}x + P_0 \mathcal{H}x, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}),$$

and

$$\mathfrak{B}x \coloneqq W_B \begin{pmatrix} f_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \\ e_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathfrak{C}x \coloneqq W_C \begin{pmatrix} f_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \\ e_{\partial, \mathcal{H}x} \end{pmatrix},$$

as in Definition 4.3.1, so that  $W_B, W_C$  have full row rank and  $\begin{bmatrix} W_B \\ W_C \end{bmatrix}$  is invertible. We further assume that  $P_1 \mathcal{H}(\zeta)$  can be written as

$$P_1\mathcal{H}(\zeta) = S^{-1}(\zeta)\Delta(\zeta)S(\zeta),$$

where  $S, \Delta$  are continuously differentiable matrix-valued functions and  $\Delta$  is diagonal. It follows from [67, Theorem 13.2.2] that  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  is an  $L^2$  well-posed linear system, that is,

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \mathbb{T}_t^B x_0 + \Phi_t^B u, \\ y &= \Psi_\infty^B x_0 + \mathbb{F}_\infty^B u, \end{aligned} \tag{$\Sigma_B$}$$

where  $\mathbb{T}^B := (\mathbb{T}^B_t)_{t \geq 0}$  is the  $C_0$ -semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{B}}$ . The properties of the other operators are given in Section 1.7. Note that this system satisfies

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathfrak{A} x, x \rangle_X \leq \langle \mathfrak{B} x, \mathfrak{C} x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^m}, \quad x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}),$$

so that u and y are interchangeable, because  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{C}}$  generates also a  $C_0$ -semigroup —combine [5, Proposition 3.2.15] and [67, Theorem 7.2.4]— and [67, Theorem 13.2.2] holds as well. This means that the system  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  is *invertible* as a well-posed linear system and

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \mathbb{T}_t^C x_0 + \Phi_t^C y, \\ u &= \Psi_{\infty}^C x_0 + \mathbb{F}_{\infty}^C y, \end{aligned} \tag{$\Sigma_C$}$$

where  $\mathbb{T}^C \coloneqq (\mathbb{T}^C_t)_{t \geq 0}$  is the  $C_0$ -semigroup generated by  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{C}}$ . The operators from  $(\Sigma_B)$  and  $(\Sigma_C)$  are related by certain transformations, see [112, Section 5],

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{T}_t^C x_0 &= [\mathbb{T}_t^B - \Phi_t^B (\mathbb{F}_\infty^B)^{-1} \Psi_\infty^B] x_0, \\ \Phi_t^C y &= \Psi_t^B (\mathbb{F}_\infty^B)^{-1} y, \\ \Psi_\infty^C x_0 &= - (\mathbb{F}_\infty^B)^{-1} \Psi_\infty^B x_0, \\ \mathbb{F}_\infty^C y &= (\mathbb{F}_\infty^B)^{-1} y. \end{split}$$

Moreover, the transfer functions of  $(\Sigma_B)$  and  $(\Sigma_C)$  are inverse of one another,  $G_B(\beta) = G_C(\beta)^{-1}$ , [112, Corollary 5.2]. Hence, the zero dynamics which is given by

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathfrak{A}x(t),$$
$$u = \mathfrak{B}x(t),$$
$$0 = \mathfrak{C}x(t),$$

can be obtained by simply setting y = 0 in  $(\Sigma_C)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \mathbb{T}_t^C x_0, \\ u &= \Psi_{\infty}^C x_0. \end{aligned}$$

From an heuristic viewpoint, if we want the zero dynamics to be asymptotically stable, that is, (x, u) go to zero (in some sense) as  $t \to \infty$ , then the norm semigroup  $\mathbb{T}^C$  needs to decay as t grows after some transient period. Since the port-Hamiltonian systems are described by hyperbolic PDEs, the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{C}}$ ,  $\sigma(\mathfrak{A}|_{\ker \mathfrak{C}})$ , is contained in an imaginary line with real part  $\alpha$ , which depends on  $P_0$ . For the zero dynamics to be asymptotically stable it is necessary that  $\alpha < 0$ , so that the semigroup  $\mathbb{T}^C$  is exponentially stable. From the dissipativity equation, this implies that  $\mathbb{T}^B$  is also exponentially stable.

For the second example, let us consider the BCS  $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C})$  described in Definition 4.3.15 with  $a = I_n$  and  $\kappa = 0$ . This system is also well-posed, see for instance [22, Corollary 1]. Nevertheless, it is not invertible, so that the characterization of (x, u) such that the following holds

$$\begin{split} \dot{x}(t) &= \Delta x(t), \\ u(t) &= \gamma_0 (\nu \cdot a \nabla x(t)), \\ 0 &= \int_{\Gamma} \gamma_0 x(t) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \,, \end{split}$$

requires some extra work. However, by using the form a, it can be inferred that

$$\langle \Delta x, x \rangle \le -\theta \|x\|^2 + \nu y^2 + uy. \tag{4.37}$$

Thus, by considering  $\Delta|_{\ker \mathfrak{B} \cap \ker \mathfrak{C}}$  as in [102, Section 5] it can be shown that the zero dynamics are asymptotically stable.

As we have shown in Theorems 4.3.4 & 4.3.21, the funnel controller is feasible in the sense that  $u \in L^{\infty}(0, \infty; \mathbb{R}^m)$ , and in both cases the zero dynamics were stable. Hence, this notion plays also an underlying role in the feasibility of the funnel controller in infinite-dimension.

## 4.5.2 Open questions

In the lines of the former comments regarding the zero dynamics, even though it seems to provide a good intuition regarding the class of systems for which the funnel controller may be feasible, it is still unclear how to exploit this stability in general with the methodology presented in this chapter. In fact, the characterization of operators  $\mathfrak{A}$ satisfying an inequality of the form (4.37) together with the generalized impedance passivity inequality (4.2) seems to be not known. Perhaps it is not possible by using only the inequalities, since the amount of information lost may be very relevant, as in the example with the Laplace operator, where one uses the form a. Moreover, conditions resembling the ones given in Theorem 4.3.21 so that we can show  $u \in$  $L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  without needing to prove that  $\dot{x} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); X)$  are also unknown at the present time. However, it does seem to be a strong connection between this fact and (4.37), as seen by using the subdifferential presented in Lemma 4.3.19.

One of the drawbacks of working with BCS is that we do not distinguish between hyperbolic and parabolic PDEs. In particular, parabolic problems enjoy of smoothing properties of the solution which we have not fully exploited. For instance, following the lines of [101], one could modify the FC 4.5 with a funnel boundary which infinitely open for a small period of time so that the solution becomes smooth. This would allow for arbitrary initialization of the system, that is,  $x_0 \in X$  instead of  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A})$ . Hence, the factor associated to the function p could be dropped. This will be in fact illustrated in the next chapter.

It seems to be also possible to consider infinite-dimensional inputs and outputs, by slightly modifying the proofs of the results given in Section 4.4. This can be for instance achieved by assuming that  $\mathfrak{B} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to U$  and  $\mathfrak{C} : \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{A}) \subset X \to Y$  with U, Y infinite-dimensional reflexive spaces and U' = Y, so that one can form the duality  $\langle u, y \rangle_{U \times Y}$ . However, for some of the systems considered as examples, the joint operator  $\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{B} \\ \mathfrak{C} \end{bmatrix}$  may not be surjective when considering the infinite-dimensional versions of  $\mathfrak{B}$  and  $\mathfrak{C}$ , for instance when considering the Maxwell's Equations in the form of Section 4.3.2 and  $\mathfrak{B}x = e_{\partial}x$  and  $\mathfrak{C}x = f_{\partial}x$ , see for instance [36, 114]. Hence, the natural question arises, whether this can be somehow circumvented.

# 5 Adaptive control for a nonlinear parabolic problem

We study output trajectory tracking for a class of nonlinear reaction diffusion equations such that a prescribed performance of the tracking error is achieved. To this end, we utilize the method of funnel control.

The reaction diffusion equation that we consider in the present chapter is known as the monodomain model and represents defibrillation processes of the human heart [117]. The monodomain equations are a reasonable simplification of the well accepted bidomain equations, which arise in cardiac electrophysiology [113]. In the monodomain model the dynamics are governed by a parabolic reaction diffusion equation which is coupled with a linear ordinary differential equation that models the ionic current.

The present chapter is organized as follows. In Section 5.2 we introduce the mathematical model that will be considered and the general framework where we will work, in Section 5.3 we define the controller present the funnel controller that will be used to achieve the control objective and give our main result, Theorem 5.3.3. After we move on to Section 5.4 where we provide the necessary tools for the proof of the main theorem and in Section 5.6 we give the respective proof.

## 5.1 Neumann elliptic operators

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . Denote the scalar product in  $L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  and the norm in  $L^2(\Omega)$  by  $\|\cdot\|$ . Further, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the *ellipticity condition* 

for a.e. 
$$\zeta \in \Omega \ \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d : \ \xi^\top D(\zeta)\xi = \sum_{i,j=1}^d D_{ij}(\zeta)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \delta \|\xi\|_{\mathbb{R}^d}^2$$
 (5.1)

for some  $\delta > 0$ . Consider the sesquilinear form  $\mathfrak{a}: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \times W^{1,2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  with

$$\mathfrak{a}(z_1, z_2) = \langle \nabla z_1, D \nabla z_2 \rangle.$$
(5.2)

We can associate a linear operator to the above sequilinear form.

**Proposition 5.1.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary and let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Then there exists exactly one operator  $\mathcal{A} : \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \subset L^2(\Omega) \to L^2(\Omega)$  with

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \left\{ z_2 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega) \mid \exists y_2 \in L^2(\Omega) : \mathfrak{a}(z_1, z_2) = -\langle z_1, y_2 \rangle \ \forall x \in W^{1,2}(\Omega) \right\},\$$

and

$$\mathfrak{a}(z_1, z_2) = -\langle z_1, \mathcal{A} z_2 \rangle \quad \forall z_1 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega), z_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}).$$

We call  $\mathcal{A}$  the Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D. The operator  $\mathcal{A}$  is closed, self-adjoint, and  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is dense in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Existence, uniqueness and closedness of  $\mathcal{A}$  as well as the density of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  follow from Kato's First Representation Theorem [70, Section VI.2, Theorem 2.1], whereas self-adjointness is an immediate consequence of the property

$$\mathfrak{a}(z_1, z_2) = \mathfrak{a}(z_2, z_1)$$

for all  $z_1, z_2 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

Note that above operator does not require any further smoothness of  $\partial\Omega$ . In particular, the classical definition of the Neumann boundary trace, i.e., the derivative of a function in the direction of the outward normal unit vector  $\nu : \partial\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$  does not need to exist. If however  $\partial\Omega$  and the coefficient matrix D are sufficiently smooth, we have

$$\mathcal{A}z = \operatorname{div} D\nabla z, \quad z \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \coloneqq \left\{ z \in W^{2,2}(\Omega) \mid (\nu^{\top} \cdot D\nabla z)|_{\Gamma} = 0 \right\},$$

see [44, Theorem 2.2.2.5]. This justifies that we call  $\mathcal{A}$  a Neumann elliptic operator.

# 5.2 The FitzHugh-Nagumo model

Let  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary. We consider a model for the interaction of the electric current in a cell, namely

$$\frac{d}{dt}v(t) = \mathcal{A}v(t) + p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t) + \mathcal{B}I_{s,e}(t), \quad v(0) = v_0 
\frac{d}{dt}u(t) = c_5v(t) - c_4u(t), \quad u(0) = u_0$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{B}'v(t),$$
(5.3)

where

$$p_3(v) \coloneqq -c_1 v + c_2 v^2 - c_3 v^3,$$

with constants  $c_i > 0$  for i = 1, ..., 5, initial values  $v_0, u_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$ , the Neumann elliptic operator  $\mathcal{A} : \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq L^2(\Omega) \to L^2(\Omega)$  associated to  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and control

operator  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$ . The output operator  $\mathcal{B}'$ , i.e., the adjoint of  $\mathcal{B}$ , is consequently in  $\mathscr{L}(W^{1,2}(\Omega), \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

System (5.3) is known as the FitzHugh-Nagumo model for the ionic current [33], where

$$I_{ion}(u,v) = p_3(v) - u.$$

The functions  $I_{s,i} \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); L^2(\Omega))$ ,  $I_{s,i} \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{R}^m)$  are the intracellular and extracellular stimulation currents, respectively. In particular,  $I_{s,i}$  is the control of the system, whereas y is the output.

Next we introduce the solution concept.

**Definition 5.2.1.** Assume that  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a bounded Lipschitz domain, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D (see Proposition 5.1.1), let  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$ , and let  $u_0, v_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  be given. Further, let  $T \in (0, \infty]$  and  $I_{s,i} \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); L^2(\Omega))$ ,  $I_{s,e} \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{R}^m)$ . A triple of functions (u, v, y) is called solution of (5.3) in [0,T), if

(i) 
$$v \in L^2([0,T); W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \cap C([0,T); L^2(\Omega)))$$
 with  $v(0) = v_0;$ 

(ii) 
$$u \in C([0,T); L^2(\Omega))$$
 with  $u(0) = u_0;$ 

(iii) for all  $\chi \in L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $\theta \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , the scalar functions  $t \mapsto \langle u(t), \chi \rangle$ ,  $t \mapsto \langle v(t), \theta \rangle$ are weakly differentiable on [0, T], and it holds that, for almost all  $t \in (0, T)$ ,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle v(t), \theta \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v(t), \theta) + \langle p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t), \theta \rangle + \langle I_{s,e}(t), \mathcal{B}'\theta \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m},$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle u(t), \chi \rangle = \langle c_5 v(t) - c_4 u(t), \chi \rangle,$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{B}' v(t),$$
(5.4)

where  $\mathfrak{a}: W^{1,2}(\Omega) \times W^{1,2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  is the sesquilinear form (5.2).

### Remark 5.2.2.

a) Weak differentiability of  $t \mapsto \langle u(t), \chi \rangle$ ,  $t \mapsto \langle v(t), \theta \rangle$  for all  $\chi \in L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $\theta \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  on (0,T) further leads to

$$v \in W^{1,2}([0,T]; (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$$
 and  $u \in W^{1,2}([0,T]; L^2(\Omega)).$ 

b) The Sobolev Embedding Theorem [2, Theorem 5.4] implies that the inclusion map  $W^{1,2}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^6(\Omega)$  is bounded. This guarantees that  $p_3(v) \in L^2([0,T]; L^2(\Omega))$ , whence the first equation in (5.4) is well-defined.

c) Let  $w \in L^2(\Omega)$ . An input operator of the form  $\mathcal{B}u = u \cdot w$  corresponds to distributed input, and we have  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}, L^2(\Omega))$ . In this case, the output is given by

$$y(t) = \int_{\Omega} w(\xi) \cdot (v(t))(\xi) d\xi.$$

A typical situation is that z is an indicator function on a subset of  $\Omega$ ; such choices have been considered in [81] for instance.

d) Let  $w \in L^2(\partial \Omega)$ . An input operator with

$$\mathcal{B}'z = \int_{\Gamma} w(\xi) \cdot z(\xi) d\sigma \tag{5.5}$$

corresponds to a Neumann boundary control

$$\nu(\xi)^{\top} \cdot (\nabla v(t))(\xi) = w(\xi) \cdot I_{s,e}(t).$$

In this case, the output is given by a weighted integral of the Dirichlet boundary values. More precisely

$$y(t) = \int_{\Gamma} w(\xi) \cdot (v(t))(\xi) d\sigma.$$

Note that  $\mathcal{B}'$  is the composition of the trace operator

$$\operatorname{tr}: z \mapsto z|_{\partial\Omega}$$

with taking the inner product in  $L^2(\partial\Omega)$  with w. The trace operator fulfills for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  that tr  $\in \mathscr{L}(W^{1/2+\varepsilon,2}(\Omega), L^2(\partial\Omega))$  by the Trace Theorem [123, Theorem 1.39]. In particular, tr  $\in \mathscr{L}(W^{1,2}(\Omega), L^2(\partial\Omega))$ , thus  $\mathcal{B}' \in \mathscr{L}(W^{1,2}(\Omega), \mathbb{R})$ and  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$ .

e) The case  $T = \infty$  is to be understood in the following sense. The triple (u, v, y) is a solution of (5.3) in  $[0, \infty)$  if for all T > 0 the restrictions  $(u|_{[0,T)}, v|_{[0,T)}, y|_{[0,T)})$ are solutions of (5.3).

# 5.3 Funnel control

The objective is that the output y of the system (5.3) tracks a given reference signal which is  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)$  with a prescribed performance of the tracking error  $e := y - y_{\text{ref}}$ , that is e evolves within the performance funnel

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} \coloneqq \{ (t, e) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^m \mid \varphi(t) \| e \|_{\mathbb{R}^m} < 1 \}$$
defined by a function  $\varphi$  belonging to

$$\Phi_{\gamma} \coloneqq \left\{ \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{R}) \mid \varphi|_{[0,\gamma]} \equiv 0, \ \forall \delta > 0: \inf_{t > \gamma + \delta} \varphi(t) > 0 \right\},$$

for some  $\gamma > 0$ . The situation is illustrated in Fig. 5.1. The funnel boundary given by  $1/\varphi$  is unbounded in a small interval  $[0, \gamma]$  to allow for an arbitrary initial tracking error. Since  $\varphi$  is bounded there exists  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $1/\varphi(t) \ge \lambda$  for all t > 0. Thus, we seek practical tracking with arbitrary small accuracy  $\lambda > 0$ , but asymptotic tracking is not required in general.



Figure 5.1: Error evolution in a funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  with boundary  $\varphi(t)^{-1}$ .

The funnel boundary is not necessarily monotonically decreasing, while in most situations it is convenient to choose a monotone funnel. Sometimes, widening the funnel over some later time interval might be beneficial, for instance in the presence of periodic disturbances or strongly varying reference signals. For typical choices of funnel boundaries see e.g. [56, Section 3.2].

A controller which achieves the above described control objective is the funnel controller. In the present chapter it suffices to use the simple version developed in [61], which is the feedback law

$$I_{s,e}(t) = -\frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|\mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} (\mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)),$$
(5.6)

where  $k_0 > 0$  is some constant used for scaling and agreement of physical units. Note that for  $t \leq \gamma$ , the controller is merely

$$I_{s,e}(t) = -k_0(\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)),$$

since  $\varphi|_{[0,\gamma]} \equiv 0$ .

The application of the controller (5.6) results in the nonlinear and time-varying PDE system

We are interested in considering solutions of (5.7), which leads to the following weak solution framework.

**Definition 5.3.1.** Assume that  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Let  $T \in (0, \infty]$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  be the Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D (see Proposition 5.1.1), let  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$ , and let  $u_0, v_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  as well as  $I_{s,i} \in L^2_{loc}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$  be given. Further, let  $k_0 > 0$ ,  $y_{ref} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $\gamma > 0$  and  $\varphi \in \Phi_{\gamma}$ . A triple of functions (u, v, y) is called *solution* of the system (5.3) with feedback (5.7) in [0, T), if (u, v, y) is a solution of (5.3) in [0, T) with (5.6) for all  $t \in [0, T)$ .

### Remark 5.3.2.

a) Plugging the feedback law (5.6) into the system (5.3), we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}v(t) = \mathcal{A}v(t) + p_3(v)(t) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t) - \frac{k_0 \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2},$$
  
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}u(t) = c_5 v(t) - c_4 u(t),$$
  
(5.7)

Consequently, (u, v, y) is a solution of system (5.3) with feedback (5.7), if, and only if

- (i)  $v \in L^2([0,T); W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \cap C([0,T); L^2(\Omega)))$  with  $v(0) = v_0$ ;
- (ii)  $u \in C([0,T); L^2(\Omega))$  with  $u(0) = u_0;$
- (iii) for all  $\chi \in L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $\theta \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , the scalar functions  $t \mapsto \langle u(t), \chi \rangle$ ,  $t \mapsto \langle v(t), \theta \rangle$  are weakly differentiable on [0, T], and it holds that, for almost all  $t \in (0, T)$ ,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle v(t), \theta \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v(t), \theta) + \langle p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t), \theta \rangle - \frac{k_0 \langle \mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t), \mathcal{B}' \theta \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m}}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \| \mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2},$$
(5.8)  
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle u(t), \chi \rangle = \langle c_5 v(t) - c_4 u(t), \chi \rangle,$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{B}' v(t),$$

The system is a nonlinear and non-autonomous PDE and any solution needs to satisfy that the tracking error evolves in the prescribed performance funnel  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$ . Therefore, existence and uniqueness of solutions is a nontrivial problem and even if a solution exists on a finite time interval [0,T), it is not clear that it can be extended to a global solution.

b) For global solutions it is desirable that  $I_{s,e} \in L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  for all  $\delta > 0$ . Note that this is equivalent to

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \varphi(t)^2 \| \mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 < 1.$$

It is as well desirable that y and  $I_{s,e}$  have a certain smoothness.

In the following we state the main theorem of this chapter. We will show that the closed-loop system (5.7) has a unique global solution so that all signals remain bounded. Furthermore, the tracking error stays uniformly away from the funnel boundary. We further show that we gain more regularity, if  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{r,2}(\Omega))')$  for some  $r \in [0, 1)$ .

**Theorem 5.3.3.** Assume that  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D (see Proposition 5.1.1), let  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$  with ker  $\mathcal{B} = \{0\}$ , and let  $u_0, v_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  as well as  $I_{s,i} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$  be given. Further, let  $k_0 > 0$ ,  $y_{ref} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $\gamma > 0$  and  $\varphi \in \Phi_{\gamma}$ . Then, for all T > 0, there exists a unique solution of (5.7) in [0,T). The solution is thus global and

- (i)  $u, \dot{u}, v \in BC([0, \infty); L^2(\Omega));$
- (*ii*) for all  $\delta > 0$  holds

$$v \in C^{0,1/2}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega)),$$
  
$$y, I_{s,e} \in BUC([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m),$$

and

(iii) there exists some  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\delta > 0$ 

$$\forall t \ge \delta : \varphi(t)^2 \| \mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \le 1 - \varepsilon_0$$

a) If, further,  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, (W^{r,2}(\Omega))')$  for some  $r \in (0,1)$ , then for all  $\delta > 0$ 

$$v \in C^{0,1-r/2}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega)),$$
  
$$y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,1-r}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m),$$

b) If  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, L^2(\Omega))$ , then for all  $\delta > 0$  and for all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ 

$$v \in C^{0,\lambda}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega)),$$
  
$$y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,\lambda}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m),$$

c) If  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ , then for all  $\delta > 0$  holds  $y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,1}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

If in particular,  $v_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ , then the former hold with  $\delta = 0$ .

#### Remark 5.3.4.

- a) The condition ker  $\mathcal{B} = \{0\}$  is equivalent to im  $\mathcal{B}'$  being dense in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . The latter is equivalent to im  $\mathcal{B}' = \mathbb{R}^m$  by the finite-dimensionality of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . Note that surjectivity of  $\mathcal{B}'$  is evident for tracking control, since any reference signal  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  has to be tracked by the output  $y = \mathcal{B}'v$ .
- b) If the input operator corresponds to Neumann boundary control, i.e.  $\mathcal{B}$  is as in (5.5) for some  $w \in L^2(\partial\Omega)$ , then  $r \in (1/2, 1)$ , see Remark 5.2.2d). Consequently, for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $v \in C^{0,3/4-\varepsilon}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$  and  $y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,1/2-\varepsilon}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  in this case.
- c) If the input operator corresponds to distributed control, i.e.  $\mathcal{B}u = uw$  for some  $w \in L^2(\Omega)$ , see Remark 5.2.2c), then for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  holds  $v \in C^{0,1-\varepsilon}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$  and  $y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,1-\varepsilon}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

Before we begin to develop the necessary results to prove Theorem 5.3.3, we show the simulated system (5.7).

#### A numerical example

In this section, we illustrate the practical applicability of the funnel controller for a numerical example. The setup chosen here is a standard test example for termination of reentry waves and has been considered similarly in, e.g., [20, 80]. All simulations are generated on an AMD Ryzen 7 1800X @ 3.68 GHz x 16, 64 GB RAM, MATLAB<sup>®</sup> Version 9.2.0.538062 (R2017a). The solutions of the ODE systems are obtained by the MATLAB<sup>®</sup> routine ode23. The parameters for the FitzHugh-Nagumo model (5.3) used here are as follows:

$$\Omega = (0,1)^2, \quad D = \begin{pmatrix} 0.015 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.015 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_3 \\ c_4 \\ c_5 \end{pmatrix} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1.614 \\ 0.1403 \\ 0.012 \\ 0.00015 \\ 0.015 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The spatially discrete system of ODEs corresponds to a finite element discretization with piecewise linear finite elements on a uniform  $64 \times 64$  mesh. The uncontrolled system is stimulated such that reentry phenomena occur, see Figure 5.2. Let us emphasize that the associated dynamics are obtained from (5.3) with  $I_{s,i} = 0 = I_{s,e}$ .

For the control interaction, we assume that  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^4, (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$  where the Neumann control operator is defined such that

$$\mathcal{B}^* z = \left( \int_{\Gamma_1} z(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma, \int_{\Gamma_2} z(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma, \int_{\Gamma_3} z(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma, \int_{\Gamma_4} z(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \right)^{\perp},$$



Figure 5.2: Snapshots of reentry waves for t = 100 (left) and t = 200 (right).

$$\Gamma_1 = \{1\} \times [0,1], \ \ \Gamma_2 = [0,1] \times \{1\}, \ \ \Gamma_3 = \{0\} \times [0,1], \ \ \Gamma = [0,1] \times \{0\}$$

Note that this scenario is the one described in Remark 5.2.2 d), so Theorem 5.3.3 and Remark 5.3.4 b) imply that the solution  $y, I_{s,e} \in C^{0,1/2-\varepsilon}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . The function  $\varphi$  characterizing the performance funnel (see Figure 5.3) is chosen as

$$\varphi(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t \in [0, 0.05], \\ \tanh(\frac{t}{100}), & t > 0.05. \end{cases}$$



Figure 5.3: Error dynamics and funnel boundary.

The simulations correspond to a finite element discretization of (5.3) with piecewise linear finite elements.

For replication of a natural (desired) heart rhythm, the funnel reference signal is obtained by a periodic excitation wave spreading out from the stimulation point in the center of the domain. The smoothness of the signal is guaranteed by convoluting the original signal with a triangular function. Figure 5.4 show the results of the closed-loop system obtained with the control law

$$I_{s,e}(t) = -\frac{0.75}{1 - \varphi(t)^2 \|\mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} (\mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)),$$

which is visualized in Figure 5.5. The initial condition is taken as a snapshot of the reentry wave which without control will not terminate. Let us note that the sudden changes in the feedback law are due to the jump discontinuities of the intracellular stimulation current  $I_{s,i}$  used for simulating a regular heart beat.



Figure 5.4: Reference signals and outputs of the funnel controlled system.

It is seen from Figure 5.4 that the controlled system faithfully reproduces the desired reference signal except for the very beginning where the control is not active yet. Figure 5.5 further shows that this is achieved with a comparably small control effort.

## 5.4 Preparations for the proof of the Main Theorem -Part I

We now collect some results on Neumann elliptic operators and interpolation spaces which are necessary for the proof of Theorem 5.3.3.

5.4. PREPARATIONS FOR THE PROOF OF THE MAIN THEOREM - PART I



Figure 5.5: Funnel control laws.

**Proposition 5.4.1.** Let  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, and let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Then the Neumann elliptic operator  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\Omega$  associated to D has the following properties:

- a) there exists some  $\nu > 0$  such that  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \subset C^{0,\nu}(\Omega)$ ;
- b) A has compact resolvent;
- c) there exists a real-valued and monotonically increasing sequence  $(\alpha_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  such that
  - (i)  $\alpha_0 = 0, \ \alpha_1 > 0 \ and \lim_{j \to \infty} \alpha_j = \infty, \ and$
  - (ii) the spectrum of  $\mathcal{A}$  reads  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) = \{-\alpha_j \mid j \in \mathbb{N}_0\}$

and an orthonormal basis  $(\theta_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  of  $L^2(\Omega)$ , such that

$$\forall x \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}): \ \mathcal{A}x = -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha_j \langle x, \theta_j \rangle \, \theta_j,$$
(5.9)

and the domain of  $\mathcal{A}$  reads

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \lambda_j \cdot \theta_j \ \left| \ (\lambda_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \ with \ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j^2 |\lambda_j|^2 < \infty \right. \right\}.$$
(5.10)

*Proof.* Statement a) follows from [92, Proposition 3.6]. To prove b), we first use that the ellipticity condition (5.1) implies

$$\delta \|z\| + \|\mathcal{A}z\| \ge \|z\|_{W^{1,2}}.$$
(5.11)

Since  $\partial\Omega$  is Lipschitz,  $\Omega$  has the cone property [2, p. 66], and we can apply the Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem [2, Theorem 6.3], which states that  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  is compactly embedded in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Combining this with (5.11), we obtain that  $\mathcal{A}$  has compact resolvent. We finally prove c) about the spectral properties of  $\mathcal{A}$ : Since  $\mathcal{A}$  has compact resolvent and is self-adjoint by Proposition 5.1.1, we obtain from [116, Proposition 3.2.9 & 3.2.12] that there exists a real valued sequence  $(\alpha_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  with  $\lim_{j\to\infty} |\alpha_j| = \infty$  and (5.9), and the domain of  $\mathcal{A}$  has the representation (5.10). Further taking into account that

$$\langle z, \mathcal{A}z \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(z, z) \leq 0 \ \forall z \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}),$$

we obtain that  $\alpha_j \geq 0$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Consequently, it is no loss of generality to assume that  $(\alpha_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  is monotonically increasing. It remains to prove that  $\alpha_0 = 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0$ : On the one hand, we have that the constant function  $1_{\Omega} \in L^2(\Omega)$  fulfills  $\mathcal{A}1_{\Omega} = 0$ , since

$$\langle z, \mathcal{A}1_{\Omega} \rangle = \mathfrak{a}(z, 1_{\Omega}) = \langle \nabla z_1, D \nabla 1_{\Omega} \rangle = 0 \ \forall z \in W^{1,2}(\Omega).$$

On the other hand, if  $z \in \ker \mathcal{A}$ , we have

$$0 = \langle z, \mathcal{A}z \rangle = \mathfrak{a}(z, z) = \langle \nabla z, D\nabla z \rangle,$$

and the pointwise positive definiteness of D implies  $\nabla z = 0$ , whence z is a constant function. This altogether gives dim ker  $\mathcal{A} = 1$ , which leads to  $\alpha_0 = 0$  and  $\alpha_1 > 0$ .  $\Box$ 

We further need interpolation spaces to introduce our considerations. For general interpolation theory, we refer to [85]. This complements and connects the results given in Section 1.6.1 and yields a characterization of the fractional power spaces in terms of Sobolev spaces of fractional order.

**Definition 5.4.2.** Let X, Y be Hilbert spaces and let  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . Consider the function  $K : (0, \infty) \times (X + Y) \to \mathbb{R}$  with

$$K(t,x) = \inf_{x=a+b, a \in X, b \in Y} \|a\|_X + t\|b\|_Y.$$

The interpolation space  $(X, Y)_{\alpha}$  is defined by

$$(X,Y)_{\alpha} \coloneqq \left\{ \begin{array}{l} x \in X + Y \end{array} \middle| t \mapsto t^{-\alpha}K(t,x) \in L^2(0,\infty) \end{array} \right\},$$

and it is a Hilbert space provided with the norm

$$||x||_{(X,Y)_{\alpha}} = ||t \mapsto t^{-\alpha} K(t,x)||_{L^2}.$$

Note that interpolation can be performed in a more general fashion for Banach spaces X, Y: Namely, an  $L^p$ -norm with general  $p \in [1, \infty)$  can be taken from  $t \mapsto t^{-\theta} K(t, x)$  instead of the  $L^2$ -norm in the above definition. Note that this however does not lead to Hilbert spaces even when X and Y are Hilbert spaces.

For a self-adjoint operator  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we can define the space  $X_n := \mathcal{D}(A^n)$ , i.e., by  $X_0 = X$  and  $X_{n+1} := \{ x \in X_n \mid Ax \in X_n \}$ . This becomes a Hilbert space with norm  $||z||_{X_{n+1}} = || - \lambda z + Az||_{X_n}$ , where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  is in the resolvent set of A. Likewise, we introduce  $X_{-n}$  by the completion of X with the norm  $||z||_{X_{-n}} = ||(-\lambda I + A)^{-n}z||$ . Note that  $X_{-n}$  is the dual of  $X_n$  with respect to the pivot space X [116, Section 2.10]. By using interpolation theory, we can further introduce  $X_{\alpha}$  for non-integer  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ :

**Definition 5.4.3.** Let  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be self-adjoint and let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . Further, let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $\alpha \in [n, n+1)$ . The space  $X_{\alpha}$  is given by the interpolation space

$$X_{\alpha} = (X_n, X_{n+1})_{\alpha - n}.$$

The Reiteration Theorem [85, Corollary 1.24] together with [85, Proposition 3.8] yields

$$(X_{\alpha_1}, X_{\alpha_2})_{\alpha} = X_{\alpha_1 + \alpha(\alpha_2 - \alpha_1)}.$$

Our special interest is in the interpolation spaces of the Neumann elliptic operator  $\mathcal{A}$ . Next we characterize these spaces.

**Proposition 5.4.4.** Let  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1), let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the corresponding Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D, and let  $X_{\alpha}$  be the corresponding interpolation spaces with, in particular,  $X = X_0 = L^2(\Omega)$ . Then

$$X_{r/2} = W^{r,2}(\Omega)$$
 for all  $r \in [0, 1/2];$ 

*Proof.* The equation  $X_{1/2} = W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  in an immediate consequence of Kato's Second Representation Theorem [70, Section VI.2, Theorem 2.23]. For general  $r \in [0, 1/2]$ , we can use the Reiteration Theorem [85, Corollary 1.24], which implies

$$X_{r/2} = (X_1, X_0)_{r/2} = (X_{1/2}, X_0)_r.$$

Now using that  $X_0 = L^2(\Omega)$  by definition, and, as already stated,  $X_{1/2} = W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , we can use [123, Theorem 1.35] to obtain

$$(W^{1,2}(\Omega), L^2(\Omega))_r = W^{r,2}(\Omega),$$

and thus  $X_{r/2} = W^{r,2}(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 5.4.5.** In terms of the spectral decomposition (5.9), the space  $X_{\alpha}$  can be represented by

$$X_{\alpha} = \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \lambda_j \cdot \theta_j \ \left| \ (\lambda_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \text{ with } \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j^{2\alpha} |\lambda_j|^2 < \infty \right. \right\}.$$
(5.12)

This follows by a combination of [85, Theorem 4.33] with [85, Theorem 4.36].

# 5.5 Preparations for the proof of the Main Theorem -Part II

We consider mild solutions of certain abstract Cauchy problems and the concept of admissible control operators. This notion is well-known in infinite-dimensional linear systems theory with unbounded control and observation operators and we refer to [116] for further details.

If X is a Hilbert space and  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  is self-adjoint with  $\langle x, Ax \rangle \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ , then it generates a contractive, analytic semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on X [4, Theorem 4.2]. It can be further concluded that, if some  $\omega_0 > 0$  exists such that  $\langle x, Ax \rangle \leq -\omega_0 \|x\|^2$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ , then the semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  generated by A is exponentially stable with  $\|\mathbb{T}_t\| \leq e^{-\omega_0 t}$  for all  $t \geq 0$ . We can further conclude from [94, Theorem 6.13(b)] that, for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  restricts (resp. extends) to an analytic semigroup  $((\mathbb{T}|_{\alpha})_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on  $X_{\alpha}$  with same growth bound as  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . Furthermore, we have im  $\mathbb{T}_t \subset X_r$  for all t > 0 and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  [94, Theorem 6.13(a)].

Next we consider the abstract Cauchy problem with source term. Note that the following results also hold when considering some  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $T \in (t_0, \infty]$  and

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + f(t) + Bu(t), \quad x(t_0) = x_0$$

by doing the necessary modifications, c.f. [110, Section 3.8]. For the sake of simplicity we set  $t_0 = 0$ .

**Definition 5.5.1.** Let X be a Hilbert space,  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be self-adjoint with  $\langle x, Ax \rangle \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A), T \in (0, \infty]$ , and  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . Let  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \geq 0}$  be the semigroup on X generated by A, and let  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, X_{-\alpha})$ . For  $x_0 \in X, p \in [1, \infty]$ ,

 $f \in L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,T);X)$  and  $u \in L^p_{\text{loc}}([0,T);\mathbb{R}^m)$ , we call  $x:[0,T) \to X$  a mild solution of

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + f(t) + Bu(t), \quad x(0) = x_0$$
(5.13)

on [0, T) the function obtain by using the variation of constants formula

$$\forall t \in [0,T): \ x(t) = \mathbb{T}_t x_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-\alpha})_{t-s} Bu(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,, \tag{5.14}$$

where  $((\mathbb{T}|_{-\alpha})_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is the extension of  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  to  $X_{-\alpha}$ .

We further call  $x : [0,T) \to X$  a strong solution of (5.13) on [0,T), if x in (5.14) further satisfies  $x \in C([0,T); X) \cap W^{1,p}_{loc}([0,T); X_{-1})$ .

The above definition includes that the integral  $\int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-\alpha})_{t-s} Bu(s) \, ds$  is in X, whilst die integrand is not necessarily in X.

In the following we show that the mild solution of the abstract Cauchy problem is indeed a strong solution.

**Lemma 5.5.2.** Let X be a Hilbert space,  $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$  be self-adjoint with  $\langle x, Ax \rangle \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,  $T \in (0, \infty]$ ,  $\alpha \in [0, 1/2]$  and let  $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, X_{-\alpha})$ . Let  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  be the analytic semigroup generated by A. Then for all  $p \in [2, \infty]$  B is  $L^p$ -admissible for  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ .

Further, for all  $x_0 \in X$ ,  $f \in L^p_{loc}([0,T);X)$  and  $u \in L^p_{loc}([0,T);\mathbb{R}^m)$ , the function x in (5.14) is a strong solution of (5.13).

*Proof.* For p > 2, set  $\tilde{f} := f + Bu$  and apply [110, Theorem 3.10.10] with  $\tilde{f} \in L^{\infty}_{loc}([0,T); X_{-\alpha})$ .

For the case p = 2, there exists a unique strong solution in  $X_{-1}$  —that is, replacing X by  $X_{-1}$  and  $X_{-1}$  by  $X_{-2}$ — given by (5.14) and at most one strong solution in X, see for instance [110, Theorem 3.8.2 (i) & (ii)], so we only need to check that all the elements are in the correct spaces. Since A is self-adjoint, the semigroup that generates is also self-adjoint, that is,  $\mathbb{T}_t = \mathbb{T}_t^*$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . Further, by [116, Proposition 5.1.3],  $B^*$  is an  $L^2$ -admissible observation operator for the semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\ge 0}$  for  $\alpha = 1/2$ , so it follows that it is an  $L^2$ -admissible control operator for all  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2]$ . By the duality of observation and control admissibility (see for instance [116, Theorem 4.4.3]) we have that B is an  $L^2$ -admissible control operator for  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\ge 0}$ . By the nesting property of  $L^p$ , B is an  $L^p$ -admissible control operator for  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\ge 0}$  all  $p \in [2, \infty]$ . Moreover, by [116, Proposition 4.2.5] we have that

$$t \mapsto \mathbb{T}_t x_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} Bu(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \in C([0,T];X) \cap W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(0,T;X_{-1}).$$

From [110, Theorem 3.8.2 (iv)],

$$t \mapsto \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \in C([0,T);X) \cap W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}([0,T);X_{-1}),$$

so 
$$x \in C([0,T);X) \cap W^{1,2}_{loc}([0,T);X_{-1}).$$

Observe that if x is the unique solution of (5.13) under the conditions of Lemma 5.5.2 and A is the operator associated to a form  $a: X_{1/2} \times X_{1/2} \to \mathbb{R}$ , then this is also the unique solution of the weak formulation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\langle x(t), \theta \right\rangle = -a(x(t), \theta) + \left\langle f(t), \theta \right\rangle + \left\langle u(t), B^* \theta \right\rangle, \quad \forall \theta \in X_{1/2},$$

which can be easily seen by adapting [54, Theorem 1.33] and [27, Theorem 3.1.7] to our setting.

In the proof of the next result, we will implicitly use for  $a, b \ge 0$  and  $p \in (0, 1)$  the inequality  $(a + b)^p \le a^p + b^p$ , see for instance [103, §1.47].

**Proposition 5.5.3.** Let  $d \leq 3$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, let  $D \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  be symmetric-valued and satisfying the ellipticity condition (5.1). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the corresponding Neumann elliptic operator on  $\Omega$  associated to D, and let  $T \in (0, \infty]$  and c > 0. Let  $X = X_0 = L^2(\Omega)$  and let  $X_r$  be the interpolation space constructed by  $\mathcal{A}$ . Define  $\mathcal{A}_0 \coloneqq \mathcal{A} - cI$  with  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}_0) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  and consider  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, X_{-\alpha})$  for  $\alpha \in [0, 1/2]$ ,  $u \in L^2_{loc}([0, T); \mathbb{R}^m) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta, T); \mathbb{R}^m)$  and  $f \in L^2_{loc}([0, T); X) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta, T); X)$  for all  $\delta > 0$ . Then for all  $x_0 \in X$  and all  $\delta > 0$ the mild solution (5.14) of (5.13) on [0, T) satisfies

(i) if  $\alpha = 0$ , then for all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ 

 $x \in BC([0,T);X) \cap C^{0,\lambda}([\delta,T);X);$ 

(ii) if  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$ , then

 $x \in BC([0,T);X) \cap C^{0,1-\alpha}([\delta,T);X) \cap C^{0,1-2\alpha}([\delta,T);X_{\alpha});$ 

(iii) if  $\alpha = 1/2$ , then

 $x \in BC([0,T);X) \cap C^{0,1/2}([\delta,T);X) \cap BUC([\delta,T);X_{1/2}).$ 

Moreover, if  $u \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $f \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); X)$  and  $x_0 \in X_1$ , the former hold with  $\delta = 0$ .

*Proof.* Note that for all T > 0 the continuity of x from Lemma 5.5.2 guarantees its boundedness, so we only need to explicitly check it for the case  $T = \infty$ . Moreover, the Hölder regularity respectively bounded and uniform continuity will be clear for all T > 0, so we will focus on the case  $T = \infty$ .

Consider the form  $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}(\cdot, \cdot) = \mathfrak{a}(\cdot, \cdot) + c \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , which is coercive, hence the operator associated to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$  is  $\mathcal{A}_0$  and generates an analytic, contractive semigroup denoted by  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ .

Moreover, since  $\mathcal{A}_0$  is strictly dissipative, the semigroup  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is exponentially stable and, in particular, satisfies  $\|\mathbb{T}_t x\| \leq e^{-ct} \|x\|$  for all  $t \geq 0$  and all  $x \in X$ . Define, for  $t \geq 0$ , the functions

$$x_h(t) \coloneqq \mathbb{T}_t x_0, \quad x_f(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{t-s} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad x_u(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t (\mathbb{T}|_{-\alpha})_{t-s} \mathcal{B}u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

so that  $x = x_h + x_f + x_u$ . By Lemma 5.5.2,  $x \in C([0,\infty); X) \cap W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(0,\infty; X_{-1})$ . Since  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is exponentially stable, it follows that  $\mathcal{B}$  is also infinite-time  $L^p$ -admissible for  $p \in [2,\infty]$ , see [66, Lemma 2.9(i)], which implies that  $x_u \in BC([0,\infty); X)$ . A direct calculation using the exponential stability of  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  shows that  $x_h, x_f \in BC([0,\infty); X)$ .

We study the three different cases:  $\alpha = 0$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$  and  $\alpha = 1/2$ . Let  $\alpha = 0$ . Then, we can define  $\tilde{f} := f + Bu \in L^2_{loc}(0, \infty; X) \cap L^{\infty}(\delta, \infty; X)$  for all  $\delta > 0$ . We thus have from [84, Proposition 4.2.3 & Proposition 4.4.1 (i)] that for all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$  it holds that

$$x \in C^{0,\lambda}([\delta,\infty);X) \cap BC([0,\infty);X).$$

Consider now  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$ . Since  $x_0 \in X$  and  $f \in L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); X)$ , we may infer from [84, Proposition 4.2.3 & Proposition 4.4.1 (i)] that

$$x_h + x_f \in C^{0, 1-2\alpha}([\delta, \infty); X_\alpha) \cap C^{0, 1-\alpha}([\delta, \infty); X) \cap BC([0, \infty); X).$$

By using Lemma 1.6.1 it can be easily computed that there exists  $K_{\alpha} > 0$  such that for all  $t \ge s \ge \delta$  we have that

$$||x_u(t) - x_u(s)||_{X_\alpha} \le K_\alpha ||\mathcal{B}u||_{L^\infty([\delta,\infty);X_{-\alpha})} (t-s)^{1-2\alpha},$$

so that  $x_u \in C^{0,1-2\alpha}([\delta,\infty);X_\alpha)$ . Similarly,

$$||x_u(t) - x_u(s)||_X \le G_\alpha ||\mathcal{B}u||_{L^\infty([\delta,\infty);X_{-\alpha})} (t-s)^{1-\alpha},$$

for some  $G_{\alpha} > 0$ , so that  $x_u \in C^{0,1-\alpha}([\delta,\infty);X)$ .

The case  $\alpha = 1/2$  needs a special treatment, because the previous calculations are not feasible in this case. We obtain from Proposition 5.4.1c) that  $\mathcal{A}_0$  has an eigendecomposition of type (5.9) with eigenvalues  $(-\beta_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ ,  $\beta_j \coloneqq \alpha_j + c$ , and eigenfunctions  $(\theta_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ . Moreover, there exist  $b_i \in X_{-1/2}$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, m$  such that  $\mathcal{B}\xi = \sum_{i=1}^m b_i \cdot \xi_i$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} x_u(t) &= \int_0^t \sum_{j=0}^\infty e^{-\beta_j (t-\tau)} \theta_j \sum_{i=1}^m \langle b_i \cdot u_i(\tau), \theta_j \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \int_0^t \sum_{j=0}^\infty e^{-\beta_j (t-\tau)} \theta_j \sum_{i=1}^m u_i(\tau) \, \langle b_i, \theta_j \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\tau \,, \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality holds since  $u_i(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}$  and can be treated as a constant in X. By considering each of the factors in the sum over  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , we can assume without loss of generality that m = 1 and  $b := b_1$ , so that

$$x_u(t) = \int_0^t \sum_{j=0}^\infty e^{-\beta_j(t-\tau)} u(\tau) \langle b, \theta_j \rangle \, \theta_j \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, .$$

Define  $b^j := \langle b, \theta_j \rangle$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . We show that  $x_u \in BUC([\delta, \infty); X_{1/2})$ . For that we use the diagonal representation as in Remark 5.4.5. In particular, since  $b \in X_{-1/2}$  we have that

$$S \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j} < \infty.$$
(5.15)

Now let  $t > s > \delta$  and  $\sigma > 0$  such that  $t - s < \sigma$ . By dominated convergence [28, Theorem II.2.3], summation and integration can be interchanged, so that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{u}(t) - x_{u}(s)\|_{X_{1/2}}^{2} \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^{m})}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \beta_{j}(b^{j})^{2} \left(\int_{\delta}^{s} e^{-\beta_{j}(s-\tau)} - e^{-\beta_{j}(t-\tau)} d\tau + \int_{s}^{t} e^{-\beta_{j}(t-\tau)} d\tau\right)^{2} \\ &\leq 4\|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^{m})}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^{j})^{2}}{\beta_{j}} \left(1 - e^{-\beta_{j}(t-s)}\right)^{2} \\ &\leq 4\|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^{m})}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^{j})^{2}}{\beta_{j}} \left(1 - e^{-\beta_{j}\sigma}\right)^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

We can conclude from (5.15) that the series  $F: (0, \infty) \to (0, S)$  with

$$F(\sigma) \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j} (1 - e^{-\beta_j \sigma})^2$$

converges uniformly to a strictly monotone, continuous and surjective function. Therefore, F has an inverse. The function  $x_u$  is thus uniformly continuous on  $[\delta, \infty)$  and by exponential stability of  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  we obtain boundedness, i.e.,  $x_u \in BUC([\delta, \infty); X_{1/2})$ . By using similar estimates and the exponential stability of  $(\mathbb{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ , it is straightforward to see that  $x_h, x_f \in C^{0,1/2}([\delta, \infty); X_{1/2}) \cap C^{0,1/2}([\delta, \infty); X)$  by applying [84, Proposition 4.2.3 & Proposition 4.4.1 (i)], which further implies  $x_h, x_f \in BUC([\delta, \infty); X_{1/2})$ . To see that also  $x_u \in C^{0,1/2}([\delta, \infty); X)$ , we proceed as we did before. Let  $t > s > \delta$ and observe that

$$\|x_u(t) - x_u(s)\|_X^2 \leq \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (b^j)^2 \left(\int_0^s e^{-\beta_j(s-\tau)} - e^{-\beta_j(t-\tau)} d\tau + \int_s^t e^{-\beta_j(t-\tau)} d\tau\right)^2$$

$$\leq 4 \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j^2} \left(1 - e^{-\beta_j(t-s)}\right)^2.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\|x_u(t) - x_u(s)\|_X^2}{t - s} \le 4 \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j^2} \frac{\left(1 - e^{-\beta_j(t-s)}\right)^2}{t - s}.$$

By the mean value theorem, there exists  $\xi \in (0, t - s)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\|x_u(t) - x_u(s)\|_X^2}{t - s} &\leq 8 \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j} \left(1 - e^{-\beta_j \xi}\right) \\ &\leq 8 \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b^j)^2}{\beta_j} \\ &= 8 \|u\|_{L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)}^2 S. \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$||x_u(t) - x_u(s)||_X \le \sqrt{8S} ||u||_{L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m)} \sqrt{t-s},$$

and  $x_u \in C^{0,1/2}([\delta, \infty); X)$ .

Since  $\delta > 0$  is arbitrary, the result follows. In order to show that the case  $\delta \to 0$  is consistent, note that in the estimates involving  $x_u$ , we can set  $\delta = 0$ , and everything holds. For  $x_f$ , this follows from [84, Proposition 4.2.1], so that we only need to check  $x_h$ . Since  $x_0 \in X_1$ , it follows that  $x_0 \in X_\lambda$  for all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Thus, for  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ ,  $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$  and  $t, s \in [0, \infty)$  with s < t we have from Lemma 1.6.1 that there exist  $K_1, K_2 > 0$  such that

$$||x_h(t) - x_h(s)||_X \le K_1 ||x_0||_{X_\lambda} (t-s)^{\lambda}$$

and

$$||x_h(t) - x_h(s)||_{X_\alpha} \le K_2 ||x_0||_{X_{1-\alpha}} (t-s)^{1-2\alpha}$$

Thus the case  $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$  is clear. For the case  $\alpha = 1/2$  using Lemma 1.6.1 leads to

$$||x_h(t) - x_h(s)||_{X_{1/2}} \le K_3 ||x_0||_{X_1} (t-s)^{1/2}$$

for some  $K_3 > 0$ , so that  $x_h \in BUC([0, \infty); X_{1/2})$ , which concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 5.5.4.** Note that in the latter results, when  $T \in (0, \infty]$  is finite, the solutions are defined in the compact [0, T] instead of [0, T) or  $[\delta, T]$  instead of  $[\delta, T)$ .

## 5.6 Proof of the Main Theorem

The proof is inspired by [65], which uses arguments from [82] for the convergence of certain subsequences. We divide the proof in two major parts. First, we show that there exists a unique solution for  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ . Secondly we show that the solution also exists for  $t \in (\gamma, \infty)$  and is continuous at  $t = \gamma$  and has the desired properties.

### **5.6.1** Solution for $t \in [0, \gamma]$

Assuming that  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ , we have that  $\varphi(t) \equiv 0$  so that we need to show existence of a solution of

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle v_n(t), \theta \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), \theta) + \langle p_3(v_n(t)) - u_n(t) + I_{s,i}(t), \theta \rangle + \langle I_{s,e}^n(t), \mathcal{B}'\theta \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m},$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle u_n(t), \chi \rangle = \langle c_5 v_n(t) - c_4 u_n(t), \chi \rangle,$$

$$I_{s,e}^n(t) = -k_0 (\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)).$$
(5.16)

Step 1. Existence and uniqueness

Let  $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be the eigenfunctions of  $-\mathcal{A}$  and let  $\alpha_i$  be the corresponding eigenvalues, with  $\alpha_i \geq 0$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Recall that  $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\Omega)$  by Proposition 5.4.1c). Hence, with  $a_i \coloneqq \langle v_0, \theta_i \rangle$  and  $b_i \coloneqq \langle u_0, \theta_i \rangle$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and

$$v_0^n \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n a_i \theta_i, \quad u_0^n \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n b_i \theta_i, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we have that  $v_0^n \to v_0$  and  $u_0^n \to u_0$  strongly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Let  $\gamma_i := \mathcal{B}' \theta_i$  for i = 0, ..., n. Consider

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mu}_{j}(t) &= -\alpha_{j}\mu_{j}(t) - \nu_{j}(t) - \left\langle k_{0} \left( \sum_{i=0}^{n} \gamma_{i}\mu_{i}(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \right), \gamma_{j} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} + \left\langle I_{s,i}(t), \theta_{j} \right\rangle \\ &+ \left\langle p_{3} \left( \sum_{i=0}^{n} \mu_{i}(t)\theta_{i} \right), \theta_{j} \right\rangle, \\ \dot{\nu}_{j}(t) &= -c_{4}\nu_{j}(t) + c_{5}\mu_{j}(t), \end{split}$$

whit  $\mu_j(0) = a_j$  and  $\nu_j(0) = b_j$  defined on  $\mathbb{D} := [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)}$ . Since the functions on the right hand side of the differential equations are continuous, the set  $\mathbb{D}$  is relatively open in  $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)}$  and the initial condition is in  $\mathbb{D}$  it follows from ODE theory, see e.g. [121, § 10, Theorem XX], that there exists a weakly differentiable solution  $(\mu, \nu) = (\mu_0, \ldots, \mu_n, \nu_0, \ldots, \nu_n) : [0, T_n) \to \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)}$  such that  $T_n \in (0, \gamma]$  is maximal. Furthermore, the closure of the graph of  $(\mu, \nu)$  is not a compact subset of  $\mathbb{D}$ . Consequently, let  $v_n(t) = \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_n(t)\theta_i$  and  $u_n(t) = \sum_{i=0}^n \nu_n(t)\theta_i$ . By using the functions  $\theta_j$  we have that for j = 1, ..., n the former ODE system is equivalent to the truncated weak formulation

$$\langle \dot{v}_n(t), \theta_j \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), \theta_j) - \langle u_n(t), \theta_j \rangle + \langle p_3(v_n(t)), \theta_j \rangle + \langle I_{s,i}(t), \theta_j \rangle - \langle k_0(\mathcal{B}'v_n(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)), \mathcal{B}'\theta_j \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} ,$$
(5.17a)

$$\langle \dot{u}_n(t), \theta_j \rangle = -c_4 \langle u_n(t), \theta_j \rangle + c_5 \langle v_n(t), \theta_j \rangle.$$
 (5.17b)

Consider the Lyapunov function candidate

$$V: \quad L^{2}(\Omega) \times L^{2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}, (v, u) \mapsto \frac{1}{2}(c_{5}\|v\|^{2} + \|u\|^{2}).$$
(5.18)

Observing that, since  $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  are orthonormal, we have  $||v_n||^2 = \sum_{j=0}^n \mu_j^2$  and  $||u_n||^2 = \sum_{j=0}^n \nu_j^2$  and hence we find that, for all  $t \in [0, T_n)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} V(v_n(t), u_n(t)) = &c_5 \sum_{j=0}^n \mu_j(t) \dot{\mu}_j(t) + \sum_{j=0}^n \nu_j(t) \dot{\nu}_j(t) \\ = &- c_5 \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j \mu_j(t)^2 - c_4 \sum_{j=0}^n \nu_j(t)^2 \\ &- c_5 \left\langle k_0 \left( \sum_{i=0}^n \gamma_i \mu_i(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \right), \sum_{i=0}^n \gamma_i \mu_i(t) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \\ &+ c_5 \left\langle p_3 \left( \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_i(t) \theta_i \right), \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_i(t) \theta_i \right\rangle + c_5 \left\langle I_{s,i}(t), v_n \right\rangle \end{aligned}$$

hence, omitting the argument t for brevity in the following,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}V(v_n, u_n) = -c_5\mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - c_4 ||u_n||^2 + c_5 \langle I_{s,i}(t), v_n \rangle - c_5k_0 ||\overline{e}_n||_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 + c_5k_0 \langle \overline{e}_n, y_{\mathrm{ref}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + c_5 \langle p_3(v_n), v_n \rangle,$$
(5.19)

where

$$\overline{e}_n(t) \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n \gamma_i \mu_i(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)$$

First recall Young's inequality for products, i.e., for  $a, b \ge 0$  and  $p, q \ge 1$  such that 1/p + 1/q = 1 we have that

$$ab \le \frac{a^p}{p} + \frac{b^q}{q},$$

which we will frequently use in the following. Note that

$$\langle p_3(v_n), v_n \rangle = -c_1 \|v_n\|^2 + c_2 \langle v_n^2, v_n \rangle - c_3 \|v_n^4\|_{L^4}$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$ 

$$c_{2}|\langle v_{n}^{2}, v_{n}\rangle| = |\langle \epsilon v_{n}^{3}, \epsilon^{-1}c_{2}\rangle| \leq \frac{3\epsilon^{4/3}}{4} ||v||_{L^{4}}^{4} + \frac{c_{2}^{4}}{4\epsilon^{4}}|\Omega|.$$

By choosing  $\epsilon$  such that  $3\epsilon^{4/3} = 2c_3$  we have that

$$\langle p_3(v_n), v_n \rangle \le \frac{c_2^4}{4\epsilon^4} |\Omega| - c_1 ||v||^2 - \frac{c_3}{2} ||v_n||_{L^4}^4$$

Moreover,

$$\langle \overline{e}_n, y_{\mathrm{ref}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\overline{e}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2$$

and

$$\langle I_{s,i}(t), v_n \rangle \le \frac{c_1}{2} \|v_n\|^2 + \frac{1}{2c_1} \|I_{s,i}(t)\|^2$$

so that (5.19) becomes

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} V(v_n, u_n) &\leq -c_5 \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - \frac{c_1 c_5}{2} \|v_n\|^2 - \frac{c_5 k_0}{2} \|\overline{e}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 - \frac{c_3}{2} \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 \\ &+ \frac{k_0 c_5}{2} \|y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 + \frac{1}{2c_1} \|I_{s,i}(t)\|^2 + \frac{c_2^4}{4\epsilon^4} |\Omega| \\ &\leq c_5 \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - \frac{c_3}{2} \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 + \frac{1}{2c_1} \|I_{s,i}(t)\|^2 + \frac{k_0 c_5}{2} \|y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 + \frac{c_2^4}{4\epsilon^4} |\Omega| \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$C_{\infty} \coloneqq \frac{k_0 c_5}{2} \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}^2 + \frac{1}{2c_1} \|I_{s,i}\|_{\infty}^2 + \frac{c_2^4}{4\epsilon^4} |\Omega|$$

to obtain that

$$V(v_n(t), u_n(t)) - V(v_0^n, u_0^n) + c_5 \int_0^t \mathfrak{a}(v_n(s), v_n(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{c_3}{2} \int_0^t \|v_n(s)\|_{L^4}^4 \,\mathrm{d}s \le C_\infty \gamma.$$

Since  $(u_n^0, v_n^0) \to (u_0, v_0)$  strongly in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and for any  $p \in L^2(\Omega)$  we have

$$\left\|\sum_{i=0}^{n} \left\langle p, \theta_{i} \right\rangle \theta_{i}\right\|^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \left\langle p, \theta_{i} \right\rangle^{2} \le \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\langle p, \theta_{i} \right\rangle^{2} = \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left\langle p, \theta_{i} \right\rangle \theta_{i}\right\|^{2} = \|p\|^{2},$$

we have that

$$c_{5} \|v_{n}(t)\|^{2} + \|u_{n}(t)\|^{2} + c_{5} \int_{0}^{t} \mathfrak{a}(v_{n}(s), v_{n}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{c_{5}k_{0}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|\overline{e}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{c_{3}}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|v_{n}(s)\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \,\mathrm{d}s \leq C_{\infty}\gamma + c_{5} \|u_{0}\|^{2} + \|v_{0}\|^{2}.$$
(5.20)

In particular,  $T_n = \gamma$ , since otherwise we would have a contradiction and hence the solution is defined for all  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ . Moreover

$$\|v_n(t)\|^2 \le c_5^{-1} C_{\infty} \gamma, \quad \|u_n(t)\|^2 \le C_{\infty} \gamma$$
 (5.21)

and there exist constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  such that

$$||v_n||^4_{L^4(Q_\gamma)} \le C_1, \quad ||v_n||_{L^2(0,\gamma;W^{1,2}(\Omega))} \le C_2,$$
 (5.22)

where  $Q_{\gamma} \coloneqq (0, \gamma) \times \Omega$ . Note that (5.22) directly implies that

$$\|v_n^2\|_{L^2(Q_\gamma)}^2 \le C_1, \tag{5.23}$$

and using Hölder's inequality, there exists a  $\tilde{C}_1$  such that

$$\|v_n^3\|_{L^{4/3}(Q_{\gamma})} \le \tilde{C}_1 \tag{5.24}$$

Equations (5.17b) and (5.21) imply that there exists  $C_3 > 0$  such that

$$||u||_{W^{1,2}([0,\gamma];L^2(\Omega))} \le C_3$$

Let  $P_n$  be the projection of  $L^2(\Omega)$  onto the subspace generated by  $\theta_i$ , i = 1, ..., n with the norm

$$\|v\|_{W^{1,2}} = \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} |\langle v, \theta_i \rangle|^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i |\langle v, \theta_i \rangle|^2\right)^{1/2},$$

on  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  as by Proposition 5.4.4 and Remark 5.4.5. By the duality, we have that

$$\|v\|_{(W^{1,2})'} = \left( |\langle v, \theta_0 \rangle|^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n (1+\alpha_i)^{-1} |\langle v, \theta_i \rangle|^2 \right)^{1/2},$$

is a norm on  $(W^{1,2}(\Omega))'$ , c.f. [116, Proposition 3.4.8]. Each  $P_n$  is a bounded linear functional from  $(W^{1,2}(\Omega))'$  to  $(W^{1,2}(\Omega))'$  with norm 1 independent of n. From the weak formulation (5.17) we have that

$$\dot{v}_n = P_n \mathcal{A} v_n + P_n p_3(v_n) - P_n u_n + P_n I_{s,i} - P_n \mathcal{B} k_0(\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)).$$

Since  $v_n \in L^2([0,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ , be the Sobolev embedding,  $v_n \in L^2([0,\gamma]; L^p(\Omega))$  for all  $2 \leq p \leq 6$  and thus  $p_3(v_n) \in L^2([0,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega))$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{A}v \in L^2([0,\gamma]; (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$  so that there exists a constant  $C_4 > 0$  such that

$$\|\dot{v}_n\|_{L^2([0,\gamma];(W^{1,2}(\Omega))')} \le C_4.$$

Now, by Lemma 1.4.6 we have that there exists a subsequence for which

$$u_n \to u \in W^{1,2}([0,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weakly,}$$

$$u_n \to u \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star},$$

$$v_n \to v \in L^2([0,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \text{ weakly,}$$

$$v_n \to v \in L^{\infty}([0,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star},$$

$$v_n \to v \in L^4(Q_{\gamma}) \text{ weakly,}$$

$$\dot{v}_n \to \dot{v} \in L^2([0,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)') \text{ weakly.}$$
(5.25)

Moreover, let  $p_0 = p_1 = 2$  and  $X = W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ ,  $Y = L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $Z = W^{1,2}(\Omega)'$ . Then, [82, Chapitre 1, Théorème 5.1] implies that

$$W \coloneqq \{ u \in L^{p_0}([0,\gamma];X) \mid \dot{u} \in L^{p_1}([0,\gamma];Z) \}$$

with norm  $||u||_{L^{p_0}([0,\gamma];X)} + ||\dot{u}||_{L^{p_1}([0,\gamma];Y)}$  has a compact injection into  $L^{p_0}([0,\gamma];Y)$ , so the weakly convergent sequence  $v_n \to v \in W$  converges strongly in  $L^2([0,\gamma];L^2(\Omega))$  by [54, Lem. 1.6].

Further,  $(u(0), v(0)) = (u_0, v_0)$  and by  $v \in W^{1,2}([0, \gamma]; L^2(\Omega)), v \in L^2([0, \gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ and  $\dot{v} \in L^2([0, \gamma]; (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$  it follows that  $u, v \in C([0, \gamma]; L^2(\Omega))$ , see for instance [54, Theorem 1.32]. Note that  $\mathcal{B}'v - y_{\text{ref}} \in L^2([0, \gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m)$  as well. Hence, (u, v) is a solution of (5.7) in  $[0, \gamma]$  and

$$\dot{v}(t) = \mathcal{A}v(t) + p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t) - \mathcal{B}k_0(\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t))$$
(5.26)

holds in  $(W^{1,2}(\Omega))'$ . Moreover, from (5.23) & (5.24), by [82, Chapitre 1, Lemme 1.3] and  $v_n \to v$  in  $L^4(Q_{\gamma})$  we have that  $v_n^3 \to v^3$  weakly in  $L^{4/3}(Q_{\gamma})$  and  $v_n^2 \to v^2$  weakly in  $L^2(Q_{\gamma})$ .

To show uniqueness, assume now that there exist two solutions  $(u_1, v_1)$  and  $(u_2, v_2)$  of the former. Define

$$\Sigma(t,\zeta) \coloneqq \frac{c_2}{c_3} + |v_1(t,\zeta)| + |v_2(t,\zeta)|,$$

and let

$$Q_{\Lambda} \coloneqq \{(t,\zeta) \in Q_{\gamma} \mid \Sigma(t,\zeta) \ge \Lambda\}.$$

Since  $v_1, v_2 \in L^4(Q_\gamma)$ , we can choose  $\Lambda$  such that

$$\int_{Q_{\gamma} \setminus Q_{\Lambda}} \Sigma^4 < \epsilon.$$

Let  $V_i \coloneqq v_i - \Lambda$  for i = 1, 2,  $V \coloneqq V_2 - V_2 = v_2 - v_1$  and  $U \coloneqq u_2 - u_1$ . By [54, Theorem 1.32], we have that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|V(t)\|^2 = \left\langle \dot{V}(t), V(t) \right\rangle, \quad \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|U(t)\|^2 = \left\langle \dot{U}(t), U(t) \right\rangle$$

holds for all  $t \in (0, \gamma)$ . Using Lemma 4.4.4, it can be computed that

$$\frac{c_5}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|V(t)\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|U(t)\|^2 \le \langle p_3(v_2) - p_3(v_1), V_2 - V_1 \rangle \,,$$

so that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{c_5}{2} \|V(t)\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|U(t)\|^2 &\leq \int_{Q_\Lambda} (p_3(v_2) - p_3(v_1))(V_2 - V_1) \\ &+ \int_{Q_\gamma \setminus Q_\Lambda} (p_3(v_2) - p_3(v_1))(V_2 - V_1) \end{aligned}$$

However,

$$\begin{aligned} (p_3(v_2) - p_3(v_1))(V_2 - V_1) &= (p_3(V_2 + \Lambda) - p_3(V_1 + \Lambda))(V_2 - V_1) \\ &= -c_1V^2 - (3c_3\Lambda - c_2)V^2(V_1 + V_2) - (3c_3\Lambda - 2c_2)\Lambda V^2 \\ &- c_3V^2(V_2^2 + V_1V_2 + V_1^2) \end{aligned}$$

which is non-positive on  $Q_{\Lambda}$ . Hence,

$$\frac{c_5}{2} \|V(t)\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|U(t)\|^2 < 2\epsilon,$$

which yields  $u_2 = u_1$  and  $v_2 = v_1$ .

Step 2. For all  $\epsilon \in (0, \gamma)$ ,  $v(t) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  for  $t \in [\epsilon, \gamma]$ .

We will next show that for all  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $v \in BUC([\epsilon, \gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ . Consider again the approximation of the weak formulation (5.17). Multiplying (5.17a) by  $\dot{\mu}_j$  and adding over  $j = 0, \ldots, n$  we have

$$\begin{split} \|\dot{v}_n\|^2 &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - \langle u_n, \dot{v}_n \rangle + \langle p_3(v_n(t)), \dot{v}_n \rangle + \langle I_{s,i}(t), \dot{v}_n \rangle \\ &- k_0 \left\langle \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t), \mathcal{B}' \dot{v}_n \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - \langle u_n, \dot{v}_n \rangle + \langle p_3(v_n(t)), \dot{v}_n \rangle + \langle I_{s,i}(t), \dot{v}_n \rangle \\ &- k_0 \left\langle \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t), \mathcal{B}' \dot{v}_n - \dot{y}_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + k_0 \left\langle \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t), \dot{y}_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \end{split}$$

By using (5.21) and Young's inequality, it can be computed that there exist constants  $Q_1, Q_2 > 0$  independent of n such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{v}_n\|^2 &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) - \frac{c_3}{4} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 - \frac{k_0}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\mathcal{B}' v_n - y_{\mathrm{ref}}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\dot{v}_n\|^2 \\ &+ Q_1 \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 + Q_2 + \frac{k_0}{2} \|\mathcal{B}' v_n - y_{\mathrm{ref}}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{v}_n\|^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \mathfrak{a}(v_n, v_n) + \frac{c_3}{2} \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 + k_0 \|\mathcal{B}' v_n - y_{\mathrm{ref}}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \right) \\ &= 2Q_1 \|v_n\|_{L^4}^4 + 2Q_2 + k_0 \|\mathcal{B}' v_n - y_{\mathrm{ref}}\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2. \end{aligned}$$
(5.27)

Multiplying the former by t, using the chain rule and the fact that  $t\leq \gamma$  for  $t\in [0,\gamma]$  leads to

$$t\|\dot{v}_{n}(t)\|^{2} + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( t\mathfrak{a}(v_{n}(t), v_{n}(t)) + \frac{c_{3}t}{2} \|v_{n}(t)\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + k_{0}t\|\mathcal{B}'v_{n}(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2} \right)$$
  
$$= \left( 2Q_{1}\gamma + \frac{c_{3}}{2} \right) \|v_{n}(t)\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + \mathfrak{a}(v_{n}(t), v_{n}(t))$$
  
$$+ 2Q_{2}\gamma + k_{0}(\gamma + 1)\|\mathcal{B}'v_{n}(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}.$$

Since  $t \|\dot{v}_n(t)\|^2 \ge 0$  for all  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ , we further have that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( t \mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) + \frac{c_3 t}{2} \| v_n(t) \|_{L^4}^4 + k_0 t \| \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \right) \\ &= \left( 2Q_1 \gamma + \frac{c_3}{2} \right) \| v_n(t) \|_{L^4}^4 + \mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) \\ &+ 2Q_2 \gamma + k_0 (\gamma + 1) \| \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2. \end{aligned}$$

Integrating the former and using (5.20), there exist  $P_1, P_2 > 0$  independent of n such that for  $t \in [0, \gamma]$  we have

$$t\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) + \frac{c_3 t}{2} \|v_n(t)\|_{L^4}^4 + k_0 t \|\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 = P_1 + P_2 t.$$

Thus, there exist constants  $C_5, C_6 > 0$  independent of n such that for all  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ 

 $t\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) \le C_5, \quad t \| \mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\text{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m} \le C_6.$ 

Hence, for all  $\epsilon \in (0, \gamma)$ ,  $v_n \in L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  and  $\mathcal{B}'v_n - y_{\text{ref}} \in L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m)$ , so that in addition to (5.25), by using Lemma 1.4.6 we further have that there exists a subsequence such that

$$v_n \to v \in L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$$

and  $\mathcal{B}'v \in L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m)$  for all  $\epsilon \in (0, \gamma)$ , so  $I_{s,e} \in L^2([0, \gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m) \cap L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m)$ . By the Sobolev embedding  $W^{1,2}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega)$  for  $2 \leq p \leq 6$  we have that  $p_3(v) \in L^{\infty}([\epsilon, \gamma]; L^2(\Omega))$ . Moreover, since (5.26) holds, we can rewrite it as

$$\dot{v}(t) = (\mathcal{A} - c_1 I)v(t) + I_r(t) + \mathcal{B}I_{s,e}(t),$$

where  $I_r := c_2 v^2 - c_3 v^3 - u + I_{s,i} \in L^2([0,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\epsilon,\gamma]; L^2(\Omega))$  and Proposition 5.5.3 with  $c = c_1$  implies that the solution  $v \in BUC([\epsilon,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ . Hence, for all  $\epsilon \in (0,\gamma), v(t) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  for  $t \in [\epsilon,\gamma]$ , so that in particular  $v(\gamma) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

Note that if  $v_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ , then it follows that  $v_0 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and the former can be carried out for  $\epsilon = 0$ . Since  $v_0 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  so that by the Sobolev embedding it holds  $v_0 \in L^4(\Omega)$ . We can integrate (5.27) and use (5.20) so that there exist  $\tilde{P}_1, \tilde{P}_2$ independent of n such that

$$\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) + \frac{c_3}{2} \|v_n(t)\|_{L^4}^4 + k_0 \|\mathcal{B}'v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 = \tilde{P}_1 + \tilde{P}_2 t.$$

Thus, there exist constants  $\tilde{C}_5, \tilde{C}_6 > 0$  independent of n such that for all  $t \in [0, \gamma]$ 

$$\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), v_n(t)) \le \tilde{C}_5, \quad \|\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m} \le \tilde{C}_6.$$

Analogously, by using Lemma 1.4.6 we further have that there exists a subsequence such that

$$v_n \to v \in L^{\infty}([0,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)).$$

In fact,

$$v \in L^{\infty}([0,\gamma]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)),$$
  

$$I_{s,e} \in L^{\infty}([0,\gamma]; \mathbb{R}^m).$$
(5.28)

### **5.6.2** Solution for $t \in (\gamma, \infty)$

The crucial step in the proof is to show that the error remains uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary while  $v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ . The proof is divided into several steps.

Step 1. We show existence of an approximate solution by means of a time-varying state-space transformation.

Once more, let  $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be the eigenfunctions of  $-\mathcal{A}$  and let  $\alpha_i$  be the corresponding eigenvalues, with  $\alpha_i \geq 0$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Recall that  $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\Omega)$  by Proposition 5.4.1c). Let  $(u_{\gamma}, v_{\gamma}) \coloneqq (u(\gamma), v(\gamma))$ ,  $a_i \coloneqq \langle v_{\gamma}, \theta_i \rangle$  and  $b_i \coloneqq \langle u_{\gamma}, \theta_i \rangle$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and

$$v_{\gamma}^{n} \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i} \theta_{i}, \quad u_{\gamma}^{n} \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_{i} \theta_{i}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we have that  $v_{\gamma}^n \to v_{\gamma}$  strongly in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $u_{\gamma}^n \to u_{\gamma}$  strongly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

We have stated in Remark 5.3.4a) that ker  $\mathcal{B} = \{0\}$  implies  $\mathcal{B}'\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{R}^m$ . As a consequence, there exist  $q_1, \ldots, q_m \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  such that  $\mathcal{B}'q_k = e_k$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, m$ . By Proposition 5.4.1a), we further have  $q_k \in C^{0,\nu}(\Omega)$  for some  $\nu > 0$ .

Note that  $U := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{span} \{\theta_i\}_{i=0}^n$  satisfies  $\overline{U} = W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  with the respective norm. Moreover,  $\overline{\mathcal{B}'U} = \mathbb{R}^m$ . Since  $\mathbb{R}^m$  is complete and finite dimensional and  $\mathcal{B}'$  is linear and continuous it follows that  $\mathcal{B}'U = \mathbb{R}^m$ . By the surjectivity of  $\mathcal{B}'$  we have that for all  $k \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  there exist  $n_k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $q_k \in U_{n_k}$  such that  $\mathcal{B}'q_k = e_k$ , where  $U_N = \bigcup_{n=1}^N \operatorname{span} \{\theta_i\}_{i=0}^n = \operatorname{span} \{\theta_i\}_{i=0}^N$  for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus, there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $q_k \in U_{n_0}$  for all  $k = \{1, \ldots, m\}$ , so the  $q_k$  are a (finite) linear combination of  $\theta_i$ . Define  $q \in W^{1,2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m) \cap C^{0,\nu}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)$  by  $q(\zeta) = (q_1(\zeta), \ldots, q_m(\zeta))^\top$  and  $q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}$  by

$$(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}})(t,\zeta) \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{m} q_k(\zeta) y_{\mathrm{ref},k}(t), \quad \zeta \in \Omega, \, t \ge 0.$$

Analogously for  $q \cdot \dot{y}_{ref}$ . Note that we have  $(q \cdot y_{ref}) \in BC([0,\infty) \times \Omega)$ , because

$$|\langle q, y_{\mathrm{ref}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} (t, \zeta)| \le \sum_{k=1}^m ||q_k||_{\infty} ||y_{\mathrm{ref},k}||_{\infty}$$

for all  $\zeta \in \Omega$  and  $t \geq 0$ , where we write  $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$  for the supremum norm. We denote by  $q_{k,j} \coloneqq \langle q_k, \theta_j \rangle$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, m, j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $q_k^n \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^n q_{k,j}$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Similarly,  $q^n \coloneqq (q_1^n, \ldots, q_m^n)^{\top}$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that  $q^n \to q$  strongly in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . Since  $\mathcal{B}' : W^{r,2}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}^m$  is continuous with  $r \in [0, 1]$ , it follows that for all  $\theta \in W^{r,2}(\Omega)$ there exists a unique  $\Gamma_r > 0$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{B}'\theta\|_{\mathbb{R}^m} \leq \Gamma_r \|\theta\|_{W^{r,2}}.$$

For  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let

$$\kappa_n \coloneqq \frac{1}{n+1} \frac{1}{\Gamma_r} \frac{1}{1 + \|v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)\|_{W^{r,2}}^2}.$$

Note that for  $v_{\gamma} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  it holds that  $\kappa_n > 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $(\kappa_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  is bounded by  $\Gamma_r^{-1}$  (and monotonically decreasing) and  $\kappa_n \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$  and by construction

$$\kappa_n \| \mathcal{B}'(v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma)) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m} < 1, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Consider a modification of  $\varphi$  induced by  $\kappa_n$ , namely, for  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ 

$$\varphi_n \coloneqq \varphi + \kappa_n.$$

It is clear that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  it holds  $\varphi_n \in W^{1,\infty}([\gamma,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\|\varphi_n\|_{\infty} \leq \|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1}$  and  $\|\dot{\varphi}_n\|_{\infty} = \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}$  are independent of n and  $\varphi_n \to \varphi \in \Phi_{\gamma}$  uniformly in  $BC([\gamma,\infty);\mathbb{R})$ . Moreover,  $\inf_{t>\gamma} \varphi_n(t) > 0$ . Fix  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For  $t \geq \gamma$ , define

$$\begin{split} \phi(e) &\coloneqq \frac{k_0}{1 - \|e\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} e, \quad e \in \mathbb{R}^m, \ \|e\|_{\mathbb{R}^m} < 1, \\ \omega_0(t) &\coloneqq \dot{\varphi}_n(t)\varphi_n(t)^{-1}, \\ F(t,z) &\coloneqq \varphi_n(t)f_{-1}(t) + \varphi_n(t)f_0(t) + f_1(t)z + \varphi_n(t)^{-1}f_2(t)z^2 - c_3\varphi_n(t)^{-2}z^3, \\ f_{-1}(t) &\coloneqq I_{s,i}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m y_{\mathrm{ref},k}(t)\mathcal{A}q_k, \\ f_0(t) &\coloneqq -q \cdot (\dot{y}_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) + c_1y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)) + c_2(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))^2 - c_3(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))^3, \\ f_1(t) &\coloneqq (q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))(2c_2 - 3c_3(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))), \\ f_2(t) &\coloneqq c_2 - 3c_3(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)), \\ g(t) &\coloneqq c_5(q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)). \end{split}$$

We have that  $f_{-1} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$ , since

$$\|f_{-1}\|_{2,\infty} \coloneqq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{t\geq 0} \left( \int_{\Omega} f_{-1}(\zeta, t)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \right)^{1/2} \\ \leq \|I_{s,i}\|_{L^2} + \sum_{k=1}^m \|y_{\operatorname{ref},k}\|_{\infty} \|\mathcal{A}q_k\|_{L^2} < \infty$$

Furthermore, we have that  $f_0 \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty) \times \Omega)$ , because

$$|f_0(\zeta, t)| \le (\|\dot{y}_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty} + c_1 \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}) \sum_{k=1}^m \|q_k\|_{\infty} + c_2 \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}^2 \left(\sum_{k=1}^m \|q_k\|_{\infty}\right)^2 + c_3 \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}^3 \left(\sum_{k=1}^m \|q_k\|_{\infty}\right)^3$$

for all  $\zeta \in \Omega$  and  $t \geq 0$ . Hence

$$||f_0||_{\infty,\infty} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(t,\zeta)\in[t,\infty)\times\Omega} |f_0(\zeta,t)| < \infty.$$

Moreover,  $f_1, f_2, g \in BC([0, \infty) \times \Omega)$ , so that  $||f_1||_{\infty,\infty} < \infty$ ,  $||f_2||_{\infty,\infty} < \infty$  and  $||g||_{\infty,\infty} < \infty$ .

Consider the system of 2(n+1) ODEs

$$\dot{\mu}_{j}(t) = -\alpha_{j}\mu_{j}(t) - (c_{1} - \omega_{0}(t))\mu_{j}(t) - \nu_{j}(t) - \left\langle \phi\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n}\gamma_{i}\mu_{i}(t)\right), \gamma_{j}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} + \left\langle F\left(t, \sum_{i=0}^{n}\mu_{i}(t)\theta_{i}\right), \theta_{j}\right\rangle,$$

$$\dot{\nu}_{j}(t) = -(c_{4} - \omega_{0}(t))\nu_{j}(t) + c_{5}\mu_{j}(t) + \varphi_{n}(t)\left\langle g(t), \theta_{j}\right\rangle,$$
(5.29)

defined on

$$\mathbb{D} \coloneqq \left\{ \left( t, \mu_0, \dots, \mu_n, \nu_0, \dots, \nu_n \right) \in [\gamma, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)} \left\| \left\| \sum_{i=0}^n \gamma_i \mu_i \right\|_{\mathbb{R}^m} < 1 \right\},\right.$$

with initial value

$$\mu_j(\gamma) = \kappa_n \left( a_j - \sum_{k=1}^m q_{k,j} y_{\mathrm{ref},k}(\gamma) \right), \quad \nu_j(\gamma) = \kappa_n b_j, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

Since the functions on the right hand side of the differential equations are continuous, the set  $\mathbb{D}$  is relatively open in  $[\gamma, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)}$  and by construction

$$(\gamma, \mu_0(\gamma), \dots, \mu_n(\gamma), \nu_0(\gamma), \dots, \nu_n(\gamma)) \in \mathbb{D}$$

it follows from ODE theory, see e.g. [121,  $\S$  10, Theorem XX], that there exists a weakly differentiable solution

$$(\mu,\nu) = (\mu_0,\ldots,\mu_n,\nu_0,\ldots,\nu_n) : [\gamma,T_n) \to \mathbb{R}^{2(n+1)}$$

such that  $T_n \in (\gamma, \infty]$  is maximal. Furthermore, the closure of the graph of  $(\mu, \nu)$  is not a compact subset of  $\mathbb{D}$ .

With that, we can define

$$z_n(t) \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_i(t)\theta_i, \quad w_n(t) \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n \nu_i(t)\theta_i, \quad e_n(t) \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n \gamma_i \mu_i(t)$$

and note that

$$z_{\gamma}^{n} \coloneqq z_{n}(\gamma) = \kappa_{n}(v_{\gamma}^{n} - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)), \quad w_{\gamma}^{n} \coloneqq w_{n}(\gamma) = \kappa_{n}u_{\gamma}^{n}.$$

From the orthonormality of the  $\theta_i$  we have that

$$\langle \dot{z}_n(t), \theta_j \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(z_n(t), \theta_j) - (c_1 - \omega_0(t)) \langle z_n(t), \theta_j \rangle - \langle w_n(t), \theta_j \rangle - \langle \phi \left( \mathcal{B}' z_n(t) \right), \mathcal{B}' \theta_j \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} + \langle F \left( t, z_n(t) \right), \theta_j \rangle ,$$

$$(5.30a)$$

$$\langle \dot{w}_n(t), \theta_j \rangle = -(c_4 - \omega_0(t)) \langle w_n(t), \theta_j \rangle + c_5 \langle z_n(t), \theta_j \rangle + \varphi_n \langle g(t), \theta_j \rangle.$$
(5.30b)

Define now

$$v_n(t) \coloneqq \varphi_n(t)^{-1} z_n(t) + q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(t), u_n(t) \coloneqq \varphi_n(t)^{-1} w_n(t).$$
(5.31)

and let  $v_n(t) = \sum_{i=0}^n \tilde{\mu}_n(t)\theta_i$  and  $u_n(t) = \sum_{i=0}^n \tilde{\nu}_n(t)\theta_i$ . The transformation (5.31) is bijective for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . In fact, there exists a relation between  $\mu_i, \nu_i$  and  $\tilde{\mu}_i, \tilde{\nu}_i$ , namely,

$$\mu_i(t) = \varphi_n(t) \left( \tilde{\mu}_i(t) - \sum_{k=1}^m q_{k,i} y_{\text{ref},k}(t) \right),$$
  
$$\nu_i(t) = \varphi_n(t) \tilde{\nu}_i(t).$$

With this transformation we obtain the truncated equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle v_n(t), \theta \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), \theta) + \langle p_3(v_n(t) + (q - q^n) \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)) - u_n(t), \theta \rangle 
+ \left\langle I_{s,i}(t) - (q - q^n) \cdot \dot{y}_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m y_{\mathrm{ref},k}(t) \mathcal{A}(q_k - q_k^n), \theta \right\rangle 
+ \left\langle I_{s,e}^n(t), \mathcal{B}'\theta \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m}, 
\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle u_n(t), \chi \rangle = \langle c_5(v_n(t) + (q - q^n) \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)) - c_4 u_n(t), \chi \rangle, 
I_{s,e}^n(t) = -\frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi_n(t)^2 ||\mathcal{B}'(v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))||_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} (\mathcal{B}'(v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t))),$$
(5.32)

with  $(u_n(\gamma), v_n(\gamma)) = (u_{\gamma}, v_{\gamma})$ . Since there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  for which  $q^{n_0} = q$ , we have that for  $n \geq n_0$  the following holds

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\langle v_n(t), \theta \right\rangle &= - \mathfrak{a}(v_n(t), \theta) + \left\langle p_3(v_n(t)) - u_n(t), \theta \right\rangle + \left\langle I_{s,i}(t), \theta \right\rangle + \left\langle I_{s,e}^n(t), \mathcal{B}' \theta \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m}, \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\langle u_n(t), \chi \right\rangle &= \left\langle c_5 v_n(t) - c_4 u_n(t), \chi \right\rangle, \\ I_{s,e}^n(t) &= - \frac{k_0}{1 - \varphi_n(t)^2 \|\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} (\mathcal{B}' v_n(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)), \end{split}$$

Step 2. We show boundedness of  $(z_n, w_n)$  in terms of  $\varphi_n$ . Consider again the Lyapunov function (5.18). We find that, for all  $t \in [0, T_n)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} V(z_n(t), w_n(t)) &= c_5 \sum_{j=0}^n \mu_j(t) \dot{\mu}_j(t) + \sum_{j=0}^n \nu_j(t) \dot{\nu}_j(t) \\ &= -c_5 \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j \mu_j(t)^2 - c_5 (c_1 - \omega_0(t)) \sum_{j=0}^n \mu_j(t)^2 \\ &- (c_4 - \omega_0(t)) \sum_{j=0}^n \nu_j(t)^2 - c_5 \langle \phi(e_n(t)), e_n(t) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \\ &+ \varphi_n(t) \left\langle g(t), \sum_{i=0}^n \nu_i(t) \theta_i \right\rangle \\ &+ c_5 \left\langle F\left(t, \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_i(t) \theta_i\right), \sum_{i=0}^n \mu_i(t) \theta_i \right\rangle, \end{aligned}$$

hence, omitting the argument t for brevity in the following,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}V(z_n, w_n) = -c_5\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - c_5(c_1 - \omega_0) \|z_n\|^2 - (c_4 - \omega_0) \|w_n\|^2 - c_5 \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} + c_5 \langle F(t, z_n), z_n \rangle + \varphi_n \langle g, w_n \rangle.$$
(5.33)

Next we use some Young and Hölder inequalities to estimate the term involving  $F(t, z_n)$ , that is

$$\langle F(t, z_n), z_n \rangle = \underbrace{\varphi_n(t) \langle f_{-1}(t), z_n \rangle}_{I_{-1}} + \underbrace{\varphi_n(t) \langle f_0(t), z_n \rangle}_{I_0} + \underbrace{\langle f_1(t) z_n, z_n \rangle}_{I_1} + \underbrace{\varphi_n(t)^{-1} \langle f_2(t) z_n^2, z_n \rangle}_{I_2} - c_3 \varphi_n(t)^{-2} \underbrace{\langle z_n^3, z_n \rangle}_{= \|z_n\|_{L^4}}.$$

For the first term we derive using Young's inequality with p = 4/3 and q = 4 that

$$I_{-1} \le \left\langle \frac{2^{1/2} \varphi_n^{3/2} |I_{s,i}|}{c_3^{1/4}}, \frac{c_3^{1/4} |z_n|}{2^{1/2} \varphi_n^{1/2}} \right\rangle + \sum_{k=1}^m \left\langle \frac{(4m)^{1/4} \varphi_n^{3/2} \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty} |Aq_k|}{c_3^{1/4}}, \frac{c_3^{1/4} |z_n|}{(4m)^{1/4} \varphi_n^{1/2}} \right\rangle$$

$$\leq \frac{2^{2/3} 3\varphi_n^2 \|I_{s,i}\|_{2,\infty}^{4/3} |\Omega|^{1/3}}{4c_3^{1/3}} + \sum_{k=1}^m \frac{3(4m)^{1/3} \varphi_n^2 \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}^{4/3} \|Aq_k\|^{4/3} |\Omega|^{1/3}}{4c_3^{1/3}} + \frac{c_3 \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4}{8\varphi_n^2}$$

and with the same choice we obtain for the second term

$$I_0 \le \left\langle \frac{2^{1/4} \varphi_n^{3/2} \|f_0\|_{\infty,\infty}}{c_3^{1/4}}, \frac{c_3^{1/4} |z_n|}{2^{1/4} \varphi_n^{1/2}} \right\rangle \le \frac{2^{1/3} 3 \varphi_n^2 \|f_0\|_{\infty,\infty}^{4/3} |\Omega|}{4 c_3^{1/3}} + \frac{c_3 \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4}{8 \varphi_n^2}.$$

Using p = q = 2 we find that the third term satisfies

$$I_1 \le \left\langle \frac{2\varphi_n \|f_1\|_{\infty,\infty}}{\sqrt{c_3}}, \frac{\sqrt{c_3}|z_n|^2}{2\varphi_n} \right\rangle \le \frac{2\varphi_n^2 \|f_1\|_{\infty,\infty}^2 |\Omega|}{c_3} + \frac{c_3 \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4}{8\varphi_n^2}$$

and finally, with p = 4 and q = 4/3,

$$I_{2} \leq \left\langle \varphi_{n}^{-1} \| f_{2} \|_{\infty,\infty}, |z_{n}|^{3} \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{3^{3/2} \varphi_{n}^{1/2} \| f_{2} \|_{\infty,\infty}}{c_{3}^{3/4}}, \left| \frac{c_{3}^{1/4} z_{n}}{\varphi_{n}^{1/2} \sqrt{3}} \right|^{3} \right\rangle$$
$$\leq \frac{9^{3} \varphi_{n}^{2} \| f_{2} \|_{\infty,\infty}^{4} |\Omega|}{4c_{3}^{3}} + \frac{c_{3}}{12\varphi_{n}^{2}} \| z_{n} \|_{L^{4}}^{4}.$$

Summarizing, we have shown that

$$\langle F(t,z_n), z_n \rangle \le K_0 \varphi_n^2 - \frac{13c_3}{24\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \le K_0 \varphi_n^2 - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4,$$

where

$$K_{0} \coloneqq \frac{2^{2/3} 3 \|I_{s,i}\|_{2,\infty}^{4/3} |\Omega|^{1/3}}{4c_{3}^{1/3}} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{3(4m)^{1/3} \|y_{\text{ref}}\|_{\infty}^{4/3} \|Aq_{k}\|^{4/3} |\Omega|^{1/3}}{4c_{3}^{1/3}} + \frac{2^{1/3} 3 \|f_{0}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{4/3} |\Omega|}{4c_{3}^{1/3}} + \frac{2 \|f_{1}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2} |\Omega|}{c_{3}} + \frac{9^{3} \|f_{2}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{4} |\Omega|}{4c_{3}^{3}}.$$

Finally, using Young's inequality with p = q = 2, we estimate the last term in (5.33) as follows

$$\varphi_n \langle g, w_n \rangle \le \frac{\varphi_n^2 \|g\|_{\infty,\infty}^2 |\Omega|}{2c_4} + \frac{c_4}{2} \|w_n\|^2.$$

We have thus obtained the estimate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}V(z_n, w_n) \leq -(\sigma - 2\omega_0)V(z_n, w_n) 
- c_5\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - c_5\frac{k_0\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3c_5}{2\varphi_n^2}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + \varphi_n^2K_1,$$
(5.34)

where

$$\sigma \coloneqq 2\min\{c_1, c_4\}, \quad K_1 \coloneqq c_5 K_0 + \frac{\|g\|_{\infty, \infty}^2 |\Omega|}{2c_4}.$$

In particular, we have the conservative estimate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}V(z_n, w_n) \le -(\sigma - 2\omega_0)V(z_n, w_n) + \varphi_n^2 K_1$$

on  $[\gamma, T_n)$ , which implies that

$$V(z_n(t), w_n(t)) \le e^{-K(t,\gamma)} V(z_n(\gamma), w_n(\gamma)) + \int_{\gamma}^{t} e^{-K(t,s)} \varphi_n(s)^2 K_1 \,\mathrm{d}s \,,$$

where

$$K(t,s) = \int_s^t \sigma - 2\omega_0(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau = \sigma(t-s) - 2\ln\varphi_n(t) + 2\ln\varphi_n(s), \quad \gamma \le s \le t < T_n.$$

Therefore, invoking  $\varphi_n(\gamma) = \kappa_n$ , for all  $t \in [\gamma, T_n)$  we have

$$V(z_{n}(t), w_{n}(t)) \leq e^{-\sigma(t-\gamma)} \frac{\varphi_{n}(t)^{2}}{\kappa_{n}^{2}} V(z_{n}(\gamma), w_{n}(\gamma)) + \frac{K_{1}}{\sigma} \varphi_{n}(t)^{2}$$
  
$$= \frac{\varphi_{n}(t)^{2}}{2} \left( (c_{5} \| v_{\gamma}^{n} - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma) \|^{2} + \| u_{\gamma}^{n} \|^{2}) e^{-\sigma(t-\gamma)} + 2K_{1} \sigma^{-1} \right)$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\varphi_{n}(t)^{2}}{2} \left( (c_{5} \| v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma) \|^{2} + \| u_{\gamma} \|^{2}) e^{-\sigma(t-\gamma)} + 2K_{1} \sigma^{-1} \right).$$

Hence

$$c_5 \|z_n(t)\|^2 + \|w_n(t)\|^2 \le \varphi_n(t)^2 (c_5 \|v_\gamma - q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)\|^2 + \|u_\gamma\|^2 + 2K_1 \sigma^{-1})$$

for all  $t \in [\gamma, T_n)$ . Thus there exist M, N > 0 which are independent of n and t such that

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n): \|z_n(t)\|^2 \le M\varphi_n(t)^2 \text{ and } \|w_n(t)\|^2 \le N\varphi_n(t)^2.$$
(5.35)

Hence

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n) : \|v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(t)\|^2 \le M \text{ and } \|u_n(t)\|^2 \le N.$$
 (5.36)

Step 3. We show  $T_n = \infty$  and that  $e_n$  is uniformly bounded away from 1 on  $[\gamma, \infty)$ . Step 3a. We derive some estimates for  $\frac{d}{dt} ||z_n||^2$  and for an integral involving  $||z_n(s)||_{L^4}^4$ . In a similar way in which we have derived (5.34) we can obtain the estimate

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n\|^2 \leq -\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - (c_1 - \omega_0) \|z_n\|^2 + \|z_n\| \|w_n\| \\
- \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + K_0 \varphi_n^2.$$
(5.37)

Using (5.35) and  $-c_1 ||z_n||^2 \le 0$  leads to

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_n\|^2 \le -\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4$$

$$+ \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty} M\varphi_n + (K_0 + \sqrt{MN})\varphi_n^2.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_n\|^2 \le -\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + K_1\varphi_n + K_2\varphi_n^2 \tag{5.38}$$

on  $[\gamma, T_n)$ , where  $K_1 \coloneqq M \| \dot{\varphi} \|_{\infty}$  and  $K_2 \coloneqq K_0 + \sqrt{MN}$ . Observe that

$$\frac{c_3}{2}\varphi_n^{-3} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \le -\frac{\varphi_n^{-1}}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_n\|^2 + K_3,$$

where  $K_3 \coloneqq K_1 + K_2 \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$ . Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{c_3}{2} \int_{\gamma}^{t} e^{s} \varphi_n(s)^{-3} \|z_n(s)\|_{L^4}^4 ds \\ &\leq K_3(e^t - e^{\gamma}) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\gamma}^{t} e^{s} \varphi_n(s)^{-1} \frac{d}{dt} \|z_n(s)\|^2 ds \\ &= K_3(e^t - e^{\gamma}) - \frac{1}{2} \left( e^t \varphi_n(t)^{-1} \|z_n(t)\|^2 - \frac{\|z_{\gamma}^n\|^2}{\kappa_n} e^{\gamma} \right) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\gamma}^{t} e^s \varphi_n(s)^{-2} (\varphi_n(s) - \dot{\varphi}_n(s)) \|z_n(s)\|^2 ds \\ &\leq \frac{e^t}{2} (2K_3 + (\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1} + \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}) M) + \kappa_n e^{\gamma} (\|v_{\gamma}\|^2 + \|q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)\|^2), \end{aligned}$$

and hence there exist  $D_0, D_1 > 0$  independent of n and t such that

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n): \ \int_{\gamma}^{t} e^{s} \varphi_n(s)^{-3} \| z_n(s) \|_{L^4}^4 \, ds \le D_1 e^t + \kappa_n D_0.$$
 (5.39)

Step 3b. We derive an estimate for  $||\dot{z}_n||^2$ . Multiplying (5.30a) by  $\dot{\mu}_j$  and summing up over  $j \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$  we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}_{n}\|^{2} &= -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathfrak{a}(z_{n},z_{n}) - \frac{c_{1}}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2} + \frac{k_{0}}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\ln(1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}) \\ &+ \langle\omega_{0}z_{n} + F(t,z_{n}) - w_{n}, \dot{z}_{n}\rangle \,. \end{aligned}$$

We can estimate the last term above by

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \omega_0 z_n, \dot{z}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{7}{2} \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}^2 \varphi_n^{-2} \|z_n\|^2 + \frac{1}{14} \|\dot{z}_n\|^2 \stackrel{(5.35)}{\leq} \frac{7}{2} \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}^2 M + \frac{1}{14} \|\dot{z}_n\|^2, \\ \langle -w_n, \dot{z}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{7}{2} \|w_n\|^2 + \frac{1}{14} \|\dot{z}_n\|^2, \\ \langle F(t, z_n), \dot{z}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{7}{2} \varphi_n^2 \left( m \sum_{k=1}^m \|y_{\mathrm{ref}, k}\|_{\infty}^2 \|\mathcal{A}q_k\|^2 + \|I_{s, i}\|_{2, \infty}^2 + \|f_0\|_{\infty, \infty}^2 |\Omega| \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \frac{7}{2} \|f_1\|_{\infty,\infty}^2 \|z_n\|^2 + \frac{7}{2} \varphi_n^{-2} \|f_2\|_{\infty,\infty}^2 \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \\ + \frac{5}{14} \|\dot{z}_n\|^2 - \frac{c_3}{4\varphi_n^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4.$$

Inserting these inequalities, substracting  $\frac{1}{2}\|\dot{z}_n\|^2$  and then multiplying by 2 gives

$$\begin{split} \|\dot{z}_{n}\|^{2} &= -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathfrak{a}(z_{n}, z_{n}) - c_{1}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2} + k_{0}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\ln(1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}) - \frac{c_{3}}{2\varphi_{n}^{2}}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \\ &+ 7\varphi_{n}^{2}\left(m\sum_{k=1}^{m}\|y_{\mathrm{ref},k}\|_{\infty}^{2}\|\mathcal{A}q_{k}\|^{2} + \|I_{s,i}\|_{2,\infty}^{2} + \|f_{0}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}|\Omega| + \|f_{1}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}M + N\right) \\ &+ 7\|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}^{2}M + 7\varphi_{n}^{-2}\|f_{2}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4}. \end{split}$$

Now we add and subtract  $\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} ||z_n||^2$ , thus we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\dot{z}_{n}\|^{2} &\leq -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathfrak{a}(z_{n}, z_{n}) - \left(c_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2} + k_{0}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\ln(1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}) - \frac{c_{3}}{2\varphi_{n}^{2}}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \\ &+ 7(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_{r}^{-1})^{2} \\ &\times \left(m\sum_{k=1}^{m}\|y_{\mathrm{ref},k}\|_{\infty}^{2}\|\mathcal{A}q_{k}\|^{2} + \|I_{s,i}\|_{2,\infty}^{2} + \|f_{0}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}|\Omega| + \|f_{1}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}M\right) \\ &+ 7(N(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_{r}^{-1})^{2} + \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}^{2}M) + 7\varphi_{n}^{-2}\|f_{2}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2} \end{split}$$

By the product rule

$$-\frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(\frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4\right) - c_3\varphi_n^{-3}\dot{\varphi_n}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4$$

we find that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}_{n}\|^{2} + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathfrak{a}(z_{n}, z_{n}) - k_{0}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\ln(1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}) + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(\frac{c_{3}}{2\varphi_{n}^{2}}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4}\right) \\ \leq -\left(c_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2} + E_{1} + E_{2}\varphi_{n}^{-3}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|z_{n}\|^{2}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.40)

where

$$E_{1} \coloneqq 7(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_{r}^{-1})^{2} \\ \times \left(m \sum_{k=1}^{m} \|y_{\text{ref},k}\|_{\infty}^{2} \|Aq_{k}\|^{2} + \|I_{s,i}\|_{2,\infty}^{2} + \|f_{0}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2} |\Omega| + \|f_{1}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2} M\right) \\ + 7(N(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_{r}^{-1})^{2} + \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}^{2} M), \\ E_{2} \coloneqq 7\|f_{2}\|_{\infty,\infty}^{2}(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_{r}^{-1}) + c_{3}\|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty}$$

are independent of n and t.

Step 3c. We show uniform boundedness of  $e_n$ . Using (5.38) in (5.40) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\dot{z}_n\|^2 + \dot{\rho}_n &\leq -\left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n\|^2 + E_1 + E_2 \varphi_n^{-3} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \\ &\quad - \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + K_1 \varphi_n + K_2 \varphi_n^2 \\ &= -\left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n\|^2 + E_2 \varphi_n^{-3} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \\ &\quad - \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + \Lambda \end{split}$$

where

$$\rho_n \coloneqq \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - k_0 \ln(1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2) + \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4,$$
  
$$\Lambda \coloneqq E_1 + K_1(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1}) + K_2(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 + k_0,$$

and we have used the equality

$$\frac{\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1-\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} = -1 + \frac{1}{1-\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}.$$

Adding and subtracting  $k_0 \ln(1 - ||e_n||_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2)$  leads to

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{z}_{n}\|^{2} + \dot{\rho}_{n} &\leq -\rho_{n} - \left(c_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_{n}\|^{2} + E_{2}\varphi_{n}^{-3}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \\ &- k_{0} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}} + \ln(1 - \|e_{n}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2})\right) + \Lambda \\ &\leq -\rho_{n} - \left(c_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_{n}\|^{2} + E_{2}\varphi_{n}^{-3}\|z_{n}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + \Lambda, \end{aligned}$$
(5.41)

where for the last inequality we have used that

$$\forall p \in (-1,1): \frac{1}{1-p^2} \ge \ln\left(\frac{1}{1-p^2}\right) = -\ln(1-p^2).$$

We may now use the integrating factor  $\mathbf{e}^t$  to obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \mathrm{e}^{t} \rho_{n} \right) = \mathrm{e}^{t} (\rho_{n} + \dot{\rho}_{n}) \leq -\mathrm{e}^{t} \left( c_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| z_{n} \|^{2} + E_{2} \mathrm{e}^{t} \varphi_{n}^{-3} \| z_{n} \|_{L^{4}}^{4} + \Lambda \mathrm{e}^{t} \underbrace{-\mathrm{e}^{t} \| \dot{z}_{n} \|^{2}}_{\leq 0}$$

Integrating and using (5.39) yields that for all  $t \in [\gamma, T_n)$  we have

$$\mathbf{e}^t \rho_n(t) - \rho_n(\gamma) \mathbf{e}^\gamma \le (E_2 D_1 + \Lambda) \mathbf{e}^t + \kappa_n E_2 D_0 - \int_{\gamma}^t \mathbf{e}^s \left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n(s)\|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq (E_2 D_1 + \Lambda) e^t + \kappa_n E_2 D_0 + \left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \|z_{\gamma}^n\|^2 e^{\gamma} \\ + \left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{\gamma}^t e^s \|z_n(s)\|^2 ds \\ \stackrel{(5.35)}{\leq} (E_2 D_1 + \Lambda) e^t + \kappa_n E_2 D_0 + \left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \kappa_n^2 e^{\gamma} (\|v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)\|^2) \\ + \left(c_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right) (\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 M e^t.$$

Thus, there exist  $\Xi_1, \Xi_2, \Xi_3 > 0$  which are independent of n and t such that

$$\rho_n(t) \le \rho_n(\gamma) \mathrm{e}^{-(t-\gamma)} + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n(\Xi_2 + \kappa_n \Xi_3) \mathrm{e}^{-(t-\gamma)}.$$

Invoking the definition of  $\rho_n$  and that  $e^{-(t-\gamma)} \leq 1$  for  $t \geq \gamma$  we find that

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n): \ \rho_n(t) \le \rho_n^0 + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n \Xi_2 + \kappa_n^2 \Xi_3,$$
(5.42)

where

$$\begin{split} \rho_n^0 &\coloneqq \kappa_n^2 \mathfrak{a}(v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma), v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma)) - k_0 \ln(1 - \kappa_n^2 \|\mathcal{B}'(v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma))\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2) \\ &+ \kappa_n^2 \|v_{\gamma}^n - q^n \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma)\|_{L^4}^4 = \rho_n(\gamma). \end{split}$$

Note that by construction of  $\kappa_n$  and the Sobolev embedding,  $(\rho_n^0)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded,  $\rho_n^0 \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , so that  $\rho_n^0$  can be bounded independently of n. Again using the definition of  $\rho_n$  and (5.42) we find that

$$k_0 \ln\left(\frac{1}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}\right) = \rho_n - \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 \le \rho_n^0 + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n \Xi_2 + \kappa_n^2 \Xi_3,$$

and hence

$$\frac{1}{1-\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} \le \exp\left(\frac{1}{k_0}\left(\rho_n^0 + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n \Xi_2 + \kappa_n^2 \Xi_3\right)\right) =: \varepsilon(n).$$

We may thus conclude that

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n): \|e_n(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \le 1 - \varepsilon(n).$$
(5.43)

This means that

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n): \ \varphi_n(t)^2 \| \mathcal{B}'(v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(t)) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \le 1 - \varepsilon(n).$$
(5.44)

Moreover,

$$\forall t \in [\gamma, T_n) : \ \delta \varphi_n(t)^2 \| \nabla (v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(t)) \|^2 + \varphi_n(t)^2 \| v_n(t) - q^n \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(t) \|_{L^4}^4$$
  
 
$$\leq \rho_n^0 + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n \Xi_2 + \kappa_n^2 \Xi_3,$$
(5.45)

which implies that for all t > 0 it holds  $v_n(t) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

Step 3d. We show that  $T_n = \infty$ . Assuming  $T_n < \infty$  it follows from (5.43) that the graph of the solution  $(\mu, \nu)$  from Step 2 would be a compact subset of  $\mathbb{D}$ , a contradiction. Therefore, we have  $T_n = \infty$ .

Step 4. We show convergence of the approximate solution, uniqueness and regularity of the solution in  $[\gamma, \infty) \times \Omega$ .

Step 4a. Some inequalities. From (5.42) we have that

$$\varphi_n^{-2} \| z_n \|_{L^4}^4 \le \rho_n^0 + \Xi_1 + \kappa_n \Xi_2 + \kappa_n^2 \Xi_3.$$

Using a similar procedure as in (5.39) we can derive the following estimate

$$\int_{\gamma}^{t} \varphi_n(s)^{-3} \|z_n(s)\|_{L^4}^4 \,\mathrm{d}s \le \kappa_n d_0 + d_1 t, \tag{5.46}$$

for  $d_0, d_1 > 0$  independent of n and t. Further, we can integrate (5.41) on the interval [0, t] to obtain, invoking  $\rho_n(t) \ge 0$  and (5.46),

$$\int_{\gamma}^{t} \|\dot{z}_{n}(s)\|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \leq \rho_{n}^{0} + \left(c_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\kappa_{n}^{2}(\|v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma)\|^{2}) + E_{2}(\kappa_{n}d_{0} + d_{1}t) + \Lambda t$$

for all  $t \geq \gamma$ . Hence, there exist  $S_0, S_1, S_2 > 0$  which are independent of n and t such that

$$\forall t \ge \gamma : \ \int_{\gamma}^{t} \|\dot{z}_{n}(s)\|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \le \rho_{n}^{0} + S_{0}\kappa_{n} + S_{1}\kappa_{n}^{2} + S_{2}t.$$
(5.47)

Hence, there exist  $S_3, S_4 > 0$  such that

$$\forall t \ge \gamma : \int_{\gamma}^{t} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi_n v_n) \right\|^2 \mathrm{d}s \le \rho_n^0 + S_0 \kappa_n + S_1 \kappa_n^2 + S_3 t + S_4.$$
(5.48)

Using (5.37) we can slightly improve (5.46), since

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|z_n\|^2 &\leq -\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - (c_1 - \omega_0) \|z_n\|^2 + \|z_n\| \|w_n\| \\ &- \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + K_0 \varphi_n^2 \\ &\leq \omega_0 \|z_n\|^2 - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + (K_0 + \sqrt{NM})\varphi_n^2 \\ &- \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} \\ &= \omega_0 \|z_n\|^2 - \frac{c_3}{2\varphi_n^2} \|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 + K_2 \varphi_n^2 \\ &- \mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{k_0 \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2} \end{aligned}$$

The former is equivalent to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\varphi_n^{-2}\|z_n\|^2 \le 2K_2 - c_3\varphi_n^{-4}\|z_n\|_{L^4}^4 - 2\varphi_n^{-2}\mathfrak{a}(z_n, z_n) - \frac{2k_0\varphi_n^{-2}\|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}{1 - \|e_n\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2}$$

This implies that  $\forall\,t\geq\gamma$ 

$$c_{3} \int_{\gamma}^{t} \varphi_{n}(s)^{-4} \|z_{n}(s)\|_{L^{4}}^{4} + 2\varphi_{n}(s)^{-2} \mathfrak{a}(z_{n}(s), z_{n}(s)) - \frac{2k_{0}\varphi_{n}(s)^{-2} \|e_{n}(s)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}}{1 - \|e_{n}(s)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}s$$
  
$$\leq 2K_{2}t + \|v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\mathrm{ref}}(\gamma)\|^{2},$$
(5.49)

which is bounded independently of n. This shows that  $\forall t \geq \gamma$  it holds

$$c_{3} \int_{\gamma}^{t} \|v_{n}(s) - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(s)\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_{\gamma}^{t} 2\mathfrak{a}(v_{n}(s) - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(s), v_{n}(s) - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ + \int_{\gamma}^{t} \frac{2k_{0} \|\mathcal{B}'(v_{n}(s) - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(s))\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}}{1 - \varphi_{n}(s)^{2} \|\mathcal{B}'(v_{n}(s) - q^{n} \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(s))\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}s \leq 2K_{2}t + \|v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\text{ref}}(\gamma)\|^{2}.$$

$$\tag{5.50}$$

We require a last calculation to prove that  $\|\dot{w}_n\|^2$  is bounded independently of n and t. To this end multiply (5.30b) by  $\dot{\nu}_j$  and sum over j to obtain

$$\|\dot{w}_n\|^2 = -(c_4 - \omega_0) \langle w_n, \dot{w}_n \rangle + c_5 \langle z_n, \dot{w}_n \rangle + \varphi_n \langle g, \dot{w}_n \rangle.$$

Using  $(\omega_0 - c_4)w_n = (\dot{\varphi}_n - c_4\varphi_n)\varphi_n^{-1}w_n$  and the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} -(c_4 - \omega_0) \langle w_n, \dot{w}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{3}{2} \| \dot{\varphi} - c_4 \varphi \|_{\infty}^2 \varphi_n^{-2} \| w_n \|^2 + \frac{\| \dot{w}_n \|^2}{6} \\ &\leq \frac{3}{2} (\| \dot{\varphi} \|_{\infty} + c_4 (\| \varphi \|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1}))^2 N + \frac{\| \dot{w}_n \|^2}{6}, \\ c_5 \langle z_n, \dot{w}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{3c_5^2}{2} \| z_n \|^2 + \frac{1}{6} \| \dot{w}_n \|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{3c_5^2 M}{2} (\| \varphi \|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 + \frac{1}{6} \| \dot{w}_n \|^2, \\ \varphi_n \langle g, \dot{w}_n \rangle &\leq \frac{3}{2} (\| \varphi \|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 \| g \|_{\infty,\infty}^2 |\Omega| + \frac{1}{6} \| \dot{w}_n \|^2. \end{aligned}$$

It follows now that for all  $t \ge \gamma$  it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{w}_n(t)\|^2 &\leq 3\|(\|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\infty} + c_4(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1}))^2 N + 3c_5^2 M(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 \\ &+ 3(\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + \Gamma_r^{-1})^2 \|g\|_{\infty,\infty}^2 |\Omega|, \end{aligned}$$
(5.51)

which is bounded independently of n and t. Multiplying (5.30b) by  $\varphi_n^{-1}$  and  $\theta_i$  and adding over  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$  leads to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi_n^{-1}w_n) = -\varphi^{-2}\dot{\varphi}_n w_n + \varphi_n^{-1}\dot{w}_n = -c_4\varphi_n^{-1}w_n + c_5\varphi_n^{-1}z_n + g_n,$$

where

$$g_n \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^n \langle g, \theta_i \rangle \, \theta_i.$$

If we now take the norm of the latter we have that

$$\left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi_n^{-1}w_n) \right\| \le c_4 \varphi_n^{-1} \|w_n\| + c_5 \varphi_n^{-1} \|z_n\| + \|g_n\| \\\le c_4 N + c_5 M + \|g\|_{\infty,\infty}.$$

Thus,

$$\forall t \ge \gamma : \|\dot{u}_n(t)\| \le c_4 N + c_5 M + \|g\|_{\infty,\infty}.$$
(5.52)

Step 4b. Weak convergence of the solution.

Let  $T > \gamma$  be given. As in Section 5.6.1, we have  $v_n \in L^4((\gamma, T) \times \Omega), v_n \in L^2([\gamma, T]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)), v_n \in L^2([\gamma, T]; (W^{1,2}(\Omega))')$ , since (5.50) together with (5.44) implies that  $I_{s,e}^n \in L^2([\gamma, T]; \mathbb{R}^m)$  and  $v_n \in L^2([\gamma, T]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ .

Analogously to Section 5.6.1 we have that there exist subsequences such that

$$u_n \to u \in W^{1,2}([\gamma, T]; L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weakly,}$$
$$v_n \to v \in L^2([\gamma, T]; W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \text{ weakly,}$$
$$\dot{v}_n \to \dot{v} \in L^2([\gamma, T]; (W^{1,2}(\Omega))') \text{ weakly,}$$

so that  $u, v \in C([\gamma, T]; L^2(\Omega))$ . Also  $v_n^2 \to v^2$  weakly in  $L^2((\gamma, T) \times \Omega)$  and  $v_n^3 \to v^3$  weakly in  $L^{4/3}((\gamma, T) \times \Omega)$ .

We have further properties of u and v. By (5.36), (5.45), (5.48) & (5.52) we have that  $u_n, \dot{u}_n$  are in a bounded set of  $L^{\infty}([\gamma, T]; L^2(\Omega))$  and that  $v_n$  is in a bounded set of  $L^{\infty}([\gamma, T]; L^2(\Omega))$  and the bound is independent of T. Moreover,  $\frac{d}{dt}(\varphi_n v_n)$  is in  $L^2([\gamma, T]; L^2(\Omega))$ . Using Lemma 1.4.6, we have subsequences such that

$$\begin{split} &u_n \to u \in L^{\infty}([\gamma,T];L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star}, \\ &\dot{u}_n \to \dot{u} \in L^{\infty}([\gamma,T];L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star}, \\ &v_n \to v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma,T];L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star}, \\ &\varphi_n v_n \to \varphi v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma,T];W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \text{ weak}^{\star}, \\ &\dot{v}_n \to \dot{v} \in L^2([\gamma,T];(W^{1,2}(\Omega))') \text{ weakly}, \\ &\varphi_n \dot{v}_n \to \varphi \dot{v} \in L^2([\gamma,T];L^2(\Omega)) \text{ weakly}, \end{split}$$

since  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  in  $BC([\gamma, T]; \mathbb{R})$ . Moreover, by  $\inf_{t > \gamma} \varphi(t) > 0$ , we also have that  $v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma + \delta, T]; W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  and  $\dot{v} \in L^2([\gamma + \delta, T]; L^2(\Omega))$  for all  $\delta > 0$ . Further,  $\kappa_n, \rho_n^0 \to 0$  and

$$\varepsilon(n) \to \varepsilon_0 \coloneqq \exp\left(-k_0^{-1}\Xi_1\right)$$

as  $n \to \infty$ .
Thus, by (5.36), (5.44), (5.45) & (5.50) we have  $v \in L^4((\gamma, T) \times \Omega)$  and for a.e.  $t \in [\gamma, T)$  the following estimates hold:

$$\begin{aligned} \|v(t) - q \cdot y_{\rm ref}(t)\| &\leq \sqrt{M}, \\ \|u(t)\| &\leq \sqrt{N}, \\ \varphi(t)^2 \|\mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\rm ref}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \leq 1 - \varepsilon_0, \\ \delta\varphi(t)^2 \|\nabla(v(t) - q \cdot y_{\rm ref}(t))\|^2 + \varphi(t)^2 \|v(t) - q \cdot y_{\rm ref}(t)\|_{L^4}^4 \leq \Xi_1, \\ \int_{\gamma}^t \|v(s) - q \cdot y_{\rm ref}(s)\|_{L^4}^4 \, \mathrm{d}s \leq 2K_2 t + \|v_{\gamma} - q \cdot y_{\rm ref}(\gamma)\|^2. \end{aligned}$$
(5.53)

Moreover, as in Section 5.6.1,  $v_n \to v$  strongly in  $L^2(\gamma, T; L^2(\Omega))$ . Further,  $u, v \in C([\gamma, T); L^2(\Omega))$  and  $(u(\gamma), v(\gamma)) = (u_\gamma, v_\gamma)$ .

Hence, for  $\chi \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $\theta \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  we have that  $(u_n, v_n)$  fulfill the integrated version of (5.32), so we obtain that for  $t \in (\gamma, T)$  it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v(t), \theta \rangle &= \langle v_{\gamma}, \theta \rangle + \int_{\gamma}^{t} -\mathfrak{a}(v(s), \theta) + \langle p_{3}(v(s)) - u(s) + I_{s,i}(s), \theta \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{\gamma}^{T} \langle I_{s,e}(s), \mathcal{B}' \theta \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \\ \langle u(t), \chi \rangle &= \langle u_{\gamma}, \chi \rangle + \int_{\gamma}^{t} \langle c_{5}v(s) - c_{4}u(s), \chi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \\ I_{s,e}(t) &= -\frac{k_{0}}{1 - \varphi(t)^{2} \|\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}^{2}} (\mathcal{B}'v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t)) \end{aligned}$$

by bounded convergence [28, Theorem II.4.1]. Thus, (u, v) is a solution of (5.7) in  $(\gamma, T)$ . Moreover, (5.26) also holds in  $(W^{1,2}(\Omega))'$  for  $t \ge \gamma$ , that is

$$\dot{v}(t) = \mathcal{A}v(t) + p_3(v(t)) + \mathcal{B}I_{s,e}(t) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t).$$
(5.54)

#### Step 4c. Uniqueness of the solution and regularity.

By using a similar argumentation as in Section 5.6.1 it can be seen that the solution (u, v) is unique on  $(\gamma, T)$  and this holds for all  $T > \gamma$  by invoking Lemma 4.4.4 and using a similar construction of a region  $Q_{\Lambda}$ . Hence, we can choose  $T = \infty$  and define the solution for all  $t > \gamma$  as the restriction on subintervals  $(\gamma, t)$ . By (5.53) we further have that  $u, v \in BC([\gamma, \infty); L^2(\Omega))$  with  $I_{s,e} \in L^{\infty}([\gamma, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m), v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma+\delta, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  for all  $\delta > 0$ . Hence, by the continuity, (u, v) is the unique solution of 5.7 in  $[0, \infty)$ . In order to show the regularity of the solution, note that for all  $\delta > 0$  we have that

$$v \in L^2_{\text{loc}}([\gamma, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\gamma + \delta, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega)),$$

so that  $I_r := I_{s,i} + c_2 v^2 - c_3 v^3 - u \in L^2_{\text{loc}}([\gamma, \infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\gamma + \delta, \infty); L^2(\Omega))$ , and the application of Proposition 5.5.3 yields  $v \in BC([\gamma, \infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap BUC((\gamma, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ .

By the uniform continuity of v and the completeness of  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , v has a limit at  $t = \gamma$ , see for instance [107, Theorem II.13.D]. Thus,  $v \in L^{\infty}([\gamma, \infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ . From Section 5.6.1 and the latter we have that  $v \in L^2_{loc}([0,\infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  for all  $\delta > 0$ , so we have

$$I_{s,e} \in L^2_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m),$$
  
$$v \in L^2_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega)),$$

so that  $I_r := I_{s,i} + c_2 v^2 - c_3 v^3 - u \in L^2_{loc}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}([\delta,\infty); L^2(\Omega)).$ Iterating Proposition 5.5.3, for all  $\delta > 0$ , we have that the unique solution of (5.54) satisfies

$$v \in BC([\delta, \infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap C^{0,\lambda}([\delta, \infty); L^2(\Omega))$$
(5.55a)

for r = 0 and all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ ;

$$v \in BC([\delta,\infty); L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap C^{0,1-r/2}([\delta,\infty); L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap C^{0,1-r}([\delta,\infty); W^{r,2}(\Omega))$$
 (5.55b)

for  $r \in (0, 1)$ ; and

$$v \in BC([\delta, \infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap C^{0, 1/2}([\delta, \infty); L^2(\Omega)) \cap BUC([\delta, \infty); W^{1, 2}(\Omega))$$
(5.55c)

for r = 1/2. Since  $u, v \in BC([0, \infty); L^2(\Omega))$  and  $\dot{u} = c_4 v - c_5 u$ , we have as well  $\dot{u} \in BC([0, \infty), L^2(\Omega))$ .

From (5.55) and  $\mathcal{B}' \in \mathscr{L}(W^{r,2}(\Omega), \mathbb{R}^m)$  for  $r \in [0,1]$  it holds that

• for r = 0 and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ 

$$y = \mathcal{B}' v \in C^{0,\lambda}([\delta,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m);$$

• for  $r \in (0, 1)$ 

$$y = \mathcal{B}' v \in C^{0,1-r}([\delta,\infty);\mathbb{R}^m);$$

• for r = 1

$$y = \mathcal{B}' v \in BUC([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m).$$

If we further have that  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^m, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ , there exist  $b_1, \ldots, b_m \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  such that  $(\mathcal{B}'x)_i = \langle x, b_i \rangle$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, m$  and  $x \in L^2(\Omega)$ . By using the  $b_i$  in the weak formulation for  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle v(t), b_i \rangle = -\mathfrak{a}(v(t), b_i) + \langle p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t), b_i \rangle + \langle I_{s,e}(t), \mathcal{B}' b_i \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m} \,.$$

Since  $(\mathcal{B}'v(t))_i = \langle v(t), b_i \rangle$ , this leads to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathcal{B}'v(t)_i) = -\mathfrak{a}(v(t), b_i) + \langle p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t), b_i \rangle + \langle I_{s,e}(t), \mathcal{B}'b_i \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^m}.$$

Taking the absolute value and using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality yields

$$\left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} (\mathcal{B}' v(t))_i \right| \le \|D\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v(t)\|_{W^{1,2}} \|b_i\|_{W^{1,2}} + \|p_3(v(t)) - u(t) + I_{s,i}(t)\|_{L^2} \|b_i\|_{L^2} + \|I_{s,e}(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^m} \|\mathcal{B}' b_i\|_{\mathbb{R}^m},$$

and therefore

$$\left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} (\mathcal{B}' v)_i \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\delta,\infty;\mathbb{R}^m)} < \infty. \quad \forall \, \delta > 0.$$
(5.56)

Further, from (5.53) we have

$$\varphi(t)^2 \| \mathcal{B}' v(t) - y_{\mathrm{ref}}(t) \|_{\mathbb{R}^m}^2 \le 1 - \varepsilon_0 \quad \forall t \ge \delta.$$

Hence,  $I_{s,e} \in L^{\infty}([\delta, \infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$  has the same regularity as y, since we have that  $\varphi \in \Phi_{\gamma}$ and  $y_{\text{ref}} \in W^{1,\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

Last but not least, if  $v_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ , it follows from (5.28) that  $v \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ and  $I_{s,e} \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); \mathbb{R}^m)$ , so that  $I_r \coloneqq I_{s,i} + c_2v^2 - c_3v^3 - u \in L^{\infty}([0,\infty); L^2(\Omega))$ . Proposition 5.5.3 implies that (5.55) holds as well with  $\delta = 0$ . The continuity of  $\mathcal{B}'$ together with the closed loop yield now the regularity of  $y, I_{s,e}$  at  $\delta = 0$ . In particular, (5.56) also holds with  $\delta = 0$ .

#### 5.7 Outlook

Under minimal assumptions, we have been able to successfully show the feasibility of the system described by 5.3, which includes distributed and boundary control in a multiple-input-multiple-output setting. Moreover, we did not restrict the operator  $\mathcal{A}$ to be the Neumann Laplacian, but considered a general symmetric, Neumann elliptic operator, which under enough regularity of the diffusion matrix D and the boundary  $\Gamma$ , corresponds to the diffusion operator

$$\mathcal{A}z = \operatorname{div} D\nabla z, \quad (\nu \cdot D\nabla z)|_{\Gamma} = 0.$$

Moreover, we have been able to show Hölder regularity of the solution, input and outputs depending on the observation operator.

Having a look at Lemma 5.5.2, one could think of approaching the problem in a different fashion by trying to solve the equation by means of a fixed point argument. Of course two problems quickly arise. On the one hand, because of the feedback law, the domain in which the solution lays becomes time-dependent. Secondly, it is not clear how to exploit the positivity encountered when considering the weak formulation of the system, which guarantees the uniform boundedness of the error. However, this procedure could hasten the process of obtaining a solution of the equation so that the proof of Theorem 5.3.3 becomes shorter or more elegant. From both a mathematical and practical viewpoint, it would be also interesting to see if the funnel controller used in [101] can be also applied in this context, since it has been proved to be feasible for the heat equation in a similar setting.

## 6 Conclusions

For the drawing of the conclusions we first wish to highlight the problems encountered in the different chapters. A common denominator in all of them is that the funnel controller is a nonlinear, non-autonomous feedback relation, so that we end up dealing with a nonlinear, non-autonomous PDE, independently of the fact whether the initial open-loop system was linear or not. Since there is no general theory of PDEs, this already represents a major difficulty in dealing with this setting. Moreover, most of the existing theory on nonlinear PDEs consider the *initial value problem (IVP)* on a compact time interval [0, T], that is, finite time horizon, which somehow seems inappropriate given the nature of the problem, since one wants to show that the funnel controller is feasible for all  $t \in [0, \infty)$  and the error remains uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary.

Whereas in Chapters 2 & 3 it has been sufficient to show that the dynamics of the system fit within the framework of the existing theory on the funnel controller given in [11], Chapters 4 & 5 have required much more work, but at the same time, they deliver general results for a broad class of systems.

Even though Chapter 2 serves as an example to motivate the FC with internal dynamics involving PDEs, it becomes clear that the important relation to study is the inputoutput behavior, so that the PDE goes into a second plane. Trying to distill the key arguments, we show in Chapter 3 when the FC is feasible for a specific class of systems whose internal dynamics is described by an infinite-dimensional system. Since these systems have unbounded observation and control operators, which usually come from a boundary-control-like system, the natural step is to study such structures. Since BCS can be both hyperbolic and parabolic systems, the well-posedness approach does not seem to be the best one, since these systems exhibit complete different properties, and hence, we consider from the very beginning the closed-loop system.

In fact, focusing on Chapter 4, the literature does not specifically tackle the problem at hand. The key idea resides in the transformation carried out to remove the timedependence from the funnel controller, which leads to an abstract nonlinear Cauchy problem of the form (1.8). The nonlinearity is hidden in the domain of an operator, which happens to be nonlinear and m-dissipative. The price of obtaining an autonomous operator is a time-varying linear perturbation and an inhomogeneity. Dealing with the closed-loop system from the beginning has several advantages. First, there are no assumptions on the open-loop system, in particular no well-posedness assumptions —in any sense— are made. Secondly, the construction of a solution on a compact interval already shows feasibility of the FC in all intervals with finite horizon. Under extra dissipativity assumptions it is then easy to show that the error remains uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary. Intrinsically, the methods used to prove the main results lay on the theory of nonlinear, m-dissipative operators, which enjoy of a certain mathematical elegance. Moreover, in the parabolic scenario, one can exploit the structure of the problem to obtain a better result than in the general case. This brings to light that the FC seems to be feasible for systems having stable internal dynamics also in the infinite-dimensional scenario.

Following this train of thought and the techniques learned in Chapter 4, in Chapter 5, we have been able to show that the FC is feasible for a particular nonlinear parabolic system, which involves the so-called FitzHugh-Nagumo potential. The length of the proof does not completely represent its complexity, since most of it is devoted to obtain the necessary inequalities to argue convergence of subsequences in weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> topologies. The main difficulty is indeed the step in which one guarantees that the error remains uniformly bounded away from the funnel boundary while showing that the state satisfies some regularity properties. Hence, nonlinearities or non-autonomous systems do not seem to be an inconvenient, as long as the structure of the problem is reach enough.

As of today, the content presented in this dissertation represents the major work involving the funnel controller for systems whose state is described by a PDE with unbounded control and observation operators. It brings the applicability of the controller to a completely new world and pushes it way beyond by utterly leaving the finite-dimensional constellation. It lies the fundamental pillars to further explore the feasibility of the FC in the infinite-dimensional scenario and also to consider infinitedimensional observation and control, even though from a practical viewpoint this may not be of interest. Moreover, it provides the main tools for extending the topic into nonlinear or non-autonomous systems. If one considers that the principal aim of the funnel controller is to track a reference signal with prescribed transient behavior, this project generalizes in some sense the one and only similar result in this direction given in [101].

#### 6.1 Open questions

While the current problems in Chapter 2 have to do with the modeling of the system, that is, whether we work with the fully nonlinear equations or we use higher spatial dimensions, the other chapters present more challenging issues. The natural step in Chapter 3 would be to consider nonlinear internal dynamics and bounded control and observation operators. A reasonable assumption to generalize the linear case could be *input-to-state stability (ISS)* [109], and from there start studying the input-output

behavior.

As already mentioned in Chapter 4, it is not clear yet how to exploit the structure of the problem when the internal dynamics of the system are stable. Ideally, one should aim to find a characterization between the stability of the internal dynamics and the uniform boundedness of u as well as finding out when it is possible to show boundedness of u without needing boundedness of  $\dot{x}$ .

A second problem has to do with the nature of the system treated in Chapter 5. It is well-known —see for instance [94, Section 8.2]— that one can find a solution to the nonlinear parabolic problem related to the FitzHugh-Nagumo model by means of the mild solution and a fixed point argument. However, there are two aspects of this method which are not directly transferable to our setting. The first one has of course to do with the non-autonomous feedback, since the set on which one would apply the fixed point argument becomes time-dependent. Secondly, in order to obtain a global solution of the system together with having a uniformly bounded input, one requires the weak formulation of the system and the positivity of some operators, like the form associated to the elliptic operator. For that, it is not sufficient to have an integrated equation which corresponds to the mild solution, since this positivity cannot be exploited.

## **Bibliography**

- B. Abusaksaka and J. Partington. BIBO stability of some classes of delay systems and fractional systems. Systems Control Lett., 64:43–46, 2014.
- [2] R. A. Adams. Sobolev Spaces. Number 65 in Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, New York, London, 1975.
- [3] H. W. Alt. *Linear Functional Analysis*. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, London, 2016. An application-oriented introduction, Translated from the German edition by Robert Nürnberg.
- [4] W. Arendt and A. ert Elst. From forms to semigroups. In: Spectral Theory, Mathematical System Theory, Evolution Equations, Differential and Difference Equations, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, volume 221. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 2012. pp. 47–69.
- [5] B. Augner. Stabilisation of Infinite-Dimensional Port-Hamiltonian Systems via Dissipative Boundary Feedback. PhD thesis, Bergische Universität Wuppertal, 2016.
- [6] B. Augner. Well-posedness and stability of infinite-dimensional linear porthamiltonian systems with nonlinear boundary feedback. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 57(3):1818–1844, 2019.
- B. Augner and B. Jacob. Stability and stabilization of infinite-dimensional linear port-hamiltonian systems. *Evolution Equations & Control Theory*, 3:207–229, 2014.
- [8] D. Auroux and S. Bonnabel. Symmetry-based observers for some water-tank problems. *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, 56(5):1046–1058, 2011.
- [9] G. Bastin and J.-M. Coron. Stability and Boundary Stabilization of 1-D Hyperbolic Systems, volume 88 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications: Subseries in Control. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 2016.
- [10] J. Bentsman and Y. Orlov. Reduced spatial order model reference adaptive control of spatially varying distributed parameter systems of parabolic and hyperbolic types. *International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing*, 15(6):679–696, 2001.

- [11] T. Berger, H. H. Lê, and T. Reis. Funnel control for nonlinear systems with known strict relative degree. Automatica, 87:345–357, 2018.
- [12] T. Berger, S. Otto, T. Reis, and R. Seifried. Combined open-loop and funnel control for underactuated multibody systems. *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 2019. In press, doi: 10.1007/s11071-018-4672-5.
- [13] T. Berger, M. Puche, and F. Schwenninger. Funnel control for a moving water tank. Submitted for publication. Available at arXiv: https://arxiv.org/abs/ 1902.00586, 2019.
- [14] T. Berger, M. Puche, and F. L. Schwenninger. Funnel control in the presence of infinite-dimensional internal dynamics. Submitted for publication, preprint available from the website of the authors, 2019.
- [15] T. Berger and A.-L. Rauert. A universal model-free and safe adaptive cruise control mechanism. In *Proceedings of the MTNS 2018*, pages 925–932, Hong Kong, 2018.
- [16] T. Berger and T. Reis. Zero dynamics and funnel control for linear electrical circuits. J. Franklin Inst., 351(11):5099–5132, 2014.
- [17] T. Berger and T. Reis. Funnel control via funnel pre-compensator for minimum phase systems with relative degree two. *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, 63(7):2264–2271, 2018.
- [18] T. Berger and T. Reis. The Funnel Pre-Compensator. Int. J. Robust & Nonlinear Control, 28(16):4747–4771, 2018.
- [19] M. Böhm, M. Demetriou, S. Reich, and I. Rosen. Model reference adaptive control of distributed parameter systems. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 36(1):33–81, 1998.
- [20] T. Breiten and K. Kunisch. Compensator design for the monodomain equations with the FitzHugh-Nagumo model. ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 23:241–262, 2017.
- [21] H. Brezis. Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. Universitext. Springer-Verlag London, Ltd., London, 2011.
- [22] C. I. Byrnes, D. S. Gilliam, V. I. Shubov, and G. Weiss. Regular linear systems governed by a boundary controlled heat equation. J. Dyn. Control Syst., 8(3):341–370, 2002.

- [23] F. L. Cardoso-Ribeiro, D. Matignon, and V. Pommier-Budinger. A port-Hamiltonian model of liquid sloshing in moving containers and application to a fluid-structure system. *Journal of Fluids and Structures*, 69:402–427, 2017.
- [24] A. Cheng and K. A. Morris. Transfer functions for boundary control systems. In Proc. 38th IEEE Conf. Decis. Control, volume 1, pages 4296–4300, Phoenix, Arizona, 1999.
- [25] Y. Chitour, J.-M. Coron, and M. Garavello. On conditions that prevent steadystate controllability of certain linear partial differential equations. *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems*, 14(4):643–672, 2006.
- [26] J.-M. Coron. Local controllability of a 1-d tank containing a fluid modeled by the shallow water equations. ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var., 8:513–554, 2002.
- [27] R. F. Curtain and H. J. Zwart. An Introduction to Infinite-Dimensional Linear Systems Theory. Number 21 in Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [28] J. Diestel and J. Uhl. Vector Measures, volume 15 of Mathematical surveys and monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1977.
- [29] F. Dubois, N. Petit, and P. Rouchon. Motion planning and nonlinear simulations for a tank containing a fluid. In Proc. 5th European Control Conf. (ECC) 1999, Karlsruhe, Germany, pages 3232–3237, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1999.
- [30] K.-J. Engel and R. Nagel. One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations, volume 194 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
- [31] L. Evans. Partial Differential Equations, volume 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2nd edition, 2010.
- [32] J. T. Feddema, C. R. Dohrmann, G. G. Parker, R. D. Robinett, V. J. Romero, and D. J. Schmitt. Control for slosh-free motion of an open container. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, 17(1):29–36, 1997.
- [33] R. FitzHugh. Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane. *Biophysical journal*, 1(6):445–466, 1961.
- [34] M. Fliess, J. Levine, P. Martin, and P. Rouchon. Flatness and defect of nonlinear-systems: introductory theory and examples. *Int. J. Control*, 61:1327–1361, 1995.

- [35] M. Gerdts and S.-J. Kimmerle. Numerical optimal control of a coupled ODE-PDE model of a truck with a fluid basin. In Proc. 10th AIMS Int. Conf. Dynam. Syst. Diff. Equ. Appl., Madrid, Spain, 2015.
- [36] V. Girault and P.-A. Raviart. Finite element approximation of the Navier-Stokes equations, volume 749 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 1979.
- [37] S. Goldberg. Unbounded Linear Operators: Theory and Applications. McGraw Hill, New York, 1966.
- [38] H. Goldstein, C. Poole, and J. Safko. *Classical mechanics*. Pearson, London, UK, 3rd edition, 2002.
- [39] J. Goldstein. Approximation of nonlinear semigroups and evolution equations. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 24(4), 1972.
- [40] J. A. Goldstein. Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1985.
- [41] L. Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis, volume 249 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. New York: Springer-Verlag, 3rd edition, 2014.
- [42] E. W. Graham and A. M. Rodriguez. The characteristics of fuel motion which affect airplane dynamics. DTIC document, 1951.
- [43] G. Gripenberg, S.-O. Londen, and O. Staffans. Volterra integral and functional equations. Number 34 in Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1990.
- [44] P. Grisvard. Elliptic problems in nonsmooth domains. Pitman Advanced Publishing Program, London, UK, 1985.
- [45] M. Grundelius and B. Bernhardsson. Control of liquid slosh in an industrial packaging machine. In Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Control Appl., pages 1654–1659, Hawai, USA, 1999.
- [46] C. M. Hackl. Funnel control for wind turbine systems. In Proc. 2014 IEEE Int. Conf. Contr. Appl., Antibes, France, pages 1377–1382, 2014.
- [47] C. M. Hackl. Current PI-funnel control with anti-windup for synchronous machines. In Proc. 54th IEEE Conf. Decis. Control, Osaka, Japan, pages 1997–2004, 2015.

- [48] C. M. Hackl. Speed funnel control with disturbance observer for wind turbine systems with elastic shaft. In Proc. 54th IEEE Conf. Decis. Control, Osaka, Japan, pages 12005–2012, 2015.
- [49] C. M. Hackl. Non-identifier Based Adaptive Control in Mechatronics-Theory and Application, volume 466 of Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences. Springer-Verlag, Cham, Switzerland, 2017.
- [50] C. M. Hackl, N. Hopfe, A. Ilchmann, M. Mueller, and S. Trenn. Funnel control for systems with relative degree two. SIAM J. Control Optim., 51(2):965–995, 2013.
- [51] D. D. Haroskee and H. Triebel. Distributions, Sobolev Spaces, Elliptic Equations, volume 4. European Mathematical Society, Germany, 2008.
- [52] J. W. Helton. Systems with infinite-dimensional state space: the Hilbert space approach. Proc. IEEE, 64(1):145–160, 1976. Recent trends in system theory.
- [53] E. Hille and R. S. Phillips. Functional Analysis and Semigroups. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1957.
- [54] M. Hinze, R. Pinnau, M. Ulbrich, and S. Ulbrich. Optimization with PDE Constraints. Springer, Netherlands, 2009.
- [55] K. S. Hong and J. Bentsman. Direct adaptive control of parabolic systems: Algorithm synthesis and convergence and stability analysis. *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, 39(10):2018–2033, 1994.
- [56] A. Ilchmann. Decentralized tracking of interconnected systems. In K. Hüper and J. Trumpf, editors, Mathematical System Theory - Festschrift in Honor of Uwe Helmke on the Occasion of his Sixtieth Birthday, pages 229–245. CreateSpace, 2013.
- [57] A. Ilchmann, E. Ryan, and P. Townsend. Tracking with prescribed transient behaviour for non-linear systems of known relative degree. SIAM J. Control Optim., 46(1):210–230, 2007.
- [58] A. Ilchmann and E. P. Ryan. High-gain control without identification: a survey. GAMM Mitt., 31(1):115–125, 2008.
- [59] A. Ilchmann and E. P. Ryan. Performance funnels and tracking control. Int. J. Control, 82(10):1828–1840, 2009.
- [60] A. Ilchmann, E. P. Ryan, and C. J. Sangwin. Tracking with prescribed transient behaviour. ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 7:471–493, 2002.

- [61] A. Ilchmann, E. P. Ryan, and C. J. Sangwin. Tracking with prescribed transient behaviour. ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 7:471–493, 2002.
- [62] A. Ilchmann, E. P. Ryan, and P. Townsend. Tracking with prescribed transient behavior for nonlinear systems of known relative degree. SIAM J. Control Optim., 46(1):210–230, 2007.
- [63] A. Ilchmann, T. Selig, and C. Trunk. The Byrnes-Isidori form for infinitedimensional systems. SIAM J. Control Optim., 54(3):1504–1534, 2016.
- [64] A. Ilchmann and S. Trenn. Input constrained funnel control with applications to chemical reactor models. Syst. Control Lett., 53(5):361–375, 2004.
- [65] D. E. Jackson. Existence and regularity for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations with inhomogeneous boundary conditions. *Nonlinear analysis theory, methods & applications*, 14(3):201–216, 1990.
- [66] B. Jacob, R. Nabiullin, J. R. Partington, and F. L. Schwenninger. Infinitedimensional input-to-state stability and Orlicz spaces. SIAM J. Control Optim., 56(2):868–889, 2018.
- [67] B. Jacob and H. Zwart. Linear Port-Hamiltonian Systems on Infinitedimensional Spaces, volume 223 of Operator Theory: Advances and Applications. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 2012.
- [68] M. R. Jovanovic and B. Bamieh. Lyapunov-based distributed control of systems on lattices. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 50(4):422–433, 2005.
- [69] T. Kato. Nonlinear semigroups and evolution equations. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 19(4), 1967.
- [70] T. Kato. Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 2nd edition, 1980.
- [71] T. Kobayashi. Global adaptive stabilization of infinite-dimensional systems. Syst. Control Lett., 9:215–223, 1987.
- [72] T. Kobayashi. Stabilization of infinite-dimensional second-order system by adaptive pi-controllers. *Mathematical methods in the applied sciences*, 24(8):513–527, 2001.
- [73] T. Kobayashi. Low-gain adaptive stabilization of infinite-dimensional secondorder systems. Journal of mathematical analysis and applications, 275(2):835– 849, 2002.

- [74] T. Kobayashi. Adaptive stabilization of infinite-dimensional semilinear secondorder systems. IMA Journal of Mathematical Control and Information, 20(2):137–152, 2003.
- [75] K. Kobayasi, Y. Kobayashi, and S. Oharu. Nonlinear evolution operators in banach spaces. Osaka Journal of Mathematics, 21(2):281–310, 1984.
- [76] E. Kreyszig. Introductory Functional Analysis with Applications. John Wiley and Sons Inc., London, UK, 1978.
- [77] M. Krstić and A. Smyshlyaev. Adaptive boundary control for unstable parabolic pdes—part ii: Estimation-based designs. *Automatica*, 43(9):1543–1556, 2007.
- [78] M. Krstić and A. Smyshlyaev. Adaptive boundary control for unstable parabolic pdes—part iii: Output feedback examples with swapping identifiers. *Automatica*, 43(9):1557–1564, 2007.
- [79] M. Krstić and A. Smyshlyaev. Adaptive boundary control for unstable parabolic pdes—part i: Lyapunov design. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 53(7):1575–1591, 2008.
- [80] K. Kunisch, C. Nagaiah, and M. Wagner. A parallel Newton-Krylov method for optimal control of the monodomain model in cardiac electrophysiology. *Comput*ing and Visualization in Science, 14:257–269, 2011.
- [81] K. Kunisch and D. A. Souza. On the one-dimensional nonlinear monodomain equations with moving controls. *Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées*, 117:94–122, 2018.
- [82] J. L. Lions. Quelques methodes de resolution des problemes aux limits non lineaires. Dunod Gauthier-Villars, France, 1969.
- [83] J. L. Lions and E. Magenes. Problemi ai limiti non omogenei (iii). Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa, 15:41–103, 1961.
- [84] A. Lunardi. Analytic Semigroups and Optimal Regularity in Parabolic Problems. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 1995.
- [85] A. Lunardi. Interpolation Theory. Number 16 in Publications of the Scuola Normale Superiore. Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, 2018.
- [86] F. Mandl and G. Shaw. Quantum field theory. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, 2nd edition, 2010.
- [87] V. Maz'ya. Sobolev spaces. Springer, Berling Heidelberg, Germany, 2013.

- [88] N. G. Meyers and J. Serrin. H=W. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 51(6):1055–1056, 1964.
- [89] A. Mironchenko and F. Wirth. Characterizations of input-to-state stability for infinite-dimensional systems. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 63(6):1602–1617, 2018.
- [90] I. Miyadera. Nonlinear Semigroups. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1992.
- [91] M. E. Munroe. *Measure and Integration*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts, 2nd edition, 1971.
- [92] R. Nittka. Regularity of solutions of linear second order elliptic and parabolic boundary value problems on lipschitz domains. J. Differential Equations, 251(4-5):860-880, 2011.
- [93] N. H. Pavel. Nonlinear Evolution Operators and Semigroups, volume 1260. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 1987.
- [94] A. Pazy. Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [95] N. Petit and P. Rouchon. Dynamics and solutions to some control problems for water-tank systems. *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, 47(4):594–609, 2002.
- [96] A. Pomprapa, S. R. Alfocea, C. Göbel, B. J. Misgeld, and S. Leonhardt. Funnel control for oxygenation during artificial ventilation therapy. In *Proceedings of the* 19th IFAC World Congress, pages 6575–6580, Cape Town, South Africa, 2014.
- [97] A. Pomprapa, S. Weyer, S. Leonhardt, M. Walter, and B. Misgeld. Periodic funnel-based control for peak inspiratory pressure. In *Proc. 54th IEEE Conf. Decis. Control, Osaka, Japan*, pages 5617–5622, 2015.
- [98] C. Prieur and J. de Halleux. Stabilization of a 1-d tank containing a fluid modeled by the shallow water equations. Syst. Control Lett., 52:167–178, 2004.
- [99] M. Puche, T. Reis, and F. L. Schwenninger. Funnel control for boundary control systems. Submitted for publication. Available at arXiv: https://arxiv.org/ abs/1903.03599, 2019.
- [100] J. Rauch. Symmetric positive systems with boundary characteristics of constant multiplicity. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc, 291(1):167-187, 1985.
- [101] T. Reis and T. Selig. Funnel control for the boundary controlled heat equation. SIAM J. Control Optim., 53(1):547–574, 2015.

- [102] T. Reis and T. Selig. Zero dynamics and root locus for a boundary controlled heat equation. Math. Control Signals Syst., 27(3):347–373, 2015.
- [103] W. Rudin. Functional Analysis. McGraw-Hill, New York, 2nd edition, 1991.
- [104] J. J. Sakurai and J. Napolitano. Modern quantum mechanics. Addison-Wesley, Massachusetts, 2010.
- [105] A. Senfelds and A. Paugurs. Electrical drive DC link power flow control with adaptive approach. In Proc. 55th Int. Sci. Conf. Power Electr. Engg. Riga Techn. Univ., Riga, Latvia, pages 30–33, 2014.
- [106] R. E. Showalter. Monotone operators in Banach space and nonlinear partial differential equations. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996.
- [107] G. F. Simmons. Introduction to topology and modern analysis. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1963.
- [108] E. D. Sontag. Smooth stabilization implies coprime factorization. *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, 34(4):435–443, 1989.
- [109] E. D. Sontag. Input to state stability: basic concepts and results. In Nonlinear and optimal control theory, volume 1932 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 163– 220. Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2008.
- [110] O. Staffans. Well-Posed Linear Systems, volume 103 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2005.
- [111] O. Staffans and G. Weiss. Transfer functions of regular linear systems, part ii: The system operator and the lax-phillips semigroup. *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, 354(8):3229–3262, 2002.
- [112] O. Staffans and G. Weiss. Transfer functions of regular linear systems, part iii: Inversions and duality. *Integr. equ. oper. theory*, 49:517–558, 2004.
- [113] J. Sundnes, G. T. Lines, X. Cai, B. F. Nielsen, K.-A. Mardal, and A. Tveito. *Computing the electrical activity in the heart*, volume 1. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 2007.
- [114] L. Tartar. On the characterization of traces of a sobolev space used for maxwell's equation. In *Proceedings of a Meeting*. Bordeaux, France, 1997.
- [115] M. Tucsnak and G. Weiss. Well-posed systems the LTI case and beyond. Automatica, 50:1757–1779, 2007.

- [116] M. Tucsnak and G. Weiss. Observation and Control for Operator Semigroups. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts Basler Lehrbücher. Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 2009.
- [117] L. Tung. A bi-domain Model for Describing Ischemic Myocardial DC Potentials (Ph. D. thesis). PhD thesis, 1978.
- [118] R. Venugopal and D. Bernstein. State space modeling and active control of slosh. In Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Control Appl., pages 1072–1077, Dearborn, MI, 1996.
- [119] J. A. Villegas. A Port-Hamiltonian Approach to Distributed Parameter Systems. PhD thesis, University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands, May 2007.
- [120] V. Vladimirov. Equations of Mathematical Physics. 1971.
- [121] W. Walter. Ordinary Differential Equations. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [122] G. Weiss. Transfer functions of regular linear systems, Part I: Characterizations of Regularity. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 342(2):827–854, 1994.
- [123] A. Yagi. Abstract Parabolic Evolution Equations and their Applications. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 2010.
- [124] Y. Yamamoto. Realization theory of infinite-dimensional linear systems. I. Math. Systems Theory, 15(1):55–77, 1981/82.
- [125] Y. Yamamoto. Realization theory of infinite-dimensional linear systems. II. Math. Systems Theory, 15(2):169–190, 1981/82.
- [126] K. Yano, T. Yoshida, M. Hamaguchi, and K. Terashima. Liquid container transfer considering the suppression of sloshing for the change of liquid level. In *Proc.* 13th IFAC World Congress, pages 701–706, San Francisco, CA, 1996.
- [127] K. Yosida. Functional Analysis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, 6th edition, 1980.
- [128] W. P. Ziemer. Weakly Differentiable Functions. Number 120 in Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg-Berlin, 1989.

# List of notations

#### Acronyms

ACP ANCP	abstract Cauchy problem – p. 24 abstract nonlinear Cauchy problem – p. 38
BCS BIBO	boundary control system – p. 6 bounded-input, bounded-output – p. 73
$\mathbf{FC}$	funnel controller – p. 3
ID ISS IVP	internal dynamics – p. 4 input-to-state stability – p. 176 initial value problem – p. 175
ODE	Ordinary Differential Equation – p. 2
PDE	Partial Differential Equation – p. 1
$\mathbf{SC}$	solution concept – p. 44

### General numbers, sets and spaces

$\bigotimes_{i=1}^n X_i$	product space, often denoted by $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$ – p. 7
X'	topological dual space of X, that is, $X' = \mathscr{L}(X, \mathbb{K})$ –
	p. 8
$\langle x', x \rangle$	duality pairing, that is, $x'(x)$ for $x \in X$ and $x' \in X'$ –
	p. 8
$\overline{S}$	closure of a set $S - p. 7$
int $S$	interior of a set $S - p$ . 7
$\lfloor r \rfloor$	truncation of $r \in [0, \infty)$ – p. 58

$\mathbb{C}$ $\mathbb{C}_{lpha}$	set of complex numbers – p. 7 set of complex numbers whose real part is larger than $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ – p. 7
$\mathbb{C}^n$ $\mathbb{C}^{n  imes m}$	space of comples <i>n</i> -dimensional vectors – p. 7 space of comples $n \times m$ -matrices – p. 7
$\mathcal{D}(T)$	domain of the operator $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y - p.$ 9
$\mathbf{Gl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ $\mathbf{Gl}_n(\mathbb{R})$ $\mathcal{G}(T)$	set of invertible $n \times n$ -matrices – p. 7 set of invertible $n \times n$ -matrices – p. 7 graph of the operator $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y$ – p. 9
i	imaginary unit – p. 7
$\mathbb{K} \ker T$	either $\mathbb{R}$ or $\mathbb{C}$ – p. 7 kernel of the operator $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y$ – p. 9
$\mathscr{L}(X,Y)$ $\mathscr{L}(X)$	space of bounded linear operators mapping from X to $Y - p. 7$ space of bounded linear operators mapping from X to $X - p. 8$
$\mathbb{N}$ $\mathbb{N}_0$	set of natural numbers – p. 7 set of natural numbers including 0 – p. 7
Q	set of rational numbers – p. 7
$\mathbb{R}$ $\mathbb{R}^{n}$ $\mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ $\mathcal{R}(T)$ $\rho(T)$	set of real numbers – p. 7 set of real numbers including $+\infty$ – p. 36 space of real <i>n</i> -dimensional vectors – p. 7 space of real $n \times m$ -matrices – p. 7 range of the operator $T : \mathcal{D}(T) \subset X \to Y$ – p. 9 resolvent set of the operator $T$ – p. 10
$ \sigma(T) \\ \sigma_p(T) $	spectrum of the operator $T - p. 10$ point spectrum of the operator $T - p. 10$

 $\mathbb Z - set \ of \ integers$  – p. 7

### General operators and functions

norm in the space $X - p. 7$
graph norm – p. 9
scalar or inner product in the space $X - p.7$
complex conjugate of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ – p. 7
absolute value of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ – p. 7
imaginary part of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ – p. 7
real part of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ – p. 7
Hermitian of a matrix $-$ p. 7
transposed of a matrix – p. 7
identity matrix, sometimes just $I - p. 7$
identity operator from X to X, sometimes just $I - p. 8$
adjoint of an operator $T - p. 10$
dual of an operator $T - p. 9$
restriction of the operator $T$ to the space $U$ – p. 9

## **Function spaces**

$BC^k(\Omega)$	space of $k$ -times continuously differentiable functions
	with bounded derivatives up to order $k - p. 16$
$BC^k(J;B)$	space of k-times continuously differentiable Banach-
	valued functions with bounded derivatives up to order
	$k-\mathrm{p.}\ 21$
BUC(J;B)	space of bounded and uniformly continuous Banach-
	valued functions – p. 21
$C(\Omega)$	set of continuous functions $\phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{K} - p_{-} 12$
$C^k(\Omega)$	set of k-times continuously differentiable functions $\phi$ :
0 (32)	Set of <i>k</i> -times continuously underentiable functions $\varphi$ .
a(b(z - z))	$\mathfrak{U} \to \mathbb{R}. \ \mathbb{C} \ (\mathfrak{U}) := \mathbb{C} (\mathfrak{U}) - \mathfrak{p}.$ 12
$C^{\kappa}(J;B)$	set of k-times continuously differentiable Banach-
	valued functions $f: J \to B - p. 21$

$C^{\infty}(\Omega)$	set of infinite times continuously differentiable func- tions $\phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{K} - p$ 12
$C_0^\infty(\Omega)$	set of infinite times continuously differentiable func- tions $\phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{K}$ with compact support – p. 12
$C^{k,\lambda}(\overline{\Omega})$	set of Hölder k-times continuously differentiable func- tions $\phi: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{K}$ of order $\lambda$ – p. 13
$C^{0,\alpha}(J;B)$	set of Hölder continuous Banach-valued functions of order $\alpha$ – p. 21
$\ell^{\infty}$	space of sequences which are bounded $-$ p. 15
$\ell^p$	space of sequences which the $p$ -th power of the absolute value is sumable – p. 15
$L^{\infty}(\Omega)$	space of equivalence classes of measurable functions on $\Omega$ which are essentially bounded – p. 14
$L^p(\Omega)$	space of equivalence classes of functions for which the $p$ -th power of the absolute value is Lebesgue integrable – p. 14
$L^p(J;B)$	space of equivalence classes of functions $f$ strongly measurable on $J$ into $B$ such that $  f(\cdot)  _B \in L^p(J)$ - p. 20
$L^2_{\omega}(J;B)$	exponentially weighted $L^2(J; B)$ space – p. 21
$L^p_{\rm loc}(J;B)$	space of functions which are locally in $L^p(J; B)$ – p. 21
$W^{k,p}(\Omega)$	Sobolev space of integer order $k - p. 15$
$W^{1,p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(J;B)$	space of functions which are locally in $W^{1,p}(J;B)$ – p. 21
$W^{1,p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(J;B)$	space of functions which are locally in $W^{1,p}(J;B)$ – p. 21
$W^{s,p}(\Omega)$	Sobolev space of real order $s - p. 17$

## **Special notations**

$u \diamondsuit v$	$\tau$ -concatenation of $u$ and $v$ – p. 29
$\partial \Psi^{'}$	subdifferential of the functional $\Psi$ – p. 36
$\Psi'(u,v)$	directional derivative of $\Psi$ at $u$ in the direction $v$ –
	p. 37
$\Psi'(u)$	G-derivative of $\Psi$ at $u$ – p. 37

$e_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x}$ $f_{\partial,\mathcal{H}x}$	usually denotes the boundary effort of a port- Hamiltonian system. For higher spatial dimensional port-Hamiltonian systems, $\mathcal{H}x$ is omitted – p. 99 usually denotes the boundary flow of a port- Hamiltonian system. For higher spatial dimensional port-Hamiltonian systems, $\mathcal{H}x$ is omitted – p. 99
$C_0([0,\infty);\mathbb{R})$	set of continuous functions $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ with $f(0) = 0 - p.56$
$ \begin{aligned} & \delta_t \\ & \frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \frac{\mathrm{d}^k f}{\mathrm{d}t^k} \right) \\ & \frac{\partial f}{\partial \zeta} \left( \frac{\partial^k f}{\partial \zeta^k} \right) \\ & D_k \\ & D^{\alpha} \\ & e \end{aligned} $	Dirac delta distribution at $t \in \mathbb{R}$ – p. 64 derivative of the function of one variable $f$ – p. 12 derivative of the function of several variables $f$ with respect to the variable $\zeta$ – p. 12 differential operator $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$ – p. 12 differential operator of order $ \alpha $ – p. 12 usually denotes the error between output and reference
$\mathcal{F}(\cdot)$ A B C $(\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{C})$ $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$	signal, $y - y_{ref} - p. 3$ Fourier transform – p. 65 usually the linear differential operator of a BCS – p. 85 usually the linear control operator a BCS – p. 85 usually the linear observation operator a BCS – p. 85 the tuple denotes a BCS – p. 87 performance funnel with funnel boundary $1/\varphi$ – p. 4
G	usually denotes the transfer function of a linear system – p. 32 $$
${\cal H}$	usually denotes Hamiltonian density matrix of a port- Hamiltonian system – p. 99
$\mathbb{F} = (\mathbb{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t \ge 0}$	input to output map $-$ p. 30 input to state map $-$ p. 30

$\mathcal{L}(\cdot)$ $\mathbf{P}_{ au}$	Laplace transform – p. 62 right shift operator – p. 29
$M([0,\infty))$	set of measures of bounded total variation – p. 64
$ abla  onumber \  abl$	differential operator $(\partial_{x_1} \cdots \partial_{x_n})^\top$ – p. 12 divergence of a vector field $F$ – p. 12 gradient of a scalar function $f$ – p. 12
arphi	usually denotes the reciprocal function of the funnel boundary in the funnel controller – p. 4
$\Phi$	usually denotes the class of admissible funnel bound- arise $p_{1}$ 53
$\Phi_r$	usually denotes the class of admissible funnel bound- aries which are $r$ times continuously differentiable –
$P_k$	p. 75 usually denotes the matrices of the port-Hamiltonian differential operator – p. 98
$\mathbf{S}_{ au}$	right shift operator – p. 29
$\begin{split} \mathbb{T} &= (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \geq 0} \\ \mathbb{T} &= (\mathbb{T}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \\ \omega_0(\mathbb{T}) \\ \Sigma \\ \Psi &= (\Psi_t)_{t \geq 0} \end{split}$	$C_0$ -semigroup – p. 23 $C_0$ -group – p. 25 growth bound of the $C_0$ -semigroup $\mathbb{T}$ – p. 24 usually a well-posed linear system – p. 29 state to output map – p. 30
U u	usually the input space – p. 29 usually the input of a system – p. 30
$W_0^{1,\infty}([0,\infty);\mathbb{K})$ $W_B, W_C$	functions $f$ in $W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{K})$ with $f(0) = 0 - p. 61$ usually denotes the input and output matrices of a port-Hamiltonian system – p. 99
X	usually the state space $-$ p. 29

- x usually the state of a system p. 30
- $x_0$  usually the initial state of a system, sometimes also  $x^0$ – p. 30
- $X_1$  completion of a space X with the graph norm of  $\beta I T$ , T a semigroup generator,  $\beta \in \rho(T) - p$ . 10
- $\begin{array}{ll} X_{-1} & \mbox{completion of a space } X \mbox{ with the graph norm of } (\beta I T)^{-1}, \, T \mbox{ a semigroup generator}, \, \beta \in \rho(T) \mbox{p. 11} \end{array}$
- $X_{\alpha}$  abstract Sobolev space of order  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . p. 27
- Y usually the output space p. 29
- y usually the output of a system p. 30
- $y_{\rm ref}$  reference signal aimed to track p. 2

## Index

 $C_0$ -group, 25  $C_0$ -semigroup, 23 G-differential, 37  $L^p$ -admissible control operator. 32  $L^{p}$ -admissible observation operator, 32  $L^p$ -spaces, 14  $\tau$ -concatenation, 29 abstract Cauchy problem, 24 abstract linear systems, 31 adjoint operator, 10 admissible, 31 almost everywhere, 14 analytic  $C_0$ -semigroup, 26 biorthogonal sequence, 22 Bochner integrable, 20 Bochner integral, 12 boundary control systems, 6, 85 Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, 15 closed linear operator, 9 closed operator, 34 compact operator, 13 contractive semigroup, 26 control operator, 30 convex, 37 demiclosed, 34 diagonalizable, 22 diagonalizable semigroup, 25 directional derivative, 37 dissipative, 11, 33 dual operator, 9

eigenvalue, 10 eigenvector, 10 exponentially stable, 24 feed-through operator, 31 fixed point, 33 Gateaux differential, 37 generalized impedance passive, 87 graph norm, 9 growth bound, 24 Hölder conjugate, 14 Hölder's inequality, 14 infinite-time  $L^p$ -admissible, 32 infinitesimal generator, 24 input maps, 30 input space, 30 input-output maps, 30 internal dynamics, 4 interpolation spaces, 28 invertible, 25 Lebesgue extension, 31 left-invertible, 10, 25 linear functionals, 8 m-dissipative, 11, 33 maximal dissipative, 11, 33 measure, 14 mild solution, 29 nonhomogeneous abstract Cauchy problem, 28

nonlinear evolution operator, 38

observation operator, 31 onto, 10 output maps, 30 output space, 30

point spectrum, 10 port-Hamiltonian, 98 product space, 7 proper, 37

regular, 31, 32 resolvent identity, 10 resolvent operator, 10, 33 resolvent set, 10 right shift operator, 29 right-invertible, 10, 25

sectorial operator, 27 sequantialy weakly complete, 8 skew-adjoint, 12 skew-symmetric, 12 Sobolev spaces, 12, 14 spectrum, 10 state space, 30 state trajectory, 30 step response, 31 strongly continuous group, 25 strongly continuous semigroup, 23 strongly measurable, 20 subdifferential, 36 symmetric, 11

topological dual space, 8 trace operator, 18 transfer function, 32

unitary, 26 unitary group, 26 unitary semigroup, 26

weak convergence, 8 weak<sup>\*</sup> convergence, 8 well-posed linear systems, 29

Yosida approximation, 34 Young's inequality for products, 14

zero dynamics, 127

### Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

#### Erklärung zum Eigenanteil bei der Zusammenarbeit

Kapitel 2 basiert auf [13]. Bei [13] habe ich die Struktur und Ideen für die Beweise konzipiert. Ich habe auch den Haupttext geschrieben und die numerischen Beispiele durchgeführt.

Kapitel 3 basiert auf [14]. Das Projekt extrapoliert die notwendigen Voraussetzungen aus [14], um eine allgemeine Theorie für eine neue Klasse Systeme zu entwickeln. Da die Grundideen und Methoden direkt aus [14] folgen, habe ich mich bei der Konzeption entsprechend beteiligt. Ich habe verschiedene Teile des ursprünglichen Artikels geschrieben, die numerische Beispiele durchgeführt und das Ganze ins Kapitel 3 eingebettet, sodass sich gewisse Sachen nicht wiederholen bezüglich Kapitel 3.

Kapitel 4 basiert auf [99]. Dabei habe ich die Ideen für die Beweise, Beispiele und Struktur konzipiert, eine erste Fassung geschrieben und anschließend lediglich die Kommentare meiner Koautoren umgesetzt. Das Kapitel wurde deutlich durch neue Beispiele und Sektionen erweitert, welche bei [99] nicht zu finden sind.

Das im Kapitel 5 studierte Problem wurde mir von Jr. Prof T. Berger und Dr. T. Breiten vorgeschlagen. Ich habe die Beweise und Struktur konzipiert und das Kapitel entsprechend verfasst.

Ort, Datum

Marc Puche Niubó